
This facility is ADA accessible. 
 If you need special accommodations, please contact the City Recorder at 503.852.7575 at least 48 hours prior to this meeting. 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION AGENDA 
TUESDAY, JUNE 4, 2024 
VIA ZOOM & 945 WEST GRANT STREET, CARLTON OR 

The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by 
providing essential services with professionalism and integrity.

6:00 PM CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING Page 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
4. CHANGES OR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA
5. CEREMONIES/APPOINTMENTS/ANNOUNCEMENTS
6. CITIZEN COMMENTS

This section of the agenda allows members of the public to address the City Council on any items off or on the
agenda. When invited by the Mayor, members of the public shall come forward, state their name and street address,
and direct all comments to the Mayor.  Comments are typically limited to three (3) minutes unless additional time
is allowed by the Mayor.
A. Items NOT on the Agenda
B. Items on the Agenda

7. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Meeting Minutes – Approve

1. City Council – May 7, 2024 (Regular and Executive Session) 2 
B. Accounts Payable report 6 
C. Reports – Finance & Pool 9 

8. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS/DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS
A. Recology Rate Review; Guest: Dan Blue of Recology 17 
B. Resolution 2024-358: Water Management and Conservation Plan; Speaker City Engineer 27 
C. LA 2024-02; Development Code update; Public Hearing continued 81 
D. Resolution 2024-357; Updating the Master Fee Schedule 380          
E. Resolution 2024-359: Identification Badge Policy 390 
F. Tourism Promotion RFP 395 

9. ADJOURNMENT

The public is encouraged to join the meeting virtually using Zoom due to a lack of seating space. Please 
use the following directions to access and join the meeting:  

To join using a computer, please use this link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83190997748?pwd=OU5TakVWejBFTitVU1l6WTQ4M0t3Zz09 

To join using a phone, call: 1-253-215-8782 and enter Meeting ID: 831 9099 7748 and enter Passcode: 486777 

Page 1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83190997748?pwd=OU5TakVWejBFTitVU1l6WTQ4M0t3Zz09


City of Carlton – City Council Minutes – May 7, 2024                                                                Page 1 of 3 

 
City Council Minutes 
Tuesday, May 7, 2024 

Via Zoom and at 945 W Grant Street, Carlton, Oregon 
REGULAR MEETING  6:40 PM 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Linda Watkins called the regular session to order at 6:40 PM.  
 

2. ROLL CALL 6:41 PM 
Members Present: Mayor Linda Watkins, Council President Kevin Skipper, Councilors Shirley Ward-Mullen, Guilherme 
Brandão, Grant Erickson, Carolyn Thompson-Rizer, and David Samuel Hill. 
 

Members Absent: None 
   

Staff Present: City Manager Shannon Beaucaire, Assistant City Manager Christy Martinez, City Attorney Tyler Yeoman-
Millette, City Planner Scott Whyte, City Recorder Aimee Amerson, and Finance Specialist Morgan Shelton. 
 

Others Present: Steve Faust with 3J consultants, Elizabeth Decker with JET Planning, Brian Rake, Jackie Herb, David and 
Heidi Blanchard, Jennifer Nordstrom, Marie Frugia, Tim Pfeiffer, and Maryalice Pfeiffer. 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 6:42 PM  
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 

4. CHANGES OR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 6:42 PM 
None. 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING 6:43 PM 
Mayor Watkins opened the Public Hearing for Resolutions 355, 356, and 354 at 6:43 PM, and asked the Councilors if they 
had any conflicts of interest or abstentions. 
 
The Mayor introduced Assistant City Manager Christy Martinez to present the resolutions and staff recommendations for 
the presented resolutions. 
 

A. Fiscal Year 2024/2025 State Revenue Sharing (SRS) funds  
• Resolution No. 2024-355: Declaring the City’s Election to Receive State Revenues  6:45 PM 

Assistant City Manager Christy Martinez described state requirements for sharing state revenue funds and their allocation 
to the Street fund. 

Public testimony was opened by Mayor Watkins at 6:45 PM 
 

MOTION: Skipper/Ward-Mullen to approve and authorize the Mayor to sign Resolution No. 2024-355 declaring the City’s 
election to receive State Revenues in the Fiscal Year 2025. Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

• Resolution No. 2024-356: Certifying the City’s Eligibility to Receive State Revenues 6:46 PM 
 Martinez explained the requirements to receive SRS funds and how the City meets those requirements.  
MOTION: Ward-Mullen/Erickson to approve and authorize the Mayor to sign Resolution No. 2024-356 certifying the City 
of Carlton’s eligibility to receive State Revenue Shared Funds. Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

B. Fiscal Year 2024/2025 City Budget 6:47 PM 
• Resolution No. 2024-354: Adopting the Fiscal Year 24/25 City Budget, Making Appropriations, 

Imposing and Categorizing the Tax 
 

Martinez presented the Budget Committee Approved FY 24/25 City Budget. 
MOTION: Thompson-Rizer/Hill to approve and authorize the Mayor to sign Resolution No. 2024-354 adopting the fiscal 
year 2024-2025 City Budget, making appropriations, and imposing and categorizing the tax. Motion Carried (6 Yes/ 1 No 
[Brandão]  / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

Public testimony was closed by Mayor Watkins at 6:49 PM 
The Public Hearing was closed by Mayor Watkins at 6:49 PM. 

Page 2



City of Carlton – City Council Minutes – May 7, 2024                                                                Page 2 of 3 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS 6:49 PM 
A. Items NOT on the Agenda - None 
B. Items on the Agenda - None  

 

7. CONSENT AGENDA 6:50 PM 
A. Meeting Minutes – Approved   

City Council – April 2, 2024 (Work and Regular Session) 
B. Accounts Payable report  
C. Finance reports 
D. Pool Update 
E. Clean Up Day 2024 
F. Upcoming events – Summer 2024 

MOTION: Thompson-Rizer/Ward-Mullen: to approve the consent agenda, including City Council meeting minutes from 
April 5, 2024, the accounts payable report, the financial reports, the pool update, Carlton Clean-up Day event update, and 
upcoming events for Summer 2024. Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

8. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS/DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS 6:50 PM  
A. Carlton Fun Days Street closure permit 

 

City Manager Shannon Beaucaire invited Brian Rake to speak about the Carlton Fun Days event in June. Rake went over 
details about the event, described street closure notification methods, and requested use of the pool on Saturday, June 22nd 
for a free swim to the public. 
 

Councilors asked questions about which streets would be closed and traffic/pedestrian control for the event. 
MOTION: Skipper/Thompson-Rizer to approve the city street closure request on June 22nd, 2024, for the temporary 
closures of West Main and North Kutch Streets for the annual Fun Days event.  Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 
Abstain). 
 

B. Dog Survey Information gathering 6:55 PM 
Beaucaire gave information to Council about the survey offered to gain citizen information about regulations surrounding 
leash laws and dog parks. 
 

C. Resolution No. 2023-353: Master Fee Schedule update 6:56 PM 
Assistant Manager Christy Martinez noted a small Scribner error to the agenda title and corrected the resolution number to 
2024-353.  
  

Councilors asked questions about community room rental fees and hour minimum for room use. 
MOTION: Ward-Mullen/Hill: to approve and authorize the Mayor to sign Resolution No. 2024-353 updating the Master 
Fee Schedule revising fees and charges for the City of Carlton with the rates included in the adoption of the FY25 Budget.  
Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

D. LA 2024-01; Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Second Reading 6:59 PM 
City Manager Beaucaire presented Ordinance 2024-750 for a second reading. 
MOTION: Ward-Mullen/Hill it is moved that the City Council authorize the 2nd reading of Ordinance 2024-750 by title 
only.  Motion Carried (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

MOTION: Ward-Mullen/Thompson-Rizer: to accept the 2nd reading of Ordinance 2024-750.  Motion Carried by roll call 
vote (7 Yes/ 0 No / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 

E. LA 2024-02; Development Code Public Hearing 7:02 PM  
Mayor Watkins opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 PM, read the hearing and disclosure statement, and asked the 
Councilors if they had any conflicts of interest or abstentions. 
 

City Planner Scott Whyte introduced Elizabeth Decker of JET Planning to present the proposed Development Code Update. 
Whyte explained the arguments for and against the Planning Commission Recommendation to not adopt proposed changes 
of the Agricultural Holding (AH) zone, Whyte also discussed the difference in recommendation between the Council and 
Planning Commission as it pertains to green/open space in subdivisions. Decker then went on to describe changes brought 

Page 3



City of Carlton – City Council Minutes – May 7, 2024                                                                Page 3 of 3 

about by state law and suggested changes because of feedback from the Department of Land Conservation and 
Development and the Planning Commission. 
 

Council deliberated and asked questions about topics such as, clarification on the addition of chapter 17.78 Grading and 
erosion control, clarification on Chapter 17.48 Agricultural Holding (AH) zone and how it affects existing uses, the purpose 
for change in lot size for AH properties, street tree distance recommendations, open space requirements, options, and 
challenges,  
 

Public testimony was opened by Mayor Watkins at 8:23 PM 
 

David Blanchard of 574 W Grant Street, stated he is in favor of keeping Agricultural Holding the way it is. He believes that 
the proposed language is bias towards making planning process easier for the developer. He also posed the question as 
to what the floodways are and where do they exist and where are they mapped. Whyte explained that the Federal 
Government maps the floodways. Blanchard expressed concern over development. 
 

Tim Pfeiffer of Moores Valley Road in Yamhill, Oregon, expressed opposition towards adding a requirement for open 
space in sub-divisions. He believes that the addition of those spaces will add an increase in Homeowner Association costs 
and potential for contention on responsibility of maintenance. He stated that he feels the two large parks in town are 
sufficient open space for residents. 
 

Maryalice Pfeiffer of Moores Valley Road in Yamhill, Oregon requested a clarification of what would be qualified as green 
space before making any decisions. 
 

Public Testimony way closed by Mayor Watkins at 8:31 PM 
 

Planner Scott Whyte acknowledged the receipt of written testimonies by Susan Turrell, Carrol Fredrick, and Tim Pfeiffer. 
 

Council further discussed the 5% recommendation for open space in subdivisions, changes in AH zones, the differences 
between current and proposed AH code, and the possibility of delaying any changes in AH code until a new housing need 
analysis can be done in two years, how the development of 7,500 square foot lots in AH zones would be impacted by the 
feasibility of city service access, planning commission recommendations, tree canopy options and proposed compromise. 
 

Council agreed to continue discussion with more information on the 5% open space requirement and examples of what 
and would not be included in that requirement, more information on proposed AH zone changes, and further research on 
street tree spacing using canopy spread and species requirements.  
 

MOTION: Hill/Erickson it is moved that the City Council continue the Public Hearing for the Carlton Development Code to 
the June 4th, 2024 City Council Meeting.  Motion Carried (6 Yes/ 1 No [Brandão] / 0 Absent /0 Abstain). 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 9:14 PM 
The Regular Session meeting adjourned at 9:14 PM. 
 
 

APPROVED by the City of Carlton City Council on June 4, 2024. 
 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 
______________________________________________                             ________________________________________________ 
Morgan Shelton, Finance Specialist                              Linda Watkins, Mayor 

Page 4



City of Carlton – City Council Minutes – May 7, 2024  Page 1 of 1 

City Council Executive Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, May 7, 2024,6:00 PM 

at 945 West Grant Street and VIA Zoom 
EXECUTIVE MEETING  6:00 PM 

1. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor Linda Watkins called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 
 
Members Present: Mayor Linda Watkins, Council President Kevin Skipper, Councilors Shirley Ward-Mullen, Grant Erickson 
(6:23PM arrival), Guilherme Brandão, Carolyn Thompson-Rizer, and David Samuel Hill  
 
Members Absent: None  
 
Staff Present: City Manager Shannon Beaucaire, City Attorney Tyler Yeoman-Millette, City Recorder Aimee Amerson, and 
Finance Specialist Morgan Shelton 
 
Others Present: None. 
 

2. Executive Session Agenda item 
ORS 192.660 (2)(e)- “ORS 192.660(2)(e) “To conduct deliberations with persons designated by the governing body 
to negotiate real property transactions.” 

   
3. ADJOURNMENT  

The Executive meeting adjourned to the Regular Session meeting at 6:35 PM. 
 
 

APPROVED by the City of Carlton City Council on June 4, 2024. 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________________              ___________________________________ 
Morgan Shelton, Finance Specialist   Linda Watkins, Mayor 

Page 5



Accounts Payable

User:

Printed: 

aboyd@ci.carlton.or.us

5/22/2024  3:56 PM

Checks by Date - Summary by Check Date

Check No Check DateVendor NameVendor No Check Amount

UB*00584 Dan & Patty Armstrong 05/01/2024  8.38

InLike Timothy & Andrea Baker 05/01/2024  25.00

BlaLar Larry Blake 05/01/2024  500.00

DJCOre Bridge Tower OpCo, LLC 05/01/2024  60.50

CenLin CenturyLink 05/01/2024  612.79

CitWil City of Willamina 05/01/2024  140.00

DatPro Dataprose 05/01/2024  298.71

DepEnv Dept of Environmental Quality 05/01/2024  104.00

EdgAna Edge Analytical Inc 05/01/2024  682.00

UB*00583 Michelle Helling 05/01/2024  10.00

Holst Holst 05/01/2024  3,363.09

OnliNW Hunter Communications 05/01/2024  491.25

UB*00585 Michael McCleskey 05/01/2024  123.06

UB*00587 Robert & Susan Moe 05/01/2024  91.43

UB*00562 Ramey Investment Properties, LLC 05/01/2024  170.00

Reece Reece Complete Security Solutions 05/01/2024  527.50

SieSpr Sierra Springs 05/01/2024  86.93

TauCon Taurus Power & Controls, Inc 05/01/2024  495.00

UB*00586 Ida VanWormer 05/01/2024  130.61

VerWir Verizon Wireless 05/01/2024  819.05

 8,739.30Total for 5/1/2024:

9985 CIS 05/05/2024  31,114.52

9981 EFTPS 05/05/2024  13,035.76

OreRev Oregon Dept. of Revenue 05/05/2024  3,855.01

9100 PERS 05/05/2024  12,159.59

10004 Attn: Voya Institutional Plan Services VOY      05/05/2024  1,850.00

10005 Attention: Voya Institutional Plan Services    05/05/2024  925.76

 62,940.64Total for 5/5/2024:

FirFedCC First Federal Card Services 05/09/2024  8,120.12

VinBou Brian Richardson 05/09/2024  700.00

CasInc Caselle, Inc. 05/09/2024  340.00

CIT CIT First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co 05/09/2024  511.00

Comcas Comcast 05/09/2024  77.93

DatPro Dataprose 05/09/2024  700.13

DepCon Dept. Consumer & Business Serv 05/09/2024  89.60

GGInte G&G Interiors 05/09/2024  1,449.00

Graing Grainger 05/09/2024  206.50

VolJak Jake Volz 05/09/2024  500.00

McmPum McMinnville Pumping LLC 05/09/2024  135.00

MetTrans Metropolitan Transportation Commission 05/09/2024  579.42

NexCle Nexus Commercial Cleaning LLC 05/09/2024  1,064.00

OreHea OHA Cashier 05/09/2024  2,000.00

OneCal One Call Concepts, Inc. 05/09/2024  105.00

Page 1AP Checks by Date - Summary by Check Date (5/22/2024  3:56 PM)

Page 6



Check No Check DateVendor NameVendor No Check Amount

OreRevCT Oregon Department Of Revenue 05/09/2024  498.31

PorGen Portland General Electric 05/09/2024  3,293.28

RecWes Recology Western Oregon 05/09/2024  1,479.54

SprBro Springbrook Holding Company LLC 05/09/2024  2.50

Ward J Jill M Ward 05/09/2024  212.50

WECInc Whitney Equipment Company Inc 05/09/2024  3,252.17

YamCom Yamhill Communications Agency 05/09/2024  2,433.58

YamShe Yamhill County Sheriff's Office 05/09/2024  96.00

 27,845.58Total for 5/9/2024:

FenMas Fence Master Fence Co. 05/15/2024  3,438.59

3JCon 3J Consulting 05/15/2024  680.00

AirNor Airgas USA, LLC 05/15/2024  6,327.31

BoyPai Boys Painting LLC 05/15/2024  400.00

CarTes Carlson Testing, Inc. 05/15/2024  617.00

CarCor Carlton Corner Service 05/15/2024  1,113.18

Comcas Comcast 05/15/2024  255.50

CovEne Covanta Energy, LLC 05/15/2024  35.88

EdgAna Edge Analytical Inc 05/15/2024  220.00

GloInd Global Industries, Inc 05/15/2024  23,577.40

LesSch Les Schwab Tire Center 05/15/2024  48.28

McMDry McMinnville Dry Cleaners 05/15/2024  40.00

NewReg News-Register 05/15/2024  1,567.99

OESEqui OES Oregon Equipment Sales, LLC 05/15/2024  139.92

PacEng PACE 05/15/2024  2,773.00

PorGen Portland General Electric 05/15/2024  2,924.30

RecOre Recology Oregon Compost NW Greenlands 05/15/2024  48.00

SieSpr Sierra Springs 05/15/2024  16.98

TranRis Data Solutions, Inc TransUnion Risk and A 05/15/2024  75.00

 44,298.33Total for 5/15/2024:

9981 EFTPS 05/20/2024  12,858.49

OreRev Oregon Dept. of Revenue 05/20/2024  3,809.15

9100 PERS 05/20/2024  12,010.24

10004 Attn: Voya Institutional Plan Services VOY      05/20/2024  1,850.00

10005 Attention: Voya Institutional Plan Services    05/20/2024  925.76

 31,453.64Total for 5/20/2024:

AlpCle Alpine Cleaners 05/22/2024  40.00

BeaSha Shannon Beaucaire 05/22/2024  663.77

CFMAdv CFM Advocates 05/22/2024  4,200.00

Comcas Comcast 05/22/2024  91.06

ConSys Control Systems NW LLC 05/22/2024  2,072.08

EdgAna Edge Analytical Inc 05/22/2024  210.00

GorPlu Gormley Plumbing & Heating 05/22/2024  56.00

HauRue Haugeberg, Rueter, Gowell 05/22/2024  6,282.00

HawInc Haworth Inc. 05/22/2024  555,750.95

JBLand JB Landscape & Maintenance Services LLC 05/22/2024  5,040.00

KinSon King and Sons Excavating Inc. 05/22/2024  13,010.00

MetCom Metropolitan Compounds, Inc 05/22/2024  579.42

CouGov Mid-Willamette Valley Council Of Governm 05/22/2024  9,033.75

OESEqui OES Oregon Equipment Sales, LLC 05/22/2024  173.63

ODOT ODOT Financial Services Oregon Departm   05/22/2024  22,200.00

Page 2AP Checks by Date - Summary by Check Date (5/22/2024  3:56 PM)

Page 7



Check No Check DateVendor NameVendor No Check Amount

PacEng PACE 05/22/2024  2,154.00

PorGen Portland General Electric 05/22/2024  22.63

PriSys Primisys 05/22/2024  58,262.40

QedLab QED Lab Inc 05/22/2024  3,140.00

TetTec Tetra Tech, Inc 05/22/2024  32,619.56

TheHON The HON Company LLC 05/22/2024  147,967.24

UsBank US Bank St. Paul 05/22/2024  71,860.00

VerVSAT Verizon Wireless-VSAT 05/22/2024  50.00

WesAll Western Alliance Bank 05/22/2024  54,043.25

ZipFib Ziply Fiber 05/22/2024  978.00

 990,499.74Total for 5/22/2024:

Report Total (98 checks):  1,165,777.23

Page 3AP Checks by Date - Summary by Check Date (5/22/2024  3:56 PM)

Page 8



General Ledger
Trial Balance by Acct Type

User: aamerson
Printed: 5/28/2024 8:03:23 AM
Period 01 - 12
Fiscal Year 2024

Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

001 General
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 2,003,447.00 0.00 55,575.39 1,551,104.99 1,495,529.60
Revenue Revenue 2,003,447.00 0.00 55,575.39 1,551,104.99 1,495,529.60

Expense Expense
001 Administrative
05 Personal Services 63,352.00 0.00 57,806.33 0.00 57,806.33
06 Materials & Services 94,000.00 0.00 97,296.91 3,964.27 93,332.64
09 Transfers 250,564.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
001 Administrative 407,916.00 0.00 155,103.24 3,964.27 151,138.97

002 Finance
05 Personal Services 124,180.00 0.00 122,375.31 2,600.00 119,775.31
06 Materials & Services 137,800.00 0.00 123,560.59 7.85 123,552.74
07 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
08 Contingencies 246,266.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
09 Transfers 0.00 0.00 227,815.00 0.00 227,815.00
002 Finance 508,246.00 0.00 473,750.90 2,607.85 471,143.05

003 LandUse and Planning
05 Personal Services 33,400.00 0.00 32,161.54 0.00 32,161.54
06 Materials & Services 128,850.00 0.00 173,665.90 4,388.00 169,277.90
003 LandUse and Planning 162,250.00 0.00 205,827.44 4,388.00 201,439.44

004 Police
05 Personal Services 559,400.00 0.00 516,010.11 0.00 516,010.11
06 Materials & Services 153,500.00 0.00 108,964.25 9,393.56 99,570.69
07 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
004 Police 712,900.00 0.00 624,974.36 9,393.56 615,580.80

005 Municipal Court
05 Personal Services 30,275.00 0.00 18,395.17 0.00 18,395.17
06 Materials & Services 21,250.00 0.00 22,703.98 6,220.00 16,483.98
005 Municipal Court 51,525.00 0.00 41,099.15 6,220.00 34,879.15

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 1

Page 9



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

006 Parks
05 Personal Services 34,550.00 0.00 52,676.34 14,000.00 38,676.34
06 Materials & Services 39,650.00 0.00 38,098.44 245.00 37,853.44
07 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
006 Parks 74,200.00 0.00 90,774.78 14,245.00 76,529.78

007 Pool
05 Personal Services 56,060.00 0.00 55,803.73 0.00 55,803.73
06 Materials & Services 30,350.00 0.00 26,495.04 602.06 25,892.98
07 Capital Outlay 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
007 Pool 86,410.00 0.00 82,298.77 602.06 81,696.71

Expense Expense 2,003,447.00 0.00 1,673,828.64 41,420.74 1,632,407.90

001 General 0.00 0.00 1,729,404.03 1,592,525.73 -136,878.30

005 Tourism
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 152,548.00 0.00 0.00 60,213.48 60,213.48
Revenue Revenue 152,548.00 0.00 0.00 60,213.48 60,213.48

Expense Expense
500 Tourism
06 Materials & Services 152,548.00 0.00 25,246.99 24.37 25,222.62
500 Tourism 152,548.00 0.00 25,246.99 24.37 25,222.62

Expense Expense 152,548.00 0.00 25,246.99 24.37 25,222.62

005 Tourism 0.00 0.00 25,246.99 60,237.85 34,990.86

011 Street
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 414,963.00 0.00 0.00 274,755.10 274,755.10
Revenue Revenue 414,963.00 0.00 0.00 274,755.10 274,755.10

Expense Expense
110 Streets
05 Personal Services 40,530.00 0.00 44,695.46 0.00 44,695.46
06 Materials & Services 134,160.00 0.00 102,877.60 17,670.29 85,207.31
07 Capital Outlay 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
08 Contingencies 176,473.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
09 Transfers 53,800.00 0.00 53,800.00 0.00 53,800.00
110 Streets 414,963.00 0.00 201,373.06 17,670.29 183,702.77

Expense Expense 414,963.00 0.00 201,373.06 17,670.29 183,702.77

011 Street 0.00 0.00 201,373.06 292,425.39 91,052.33

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 2

Page 10



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

012 Water
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 2,127,106.00 0.00 2,131.86 1,637,989.34 1,635,857.48
Revenue Revenue 2,127,106.00 0.00 2,131.86 1,637,989.34 1,635,857.48

Expense Expense
120 Water
05 Personal Services 533,325.00 0.00 473,957.08 0.00 473,957.08
06 Materials & Services 396,600.00 0.00 351,395.99 40,813.98 310,582.01
07 Capital Outlay 104,806.00 0.00 41,007.01 9,378.66 31,628.35
08 Contingencies 230,573.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
09 Transfers 861,802.00 0.00 706,658.00 0.00 706,658.00
120 Water 2,127,106.00 0.00 1,573,018.08 50,192.64 1,522,825.44

Expense Expense 2,127,106.00 0.00 1,573,018.08 50,192.64 1,522,825.44

012 Water 0.00 0.00 1,575,149.94 1,688,181.98 113,032.04

013 Sewer
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 1,432,721.00 0.00 2,070.14 1,279,763.63 1,277,693.49
Revenue Revenue 1,432,721.00 0.00 2,070.14 1,279,763.63 1,277,693.49

Expense Expense
130 Sewer
05 Personal Services 465,300.00 0.00 452,637.94 0.00 452,637.94
06 Materials & Services 367,300.00 0.00 354,104.35 25,494.01 328,610.34
07 Capital Outlay 14,850.00 0.00 15,200.54 0.00 15,200.54
08 Contingencies 182,943.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
09 Transfers 402,328.00 0.00 402,328.00 0.00 402,328.00
130 Sewer 1,432,721.00 0.00 1,224,270.83 25,494.01 1,198,776.82

Expense Expense 1,432,721.00 0.00 1,224,270.83 25,494.01 1,198,776.82

013 Sewer 0.00 0.00 1,226,340.97 1,305,257.64 78,916.67

017 Capital Improvement
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 26,936,314.00 0.00 0.00 1,588,905.99 1,588,905.99
Revenue Revenue 26,936,314.00 0.00 0.00 1,588,905.99 1,588,905.99

Expense Expense
09 Transfers 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
170 Capital Improvements Expense
06 Materials & Services 120,482.00 0.00 83,922.00 30,900.00 53,022.00
08 Contingencies 1,837,832.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
170 Capital Improvements Expense 1,958,314.00 0.00 83,922.00 30,900.00 53,022.00

171 FacilitiesSpecial Projects

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 3

Page 11



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

07 Capital Outlay 7,070,000.00 0.00 5,356,141.92 516.71 5,355,625.21
171 FacilitiesSpecial Projects 7,070,000.00 0.00 5,356,141.92 516.71 5,355,625.21

172 Parks Projects
07 Capital Outlay 30,000.00 0.00 5,040.00 0.00 5,040.00
172 Parks Projects 30,000.00 0.00 5,040.00 0.00 5,040.00

173 Transportation Projects
07 Capital Outlay 1,870,000.00 0.00 13,502.47 0.00 13,502.47
173 Transportation Projects 1,870,000.00 0.00 13,502.47 0.00 13,502.47

174 Water Projects
07 Capital Outlay 3,020,000.00 0.00 85,322.41 2,496.94 82,825.47
174 Water Projects 3,020,000.00 0.00 85,322.41 2,496.94 82,825.47

175 Sewer Projects
07 Capital Outlay 12,888,000.00 0.00 1,110,714.60 74,897.78 1,035,816.82
175 Sewer Projects 12,888,000.00 0.00 1,110,714.60 74,897.78 1,035,816.82

176 Storm Water Projects
07 Capital Outlay 100,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
176 Storm Water Projects 100,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Expense Expense 26,936,314.00 0.00 6,654,643.40 108,811.43 6,545,831.97

017 Capital Improvement 0.00 0.00 6,654,643.40 1,697,717.42 -4,956,925.98

020 SDC's
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 3,545,441.00 0.00 0.00 224,324.57 224,324.57
Revenue Revenue 3,545,441.00 0.00 0.00 224,324.57 224,324.57

Expense Expense
200 SDC Fund
06 Materials & Services 240,000.00 0.00 1,906.81 0.00 1,906.81
07 Capital Outlay 2,380,441.00 0.00 204,092.59 0.00 204,092.59
08 Contingencies 775,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
09 Transfers 150,000.00 0.00 350,000.00 225,000.00 125,000.00
200 SDC Fund 3,545,441.00 0.00 555,999.40 225,000.00 330,999.40

Expense Expense 3,545,441.00 0.00 555,999.40 225,000.00 330,999.40

020 SDC's 0.00 0.00 555,999.40 449,324.57 -106,674.83

024 Debt Service Pool Project
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 71,315.00 0.00 0.00 67,152.95 67,152.95
Revenue Revenue 71,315.00 0.00 0.00 67,152.95 67,152.95

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 4

Page 12



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

Expense Expense
240 Capital Project Pool Bond
08 Contingencies 3,228.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
11 Debt Service 68,087.00 0.00 68,086.50 0.00 68,086.50
240 Capital Project Pool Bond 71,315.00 0.00 68,086.50 0.00 68,086.50

Expense Expense 71,315.00 0.00 68,086.50 0.00 68,086.50

024 Debt Service Pool Project 0.00 0.00 68,086.50 67,152.95 -933.55

026 Debt Service
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 1,235,799.00 0.00 0.00 886,801.00 886,801.00
Revenue Revenue 1,235,799.00 0.00 0.00 886,801.00 886,801.00

Expense Expense
260 Dept
08 Contingencies 163,854.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
11 Debt Service 1,071,945.00 0.00 1,071,944.57 0.00 1,071,944.57
260 Dept 1,235,799.00 0.00 1,071,944.57 0.00 1,071,944.57

Expense Expense 1,235,799.00 0.00 1,071,944.57 0.00 1,071,944.57

026 Debt Service 0.00 0.00 1,071,944.57 886,801.00 -185,143.57

027 VERF
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 122,256.00 0.00 0.00 74,000.00 74,000.00
Revenue Revenue 122,256.00 0.00 0.00 74,000.00 74,000.00

Expense Expense
127 Reserves
07 Capital Outlay 122,256.00 0.00 115,611.52 0.00 115,611.52
08 Contingencies 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
127 Reserves 122,256.00 0.00 115,611.52 0.00 115,611.52

Expense Expense 122,256.00 0.00 115,611.52 0.00 115,611.52

027 VERF 0.00 0.00 115,611.52 74,000.00 -41,611.52

070 Urban Renewal
Revenue Revenue
R1 Revenue 767,977.00 0.00 0.00 294,968.67 294,968.67
Revenue Revenue 767,977.00 0.00 0.00 294,968.67 294,968.67

Expense Expense
700 Urban Renewal
06 Materials & Services 6,500.00 0.00 5,468.24 0.00 5,468.24

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 5

Page 13



Sort Level Description Budget Beg Bal Debits Credits End Bal

07 Capital Outlay 536,477.00 0.00 13,528.75 0.00 13,528.75
08 Contingencies 160,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
11 Debt Service 65,000.00 0.00 65,000.00 0.00 65,000.00
700 Urban Renewal 767,977.00 0.00 83,996.99 0.00 83,996.99

Expense Expense 767,977.00 0.00 83,996.99 0.00 83,996.99

070 Urban Renewal 0.00 0.00 83,996.99 294,968.67 210,971.68

Grand Total 0.00 0.00 13,307,797.37 8,408,593.20 -4,899,204.17

GL - Trial Balance by Acct Type (05/28/2024 - 08:03 AM) Page 6

Page 14



 

 

Agenda Item 7 C 

This is a placeholder for details and information on the Carlton Community Pool update.  

These details will be dispersed to Council in hard copy format at the June 4, 2024, meeting.   

Thank you for your understanding. 

 

 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



This facility is ADA accessible.  
If you need special accommodation please contact the City Recorder at 503.852.7575 at least 24 hours prior to this meeting. 

To:  The Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:  Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager 
Subject: Recology Services & Rates 
Council Goal: Goal 4: Good Governance 
Date: June 4, 2024 

Recommendation 
After Council review and discussion, it is recommended that the Council consider the following 
motion: 

It is moved to authorize Recology’s Request for a Rate Adjustment, effective July 1, 
2024. 

Background 

Rate Increase July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2025 

Due to increases in disposal, labor, fuel, and other operational costs, Recology is proposing a 
5.75% rate increase to get back into the operating ratio specified in the Carlton franchise 
agreement. 

Exhibits 
1. Rate Review Cover Letter
2. Rate Review Report dated April 27, 2024
3. Rate Sheets July 1, 2024
4. Recology Financial Statements (not included in packet due to 

security locks. Is available at City Hall front desk for review.)

Page 17



 

 

Shannon Beaucaire 
City Manager 
City of Carlton 
191 E. Main St. 
Carlton, OR 97111 
 
April 30, 2024 
 
RE: Carlton Solid Waste Collection Franchise  
 
Dear Shannon: 
 
In compliance with the terms of our franchise agreement, please find enclosed the following documents 

that make up the annual financial report: 

1. Rate Review Report, which includes the following: 

a. 2023 calendar year actual expenses, and all allowable expenses that we reasonably 

anticipate will be incurred in the upcoming rate year beginning July 1, 2024,  

b. The allocation method used to allocate shared expenses,  

c. The Operating Ratios for the preceding calendar year and the upcoming rate year, 

and 

e. Projected Ratio with new proposed rates.  

2. Proposed Rates for the City of Carlton. 
 
One additional document, the third-party Financial Review, is not yet available but will be sent 

separately in the coming days.  

 

Thank you for your patience and for the extra time to submit these documents to you as we have 

worked through lingering impacts of a cyber security incident that impacted all Recology sites during 

the last six months. We are happy to report that all systems are back online and Recology has taken 

considerable steps to prevent future incidents from occurring. 

 

Despite the setbacks we incurred, on the ground services continued without noticeable impact to 

customers. We want to recognize our Valley operations teams who utilized both memory and 

experience to continue to provide safe and uninterrupted services over the past months.  

 

Regarding the current rate review, inflationary and other pressures continued through 2023 and 

projections indicate that we will continue to see increasing costs in key areas that affect our collections 

operations. Here are some key drivers: 

 

- Labor costs are up at the coast due to filling remaining vacancies and also for employee 

retention 

- Disposal is up due to both increased labor costs and pass through disposal costs at the transfer 

station 

- Fuel is up from the previous year (though there has been some softening lately in fuel prices) 

- Supply chain issues continue to impact access to parts and equipment in addition to labor 

increases in our shop/maintenance service areas 

Page 18



 

 

 

Based on our projections for the upcoming rate year (July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025), and to maintain 

the target operating Ratio of 90% going forward, Recology is proposing a 5.75% rate increase across 

all service rates.  

 

We appreciate the opportunity to provide these essential services to our neighbors in Carlton. We take 
this obligation seriously, and we are committed to keeping our operations running as expected. We look 
forward to attending an upcoming council meeting, either in person or virtually. Dan Blue will be 
reaching out to you soon to coordinate scheduling. 
 
Please let us know if you have any questions or need any additional information. You can reach out to 
me at (503) 803-4984 or by email at ccarey@recology.com or to Dan Blue at 503-405-0261 or 
dblue@recology.com.   
 
Respectfully, 

 
Chris Carey 
General Manager 

Page 19

mailto:ccarey@recology.com


RWO - Valley Cost of Service Report 2023-24  

2023 2024-25 2023 Adjustments 2024-25
Calendar Projected Calendar and Projected

Year Rate Allocation Year Projected Rate
Actual Year Method Actual Changes Year

REVENUE Rate Adj % >>> 5.75%
 Collection Services - Residential 8,842,892$            9,171,741$            Actual 301,737$            7,528$                 309,265$          

Collection Services - Commercial 5,065,806$            5,380,026$            Actual 69,345$              4,736$                 74,081$            
Collection Services - Debris Box 2,680,916$            2,760,159$            Actual 69,419$              (14,549)$             54,871$            
COLLECTION SERVICES: 16,589,614$          17,311,926$          Actual 440,502$            438,217$          
Proposed Rate Adjustment Actual 25,197$            
Revenue - DB Disposal Actual 2,643$                -$                     2,643$              
Revenue - Medical Waste 96,211$                 98,096$                 Actual 893$                   (125)$                   768$                 
Revenue - Other (fees & related) 88,385$                 17,766$                 Actual 465$                   206$                    671$                 

 Non-Franchised Revenue 1,001,587$            1,096,840$            Actual -$                    -$                     

Total Revenue 17,775,796$          18,524,628$          444,503$            22,994$               467,497$          
Franchise Fees (725,042)$             (753,292)$             Actual (11,302)$             (11,886)$           
Revenue w/o Franchise Fees 17,050,753$          17,771,335$          433,201$            455,610$          

LABOR EXPENSES
 Operational Personnel 2,045,541$            2,328,040$            Labor Hours 54,528$              7,531$                 62,059$            
 Payroll Taxes 185,744$               211,396$               Labor Hours 4,951$                684$                    5,635$              
 Medical Insurance 463,989$               498,717$               Labor Hours 12,369$              926$                    13,294$            
 Other Benefits 247,330$               310,751$               Labor Hours 6,593$                1,691$                 8,284$              

Total Labor Expense 2,942,604$            3,348,903$            78,441$              10,831$               89,272$            

Disposal Charges 2,906,178$            3,064,136$            Vessel Weights 79,157$              4,302$                 83,460$            
Medical Waste & Supplies 46,708$                 47,642$                 Med. Waste 311$                   6$                        318$                 

Total Disposal Expense 2,952,886$            3,111,778$            79,469$              4,309$                 83,777$            

OPERATIONAL EXPENSES
Fuel 757,693$               665,257$               Franchised Labor 19,115$              (2,332)$               16,783$            
Fuel - Non-Franchised (N/F) 132,964$               116,743$               Actual -$                    -$                     -$                  
Repairs and Maintenance 2,401,593$            2,861,832$            Franchised Labor 60,588$              11,611$               72,199$            
Repairs and Maintenance - N/F 437,364$               481,100$               Actual -$                    -$                     -$                  
Business Taxes and PUC 199,045$               202,383$               Franchised Labor 5,022$                84$                      5,106$              
Business Taxes and PUC - N/F 108,393$               113,812$               Actual -$                    -$                     -$                  
Supplies & Uniforms 33,771$                 35,426$                 Labor Hours 900$                   44$                      944$                 
Operational Supplies/Safety 44,894$                 47,093$                 Labor Hours 1,197$                59$                      1,255$              
Contract Labor 139$                      -$                       Labor Hours 4$                       (4)$                       -$                  
Depreciation and Amortization 3,578$                   3,578$                   Franchised Labor 90$                     -$                     90$                   
Depreciation and Amortization N/F 4,752$                   4,762$                   Actual -$                    -$                     -$                  
Operational Lease and Rent 787,533$               834,544$               Franchised Labor 19,868$              1,186$                 21,054$            
Operational Lease and Rent - N/F 127,524$               127,524$               Actual -$                    -$                     -$                  
Insurance Expense 140,731$               147,627$               Labor Hours 3,751$                184$                    3,935$              
Yard Debris/wood & Other Funding 1,405,741$            1,512,097$            Program 20,968$              1,586$                 22,554$            
Recycling Expense 998,866$               774,360$               Recycling 26,293$              (5,910)$               20,383$            
Purchase Recyclables Recycling -$                    -$                     -$                  

 Other Operational 53,826$                 56,463$                 Labor Hours 1,435$                70$                      1,505$              

Total Operations Expense 7,638,406$            7,984,601$            159,231$            6,579$                 165,810$          

SUBTOTAL 3,516,857$            3,326,052$            116,060$            691$                    116,751$          

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
 Management Services 500,614$               555,739$               Computed 13,335$              690$                    14,025$            
 Administrative Services 1,759,490$            1,667,216$            Computed 40,005$              2,069$                 42,075$            
 Non-Admin. Labor -$                       -$                       Franchised Labor -$                    -$                     -$                  
 Office Supplies 13,506$                 14,168$                 Customers 474$                   23$                      498$                 
 Postage 10,637$                 11,158$                 Customers 374$                   18$                      392$                 
 Billing services 55,913$                 58,653$                 Customers 1,964$                96$                      2,060$              
 Dues and Subscriptions 20,821$                 21,842$                 Customers 731$                   36$                      767$                 
 Telephone 37,354$                 39,184$                 Customers 1,312$                64$                      1,376$              
 Bank Service Charges 79,351$                 83,239$                 Customers 2,787$                137$                    2,924$              
 Professional fees 12,428$                 13,037$                 Customers 437$                   21$                      458$                 
 Travel 3,884$                   4,075$                   Customers 136$                   7$                        143$                 
 Advertising and Promotions 903$                      947$                      Customers 32$                     2$                        33$                   
 Business Meals 6,984$                   7,326$                   Customers 245$                   12$                      257$                 
 Education & Training 6,763$                   71,094$                 Customers 238$                   2,260$                 2,497$              
 Contributions 14,153$                 14,846$                 Customers 497$                   24$                      521$                 

Bad Debt 60,689$                 73,929$                 Customers 2,132$                465$                    2,597$              
 Other Administrative 10,380$                 10,888$                 Customers 365$                   18$                      382$                 

Total Admin Expense 2,593,870$            2,647,342$            65,064$              5,942$                 71,006$            

EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS 922,987$               678,710$               50,997$              (5,252)$               45,745$            

Interest Income (27,767)$               (26,967)$               Not Allocated -$                    -$                     -$                  
Loss on Asset Disposal -$                       -$                       Not Allocated -$                    -$                     -$                  

NET INCOME BEFORE TAX 950,754$               705,677$               50,997$              (5,252)$               45,745$            

Operating Margin 5.58% 3.97% 11.77% 5.75% 10.04%
Calculated Operating Ratio 94.50% 96.10% 88.11%  89.85%

RWO - Valley Total City of Carlton

Results and Projections - Page 1 of 2 4/27/2024

Page 20



RWO - Valley Cost of Service Report 2023-24  

2023 2024-25 2023 Adjustments 2024-25
Calendar Projected Calendar and Projected

Year Rate Allocation Year Projected Rate
Actual Year Method Actual Changes Year

RWO - Valley Total City of Carlton

Allocation Data:
Revenue (All RWO-VAL) 17,775,796$    18,524,628$    444,503$       467,497$     
Revenue Percent 100.00% 100.00% 2.50% 2.52%

Labor Hours 2.67% 2.67%
Disposal 2.72% 2.72%

Recycling 2.63% 2.63%
Customer Count 3.51% 3.51%

Yard Debris 1.49% 1.49%
Medical Waste 0.67% 0.67%

Franchised Labor 2.52% 2.52%

Operating Ratio Calculation

Total Expenses:
Total Labor 2,942,604$            3,348,903$            78,441$              89,272$            
Total Disposal 2,952,886$            3,111,778$            79,469$              83,777$            
Total Operational 7,638,406$            7,984,601$            159,231$            165,810$          
Total Administrative 2,593,870$            2,647,342$            65,064$              71,006$            

Total 16,127,766$          17,092,625$          382,204$            409,865$          

Less Non Allowable Expenses:
Interest on Purchase of routes -$                       -$                       -$                    -$                  
Contributions (14,153)$               (14,846)$               (497)$                  (521)$                
Amortization -$                       -$                       

Allowable Expenses 16,113,614$          17,077,779$          381,707$            409,343$          

Revenue
Revenue w/o Franchise Fees 17,050,753$          17,771,335$          433,201$            455,610$          

17,050,753$          17,771,335$          433,201$            455,610$          

Operating Ratio:
Allowable Expenses 16,113,614$          17,077,779$          381,707$            409,343$          

divided by
Revenue (w/o Franchise Fees) 17,050,753$          17,771,335$          433,201$            455,610$          

proposed adjustment

94.50% 96.10% 88.11% 5.75% 89.85%
-$                     

2023

Revenue (net of Pass Through)

Calculated Operating Ratio

2023
2023
2023
2023
2023
2023

Results and Projections - Page 1 of 2 4/27/2024

Page 21



RECOLOGY WESTERN OREGON SUMMARY RATE SHEET
CAR CITY OF CARLTON EFF. DATE: 7/1/2024

CURRENT NEW
CODE DESCRIPTION RATE INC % INC $$ RATE

CART SERVICES - CURBSIDE
CURBSIDE: WITHIN 4 FEET OF THE CURB OR ROAD, AND AWAY FROM ALL CARS, MAIL BOXES, OR OTHER ITEMS.

32 GALLON CART SERVICE MONTHLY RATES
32GWC 32G CART-CURB 20.34$           5.75% 1.17$        21.51$           
32GEC 32G CART EOW-CURBSIDE 13.19$           5.75% 0.76$        13.95$           
32GMC 32G CART MONTHLY-CURB 7.11$            5.75% 0.41$        7.52$            
OC3C 32 GAL CART ON CALL CURB 7.11$            5.75% 0.41$        7.52$            

ADDITIONAL CART - SAME RATE

90 GALLON CART SERVICE MONTHLY RATES
90GWC 90G CART-CURB 33.85$           5.75% 1.95$        35.80$           
90GEC 90G CART EOW-CURB 21.99$           5.75% 1.26$        23.25$           
90GMC 90G CART OAM-CURB 11.85$           5.75% 0.68$        12.53$           
OC9C 90 GAL CART ON CALL CURB 11.85$           5.75% 0.68$        12.53$           

ADDITIONAL CART - SAME RATE

MONTHLY CART RENT (FOR ON-CALL SERVICE)
90GOC 90G CART WILL CALL-CURB 2.84$            5.75% 0.16$        3.00$            

SPECIAL PICK-UP (FOR OFF-SCHEDULE COLLECTION) RATE PER EACH
SP32C SPEC P/U 32G CART C/S 7.11$            5.75% 0.41$        7.52$            
SP90C SPEC P/U 90G CART C/S 11.85$           5.75% 0.68$        12.53$           
Note: Recycle carts dumped as trash due to contamination may be charged the special pick-up rate.

CART SERVICES - NON-CURBSIDE (SIDEYARD)
NON-CURBSIDE: VISIBLE FROM THE STREET, OUTSIDE OF GARAGES AND FENCED AREAS.

32 GALLON CART SERVICE MONTHLY RATES
32GWS 32G CART-SIDE 31.57$           5.75% 1.82$        33.39$           
32GES 32G CART EOW-SIDE 20.52$           5.75% 1.18$        21.70$           
32GMS 32G CART MONTHLY-SIDE 11.07$           5.75% 0.64$        11.71$           
OC3S 32 GAL CART ON CALL SIDE 11.07$           5.75% 0.64$        11.71$           

ADDITIONAL CART - SAME RATE

90 GALLON CART SERVICE MONTHLY RATES
90GWS 90G CART-SIDE 51.87$           5.75% 2.98$        54.85$           
90GES 90G CART EOW-SIDE 33.74$           5.75% 1.94$        35.68$           
90GMS 90G CART OAM-SIDE 18.18$           5.75% 1.05$        19.23$           
OC9S 90 GAL CART ON CALL SIDE 18.18$           5.75% 1.05$        19.23$           

ADDITIONAL CART - SAME RATE

MONTHLY CART RENT (FOR ON-CALL SERVICE)
90GOS 90G CART WILL CALL-SIDE 2.84$            5.75% 0.16$        3.00$            

SPECIAL PICK-UP (FOR OFF-SCHEDULE COLLECTION) RATE PER EACH
SP32S SPEC P/U 32G CART SIDE 11.07$           5.75% 0.64$        11.71$           
SP90S SPEC P/U 90G CART SIDE 18.18$           5.75% 1.05$        19.23$           
Note: Recycle carts dumped as trash due to contamination may be charged the special pick-up rate.

RWO Page 1 of 4 4/27/2024

Page 22



RECOLOGY WESTERN OREGON SUMMARY RATE SHEET
CAR CITY OF CARLTON EFF. DATE: 7/1/2024

CURRENT NEW
CODE DESCRIPTION RATE INC % INC $$ RATE

OTHER SERVICES & FEES
EXTRAS - PER UNIT CHARGES (APPROX. 32 GALLONS PER UNIT) RATE PER EACH
XBAG EXTRA BAG(S) 5.37$            5.75% 0.31$        5.68$            
XBOX EXTRA BOX 5.37$            5.75% 0.31$        5.68$            
XCAN EXTRA CAN(S) 5.37$            5.75% 0.31$        5.68$            
XMISC EXTRA MISC 5.37$            5.75% 0.31$        5.68$            
X32 EXTRA 32G CART(S) 5.37$            5.75% 0.31$        5.68$            
X90 EXTRA 90G CART(S) 8.45$            5.75% 0.49$        8.94$            

BULKY ITEM COLLECTION (SVC CHARGE + CHARGE PER ITEM)
RATES LISTED ARE FOR COLLECTION AT CURB.  ADDITIONAL CHARGES MAY APPLY FOR RETRIEVAL. RATE PER EACH
APF REFRIGERATOR/FREEZER 30.75$           5.75% 1.77$        32.52$           
APL APPLIANCE 12.31$           5.75% 0.71$        13.02$           
FURN FURNITURE CHARGE 18.45$           5.75% 1.06$        19.51$           
TREE EXTRA CHRISTMAS TREE 10.74$           5.75% 0.62$        11.36$           
IRSC IN ROUTE SERVICE CHARGE 24.96$           5.75% 1.44$        26.40$           
SC SERVICE CHARGE (OUT-OF-ROUTE) 74.67$           5.75% 4.29$        78.96$           

RELATED FEES RATE PER EACH
CRIR CART REDELIVERY IN ROUTE 10.50$           5.75% 0.60$        11.10$           
CROR CART REDELIVER OUT OF ROUTE 21.00$           5.75% 1.21$        22.21$           
CORDF CONTAINER RE-DELIVERY FEE 74.67$           5.75% 4.29$        78.96$           
Note: Re-Delivery fees apply for resume service after suspend.

RATE PER EACH
CCF CART CLEANING FEE 10.50$           5.75% 0.60$        11.10$           
CRF CART REPLACEMENT FEE 68.25$           5.75% 3.92$        72.17$           
Note: Replacement fee is used for loss/damage beyond normal wear and tear.

RATE PER EACH
WLI WIND LATCH INSTALLATION 15.75$           5.75% 0.91$        16.66$           
RF REINSTATEMENT FEE 15.00$           0.00% -$          15.00$           
NSFCF RETURNED CHECK FEE 25.00$           0.00% -$          25.00$           

FRONT-LOAD CONTAINER SERVICE (multiple stops/week available at additional cost)
1 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
1GW 1YD TRASH 150.53$         5.75% 8.66$        159.19$         
1GE 1YD TRASH EOW 90.97$           5.75% 5.23$        96.20$           
1GM 1YD TRASH MONTHLY 58.93$           5.75% 3.39$        62.32$           
1OC ON CALL-1YD TRASH 30.22$           5.75% 1.74$        31.96$           
1XP EXTRA PICK UP-1YD TRASH 30.22$           5.75% 1.74$        31.96$           

1.5 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
1HGW 1.5YD TRASH 187.81$         5.75% 10.80$       198.61$         
1HGE 1.5YD TRASH EOW 109.61$         5.75% 6.30$        115.91$         
1HGM 1.5YD TRASH MONTHLY 67.56$           5.75% 3.88$        71.44$           
1HOC ON CALL-1.5YD TRASH 39.71$           5.75% 2.28$        41.99$           
1HXP EXTRA PICK UP-1.5YD TRASH 39.71$           5.75% 2.28$        41.99$           

RWO Page 2 of 4 4/27/2024

Page 23



RECOLOGY WESTERN OREGON SUMMARY RATE SHEET
CAR CITY OF CARLTON EFF. DATE: 7/1/2024

CURRENT NEW
CODE DESCRIPTION RATE INC % INC $$ RATE

2 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
2GW 2YD TRASH 225.07$         5.75% 12.94$       238.01$         
2GE 2YD TRASH EOW 128.29$         5.75% 7.38$        135.67$         
2GM 2YD TRASH MONTHLY 76.16$           5.75% 4.38$        80.54$           
2OC ON CALL-2YD TRASH 49.20$           5.75% 2.83$        52.03$           
2XP EXTRA PICK UP-2YD TRASH 49.20$           5.75% 2.83$        52.03$           

3 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
3GW 3YD TRASH 299.64$         5.75% 17.23$       316.87$         
3GE 3YD TRASH EOW 165.53$         5.75% 9.52$        175.05$         
3GM 3YD TRASH MONTHLY 93.39$           5.75% 5.37$        98.76$           
3OC ON CALL-3YD TRASH 68.15$           5.75% 3.92$        72.07$           
3XP EXTRA PICK UP-3YD TRASH 68.15$           5.75% 3.92$        72.07$           

4 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
4GW 4YD TRASH 374.19$         5.75% 21.52$       395.71$         
4GE 4YD TRASH EOW 202.82$         5.75% 11.66$       214.48$         
4GM 4YD TRASH MONTHLY 110.60$         5.75% 6.36$        116.96$         
4OC ON CALL-4YD TRASH 87.07$           5.75% 5.01$        92.08$           
4XP EXTRA PICK UP-4YD TRASH 87.07$           5.75% 5.01$        92.08$           

5 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
5GW 5YD TRASH 448.58$         5.75% 25.79$       474.37$         
5GE 5YD TRASH EOW 240.08$         5.75% 13.80$       253.88$         
5GM 5YD TRASH MONTHLY 127.83$         5.75% 7.35$        135.18$         
5OC ON CALL-5YD TRASH 106.00$         5.75% 6.10$        112.10$         
5XP EXTRA PICK UP-5YD TRASH 106.00$         5.75% 6.10$        112.10$         

6 YARD CONTAINERS MONTHLY RATES
6GW 6YD TRASH 523.27$         5.75% 30.09$       553.36$         
6GE 6YD TRASH EOW 277.38$         5.75% 15.95$       293.33$         
6GM 6YD TRASH MONTHLY 145.04$         5.75% 8.34$        153.38$         
6OC ON CALL-6YD TRASH 124.94$         5.75% 7.18$        132.12$         
6XP EXTRA PICK UP-6YD TRASH 124.94$         5.75% 7.18$        132.12$         

8 YARD CONTAINERS (NO NEW CUSTOMERS AT THIS SIZE DUE TO SAFETY ISSUES) MONTHLY RATES
8GW 8YD TRASH 616.96$         5.75% 35.48$       652.44$         
8GE 8YD TRASH EOW 324.19$         5.75% 18.64$       342.83$         
8GM 8YD TRASH MONTHLY 166.66$         5.75% 9.58$        176.24$         
8OC ON CALL-8YD TRASH 148.75$         5.75% 8.55$        157.30$         
8XP EXTRA PICK UP-8YD TRASH 148.75$         5.75% 8.55$        157.30$         

CONTAINER MONTHLY RENT (CHARGED TO WILL-CALL CUSTOMERS, SAME FOR ALL SIZES)
RNT1 1YD RENT - TRASH 21.00$           5.75% 1.21$        22.21$           

FRONT-LOAD COMPACTORS - Additional charges apply for compacted waste.

RWO Page 3 of 4 4/27/2024

Page 24



RECOLOGY WESTERN OREGON SUMMARY RATE SHEET
CAR CITY OF CARLTON EFF. DATE: 7/1/2024

CURRENT NEW
CODE DESCRIPTION RATE INC % INC $$ RATE

DEBRIS BOX  SERVICES
SET HAUL FEES (BASED ON AVERAGE TRUCK TIMES) RATE PER HAUL
DEL DELIVERY CHARGE 56.70$           5.75% 3.26$        59.96$           
10HG TRASH BOX HAUL FEE (ALL SIZES) 141.75$         5.75% 8.15$        149.90$         
40CG COMPACTOR HAUL FEE (ALL SIZES) 170.10$         5.75% 9.78$        179.88$         

DEBRIS BOX DISPOSAL FEES ($$/TON) RATE PER TON
DFDM DISPOSAL FEE - DEMOLITION 79.36$           5.75% 4.56$        83.92$           
DFG DISPOSAL FEE - GARBAGE 79.36$           5.75% 4.56$        83.92$           
DFYD DISPOSAL FEE - YARD DEBRIS (PER YARD) 13.05$           5.75% 0.75$        13.80$           
Note: Recycling ton fees will be equal to or less than trash fees, based on current market pricing.

TEMPORARY DEBRIS BOXES - COD RATES (INCLUDES HAUL & AVERAGE DISPOSAL FOR BOX SIZE)
10DG 10 YARD BOX W/DISPOSAL 320.36$         5.75% 18.42$       338.78$         
20DG 20 YARD BOX W/DISPOSAL 459.17$         5.75% 26.40$       485.57$         
30DG 30 YARD BOX W/DISPOSAL 598.08$         5.75% 34.39$       632.47$         

RELATED FEES RATE PER DAY
RENTD DAILY RENTAL FEE 12.35$           5.75% 0.71$        13.06$           
Note: Daily Rent applies after 48 hours, excluding evenings and weekends.

RATE PER MONTH
RENTM MONTHLY RENTAL FEE 174.48$         5.75% 10.03$       184.51$         
Note: Monthly rent applies for customers who keep a box for a year or longer.

RATE PER HOUR
TIME TRUCK TIME FEE 149.36$         5.75% 8.59$        157.95$         
1T1E 1 TRUCK - 1 EMPLOYEE 149.36$         5.75% 8.59$        157.95$         
1T2E 1 TRUCK - 2 EMPLOYEES 224.03$         5.75% 12.88$       236.91$         
Note: Hourly Truck Time is used for hauls to destinations outside our normal operating areas.

TEMPORARY RENTAL CONTAINERS RATE PER EACH
3YRGD DELV 3 YD RENTAL FOR TRASH 107.67$         5.75% 6.19$        113.86$         
3YRGP SERVICE 3 YD RENTAL FOR TRASH 95.38$           5.75% 5.48$        100.86$         
3YRXD ADDL DAY - 3YD RENT CONTAINER 2.10$            5.75% 0.12$        2.22$            
Note: Temporary = not longer than 30 days, with 45 days between projects.  Rent included for first 7 days.

BULKY ITEMS - DEBRIS BOX
STANDARD FEES APPLY FOR THESE ITEMS IF DECLARED & SEPARATED ACCORDING TO INSTRUCTIONS.
ADDITIONAL FEES MAY APPLY FOR ITEMS FOUND IN LOADS. RATE PER EACH
TOFFR TIRE CHARGE NO RIM 4.92$            5.75% 0.28$        5.20$            
TONR TIRE CHARGE ON RIM 9.84$            5.75% 0.57$        10.41$           
APPL APPLIANCE 12.31$           5.75% 0.71$        13.02$           
APF REFRIGERATOR/FREEZER 30.75$           5.75% 1.77$        32.52$           

MEDICAL WASTE COLLECTION SERVICES RATE PER EACH
M4HSC 4.7 QT SHARPS CONTAINER 27.37$           5.75% 1.57$        28.94$           
M10SC 10 QT SHARPS CONTAINER 30.80$           5.75% 1.77$        32.57$           
M23SC 23 QT SHARPS CONTAINER 54.13$           5.75% 3.11$        57.24$           
9CDBC 9GAL CONFIDENTIAL DOCUMENT BOX 52.99$           5.75% 3.05$        56.04$           
MLGPB PATHOLOGY BOX 53.55$           5.75% 3.08$        56.63$           
MW17G MEDICAL WASTE 17 GAL 23.63$           5.75% 1.36$        24.99$           
MW31G MEDICAL WASTE 31 GAL 30.45$           5.75% 1.75$        32.20$           
MW43G MEDICAL WASTE 43 GAL 36.75$           5.75% 2.11$        38.86$           
MWTCB MEDICAL WASTE TRACE CHEMO BOX 53.55$           5.75% 3.08$        56.63$           
Note: Additional fees may apply for overweight tubs.  Improperly prepared materials cannot be collected.

Finance Charges (0.75% monthly, 9% annually) will be assessed on any past due amount
 (excluding amounts in dispute over billing or service issues).  
Billing Terms: Commercial Accounts are billed on a monthly basis.  
Residential accounts are billed once every three months, in advance.

RWO Page 4 of 4 4/27/2024

Page 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential 
services with professionalism and integrity. 

 

Memorandum 

To:   The Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:   Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager  
Subject:  Resolution 2024-358: Adopting the Water Management and 

Conservation Plan 
Council Goal:  Goal 1: Efficient and Effective Infrastructure    
Date:   June 4, 2024 
 
Recommendation 
 
After review and discussion, it is recommended that the Council consider the following 
motion: 

It is moved that the City Council approve and authorize the Mayor to sign 
Resolution No. 2024-358 adopting the Water Conservation and Management Plan. 

 
Background 
 
Please see the attached memorandum from City Engineer Gordon Munro. 
 

Exhibits  
1. City Engineer Memorandum regarding WMCP 2024 Update 
2. Water Management and Conservation Plan 
3. Resolution 2024-358 

Page 27



 

 

 

May 23, 2024 

Shannon Beaucaire 
City of Carlton 
191 East Main Street 
Carlton, OR 97111 

Subject: Water Management & Conservation Plan (WMCP) 
  2024 Update 

Dear Shannon: 

The Oregon Water Resources Department issued a final order approving the City’s previous WMCP 
on January 2015.  As specified in the final order, the City is required to submit an updated WMCP 
meeting the requirements of OAR Chapter 690, Division 086 to the Department no later than July 16, 
2024. 

The attached document is the draft 2024 WMCP.  As required by the OAR, the draft has been sent out 
to local impacted agencies including Yamhill County, MW&L, YRWA and the Mid-Willamette Valley 
COG.  They have 30 days to review per their comprehensive plans and respond. If they send letters, 
the letters will be included in the appendix of the WMCP. 

There have been minor updates made to the original 2015 WMCP which include: 

- Population and population projections based upon the PSU Population Center data. The 2045 
projection is 3,313. 

- Current water demand based upon City records. The annual average dropped significantly after 
the transition line replacement project.  The current raw water demand is 0.722 mgd. 

- Projected water demand based upon current demand and population projections. The 2045 raw 
water demand is projected to be 1.05 mgd. 

- Water loss data. Recent projects have cut in half the water loss saving on average 110,000 gpd.  
There is still water loss therefore, the City still needs to pursue water conservation. 

- System description based upon projects and developments that have occurred. 

- Review of water conservation elements. It is suggested that the City move to even-odd day 
summer irrigation as a standard summertime measure. 

- Modify the curtailment plan to include water levels in the raw water reservoir.  Otherwise, the 
curtailment plan remains the same. 

- Review of future water supply. 

Page 28



2 

The updated WMCP should be adopted by the City Council prior to submitting to the Oregon Water 
Resource Department before July 16, 2024. 

Please call if you have any questions about this material. 

Sincerely, 
Tetra Tech, Inc. 
 
 
 
Gordon Munro, P.E.  
City Engineer 
 

Attachment:  WMCP 
 

         

 

Page 29



Water Management and Conservation Plan 

#135-13914-16001-02 
May 2024 

Page 30



 

 

City of Carlton Water Management and 
Conservation Plan 
#135-13914-16001-02 
May 2024 

 PREPARED FOR  PREPARED BY 

City of Carlton 
191 East Main Street 
Carlton, Oregon 97111 

 Tetra Tech 
15350 SW Sequoia Parkway 
Suite 220 
Portland, Oregon 97224 

 
503.684.9097 
tetratech.com 

 

   

    

 

   

    

 

   

    

 

 

  

Page 31



  Table of Contents 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan iii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND WATER MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION PLAN ELEMENTS .........................1 
1.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................1 
1.2 Plan Requirement ..........................................................................................................................................1 
1.3 Plan Organization ...........................................................................................................................................1 
1.4 Affected Local Governments ..........................................................................................................................3 
1.5 Update Schedule ............................................................................................................................................3 
1.6 Time Extension ..............................................................................................................................................3 

2.0 WATER SUPPLIER DESCRIPTION ....................................................................................................................4 
2.1 Water Sources ...............................................................................................................................................4 
2.2 Interconnections with Other Systems ............................................................................................................4 
2.3 Intergovernmental Agreements ......................................................................................................................4 
2.4 Current Service Area and Population Served ................................................................................................5 
2.5 Record of Water Use ......................................................................................................................................8 

2.5.1 Methodology .........................................................................................................................................8 
2.6 Historical Water Demands .............................................................................................................................8 

2.6.1 Annual Demands ..................................................................................................................................8 
2.6.2 Peaking Factors ................................................................................................................................. 10 
2.6.3 Monthly Demand ............................................................................................................................... 10 
2.6.4 Seasonal Demands ........................................................................................................................... 10 
2.6.5 Authorized Consumption ................................................................................................................... 12 

2.7 Customer Characteristics and Use Patterns ............................................................................................... 12 
2.7.1 Largest Water Users .......................................................................................................................... 15 

2.8 Water Losses and Non-Revenue Water ..................................................................................................... 15 
2.9 Water Rights ............................................................................................................................................... 16 

2.9.1 Aquatic Resource Concerns .............................................................................................................. 16 
2.10 Evaluation of Water Rights/Supply ........................................................................................................... 18 
2.11 System Description ................................................................................................................................... 20 

3.0 WATER CONSERVATION ELEMENT ............................................................................................................. 23 
3.1 Current Conservation Measures ................................................................................................................. 23 

3.1.1 Progress Report ................................................................................................................................ 23 
3.1.2 Background........................................................................................................................................ 23 

3.2 Use and Reporting Program ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Page 32



  Table of Contents 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan iv 

3.3 Required Conservation Programs ............................................................................................................... 23 
3.3.1 Five-Year Benchmarks for Required Conservation Measures .......................................................... 24 

3.4 Expanded Use under Extended Permits ..................................................................................................... 25 
3.5 Additional Conservation Measures ............................................................................................................. 26 

3.5.1 Leak Repair or Line Replacement Program ...................................................................................... 26 
3.5.2 Technical and Financial Assistance Programs .................................................................................. 26 
3.5.3 Supplier Financed Retrofit or Replacement of Inefficient Fixtures .................................................... 27 
3.5.4 Rate Structure and Billing Practices that Encourage Conservation .................................................. 27 
3.5.5 Water Reuse, Recycling, and Non-potable Opportunities ................................................................. 27 
3.5.6 Landscape Irrigation Measures ......................................................................................................... 27 
3.5.7 Other Conservation Measures........................................................................................................... 27 

4.0 WATER CURTAILMENT ELEMENT ................................................................................................................ 29 
4.1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................. 29 
4.2 History of System Curtailment Episodes ..................................................................................................... 29 
4.3 Curtailment Event Triggers and Stages ...................................................................................................... 30 
4.4 Authority & Enforcement ............................................................................................................................. 31 
4.5 Curtailment Plan Implementation ................................................................................................................ 31 

4.5.1 Stage 1: Limited Water Shortage Alert .............................................................................................. 31 
4.5.2 Stage 2: Moderate Water Shortage Alert .......................................................................................... 31 
4.5.3 Stage 3: Serious Water Shortage Alert ............................................................................................. 32 
4.5.4 Stage 4: Severe Water Shortage Alert .............................................................................................. 32 
4.5.5 Stage 5: Emergency Water Shortage Alert ....................................................................................... 32 

5.0 WATER SUPPLY .............................................................................................................................................. 33 
5.1 Delineation of Service Areas ....................................................................................................................... 33 
5.2 Population Projections ................................................................................................................................ 33 
5.3 Demand Forecast ........................................................................................................................................ 34 
5.4 Schedule to Exercise Permits and Comparison of Projected Need to Available Sources ......................... 34 
5.5 Alternative Sources ..................................................................................................................................... 36 

5.5.1 Conservation Measures ..................................................................................................................... 36 
5.5.2 Interconnections ................................................................................................................................ 36 
5.5.3 Cost effectiveness ............................................................................................................................. 36 

5.6 Quantification of Projected Maximum Rate and Monthly Volume .............................................................. 37 
5.7 Mitigation Actions under State and Federal Law ........................................................................................ 37 
5.8 New Water Rights ....................................................................................................................................... 37 

Page 33



  List of Tables 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan v 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1-1. WMCP Organization ..................................................................................................................................1 
Table 1-2. OAR Compliance Checklist .......................................................................................................................2 
Table 2-1. Historical and Projected Population Growth..............................................................................................5 
Table 2-2. Historical Annual Water Demand, ADD, MDD, MMD, and Peaking Factors, 2010-2012 .........................9 
Table 2-3. Water User Classifications (Rate codes) Inside and Outside City Limits/UGB ...................................... 12 
Table 2-4. Top 10 Water Consumers, 2019 through 2023 ...................................................................................... 15 
Table 2-5. Water Losses, 2018 through 2023 ......................................................................................................... 16 
Table 2-6. City of Carlton Water Rights ................................................................................................................... 17 
Table 2-7. Federal- or State-Listed Fish Species Potentially Found in North Yamhill Watershed and Found in the 
Willamette River Near the City’s Point of Diversion ................................................................................................ 18 
Table 2-8. Required Fish Flow Targets in the Willamette River at Salem, Oregon (USGS Gage 14191000) ........ 20 
Table 2-9. Summary of system storage tanks ......................................................................................................... 22 
Table 2-10. Summary of distribution pipes .............................................................................................................. 22 
Table 2-11. Summary of transmission pipes ........................................................................................................... 22 
Table 3-1. Monthly water service charges, effective July 1, 2012 ........................................................................... 25 
Table 4-1. Curtailment Stages 1 through 5 ............................................................................................................. 30 
Table 5-1. Projected Population .............................................................................................................................. 33 
Table 5-2. Projected Raw Water Demand ............................................................................................................... 34 
Table 5-3. City of Carlton Water Treatment Plant Capacity Meter Readings, July 1, 2009 .................................... 35 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1. City of Carlton Regional Location ............................................................................................................6 
Figure 2-2. Current Service Area and Urban Growth Boundary Map ........................................................................7 
Figure 2-3. Average Daily Demand (ADD) and Maximum Day Demand (MDD), 2015-2023 ................................. 10 
Figure 2-4. Monthly Average Day Demand (mgd), 2015-2023 ............................................................................... 11 
Figure 2-5. Historical Seasonal Demand (mgd), 2015-2023 ................................................................................... 11 
Figure 2-6. Annual Metered Water Consumption (MG), 2018-2023 ....................................................................... 13 
Figure 2-7. Monthly Metered Water Consumption (MG), 2018-2023 ...................................................................... 14 
Figure 2-8. Average Monthly Water Consumption by Season and Year (MG), 2018-2023 .................................... 14 
Figure 2-9. Schematic of the City’s Existing Water Distribution System ................................................................. 21 
 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A: Letters to Local Governments and Responses 
Appendix B: Population Forecasts for Yamhill County, its Cities and Unincorporated Area 
 

  

Page 34



  Acronyms/Abbreviations 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan vi 

ACRONYMS/ABBREVIATIONS 

Acronyms/Abbreviations Definition 
ADD average-day demand 

AMR automated meter reading 

cf cubic feet 

cfs  cubic feet per second 

gpcd gallons per capita per day 

gpm gallons per minute 

IGA intergovernmental agreement 

MDD maximum-day demand 

MG million gallons 

mgd million gallons per day 

MMD maximum-month demand 

MW&L McMinnville Water & Light 

OAR Oregon Administrative Rules 

OWRD Oregon Water Resources Department 

TMDL total maximum daily load 

WMCP Water Management and Conservation Plan 

 

Page 35



 Introduction and Water Management and Conservation Plan Elements 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND WATER MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION 
PLAN ELEMENTS 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Water Management and Conservation Plan (WMCP) is to guide development, financing and 
implementation of water management and conservation programs in order to manage sustainable water use, 
project the City’s future water needs, evaluate the adequacy source-of-supply, and identifies potential, alternative 
and additional sources-of-supply. This WMCP has been developed to be consistent with the City’s adopted water 
system master plan and in accordance with Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) OAR Chapter 690, Division 86 
regarding WMCPs. 

This WMCP is an update to the 2014 WMCP. Much of the information and material is the same as the 2014 plan. 
Modification were made only where required based upon updated data. 

1.2 PLAN REQUIREMENT 

A WMCP is required to be revised on a 10-year interval and a progress report completed and submitted at the 5-
year midpoint between revisions. In 2014 the City of Carlton completed its initial WMCP and submitted a progress 
report in 2019. This 2024 WMCP fulfills the requirement for the 10-year update as stipulated by OAR 
Chapter 690, Division 86. 

1.3 PLAN ORGANIZATION 

The WMCP is organized into sections as listed in Table 1-1, each addressing specific sections of OAR Chapter 
690, Division 86: 

Table 1-1. WMCP Organization 

WMCP  Section Title OAR Requirement 
Section 1 Water Supplier Plan OAR 690-086-0125 
Section 2 Water Supplier Description OAR 690-086-0140 
Section 3 Water Conservation Element OAR 690-086-0150 
Section 4 Water Curtailment Element OAR 690-086-0160 
Section 5 Water Supply Element OAR 690-086-0170 

Section 2 is a self-evaluation of the City’s water supply, water use, water rights and water system. The information 
developed for Section 2 is the foundation for the sections that follow. The later sections use this information to 

This section satisfies the requirements of OAR 690-086-0125. 

This rule requires a list of affected local government to whom the plan was made available, and a proposed 
date for submittal of an updated plan. 

Page 36



 Introduction and Water Management and Conservation Plan Elements 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 2 

consider how the City can improve its water conservation and water supply planning efforts. The WMCP includes 
the following appendices providing supporting information: 

• Appendix A—Letters to Local Governments and Responses 

• Appendix B—Population Forecasts for Yamhill county, its Cities and Unincorporated Area 

The checklist in Table 1-2 identifies each required WMCP element, the OAR reference, and WMCP section. 

Table 1-2. OAR Compliance Checklist 

WMCP Required Element OAR Reference WMCP Section and Page 
Municipal Water Supplier Plan Elements 690-086-0125 Section 1 
Affected Local Governments OAR 690-086-0125(5) Section 1, page 3 
Plan Update Schedule OAR 690-086-0125(6) Section 1, page 3__ 
Time Extension OAR 690-086-0125(7) Section 1, page 3 
Water Supplier Description 690-086-0140. Section 2 
Water Sources OAR 690-086-0140(1) Section 2, page 4 
Interconnections with Other Systems OAR 690-086-0140(7) Section 2, page 4 
Intergovernmental Agreements OAR 690-086-0140 (1) Section 2, page 4 
Current Service Area & Population Served OAR 690-086-0140(2) Section 2, page 5 
Record of Water Use OAR 690-086-0140 (4) & (9) Section 2, page 8 
Customer Characteristics & Use Patterns OAR 690-086-0140(6) Section 2, page 12 
Water Loss & Non-Revenue Water OAR 690-086-0140 (9) Section 2, page 15 
Water Rights OAR 690-086-0140(5) Section 2, page 16 
Evaluation of Water Rights/Supply OAR 690-086-0140 (3) Section 2, page 18 
System Description OAR 690-086-0140(8) Section 2, page 20 
Water Conservation Elements 690-086-0150 Section 3 
Current Conservation Measures OAR 690-086-0150 (1) & (3) Section 3, page 23 
Use & Reporting Program OAR 690-086-0150 (2) Section 3, page 23 
Required Conservation Programs OAR 690-086-0150 (4) Section 3, page 23 
Expanded Use Under Extended Permits OAR 690-086-0150 (5) Section 3, page 25 
Additional Conservation Measures OAR 690-086-0150 (6) Section 3, page 26 
Water Curtailment Element 690-086-0160 Section 4 
History of System Curtailment Episodes OAR 690-086-0160 (1) Section 4, Page 29 
Curtailment Event Triggers and Stages OAR 690-086-0160 (2) & (3) Section 4, page 30 
Curtailment Plan Implementation OAR 690-086-0160 (4) Section 4, Page 31 
Water Supply 690-086-0170 Section 5 
Delineation of Service Area OAR 690-086-170 (1) Section 5, page 33 
Population Projections OAR 690-086-0170 (1) Section 5, page 33 
Demand Forecast OAR 690-086-0170 (3) Section 5, page 34 
Schedule to Exercise Permits OAR 690-086-0170 (2) & (4) Section 5, page 34 
Alternative Sources OAR 690-086-0170 (5) Section 5, page 36 

Page 37



 Introduction and Water Management and Conservation Plan Elements 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 3 

WMCP Required Element OAR Reference WMCP Section and Page 
Quantification of Projected Maximum Rate OAR 690-086-0170 (6) Section 5, page 37 
Mitigation Actions OAR 690-086-0170 (7) Section 5, page 37 
New Water Rights OAR 690-086-0170 (8) Section 5, page 37 

1.4 AFFECTED LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

OAR 690-086-0125(5) 

The following local governmental agencies may be affected by this WMCP: 

• City of Carlton 

• Yamhill County 

• McMinnville Water & Light (MW&L) 

Thirty days before submitting this WMCP to the Oregon Water Resources Department (OWRD), the City made 
the draft WMCP available for review by each affected local government listed above along with a request for 
comments relating to consistency with the local government’s comprehensive land use plan. The letters 
requesting comment and responses from _________________are included in Appendix A. 

As a courtesy the City provided the Yamhill Regional Water Authority with notice of the draft plan. 

1.5 UPDATE SCHEDULE 

OAR 690-086-0125(6)) 

The City anticipates submitting an update of this WMCP in within 10 years of the final order approving this WMCP 
or approximately 2034. Additionally, as required by OAR Chapter 690, Division 86, a progress report will be 
submitted within 5 years of the final order, or approximately 2029. 

1.6 TIME EXTENSION 

OAR 690-086-0125(7)) 

This is the City’s second WMCP and first update. The City is not requesting additional time to implement any 
previous benchmark. 

Page 38



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 4 

2.0 WATER SUPPLIER DESCRIPTION 

2.1 WATER SOURCES 

OAR 690-086-0140(1)) 

The City’s primary source of water is Panther Creek, which flows eastward out of the Oregon Coast Range. The 
City uses flow from Panther Creek and stored water from Panther Creek Reservoir. The City holds a water right 
permit for the development of a source from Fall Creek, which also flows out of the Coast Range. 

In 2019 the City completed an intertie with MW&L near the Carlton water treatment plant on Panther Creek Road. 
The meter vault, backflow preventer, control valve and 6- inch pipeline is designed to provide a supply of 520 
gallons per minute (gpm) to the City. A temporary IGA was put in place during upgrades to the Carlton source and 
treatment system, which has now lapsed. The City of Carlton and MW&L are in negotiations for a future 
permanent IGA. Therefore, currently this water source is not authorized. 

In 2012 the City obtained authorization to access Willamette River water for municipal use through its 
membership in the Yamhill Regional Water Authority. However, it will likely be several years before the needed 
infrastructure is in place to use this source. 

2.2 INTERCONNECTIONS WITH OTHER SYSTEMS 

OAR 690-086-0140(7) 

The City has three interconnections to other water systems: 

• Valley View Water District to provide water service to approximately 42 customer connections on a 
wholesale basis. 

• East Carlton Water Company to provide water to approximately 15 customer connections. 

• A six-inch emergency intertie with MW&L that can provide the City water in an emergency situation. 

2.3 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS 

OAR 690-086-0140(1)) 

The City has intergovernmental agreements (IGAs) with each of the systems with whom it has an established 
connection or agreement to serve water. 

This section satisfies the requirements of OAR 690-086-0140. 

This rule requires descriptions of the City’s water sources, water delivery area and population, water rights, 
and adequacy and reliability of the existing water supply. The rule also requires descriptions of the City’s 
customers and their water use, the water system, interconnections with other water suppliers, and 
quantification of system leakage. 

Page 39



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 5 

• Valley View Water Company—Signed, amended agreement dated February 2007 

• East Carlton Water Company—Unsigned agreement dated 1997. The agreement remains unsigned. 

• Yamhill Regional Water Authority—In December 2012, the City entered into an IGA with the cities of 
McMinnville (via MW&L Commission), Dayton, and Lafayette to jointly seek, acquire, hold, and maintain a 
water permit for appropriation of water from the Willamette River. The IGA states that upon issuance of 
the Final Order for Application S-87762, permitted 44.18 cubic feet per second (cfs) of Willamette River 
water to be allocated as follows: 2.98 cfs for Carlton, 3.10 cfs for Dayton, 5.00 cfs for Lafayette, and 33.10 
cfs for MWL. Permit S-54792 was issued on January 17, 2013. The IGA also covers items related to 
governance, operations and management, and financing. 

• MW&L—The City is currently negotiating an agreement for emergency and permanent water through the 
intertie. 

2.4 CURRENT SERVICE AREA AND POPULATION SERVED 

OAR 690-086-0140(2)) 

The City of Carlton is located in Yamhill County in the northwest portion of the Willamette Valley, approximately 6 
miles north of the City of McMinnville and 12 miles west of the City of Newberg. Figure 2-1 shows the City’s 
relative location. 

The current water service area includes areas within and outside the existing City limits. The city limits and the 
Urban Growth Boundary are the same. Figure 2-2 shows the city limits/urban growth boundary and water service 
area. 

As of 2023, the City provides water to 1,117 accounts. The majority of those accounts are direct customer 
accounts within the city limits (1,008). Outside the city limits water service is provided to the following direct and 
wholesale customers: 

• Wholesale customer Valley View Water District to serve 41 connections 

• Wholesale customer East Carlton Water Company 16 connections, 

• Modafari Road 7 connections, 

• Direct customers on the transmission line between the reservoir and the City Limits, 65 connections 

• Miscellaneous direct customers located east of the City Limits, 12 connections. 

Table 2-1 documents the City’s population since the year 2000 to the present based upon the latest 2022 US 
census. 

Table 2-1. Historical and Projected Population Growth 

Year  Population 
2000 1,510 
2010 2,007 
2020 2,225 
2023 2,234 

 

Page 40



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 6 

 

Figure 2-1. City of Carlton Regional Location 

Page 41



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 7 

 

Figure 2-2. Current Service Area and Urban Growth Boundary Map 

Page 42



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 8 

2.5 RECORD OF WATER USE 

OAR 690-086-0140(4) & (9)) 

2.5.1 Methodology 
Generally, demand and consumption in municipal systems are expressed in units of million gallons per day (mgd). 
They may also be expressed in cubic feet per second (cfs) or gallons per minute (gpm). One mgd is equivalent to 
1.55 cfs or 694 gpm. For annual or monthly values, a quantity of water is typically reported in million gallons (MG). 
Water use per person (per capita use) is expressed in gallons per person (per capita) per day (gpcd). 

This report distinguishes between “raw water” and “finished water” demand. “Raw water” demand refers to water 
diverted from the source and “finished water” demand refers to treated water entering the City’s distribution 
system. For the purposes of this report, the following terms are used to describe specific values of demands: 

• Average-day demand (ADD) equals the total annual input (demand) divided by 365 days. 

• Maximum-day demand (MDD) equals the highest demand that occurs on any single day during a 
calendar year. It is also called the one-day MDD. 

• Maximum-month demand (MMD) in MG equals the highest total monthly demand of the 12 months of a 
calendar year. MMD in mgd equals the average day demand of the one month with the highest total 
demand of the 12 months of a calendar year. 

• Peaking factors are the ratios of one demand value to another. The most common and important peaking 
factor is the ratio of the MDD to the ADD. 

MDD is an important value for water system planning. The supply facilities (treatment plants, pipelines, reservoirs) 
and water rights must be capable of meeting the MDD. If the MDD exceeds the combined supply capacity on any 
given day, finished water storage levels will be reduced. Consecutive days at or near the MDD may result in a 
water shortage. 

2.6 HISTORICAL WATER DEMANDS 

2.6.1 Annual Demands 
Historical records of water production (referred to as demand) provided by the City were evaluated to determine 
water usage rates and demand fluctuations. It is important to highlight that between June 2021 and March 2023, 
the city purchased its water from MW&L. This was attributable to the raw water reservoir project going on at that 
time. Data from 2015 through 2023 were used in this study and was provided by the City of Carlton. Table2-2 
summarizes the City’s annual water demand in ADD, MDD, MMD and peaking factor. The demand is displayed 
as “raw water,” which is the water diverted from the source, and “finished water,” which is the treated water 
entering the City’s distribution system. The difference between raw water and finished water is the water used in 
the treatment process. For the purposes of this WMCP, the raw water value is used for historical demand 
analyses and the finished water value is used for evaluating unaccounted for water.  

Page 43



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 9 

As depicted in Table 2-2, annual raw water demand averaged 139.8 MG and annual finished water demand 
averaged 121.5 MG. The City’s raw water average ADD was 0.38 mgd and average MDD was 0.68 mgd. An 
increase in ADD, MDD and annual water usage was observed during years 2019-2021. This trend is reflective of 
the impact due to the Covid-19 pandemic. From June 2021 through March of 2023 the City was taking treated 
water from MW&L. Therefore, the volume of water was reduced as there was no need for backwash water. 

Table 2-2. Historical Annual Water Demand, ADD, MDD, MMD, and Peaking Factors, 2010-2012 

   Raw Water   Finished Water 

Year 
Annual 

Volume (MG) 
ADD 
(mgd) 

MDD 
(mgd) 

MMD 
(MG) 

MMD 
(mgd) 

Peaking Factor 
(MDD:ADD) 

Annual 
Volume (MG) 

ADD 
(mgd) 

2015 141.3 0.39 0.70 18.0 0.59 1.8 126.0 0.35 

2016 137.9 0.38 0.68 17.7 0.58 1.8 113.6 0.31 

2017 136.2 0.37 0.67 17.3 0.57 1.8 112.9 0.31 

2018 147.8 0.40 0.73 18.0 0.59 1.8 122 0.33 

2019 155.1 0.42 0.76 18.2 0.60 1.8 129.4 0.35 

2020 167.6 0.46 0.83 20.4 0.67 1.8 140.0 0.38 

2021 146.0 0.40 0.72 18.7 0.62 1.8 136.4 0.37 

2022 104.2 0.29 0.51 15.9 0.52 1.8 104.2 0.29 

2023 122.3 0.34 0.60 16.9 0.56 1.8 109.2 0.30 

Average 139.8 0.38 0.69 17.9 0.59 1.8 121.5 0.33 

Max 167.6 0.46 0.83 20.4 0.67 1.8 140.0 0.38 

 

Figure 2-3 illustrates the City’s ADD and MDD for 2015 through 2023. MDD and ADD have been variable over the 
past nine years. It is speculated that the effect of COVID was more people staying home and using more water. 
The decrease starting in 2021 and going into 2023 in due to the use of MW&L water, which eliminated the need 
for backwash water. The MDDs occurred in the months of July and August. 

It is notable that after the raw water dredging project was completed, the ADD and MDD of raw water decreased. 
The dredging of the raw water reservoir has increased the raw water quality to the extent that significantly less 
backwash water is required. On average the decrease has been approximately 97,000 gallons per month, which 
is significant for Carlton. 

MDD can be strongly influenced by weather patterns and the economy. Weather patterns often cause fluctuations 
in MDD from year to year. Weather patterns that influence MDD include maximum temperatures, the number of 
consecutive days with high temperatures, when high temperatures occur in the summer, overall rainfall levels 
during the summer, and consecutive days without rainfall. Unusually hot and/or dry weather results in more 
outdoor irrigation, which increases the MDD. The economy can affect MDD, as well. Customers may choose to 
irrigate less to save in an economic downturn. The economy also influences the number of new homes with 
landscapes needing intense irrigation for plant establishment. 

Page 44



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 10 

 

Figure 2-3. Average Daily Demand (ADD) and Maximum Day Demand (MDD), 2015-2023 

2.6.2 Peaking Factors 
Peaking factors are the ratios of one demand value to another, and the most common and important peaking 
factor is the ratio of the MDD to the ADD. This ratio often is used for estimating peak demands when only ADDs 
are known or measured, as well as for hydraulic modeling of the system and for demand forecasting. The City’s 
MDD data came from actual recorded values of demand. From 2015 through 2023, the City’s average peaking 
factor was 1.8. This value is slightly lower than the typical value found in the Willamette Valley, which ranges from 
1.9 to 2.2. 

2.6.3 Monthly Demand 
Figure 2-4 shows monthly demand data from 2015 through 2023 expressed as an average daily demand for the 
month, with the peak season months of June through September in red. During this period, the highest monthly 
ADD recorded was 0.67 mgd in August 2020. This figure highlights the seasonal change in demand that the City 
experiences and the months with the greatest demand, July and August. Consequently, these months should be 
the focus of water conservation efforts. 

2.6.4 Seasonal Demands 
Figure 2-5 shows historical monthly ADD for summer and winter seasons from 2015 through 2023. During this 
period, monthly ADD during the 4 summer months (June-September) ranged from 0.38 mgd to 0.59 mgd and 
monthly ADD during the winter months (December-March) ranged from 0.21 mgd through 0.40 mgd. 

Page 45



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 11 

 
Red indicates peak season months (while blue indicates non-peak season months). 

Figure 2-4. Monthly Average Day Demand (mgd), 2015-2023 

 

Summer = June to September. Winter = December to March. 

Figure 2-5. Historical Seasonal Demand (mgd), 2015-2023 

Page 46



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 12 

Summer production accounted for an average of approximately 42 percent of the City’s annual demand and 
winter demand (December-March) accounted for an average of 28 percent of the annual demand. The shoulder 
seasons (April through May and October through November) accounted for the remaining 30 percent of the 
annual demand. The City’s water demand increases substantially during the summer months as a result of 
outdoor water use, largely irrigation, which is typical for western Oregon utilities. 

2.6.5 Authorized Consumption 
Authorized consumption is equal to the metered and certain unmetered water uses. All customers served by the 
City are metered and all known authorized water consumption is metered except for the City’s periodic use of 
hydrants to flush the system and the Fire Department’s use of hydrants for training or emergencies. 

2.7 CUSTOMER CHARACTERISTICS AND USE PATTERNS 

OAR 690-086-0140(6)) 

The City’s billing system classifies water users by rate codes. Table 2-3 provides a summary of water users by 
rate code inside and outside of the City Limits/UGB in 2023. 

Table 2-3. Water User Classifications (Rate codes) Inside and Outside City Limits/UGB 

User Classification Rate Code # of Accounts 
Inside City Limits/UGB   
Single Rate Code 1 1,620 
Single Rate Code 2 120 
Double Rate Code 4 10 
Triple Rate Code 5 1 
Quad Rate Code 6 1 
 Rate Code 7 1 
 Rate Code 8, Carlton Apartments 1 
 Rate Code 9  1 
 Rate Code 11 1 
 Rate Code 15 12 
 Rate Code 17 1 
 Rate Code 18  1 
 Rate Code 20 10 
  Rate Code 22 2 
 Rate Code 23 1 
 Rate Code 23 1,648 
 Rate Code 25 1 
 Rate Code 26 2 
 Rate Code 27 9 
 Rate Code 18 1 
 Rate Code 29 1 
 Rate Code 30 1 
 Rate Code 31 1 
  Total 1,789 

Page 47



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 13 

The City’s new billing system does not provide a simple method of updating customer class information when 
changes occur. Some customers have multiple classifications such that the total number of accounts does not 
equal the total number of customers in each classification. Further, some of these accounts are multiple users 
such as the valley View Water district. 

The City had approximately 1,008 accounts in city limits, 109 outside city accounts for a total of 1,117 accounts in 
2023. Of these there are 108 business accounts, 9 public accounts and the rest are residential. 

Figure 2-6 shows the annual metered consumption from 2018 through 2023. Figure 2-7 shows the City’s monthly 
metered consumption from 2018 through 2023. Consumption increases in the summer months every year, which 
is typical and likely the result of outdoor irrigation. The highest monthly consumption was 12.5 MG in August 
2022. Figure 2-8 shows the average monthly metered consumption from 2018 through 2023 for the year and for 
each season, with summer representing June through September, and winter representing December through 
March. The ratio of the average summer to winter consumption is 1.9. 

 

Figure 2-6. Annual Metered Water Consumption (MG), 2018-2023 

65

70

75

80

85

90

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023

An
nu

al
 M

et
er

ed
 W

at
er

 C
on

su
m

pt
io

n 
(M

G
)

Page 48



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 14 

 

Figure 2-7. Monthly Metered Water Consumption (MG), 2018-2023 

 

Figure 2-8. Average Monthly Water Consumption by Season and Year (MG), 2018-2023 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

M
on

th
ly

 M
et

er
ed

 W
at

er
 C

on
su

m
pt

io
n 

(M
G

)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023

Av
er

ag
e 

W
at

er
 C

on
su

m
pt

io
n 

Pe
r M

on
th

 (M
G

)

Winter Summer Annual

Page 49



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 15 

2.7.1 Largest Water Users 
Table 2-4 lists the City’s top 10 water consumers. These customers used 18.2 MG per year, which represents 9.5 
percent of the City’s total yearly water consumption for the last five years. 

While an annual volume is shown, the City records are for the last 5 years as a total. The annual amount is the 
five-year total divided by five. 

Table 2-4. Top 10 Water Consumers, 2019 through 2023 

Facility Average Yearly Volume Used (MG) 
Carlton Farms Processing  9.44 
Valley View WD 4.06 
Carlton Oaks 1.42 
Yamhill elementary School 0.79 
Uchi Apartments 0.66 
Tabula Rasa Farms 0.58 
Winemakers Studio 0.33 
Ken Wright Cellars 0.31 
Carlton Corners 0.29 
Dan Durret Apartments 0.29 
Total 18.2 

2.8 WATER LOSSES AND NON-REVENUE WATER 

OAR 690-086-0140(9)) 

Water loss, or unaccounted-for water, is comprised of the difference between the finished water produced and the 
water consumed, consisting of all unmetered uses and system leakage. It is important to differentiate these two 
categories of water loss. 

Unmetered use is commonly the result of incomplete or inaccurate metering of consumer demand, including the 
following typical categories that may be applicable to the City. 

• Unmetered or unauthorized connections 

• Inaccurate or unrecorded flows for hydrant and main flushing 

• Unmetered water for construction activities 

• Unmetered water for operations & maintenance uses (street cleaning) 

• Unmetered water for fire fighting 

• Reservoir overflows 

• Data collection errors 

System leakage, as the name implies, is water lost due to deteriorating pipe, compromised pipe joints, service 
connections, valves, etc. Table 2-5 presents annual produced water, consumed water, unaccounted for water and 
the water loss from 2018 through 2023. 

Page 50



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 16 

Table 2-5. Water Losses, 2018 through 2023 

Year (Dec-Dec) Produced Water (MG) 
Consumed Water 

(MG) 
Unaccounted Water 

(MG) Water Loss (%) 
2018-2019 127.9 73.8 54.1 42.3 
2019-2020 139.5 80.9 58.6 42.0 
2020-2021 140.5 83.3 57.2 40.7 
2021-2022 100.9 79.6 21.3 21.1 
2022-2023 112.1 87.5 24.6 21.9 

 

The most telling indication of the water loss reduction in the system is the comparison of the water loss before 
and after the transmission line was replaced and the concrete reservoir lined. The water loss dropped from 
41.6 percent to 21.5 percent. The water savings is approximately 110,000 gpd, which is significant for Carlton. 

2.9 WATER RIGHTS 

OAR 690-086-0140(5)) 

The City holds a number of water rights for the use of surface water for municipal purposes. The sources include 
natural stream flow from Panther Creek, stored water in Panther Reservoir, Fall Creek, and the Willamette River. 
To date, the City holds certificated water rights to store and use 75 AF from Panther Creek Reservoir and 0.789 
cfs of natural stream flow from Panther Creek. The City has partially perfected (partially certificated) two permits, 
Permits S-34661 and S-50218, and has 0.229 cfs and 0.052 cfs, respectively, remaining in permit status. The City 
holds two additional permits in the Panther Creek drainage: Permit S-32489 for up to 2.5 cfs from Panther Creek 
natural stream flow and Permit S-32488 for use of up to 2.0 cfs from Fall Creek. 

All of the above mentioned permits currently need an extension of time. 

Finally, as a member of the Yamhill Regional Water Authority, 2.98 cfs of the 44.18 cfs allowed under Permit S-
54792 for Willamette River water is allocated to the City. 

Table 2-6 provides detailed information about these municipal water rights that supply potable water through the 
City’s municipal distribution system. These water rights also are described in more detail below. 

2.9.1 Aquatic Resource Concerns 
The City has water rights authorizing the use of surface water from Panther Creek, Fall Creek, and the Willamette 
River. Spring chinook salmon and winter steelhead are federally listed as threatened in the Upper Willamette 
Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU), which includes the North Yamhill Watershed. Coho salmon is federally listed 
as threatened in the Oregon Coast ESU and the Oregon chub is federally listed as threatened in multiple ESUs. 
The state listing for Spring Chinook and Oregon chub is sensitive-critical, for winter steelhead is sensitive- 
vulnerable, and for coho salmon is endangered. Pacific lamprey and western brook lamprey are currently state 
listed as sensitive-vulnerable. Table 2-7 shows the listed fish species in Panther Creek and Fall Creek, and in 
some cases, the Willamette River within the reach of the City’s point of diversion (RM 59.5) 

 

Page 51



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 17 

Table 2-6. City of Carlton Water Rights 

     Type of  Authorized 
Maximum Rate of 

Withdrawal to Date 
2012 Average 

Withdrawal 

Three-Year 
(2010 – 2012) 

Average 
Withdrawal 

  Application Permit Certificate Priority Date 
Beneficial 

Use 
Authorized Rate (cfs) 

/Volume (AF) 
Date for 

Completion 
Instantaneous 

(cfs) 
Annually 

(MG) 
Daily 
(mgd) 

Monthly 
(MG) 

Daily 
(mgd) 

Monthly 
(MG) 

Panther Creek  R-46504 R-5527 85744 10/22/69 Municipal 66 AF N/A N/A 24.4 (75 
AF) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Panther Creek  R-69512 R-10900 85747 11/30/87 Municipal 9 AF N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Panther Creek  S-1609 S-914 1868 8/12/1911 Municipal 0.50 cfs N/A 0.50 

146.6 0.39 11.8 0.39 12.0 

Panther Creek 
and Panther 
Creek Reservoir 

S-46505 S-34661 86064 10/22/1969 Municipal 
0.271 cfs from Panther 

Creek/ 66 AF from 
Panther Creek Reservoir 

N/A 0.271 

Panther Creek 
and Panther 
Creek Reservoir 

S-69513 S-50218 86065 11/30/1987 Municipal 
0.018 cfs from Panther 

Creek/ 9 AF from 
Panther Creek Reservoir 

N/A 0.018 

Panther Creek 
and Panther 
Creek 
Reservoira 

S-46505 S-34661  10/22/1969 Municipal 0.229 cfs from Panther 
Creek 10/1/1998 -      

Panther Creek 
and Panther 
Creek 
Reservoirb 

S-69513 S-50218  11/30/1987 Municipal 0.052 cfs from Panther 
Creek 10/1/2000 -      

Panther Creekc S-44208 S-32489  10/27/67 Municipal 2.5 cfs 10/1/1997       
Fall Creekd S-44207 S-32488  10/27/1967 Municipal 2.0 cfs 10/1/2000       
Willamette 
Rivere S-87762 S-54792  11/2/2011 Municipal 44.18 cfs 1/17/2033       

a. Extension of time pending at OWRD. Fish persistence advice from ODFW and extension conditions will likely limit the amount of natural stream flow available for use 
b. Extension of time to be developed and submitted. 
c. Extension of time application pending. OWRD proposed to approve extension of time on 11/2/2010. Protest filed by WaterWatch on 12/17/2011 
d. Extension of time pending at OWRD. Fish persistence advice from ODFW and extension conditions will likely limit the amount of natural stream flow available for use. 
e. Up to 2.98 cfs for meeting City’s demands 

Page 52



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 18 

Table 2-7. Federal- or State-Listed Fish Species Potentially Found in North Yamhill Watershed and Found in the 
Willamette River Near the City’s Point of Diversion 

Species Evolutionarily Significant 
Unit (ESU) (if applicable) Federal Listing State Listing 

Spring Chinook Upper Willamette River Threatened Sensitive‐Critical 

Winter Steelhead Upper Willamette River Threatened Sensitive‐Vulnerable 

Coho salmon Oregon Coast Threatened Endangered 

Oregon Chub All Threatened Sensitive‐Critical 

Pacific Lamprey  Petitioned for Listing Sensitive‐Vulnerable 

Western Brook Lamprey   Sensitive‐Vulnerable 

Sources: 
North Yamhill Watershed Assessment, 2001: 

https://nrimp.dfw.state.or.us/DataClearinghouse/default.aspx?pn=viewrecord&XMLname=687.xml Federal ESA listed species, from 
NOAA Fisheries Office of Protected Resources: http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/species/esa/fish.htm 

Federal Sensitive species, from the Interagency Special Status/Sensitive Species Program for Oregon and Washington State: 
http://www.fs.fed.us/r6/sfpnw/issssp/agency-policy/ 

Oregon State ESA listed species, from the Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife: 
http://www.dfw.state.or.us/wildlife/diversity/species/threatened_endangered_candidate_list.asp Oregon State Sensitive Species, from 
the Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife: http://www.dfw.state.or.us/wildlife/diversity/species/sensitive_species.asp 

Federal Species of Concern, from the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service, Oregon Fish & Wildlife Office: 
http://www.fws.gov/oregonfwo/Species/Data/PacificLamprey/default.asp 

ODFW’s advice on fish persistence conditions for Permits S-32488 and S-34661 

 

The point of diversion on Panther Creek is located at approximately river mile (RM) 12.9. At the authorized 
diversion, Panther Creek is on DEQ’s 303(d) list of water quality limited streams for the following parameters: 
biological criteria, dissolved oxygen, and E. coli (Summer), temperature, and turbidity. No water quality 
assessment has occurred on Fall Creek. 

The point of diversion on the Willamette River for Permit S-54792 is currently authorized at RM 59.5 (the Yamhill 
River intersects the mainstem Willamette River at RM 54.5). At the authorized diversion, the Willamette River is 
on DEQ’s 303(d) list of water quality limited streams for the following parameters: aldrin, biological criteria, DDT 
Metabolite (DDE), DDT, dieldrin, dioxin (2,3,7,8-TCDD) (total maximum daily load (TMDL) approved), E. coli 
(Fall/Winter/Spring) (TMDL approved), fecal coliform (Fall/Winter/Spring) (TMDL approved), flow modification 
(TMDL not required), iron, mercury (TMDL approved), PCBs, dissolved oxygen, and temperature (TMDL 
approved). 

The 303(d) listing information was obtained from: http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/assessment/rpt2010/search.asp 

2.10 EVALUATION OF WATER RIGHTS/SUPPLY 

OAR 690-086-0140(3)) 

The City’s water rights and water supply reliability are influenced by priority date, stream flows in Panther Creek, 
potential permit extension conditions on the City’s Panther Creek and Fall Creek water right permits, water 
system capacity, and access to redundant water supplies. 

Page 53

http://www.deq.state.or.us/wq/assessment/rpt2010/search.asp


 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 19 

The City’s primary water source is Panther Creek, tributary to the North Yamhill River. The City’s natural stream 
flow water rights on Panther Creek are generally senior in priority date and have not been subject to regulation for 
senior users. There is an instream water right in the lower portion of Panther Creek held by the State of Oregon, 
but this water right (Certificate 72585) is junior in priority date to all of the City’s Panther Creek water rights. 

The main limitation with the City’s Panther Creek water supply is the amount of natural stream flow available in 
summer (peak season demand) months. When stream flows are sufficient, the City can meet its demand largely 
from natural stream flows. When natural stream flows are not sufficient, the City can meet its demand with the 75 
acre-feet of stored water in Panther Creek Reservoir or a combination of stored water and natural stream flow. In 
other words, even though the City has up to 3.57 cfs of water rights for use of Panther Creek natural stream flow, 
this amount of natural stream flow is generally not available during peak season demand months. For example, in 
July 2013 a measurement of Panther Creek (above Panther Creek Reservoir) calculated a stream flow of 
approximately 1.5 cfs. Over time, the City’s stored water may be insufficient to meet projected demands; hence 
the need for alternative/redundant water supplies. 

The City intends to establish a program to measure stream flows on a regular basis in Panther Creek above 
Panther Creek reservoir. Panther Creek stream flow data will enable the City to understand natural stream flow 
availability compared to water rights in Panther Creek, to inform the City of when it must rely on stored water, to 
inform the City how much “stored water” is being used, and to assist the City in developing a timeframe for 
developing other sources of supply (Fall Creek and the Willamette River via the Yamhill Regional Water 
Authority). 

As previously described, the City has four water right permits that require additional effort to complete. The City 
has three permit extensions currently pending at OWRD and one that will be submitted. In February 2012, as part 
of the permit extension process, ODFW provided its fish persistence advice and proposed conditions for Permit S-
34661, a water right permit for use of 0.229 cfs from Panther Creek, and Permit S-32488, a water right permit for 
use of 2.0 cfs from Fall Creek. Permit extension conditions currently proposed for permits S-34661 and S-32488 
will likely restrict water diversion when stream flow falls below a particular level in Panther Creek. As a result, a 
portion of the water from these two sources could become unavailable earlier in the summer even though natural 
stream flow may be available. 

A constraint on certification of the remaining Panther Creek natural stream flow permits held by the City is the 
City’s system capacity. On July 1, 2009, a peak day in early summer with additional operational water needs, the 
City collected information demonstrating the beneficial use of 2.979 cfs over a 4 hour period. Thus, of the 3.57 cfs 
of Panther Creek water rights, 0.591 cfs remain to be used for beneficial use, a demonstration of beneficial use in 
addition to all the existing water rights at the same point of diversion. When system capacity is increased, the City 
could demonstrate beneficial use of the unperfected portions of Permits S-32489, S-34661, and S-50218. 

The City’s Fall Creek water right (Permit S-32488) and Willamette River water right via the Yamhill Regional 
Water Authority (Permit S-54792) are intended to provide water supply redundancy when Panther Creek and 
Panther Creek Reservoir are unable to meet City demand or are not usable, such as due to contamination, 
landslides, etc. The diversion and conveyance infrastructure for both permits have not been constructed yet. The 
amount of water available and the quality of the water in Fall Creek and the Willamette River will need to be 
understood prior to development. The future adequacy and reliability of Permit S-54792 will depend on whether 
permit conditions related to “flow targets” are met in the Willamette River. Permit S- 54792 is conditioned so that 
water can only be diverted under the permit when flows fish flow targets are met or exceeded on a 7-day rolling 
average at the Willamette River at Salem, OR (USGS gage 14191000) as shown in Table 2-8. 

Page 54



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 20 

Table 2-8. Required Fish Flow Targets in the Willamette River at Salem, Oregon (USGS Gage 14191000) 

Month Flow Target (cfs) 
January 1 – March 31 6,000 
April 1 – April 15 15,000 
April 16 – April 30 17,000 
May 1 – May 31 15,000 
June 1 – 15 12,600 
June 16 – 30 8,500 
July 1 – October 31 5,630 
November 1 – December 31 6,000 

 

Since the early 2000s, as part of its effort to implement the Biological Opinion for the Willamette Basin Projects, 
(13 federal storage reservoirs in the Willamette Basin), the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) has managed 
the Project reservoirs to try to meet the fish flow targets at Salem and has been largely successful. Based on 
analysis of stream flow records from the USGS Gage 14191000 in Salem, fish flow targets on the Willamette 
River were met from 2006 to 2010, with the exception of approximately 23 days in May and June of 2007, or 99 
percent of the time. Fish flow targets were met 100 percent of the time in 2012. However, in 2013, fish flow 
targets were missed 8 days in May and 5 days in June. Although fish flow targets are typically met, the inability to 
access water under Permit S-54792 when fish flow targets are not met presents a limitation on use of the 
Willamette River. As a result, in the long-term the City’s Panther Creek and Fall Creek sources will continue to be 
important sources of water supply. 

The City has an intertie with MW&L that is intended for emergencies. The City of Carlton and MW&L are in 
negotiation for an IGA for the emergencies water supply. Once this is in place, discussions for long term water 
supply might begin. At this time, it is not clear when or if that might occur. 

2.11 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION 

OAR 690-086-0140(8)) 

The City operates a public drinking water system (Public Water System Identification Number is 4100171). 
Figure 2-9 is a schematic of the City’s existing water distribution system. The City of Carlton WTP was expanded 
in 2002 and is a direct filtration plant with a capacity of 1.2 mgd. The City has a total of 1.38 MG of storage in two 
storage tanks that are approximately 1 mile west of the City, which are described in Table 2-9. The City has 
62,694 feet of distribution pipes that are composed primarily of cast iron, ductile iron, and PVC. The City has 
46,592 feet of transmission pipes that are composed primarily of PVC. Table 2-10 and Table 2-11 summarize the 
distribution and transmission pipes, respectively. 

Page 55



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 21 

 

Figure 2-9. Schematic of the City’s Existing Water Distribution System 

Page 56



 Water Supplier Description 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 22 

Table 2-9. Summary of system storage tanks 

Storage Tank Volume (MG) Overflow Elevation (feet) Completion Date 

Steel 1 371.4 2003 

Concrete 0.38 371.4 1918 

Total 1.38   

 

Table 2-10. Summary of distribution pipes 

 Pipe Length (feet) 
Pipe Material 2-inch 3-inch 4-inch 6-inch 8-inch 10-inch 12-inch Total 
PVC 2,757 - 713 4,496 13,155 - - 21,121 
Ductile Iron - - - 1,218 7,307 5,593 1,725 15,843 
Cast Iron - - 9,493 9,936 737 1,620 - 21,786 
Galvanized Iron 1,337 - - - - - - 1,337 
Steel - 269 580 514 - - - 1,363 
Unknown 1,547 - 3,510 2,967 - - - 8,024 
Total 5,641 269 14,296 19,131 21,199 7,213 1,725 69,474 

 

Table 2-11. Summary of transmission pipes 

 Pipe Length (feet) 
Pipe Material 10-Inch Diameter 16-Inch Diameter 18-Inch Diameter Total 
PVC 27,668 — 8,050 35,718 
DI 2,902 500 1,435 4,837 
Total 30,570 500 9,485 40,555 

 

Page 57



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 23 

3.0 WATER CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

3.1 CURRENT CONSERVATION MEASURES 

OAR 690-086-0150(1) AND (3) 

3.1.1 Progress Report 
This is the City’s second WMCP. 

3.1.2 Background 
The City has been implementing water conservation measures despite staff and resource limitations. The City’s 
water system is fully metered. The City has a monthly consumption charge based on the quantity of water 
metered at the service connections over 500 cubic feet. The City conducts leak detection surveys of its water 
system, the most recent occurring in 2013. In addition, the City provides water conservation tips and free 
showerheads to customers at an annual community event. 

3.2 USE AND REPORTING PROGRAM 

OAR 690-086-0150(2) 

The City records its water use and has compiled and submitted these measurements to OWRD consistent with 
the requirements of OAR Chapter 690, Division 85. 

The City measures, records and reports the amount of raw water entering the City’s WTP, which has four filter 
cells. WTP Filter 3 and 4 each have their own propeller meter and Filter 1 and 2 have a common propeller meter. 
The City has an electromagnetic meter that measures finished water entering the water distribution system. The 
City estimates the volume of water stored in Panther Creek Reservoir. 

3.3 REQUIRED CONSERVATION PROGRAMS 

OAR 690-086-0150(4) 

OAR 690-086-150(4) requires that all water suppliers establish 5-year benchmarks for implementing the following 
water management and conservation measures: 

• Annual water audit 

• System-wide metering 

This section addresses the requirements of OAR 690-086-0150(1) – (6). 

This rule requires a description of specific required conservation measures and benchmarks, and additional 
conservation measures implemented by the City. 

Page 58



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 24 

• Meter testing and maintenance 

• Unit-based billing 

• Leak detection and repair (if system leakage exceeds 10 percent) 

• Public education 

3.3.1 Five-Year Benchmarks for Required Conservation Measures 
During the next 5 years, the City plans to initiate, continue, or expand the following conservation measures that 
are required of all municipalities. 

3.3.1.1 Annual Water Audit 

OWRD defines a water audit as an analysis of the water system that includes a thorough accounting of all water 
entering and leaving the system to identify leaks in the system and authorized and unauthorized water uses, 
metered or estimated. The water audit also includes analysis of the water supplier’s own water use. 

The City does not currently conduct an annual water audit, but the City does collect daily water production and 
monthly metered consumption data. The city does use the Neptune radio read system and software to identify 
and address water leaks. In 2014, the City began installation of automated meter reading (AMR) technology, 
which aids the City’s water auditing efforts. The City is approximately 75 percent complete with this transition. 

The City’s goal is to maintain water loss to 15 percent or below. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Continue to transfer accounts to the AMR system and perform annual water audits in 
January of each year. 

3.3.1.2 System-wide Metering 

The City’s water system is fully metered. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: The City will continue to require that all new connections are metered. 

3.3.1.3 Meter Testing and Maintenance 

The City replaces residential meters as needed. With the AMR, the City is able to detect unusual monthly use and 
identify the meters that need to be checked and replaced. The meters of the City’s three largest commercial 
customers, the elementary school, Valley View WD and Carlton Farms, are tested every year. The City’s master 
meters are tested only periodically due to lengthy process involved. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Over the next 5 years, the City will continue to annually test the elementary school, 
Valley View WD and Carlton Farms meters. The City will continue to install AMR until the entire system is 
completed. 

Page 59



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 25 

3.3.1.4 Water Rate Structure 

The City has a monthly water service charge (base rate) that includes use of up to 500 cubic feet (cu ft), which 
depends on the customer’s location inside or outside of city limits. In addition, the City has a monthly consumption 
charge based on the quantity of water metered at the service connection beyond 500 cu ft. Table 3-1 shows the 
monthly service charges including water use up to 500 cu ft and consumption charges per cubic feet beyond 500 
cu ft for customers located inside and outside of city limits. 

Table 3-1. Monthly water service charges, effective July 1, 2012 

Location Base rate Consumption Rate (0 – 500 cf) Consumption Rate (over 500 cf) 
Inside City Limits $60.87 $3.91/100 cf $5.67/100cf 
Outside City Limits $91.30/EDU $5.86/100 cf $8.50/100cf 

cf = cubic feet 

Five-Year Benchmarks: The City will continue to bill customers based, in part, on the quantity of water metered 
at the service connection. 

3.3.1.5 Leak Detection and Repair 

The City had a leak detection survey of its water system in 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. Leaks identified in 
the survey were repaired. With the repairs done on the transmission main from the WTP to the community, 
sealing of the concrete tank and with the AMR system the City has not needed to perform additional leak 
detection tests. The system from the WTP to the community is new, and the data from the AMR system allows the 
City to find leaks quickly. The city checks the AMR system for excess use (leaks) monthly. 

With the recent transmission pipe upgrade, reservoir sealing and AMR system, the City estimates that water loss 
in the last year has dropped to approximately 5 percent. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: The City will continue to install the AMR system, which will allow the City to more 
effectively monitor what is occurring in the city limits. The City is also actively searching for funding to replace the 
older pipes in the distribution system. 

3.3.1.6 Public Education 

The City provides customers with water conservation information in its annual Consumer Confidence Report, 
posts it on the city web site and in a brochure at City hall. Water conservation tips are provided on the web site 
and are also sent out in a community Update that is sent out to a list-serve. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Over the next 5 years the City will continue its current practice and will be searching for 
additional ways to educate the public. 

3.4 EXPANDED USE UNDER EXTENDED PERMITS 

OAR 690-086-0150(5) 

Under OAR 690-086-0150(5), any municipal water supplier that proposes to expand or initiate the diversion of 
water under an extended permit for which resource issues have been identified shall include a description of 

Page 60



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 26 

activities and five-year implementation schedule for a system- wide leak repair or line replacement program to 
reduce system leakage to no more than 15 percent. 

As previously described, the City holds four water right permits that require additional effort to complete. The City 
has three permit extensions currently pending at OWRD and one that will be submitted. The City does not 
currently have any “extended permits.” Although the City is not seeking access to an extended permit. The City’s 
goal is to reduce water loss to 15 percent or below, and currently the City meets that goal estimating that in the 
last year the water loss has been approximately 5 percent. The City has been proactively implementing system-
wide leak repair or line replacement program measures to reduce system leakage. The City also replaced the 7-
mile transmission line from the WTP to the treated water reservoirs, and sealed the concrete reservoir. In the next 
five years, the city will continue to monitor leaks through the AMR system monthly, will seek funding to continue 
upgrades to the distribution system, repair large leaks as they are identified and will conduct annual water audits. 
In addition, the City will seek to allocate $50,000 of its annual budget over the next five years to address its 
unaccounted for water. 

3.5 ADDITIONAL CONSERVATION MEASURES 

OAR 690-086-0150(6) 

OAR 690-086-0150(6) requires municipal water suppliers that serve a population greater than 1,000 and propose 
to expand or initiate the diversion of water under an extended permit for which resource issues have been 
identified, or if the population served is greater than 7,500, to provide a description of the specific activities, along 
with a five-year schedule to implement several additional conservation measures. 

The City does not currently have any “extended permits”; therefore, OAR 690-086-0150(6) does not apply. 
However, the City has additional conservation measures it is currently implementing or plans to implement in the 
next five years, which are detailed below. 

3.5.1 Leak Repair or Line Replacement Program 
As described above, the City monitors leaks on a monthly basis through the AMR system. The City’s also 
addresses leaks that come to the surface that are found by City staff or people calling in. The City assesses the 
identified leak, develops a work order, and then repairs or replaces the pipeline. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Over the next five years, the City will continue to address its unaccounted for water. 
Assuming resources are available, the City will dedicate $50,000 from its annual budget towards its effort to 
reduce its unaccounted for water. 

3.5.2 Technical and Financial Assistance Programs 
Upon request by a customer, City staff provides a water use audit. 

City Ordinance 13.04.130 states that if a leak between the meter and a building/residence is repaired within 10 
days after receiving notification from the City of the leak, the customer’s bill spanning the period of time with the 
leak will be reduced by 50 percent. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Over the next five years, the City will continue its water audit and bill reduction 
programs and will initiate a program to provide toilet leak detection tablets at City Hall. 

Page 61



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 27 

3.5.3 Supplier Financed Retrofit or Replacement of Inefficient Fixtures 
For the many years, the City has provided customers with water saving showerheads at Fun Days, a community 
event. The practice has been halted as no additional customers were requesting the service. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: Over the next 5 years, the City will seek out additional measures that could be made 
available to the citizens. 

3.5.4 Rate Structure and Billing Practices that Encourage Conservation 
As described in the Water Rate Structure discussion in the section responsive to OAR 690-086-0150(4), the City 
has a monthly water service charge (base rate) that includes use of up to 500 cubic feet (cu ft), which depends on 
the customer’s location inside or outside of city limits. The City also has a monthly consumption charge based on 
the quantity of water metered at the service connection beyond 500 cu ft. 

The City bills its customers on a monthly basis, which aids water conservation efforts by providing quick feedback 
on water usage. The City’s installation of AMR will provide even quicker feedback on water usage, greatly 
improving the identification and response to leaks. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: In the next 5 years, the City will continue to use the consumption based rate. 

3.5.5 Water Reuse, Recycling, and Non-potable Opportunities 
The City currently has no water reuse, recycling, and non-potable initiatives. 

Five-Year Benchmarks: In the next 5 years, the City will investigate water reuse opportunities at the Wennerberg 
Park. 

3.5.6 Landscape Irrigation Measures 
In the past the stage 1 curtailment has included even/odd days landscape irrigation (lawns, gardens), which has 
the effect of lowering the daily peak flows. This is a prudent conservation measure, whether there is a curtailment 
event or not, and is a step that the city is considering. 

Five-year Benchmark: In the next 5 years the City will consider enacting a standing even/odd day landscape 
irrigation as a standard measure during the summer months. 

3.5.7 Other Conservation Measures 
The City has the following ordinance that prohibits the wasteful use of water: 

Municipal code 13.04.580 states that the City may immediately discontinue water service to a customer that 
violates mandatory curtailment orders or to a customer whose wasteful or negligent water use seriously affects 
general water service if that water use is not corrected within five days after receiving a written notice from the 
City. 

Page 62



 Water Conservation Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 28 

Five-Year Benchmarks: In the next 5 years, the City will review City codes and the building permit review 
process to find opportunities to encourage water conservation practices. 

Page 63



 Water Curtailment Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 29 

4.0 WATER CURTAILMENT ELEMENT 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

Water curtailment plans outline proactive measures that water suppliers may take to reduce demand and to find 
alternative supply during short-term water supply shortages. The intent of water curtailment plans is to minimize 
the impacts of water supply shortages, which may result from incidents such as: prolonged drought, mechanical 
or electrical equipment failure in the system, unanticipated catastrophic events (flooding, landslides, earthquakes 
and contamination), or events not under control of the water supplier (e.g., localized or area-wide power outages 
and intentional malevolent acts). 

4.2 HISTORY OF SYSTEM CURTAILMENT EPISODES 

OAR-690-086-0160(1) 

The City originally approved water curtailment measures in 1999 and it has needed to implement curtailment 
measures in the past 10 years. Prior to 2002, the City implemented periodic odd/even water schedules 
(curtailment) due to a lack of finished water storage. However, in 2002 the City constructed a new 1 MG finished 
water reservoir and a 300,000 gallon finished water clear well at the City’s WTP. This additional in-system storage 
has decreased the frequency of curtailment, nevertheless it has been required. 

In 2003, the City declared a Stage 4 Alert due to the combination of a power surge that caused the water 
treatment plan to backwash the filters continually and community water usage, which together produced a water 
supply shortage. 

In the summers of 2008 and 2009, the City also needed to implement curtailment measures to address a water 
shortage stemming from the dry conditions that year and the reduced stream flow into Panther Creek Reservoir 
(believed to be due to the lowering of McGuire Reservoir during dam modification construction). During this 
curtailment episode, the City used flyers and the newspaper to inform customers of the odd/even outdoor 
watering schedule. 

In the summer of 2016, the City needed to implement curtailment measures to address a water shortage 
stemming from the dry conditions that year and the reduced stream flow into Panther Creek Reservoir. In the 
summer of 2017, the City was on the verge of implementing curtailment measures to address a water shortage 
stemming from the dry conditions that year and the reduced stream flow into Panther Creek Reservoir; however, 
an early rain filled the raw water reservoir days before the action was going to be taken. 

This section satisfies the requirements of OAR 690-086-0160. 

This rule requires a description of past supply deficiencies and current capacity limitation. It also requires 
inclusion of stages of alert and the associated triggers and curtailment actions for each stage. 

Page 64



 Water Curtailment Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 30 

4.3 CURTAILMENT EVENT TRIGGERS AND STAGES 

OAR-690-086-0160(2) AND (3) 

The City has developed this updated curtailment plan to describe the standards and procedures that will be 
employed in the event of a water shortage that requires the City to invoke water curtailment. Scenarios that could 
trigger curtailment could include droughts, natural disasters, source water contamination, fire, lower than normal 
reservoir levels, or a system or facility failure. 

The City has developed a five-stage curtailment plan to be invoked in the event of a water supply shortage. These 
stages are designed to be initiated and implemented in progressive steps. Table 4-1 presents the five curtailment 
stages, as well as their potential initiating conditions (i.e., triggers). 

Table 4-1. Curtailment Stages 1 through 5 

Curtailment 
Stages Potential Initiating Conditions 

Stage 1: 
Limited Water 
Shortage Alert 

• Minor maintenance work or damage repair is required at water mains or reservoirs 
• A prolonged period of hot dry weather is forecasted 
• The elevation in the raw water reservoir stops going over the top of the wood weir in 

June or July. 

Stage 2: 
Moderate 
Water 
Shortage Alert 

• Moderate maintenance work or damage repair is required at water pumps, mains, or 
reservoirs 

• A prolonged period of hot dry weather has begun 
• The elevation in the raw water reservoir stops going over the top of the concrete weir in 

June, July or August. 

Stage 3: 
Serious Water 
Shortage Alert 

• Minor damage to the water system has resulted from a natural disaster or criminal act 
• Prolonged period of hot dry weather is ongoing 
• Failure of minor parts of the water system 
• Source water flow is much lower than normal 
• The elevation in the raw water reservoir is at the bottom of the concrete structure 

(approximately 2-feet below the concrete weir). 
• Finished water reservoir levels are much lower than normal 

Stage 4: 
Severe Water 
Shortage Alert 

• Serious damage to the water system has resulted from a natural disaster or criminal act 
• Failure of a significant part of the water system 
• Serious drought 
• Source water flow is critically low 
• The elevation in the raw water reservoir is approximately 2-feet below the bottom of the 

concrete structure (approximately 4-feet below the concrete weir). 
• Finished water reservoir levels are critically low 
• Isolated contamination of the water supply 

Stage 5: 
Emergency 
Water 
Shortage Alert 

• Extensive damage to the water system resulting from a natural disaster or criminal act 
• Failure of a critical water system component 
• Source water flow is unavailable 
• Raw water reservoir levels are insufficient 
• Finished water reservoir levels are insufficient 
• Potentially harmful contamination of the entire water supply 
• The elevation in the raw water reservoir is more than 2-feet below the bottom of the 

concrete structure (approximately 4-feet below the concrete weir). 

Page 65



 Water Curtailment Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 31 

4.4 AUTHORITY & ENFORCEMENT 

The City’s Public Works Superintendent has the authority to implement Stage 1 and Stage 2 alerts. The City’s 
Manager has the authority to implement a Stage 3 alert and to determine and enforce reduced hours of usage for 
watering of lawns. By joint declaration, the City Council and City Manager have the authority to implement a 
Stage 4 or Stage 5 alert. 

Municipal ordinance 608 “Rules for Water System (13.04)” authorizes citations and fines for customers violating 
curtailment restrictions. The first conviction is punishable by a fine up to 

$150. The second conviction is punishable by a fine up to $300. The third conviction is punishable by a fine of up 
to $300 or by imprisonment for up to 30 days, or both. 

Municipal code 13.04.580 states that the City may immediately discontinue water service to a customer that 
violates mandatory curtailment orders or to a customer whose wasteful or negligent water use seriously affects 
general water service if that water use is not corrected within five days after receiving a written notice from the 
City. 

4.5 CURTAILMENT PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 

OAR-690-086-0160(4) 

4.5.1 Stage 1: Limited Water Shortage Alert 
Stage 1 is activated when the City’s Public Works Superintendent determines that the potential for a water 
shortage exists based on the presence of one or more of the previously described triggers. In Stage 1, the City 
will inform customers of a growing water shortage and of mandatory odd-even day restriction by address for 
watering of lawns. Notification of the curtailment stage will be distributed through monthly invoices, notices 
delivered to the customers and on the City web site. 

4.5.2 Stage 2: Moderate Water Shortage Alert 
Stage 2 is activated when the City’s Public Works Superintendent determines that a moderate water shortage 
exists based on the presence of one or more of the previously described triggers. In Stage 2, the City will inform 
customers of the water shortage and of the following mandatory restrictions: 

• No outside lawn watering 

• No car washing 

• No filling outside swimming pools except for the City Pool, if approved by the City Council 

• No filling decorative water features, except in limited amounts necessary for maintaining aquatic animal 
life 

• No wetting down impervious surfaces, such as sidewalks, driveways, parking lots, or other hard surfaces 
except to meet public health or safety requirements 

The City will prohibit washing of City-owned vehicles. 

Page 66



 Water Curtailment Element 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 32 

4.5.3 Stage 3: Serious Water Shortage Alert 
Stage 3 is activated when the City Manager determines that a serious water shortage exists based on the 
presence of one or more of the previously described triggers. In Stage 3, the City will inform customers of the 
water shortage and of the following additional mandatory restrictions: 

• Odd-even day restriction by address for watering of gardens 

The City will reduce water use for irrigation, discontinue fire system flushing activities, and cease washing down 
impervious surfaced areas except where necessary for public health and safety. 

4.5.4 Stage 4: Severe Water Shortage Alert 
Stage 4 is activated when the City Council and City Manager jointly determines that a severe water shortage 
exists based on the presence of one or more of the previously described triggers. In Stage 4, the City will inform 
customers of the water shortage and of the following additional mandatory restrictions: 

• No watering of gardens 

• Reduced hours for commercial uses of water 

The City will stop issuing permits for hydrant use and establishing new residential and commercial water 
connections. Method(s) of public notification of the curtailment stage may also include phone/text messages, 
other print media, and signs. 

4.5.5 Stage 5: Emergency Water Shortage Alert 
Stage 5 is activated when the City Council and City Manager jointly determines that a severe water shortage 
exists based on the presence of one or more of the previously described triggers. In Stage 5, the City will inform 
customers of the emergency water shortage and that water use is only authorized for life support and basic 
household use. Public notification of the curtailment stage will be distributed using several of the methods 
described in earlier curtailment stages. 

The water emergency will be in effect until the City Council and City Manager jointly determine that the water 
shortage is over and an emergency situation no longer exists. 

Page 67



 Water Supply 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 33 

5.0 WATER SUPPLY 

5.1 DELINEATION OF SERVICE AREAS 

OAR 690-086-0170(1) 

The City is expected to experience continued moderate growth in the future, generally due to its proximity to the 
Newberg and McMinnville areas, both of which have a comparatively larger employment base but less affordable 
housing than Carlton. During the 20-year planning period of this WMCP, the City anticipates future residential 
development to continue as both new subdivisions and as infill development (i.e., partitions and redevelopment). 
Major commercial or industrial developments that would dramatically increase the employment opportunities in 
Carlton are not anticipated over the next 20 years. Anticipated future development is not expected to require an 
expansion of the current water delivery area over the next 20 years. The City’s current and future water service 
area is shown in Figure 2-2. 

5.2 POPULATION PROJECTIONS 

OAR 690-086-0170(1) 

The City’s population projections only take into account population within the city limits and urban growth 
boundary, which are the same boundary. Population outside the city limits served by the City’s water system 
serve is not explicitly known. This population is connected on the basis of long-term historical circumstances and 
the City expects extremely limited future connections to its water system outside the city limits. This WMCP 
assumes that water demand outside the city limits will not increase in proportion to population growth. 

The City’s population projection is based on the population growth rates from the PSU Population Center report 
for the current cycle (2022 – 2026). The forecasts for Yamhill County’s smaller cities, including the City of Carlton, 
are based on housing growth that incorporates current population composition and recent demographic trends. 
The projected population of the Carlton UGB is shown in Table 5-1. 

Table 5-1. Projected Population 

Year Projected Population 
2025 2,497 
2035 2,970 
2045 3,313 

Based on the report “Population Forecasts for Yamhill County, its Cities and Unincorporated Area 2011-2035” 

This section satisfies the requirements of OAR 690-086-0170. 

This rule requires descriptions of the City’s current and future water delivery areas and population projections, 
demand projections for 10 and 20 years, and the schedule for when the City expects to fully exercise their 
water rights. The rule also requires comparison of the City’s projected water needs and the available sources 
of supply, an analysis of alternative sources of water, and a description of required mitigation actions. 

Page 68



 Water Supply 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 34 

5.3 DEMAND FORECAST 

OAR 690-086-0170(3) 

This WMCP uses the demand forecast developed by the City’s most current Water Master Plan, which uses 
finished water demand data to develop finished water and raw water demand projections. The City’s projected 
water demands are based on the following assumptions: 

• The ratio of residential to non-residential use (commercial, industrial and public uses) will remain 
constant. In other words, future commercial and industrial developments will track population growth. 

• The long-term per capita water demands presented below will not exceed the City’s historical averages. 
Since the long term efficacy of planned water conservation programs is unknown at this time, these water 
demand projections exclude conservation measures beyond those already implemented by the City. 

• New commercial and industrial developments will not be large water users given that no provision has 
been made for new industries with heavy water demands, such as food processing or beverage 
production. 

• Population projections are reasonable estimates of the City’s future populations and the forecasted 
peaking factors are reasonable estimates of future demand variations. 

• Future water loss will not exceed the City’s historical averages. 

Historical per capita finished water demand is based upon the Water Master Plan. The average day demand is 
160 gpcd. Per the Water Master Plan, 72 gpcd (45 percent of current values) will be adjusted for population 
growth inside city limits and 88 gpcd (55 percent of current values) will be held steady over time when calculating 
future finished water demands as growth is not anticipated to increase outside of city limits. As shown in Table 2-2 
the ADD to MDD peaking factor for the last five years has been 1.8. For the purposes of the demand forecast the 
historical peaking factor calculated in the Water Master Plan will be used, which is 2.06. The projected raw water 
MDD was calculated by multiplying the projected finished water demand by 1.22, given that approximately 18 
percent of the raw water entering the City’s WTP goes to WTP operations (backwashing, system flushing, etc.). 
The projected raw water demand is shown in Table 5-2. 

Table 5-2. Projected Raw Water Demand 

Year Finished Water (mgd) Raw water (mgd) Raw Water (cfs) 
2025* 0.592 0.722 1.12 
2035 0.748 0.912 1.41 
2045 0.861 1.050 1.62 

* From the 2014 Water Master Plan 

5.4 SCHEDULE TO EXERCISE PERMITS AND COMPARISON OF 
PROJECTED NEED TO AVAILABLE SOURCES 

OAR 690-086-0170(2) AND (4) 

As described in Section 2, the City has 0.789 cfs in certificated water rights being 0.5 cfs (Certificate 1868), 0.271 
cfs (Certificate 86064), and 0.018 cfs (Certificate 86065). In combination with its Panther Creek water rights 
permits, the City has authorization for up to 3.57 cfs of natural flow from Panther Creek. 

Page 69



 Water Supply 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 35 

While projections based on metered demand may suggest a MDD in 2033 of 1.09 to 1.21 cfs, these projections 
do not account for typical municipal operational requirements. These operational requirements can include but are 
not limited to maintaining full levels in finished water reservoirs and distribution lines to replenish water supply for 
fire protection and meeting anticipated and unanticipated demand. On July 1, 2009, in meeting municipal 
demands, the City documented the diversion and beneficial use of its 0.789 cfs of certificated water rights and 
2.19 cfs of permit S-32489, for a total of 2.979 cfs. Table 5-3 presents the July 1, 2009, meter readings. 

Table 5-3. City of Carlton Water Treatment Plant Capacity Meter Readings, July 1, 2009 

    Filter Unit 1 & 2 Filter Unit 3 Filter Unit 4  
 Totalizer Rate Totalizer Rate Totalizer Rate Totals 
Time × 1000 gal gpm × 100 gal gpm × 100 gal gpm  
9:30 AM 222702 414 3370472 524 3501413 518  
10:30 AM 222727 390 3370807 489 3501756 512  
11:30 AM 222746 386 3371070 461 3502038 505  
12:30 PM 222768 366 3371346 433 3502350 501  
1:30 PM 222787 371 3371598 415 3502646 498  
Production Rate (gpm) 354.2 469.2 513.8 1337.1    
Production Rate (cfs) 0.7891 1.0453 1.1446 2.979    

Therefore, upon approval of its extension of time for Permit S-32489 the City will seek a certificate for the 2.19 cfs 
portion of Permit S-32489 beneficially used to date. Upon perfecting 

Although projected (metered) demand for these remaining Panther Creek permits is theoretically many years out, 
similar to permit S-32489, the City estimates that operational needs will likely require their full beneficial use much 
sooner. Interest in developing wineries and other development such as hotels has been expressed to the City. In 
addition, the City will need a new finished reservoir in 10 to 20 years based on current demand projections. The 
reservoir would likely be a 1 MG storage tank. The City will need to occasionally maintain that reservoir on a peak 
day and will need to replenish fire flow storage. Finally, the City’s WTP will need to be upgraded in approximately 
20 to 30 years, at which point system capacity will be available and operational needs will be increased, requiring 
the use of additional Panther Creek water right permits for meeting municipal demands. 

Consequently, assuming there is adequate stream flow in Panther Creek, the City estimates it will fully beneficially 
use the undeveloped portions of Permits S-32489, S-34661, and S-50218 by 2043. 

The City also has water right permits on Fall Creek and on the Willamette River that can provide water supply 
redundancy when Panther Creek has insufficient flows to meet City demand or is not usable. The City intends to 
fully beneficially use the 2.0 cfs authorized under Permit S-32488 as a redundant supply upon completing the 
required construction of infrastructure. The City is currently considering whether construction is financially 
feasible; however, it is unlikely this redundant supply will be developed during the 20-year planning period of this 
WMCP. 

As a member of the Yamhill Regional Water Authority, 2.98 cfs of the 44.18 cfs allowed under Permit S-54792 for 
use of the Willamette River is allocated to the City. The diversion, regional WTP, and other necessary 
infrastructure for Permit S-54792 remain to be built, which will take many years and makes access to the City’s 
2.98 cfs under the permit uncertain during a considerable portion of the 20-year planning period of this WMCP. To 
the extent this supply becomes available, it will likely be used as a redundant supply source and a source to meet 
peak season demands when Panther Creek stream flows are inadequate. 

Page 70



 Water Supply 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 36 

5.5 ALTERNATIVE SOURCES 

OAR 690-086-0170(5) 

OAR 690-086-0170(5) requires an analysis of alternative sources of water if any expansion or initial diversion of 
water allocated under existing permits is necessary to meet future water demand. As described above, upon 
receiving an extension of time for permit S-32489, the City intends to seek a certificate for 2.19 cfs. The following 
subsections analyze the extent to which the projected water needs can be met through other alternatives. 

5.5.1 Conservation Measures 
As described in Section 3, the City has been implementing water conservation measures to increase water 
conservation by its customers and it plans to continue its conservation program 

activities and to monitor water use by customers. The largest conservation opportunity for the City is the reduction 
in water loss due to leaks. The 20-year demand projection in this WMCP assumes water loss will be cut in half. 
While this water conservation measure and others proposed by the City may delay the need for future additional 
surface water under permits S- 32489, S-34661, and S-50218, the City has demonstrated the beneficial use of 
2.19 cfs under permit S-32489 for municipal use. Therefore, increased water use under Permit S-32489, in 
addition to conservation, will be required to provide the water needed to meet the City’s municipal water demands 
during the next 20 years. 

5.5.2 Interconnections 
As described in Section 2, the City has interconnections with Valley View Water District and East Carlton Water 
Company to serve their customers water, as well as an interconnection with MWL for emergency purposes. In 
addition, the City has an IGA with neighboring water providers to manage a water right for use of Willamette River 
water to meet their respective future water supply needs. 

The need for Willamette River water by neighboring water suppliers is primarily based on the need for additional 
supplies by those communities. These communities do not have sufficient water supplies to meet the City’s long-
term future water demands through interconnections not related to the Willamette River. Consequently, additional 
interconnections with other water suppliers do not meet the City’s need to develop all of its water rights to meet 
future water demands and to increase its system redundancy in the long term. 

5.5.3 Cost effectiveness 
OAR 690-086-170(c) requires an assessment of whether the projected water needs can be satisfied through other 
conservation measures that would provide water at a cost that is equal or less than the cost of other identified 
sources. 

As described above, conservation and interconnections cannot prevent the City’s need to use Permit S-32489 
and cannot prevent the need to provide system redundancy in the long-term. Given that the City’s WTP has 
sufficient capacity to meet the City’s demands over the next 20 years, and the City has demonstrated the use of 
2.19 cfs under permit S-32489 to meet municipal demands, use of Permit S-32489 is the most cost effective 
option for helping the City meet its future water demands. 

Page 71



 Water Supply 

 City of Carlton Water Management and Conservation Plan 37 

5.6 QUANTIFICATION OF PROJECTED MAXIMUM RATE AND MONTHLY 
VOLUME 

OAR 690-086-0170(6) 

OAR 690-086-0170(6) requires a quantification of the maximum rate of withdrawal and maximum monthly use if 
any expansion or initial diversion of water allocated under an existing permit is necessary to meet demands in the 
20-year planning horizon. Within the next 20 years, the City is planning to beneficially use up to 2.19 cfs under 
Permit S-32489 to help meet its projected water demands and municipal water system operational needs. 
Assuming that the water right is used at its 2.19 cfs (1.42 mgd), 24 hours per day for 31 days during the maximum 
month (likely July, assuming adequate stream flow is available) the maximum monthly volume for the water right 
would be approximately 44.0 MG. 

5.7 MITIGATION ACTIONS UNDER STATE AND FEDERAL LAW 

OAR 690-086-0170(7) 

Under OAR 690-086-0170(7), for expanded or initial diversion of water under an existing permit, the water 
supplier is to describe mitigation actions it is taking to comply with legal requirements of the Endangered Species 
Act, Clean Water Act, and other applicable state or federal environmental regulations. The City currently is not 
required to take any mitigation actions under state or federal law related to the City’s water rights permits. 

5.8 NEW WATER RIGHTS 

OAR 690-086-0170(8) 

Under OAR 690-086-0170(8), if a municipal water supplier finds it necessary to acquire new water rights within 
the next 20 years in order to meet its projected demand, an analysis of alternative sources of the additional water 
is required. The analysis must consider availability, reliability, feasibility and likely environmental impacts and a 
schedule for development of the new sources of water. As shown above, the City’s Panther Creek natural flow 
water rights are sufficient to meet projected demands during the next 20 years, assuming adequate stream flow is 
available for appropriation. However, it is likely, in the future, that during peak demand months (when natural 
stream flows are typically inadequate) the City will fully utilize its stored water and the City will need 
additional/redundant supply. This future additional/redundant supply is anticipated to come from existing City 
permit S-32488 for use of Fall Creek and Permit S-54792 for use of the Willamette River. Consequently, the City 
currently has no plans to acquire additional water rights during the 20-year planning period for this WMCP. 

Page 72



 Water Supply 

  Footer Information 

APPENDIX A: LETTERS TO LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AND RESPONSES 

 

Page 73



Water Supply 

Footer Information 

APPENDIX B: POPULATION FORECASTS FOR YAMHILL COUNTY, ITS 
CITIES AND UNINCORPORATED AREA 

Page 74



Year of Last Update County UGB City or Part FIPS Code 2010 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 2055 2060 2065 2066 2067 2068 2069 2070 2071 2072
2022 Coos County 41011 63,043 64,929 65,154 65,215 65,296 65,267 65,137 65,046 65,177 65,528 65,880 66,234 66,591 66,949 67,093
2022 Coos County Bandon UGB 4101103800 3,175 3,529 3,646 3,678 3,748 3,867 4,005 4,195 4,475 4,787 5,117 5,468 5,840 6,235 6,400
2022 Coos County CoosBay UGB 4101115250 15,967 15,972 16,005 16,044 16,140 16,256 16,333 16,397 16,486 16,625 16,759 16,887 17,009 17,124 17,169
2022 Coos County Coquille UGB 4101115350 3,963 4,080 4,382 4,376 4,354 4,305 4,252 4,209 4,185 4,174 4,161 4,147 4,131 4,113 4,106
2022 Coos County Lakeside UGB 4101140650 1,699 1,904 1,906 1,918 1,952 2,005 2,047 2,079 2,104 2,135 2,166 2,197 2,228 2,257 2,269
2022 Coos County MyrtlePoint UGB 4101151050 2,553 2,532 3,558 3,548 3,515 3,449 3,383 3,326 3,286 3,256 3,225 3,193 3,161 3,127 3,113
2022 Coos County NorthBend UGB 4101153000 9,717 10,338 10,396 10,439 10,555 10,720 10,851 10,956 11,056 11,190 11,321 11,449 11,574 11,695 11,742
2022 Coos County Powers UGB 4101159600 707 722 720 718 711 697 687 684 692 701 711 720 729 738 742
2022 Coos County Outside UGB Area 4101199999 25,262 25,852 24,541 24,494 24,321 23,967 23,577 23,201 22,894 22,659 22,419 22,172 21,919 21,659 21,553
2022 Crook County 41013 20,978 24,738 25,482 25,931 27,065 28,633 30,033 31,410 32,859 34,402 36,013 37,700 39,467 41,316 42,079
2022 Crook County Prineville UGB 4101359850 11,213 12,921 13,269 13,447 13,972 14,622 15,274 16,091 17,188 18,364 19,607 20,926 22,322 23,801 24,417
2022 Crook County Outside UGB Area 4101399999 9,765 11,817 12,213 12,484 13,093 14,011 14,759 15,319 15,671 16,038 16,406 16,775 17,144 17,514 17,662
2022 Curry County 41015 22,364 23,446 23,662 23,790 24,066 24,429 24,698 24,881 25,106 25,434 25,766 26,103 26,444 26,789 26,928
2022 Curry County Brookings UGB 4101508650 11,199 11,706 11,780 11,861 12,051 12,322 12,589 12,884 13,281 13,727 14,170 14,610 15,047 15,481 15,654
2022 Curry County Gold Beach UGB 4101529900 3,141 3,310 3,349 3,361 3,382 3,403 3,436 3,501 3,624 3,762 3,900 4,038 4,177 4,315 4,371
2022 Curry County Port Orford UGB 4101559250 1,807 1,797 1,811 1,811 1,803 1,782 1,770 1,777 1,816 1,862 1,906 1,949 1,991 2,032 2,048
2022 Curry County Outside UGB Area 4101599999 6,217 6,633 6,722 6,757 6,829 6,923 6,903 6,719 6,384 6,083 5,791 5,506 5,229 4,961 4,856
2022 Deschutes County 41017 157,733 198,253 203,390 207,921 220,678 240,446 258,698 275,905 292,443 308,894 326,231 344,542 363,880 384,303 392,790
2022 Deschutes County Bend UGB 4101705800 77,122 99,598 101,354 103,976 111,062 122,391 133,339 144,365 155,806 167,332 179,450 192,214 205,646 219,771 225,619
2022 Deschutes County La Pine UGB 4101741050 1,653 2,512 2,654 2,736 3,014 3,475 3,948 4,431 4,925 5,445 6,011 6,627 7,297 8,027 8,336
2022 Deschutes County Redmond UGB 4101761200 26,508 33,608 36,462 37,342 40,503 45,399 50,056 54,419 58,462 62,500 66,722 71,144 75,770 80,607 82,601
2022 Deschutes County Sisters UGB 4101767950 2,038 3,064 3,286 3,437 3,890 4,721 5,616 6,551 7,505 8,547 9,715 11,028 12,504 14,162 14,881
2022 Deschutes County Outside UGB Area 4101799999 50,412 59,471 59,634 60,430 62,210 64,460 65,738 66,137 65,745 65,070 64,334 63,529 62,662 61,737 61,352
2022 Douglas County 41019 107,667 111,201 111,694 112,076 113,076 114,291 115,080 115,610 116,126 116,733 117,343 117,957 118,573 119,193 119,442
2022 Douglas County Canyonville UGB 4101911000 2,005 1,744 1,780 1,775 1,734 1,669 1,605 1,547 1,494 1,445 1,396 1,349 1,302 1,257 1,239
2022 Douglas County Drain UGB 4101920500 1,352 1,316 1,312 1,315 1,303 1,285 1,254 1,205 1,139 1,077 1,018 962 909 858 838
2022 Douglas County Elkton UGB 4101922800 195 183 192 192 188 182 176 168 161 153 146 140 133 127 125
2022 Douglas County Glendale UGB 4101929350 979 942 939 938 923 899 871 840 806 774 743 714 684 656 645
2022 Douglas County MyrtleCreek UGB 4101950950 7,478 7,584 7,600 7,631 7,612 7,589 7,558 7,567 7,706 7,851 7,994 8,137 8,278 8,419 8,475
2022 Douglas County Oakland UGB 4101954000 1,097 1,088 1,085 1,087 1,079 1,066 1,050 1,035 1,033 1,032 1,030 1,028 1,025 1,022 1,020
2022 Douglas County Reedsport UGB 4101961300 4,244 4,422 4,476 4,480 4,518 4,548 4,551 4,525 4,470 4,418 4,365 4,310 4,255 4,198 4,176
2022 Douglas County Riddle UGB 4101961850 1,182 1,186 1,214 1,223 1,233 1,250 1,263 1,274 1,285 1,296 1,307 1,317 1,327 1,336 1,340
2022 Douglas County Roseburg UGB 4101963650 28,344 29,498 29,557 29,631 30,503 31,570 32,476 33,196 33,708 34,240 34,766 35,285 35,796 36,301 36,500
2022 Douglas County Sutherlin UGB 4101971650 8,170 8,845 9,387 9,436 9,457 9,498 9,546 9,683 10,052 10,438 10,833 11,237 11,652 12,078 12,251
2022 Douglas County Winston UGB 4101983400 5,571 5,893 5,953 5,984 6,237 6,579 6,904 7,212 7,500 7,801 8,110 8,427 8,753 9,087 9,224
2022 Douglas County Yoncalla UGB 4101984600 1,087 1,051 1,065 1,064 1,046 1,018 990 964 942 921 899 878 858 837 829
2022 Douglas County Outside UGB Area 4101999999 45,963 47,449 47,134 47,321 47,242 47,137 46,837 46,394 45,828 45,287 44,736 44,174 43,601 43,017 42,781
2022 Harney County 41025 7,422 7,495 7,537 7,555 7,584 7,587 7,555 7,520 7,509 7,511 7,514 7,517 7,520 7,523 7,524
2022 Harney County Burns UGB 4102509800 2,929 2,796 2,811 2,811 2,842 2,859 2,859 2,854 2,852 2,854 2,856 2,857 2,857 2,856 2,855
2022 Harney County Hines UGB 4102534250 1,707 1,781 1,798 1,804 1,848 1,898 1,940 1,981 2,029 2,081 2,135 2,188 2,243 2,298 2,320
2022 Harney County Outside UGB Area 4102599999 2,786 2,918 2,929 2,939 2,895 2,831 2,756 2,686 2,628 2,576 2,524 2,472 2,420 2,369 2,349
2022 Jackson County 41029 203,206 223,259 223,827 228,380 237,060 247,461 256,658 264,909 272,846 280,819 289,015 297,450 306,132 315,067 318,713
2022 Jackson County Ashland UGB 4102903050 20,626 21,897 22,280 22,553 22,847 23,306 23,817 24,334 24,963 25,577 26,189 26,800 27,409 28,015 28,257
2022 Jackson County Butte Falls UGB 4102910050 423 443 451 454 446 434 428 428 437 446 454 463 471 479 483
2022 Jackson County Central Point UGB 4102912400 17,736 19,565 20,560 20,876 21,335 22,087 22,846 23,512 24,139 24,749 25,360 25,970 26,578 27,185 27,428
2022 Jackson County Eagle Point UGB 4102921550 8,508 9,760 9,929 10,080 10,385 10,857 11,334 11,762 12,162 12,558 12,959 13,364 13,774 14,188 14,355
2022 Jackson County Gold Hill UGB 4102929950 1,228 1,344 1,379 1,395 1,388 1,384 1,385 1,394 1,429 1,462 1,495 1,528 1,561 1,593 1,606
2022 Jackson County Jacksonville UGB 4102937000 2,785 3,043 3,103 3,148 3,157 3,188 3,230 3,283 3,369 3,453 3,537 3,621 3,704 3,788 3,821
2022 Jackson County Medford UGB 4102947000 76,733 87,881 89,592 91,116 96,440 104,530 112,636 119,798 126,001 132,325 138,864 145,637 152,650 159,907 162,880
2022 Jackson County Phoenix UGB 4102957500 4,774 4,689 4,345 4,676 5,311 5,651 5,686 5,730 5,801 5,867 5,931 5,994 6,054 6,113 6,135
2022 Jackson County Rogue River UGB 4102963450 2,714 3,080 3,117 3,154 3,246 3,376 3,502 3,602 3,683 3,760 3,837 3,913 3,988 4,063 4,092
2022 Jackson County Shady Cove UGB 4102966550 3,050 3,263 3,278 3,313 3,306 3,303 3,325 3,398 3,618 3,846 4,085 4,336 4,600 4,877 4,992
2022 Jackson County Talent UGB 4102972500 6,123 6,379 5,834 6,330 7,169 7,657 7,751 7,916 8,253 8,597 8,954 9,324 9,708 10,107 10,270
2022 Jackson County Outside UGB Area 4102999999 58,506 61,915 59,958 61,282 62,029 61,688 60,719 59,753 58,993 58,179 57,350 56,501 55,634 54,751 54,394
2022 Jefferson County 41031 21,720 24,502 24,889 25,068 25,589 26,481 27,377 28,338 29,432 30,636 31,887 33,189 34,544 35,954 36,535
2022 Jefferson County Culver UGB 4103117300 1,361 1,602 1,636 1,664 1,716 1,818 1,915 2,005 2,091 2,184 2,281 2,380 2,483 2,589 2,632
2022 Jefferson County Madras UGB 4103145250 7,000 7,964 9,009 9,069 9,575 10,316 11,047 11,763 12,471 13,243 14,055 14,910 15,810 16,758 17,150
2022 Jefferson County Metolius UGB 4103147750 732 1,015 1,028 1,050 1,095 1,184 1,273 1,364 1,457 1,560 1,668 1,784 1,906 2,036 2,090
2022 Jefferson County Outside UGB Area 41031 12,627 13,921 13,216 13,284 13,203 13,163 13,141 13,207 13,412 13,648 13,882 14,115 14,345 14,572 14,662
2022 Josephine County 41033 82,713 88,090 88,728 89,276 90,810 93,247 95,598 98,044 100,554 103,052 105,610 108,231 110,918 113,671 114,791
2022 Josephine County Cave Junction UGB 4103311850 2,199 2,440 2,510 2,533 2,550 2,592 2,643 2,724 2,859 2,993 3,129 3,266 3,405 3,544 3,600
2022 Josephine County Grants Pass UGB 4103330550 38,297 42,233 42,728 43,073 44,972 47,776 50,653 53,714 56,946 60,234 63,611 67,082 70,644 74,293 75,776
2022 Josephine County Outside UGB Area 4103399999 42,217 43,417 43,490 43,670 43,287 42,879 42,303 41,605 40,749 39,825 38,870 37,883 36,869 35,834 35,415
2022 Klamath County 41035 66,380 69,413 69,822 70,074 70,620 71,147 71,401 71,597 71,880 72,242 72,606 72,972 73,340 73,709 73,857
2022 Klamath County Bonanza UGB 4103507300 401 382 404 407 415 425 433 437 439 440 442 444 446 447 448
2022 Klamath County Chiloquin UGB 4103513050 766 808 856 860 868 878 882 884 885 886 887 889 890 891 892
2022 Klamath County Klamath Falls UGB 4103539700 42,567 44,484 44,902 45,164 45,818 46,662 47,258 47,704 48,077 48,503 48,931 49,361 49,794 50,228 50,403
2022 Klamath County Malin UGB 4103545400 836 756 756 757 759 757 753 750 748 748 747 747 746 745 745
2022 Klamath County Merrill UGB 4103547700 939 899 917 919 941 964 979 988 991 995 999 1,002 1,006 1,010 1,011
2022 Klamath County Outside UGB Area 4103599999 20,871 22,084 21,987 21,968 21,820 21,461 21,094 20,833 20,740 20,670 20,600 20,529 20,458 20,387 20,359
2022 Lake County 41037 7,895 8,160 8,177 8,170 8,157 8,180 8,280 8,451 8,691 8,988 9,295 9,613 9,941 10,280 10,419
2022 Lake County Lakeview UGB 4103740700 3,263 3,352 3,314 3,322 3,341 3,394 3,471 3,565 3,671 3,802 3,938 4,078 4,223 4,374 4,436
2022 Lake County Paisley UGB 4103756250 243 250 244 242 248 254 262 271 279 290 300 311 323 335 340
2022 Lake County Outside UGB Area 4103799999 4,389 4,558 4,619 4,607 4,568 4,532 4,547 4,616 4,741 4,896 5,057 5,223 5,395 5,572 5,644
2021 Benton County 41003 94,665 101,261 108,881 115,347 120,481 124,493 128,625 132,894 137,305 141,862 146,570 147,530
2021 Benton County Adair Village UGB 4100300275 1,370 1,846 2,068 2,279 2,472 2,649 2,831 3,023 3,226 3,440 3,666 3,714
2021 Benton County Albany UGB (Benton) 4100301000 8,300 8,566 9,826 11,116 12,405 13,702 15,046 16,511 18,108 19,846 21,735 22,148
2021 Benton County Corvallis UGB 4100315800 62,254 67,082 71,532 75,107 77,702 79,471 81,285 83,088 84,877 86,645 88,388 88,718

Page 75



2021 Benton County Monroe UGB 4100349600 651 710 796 878 953 1,021 1,091 1,165 1,244 1,326 1,414 1,432
2021 Benton County Philomath UGB 4100357450 5,881 6,324 6,972 7,568 8,094 8,558 9,032 9,526 10,041 10,576 11,132 11,248
2021 Benton County Outside UGB Area 4100399999 16,209 16,734 17,687 18,401 18,854 19,091 19,340 19,580 19,809 20,028 20,235 20,271
2021 Lane County 41039 381,365 397,742 412,045 424,423 434,846 443,747 452,811 462,061 471,499 481,131 490,958 492,948
2021 Lane County Coburg UGB 4103914400 1,375 1,559 1,689 1,818 1,947 2,075 2,204 2,341 2,485 2,638 2,805 2,839
2021 Lane County Cottage Grove UGB 4103915950 10,660 10,605 10,921 11,177 11,374 11,523 11,675 11,826 11,974 12,121 12,259 12,287
2021 Lane County Creswell UGB 4103916950 5,913 5,983 6,642 7,328 8,040 8,783 9,540 10,360 11,246 12,204 13,293 13,522
2021 Lane County Dunes City UGB 4103921150 1,365 1,359 1,423 1,481 1,533 1,580 1,627 1,675 1,724 1,774 1,824 1,835
2021 Lane County Eugene UGB 4103923850 193,768 206,740 215,637 223,575 230,512 236,650 242,825 249,081 255,417 261,828 268,322 269,628
2021 Lane County Florence UGB 4103926050 11,182 11,145 11,904 12,641 13,350 14,040 14,735 15,459 16,214 16,999 17,840 18,013
2021 Lane County Junction City UGB 4103938000 6,954 7,444 7,895 8,323 8,726 9,110 9,495 9,894 10,306 10,731 11,180 11,272
2021 Lane County Lowell UGB 4103944050 1,090 1,171 1,249 1,324 1,394 1,462 1,529 1,600 1,673 1,749 1,829 1,846
2021 Lane County Oakridge UGB 4103954100 3,458 3,727 3,904 4,062 4,200 4,322 4,444 4,569 4,695 4,824 4,955 4,982
2021 Lane County Springfield UGB 4103969600 70,337 72,103 73,838 75,149 76,042 76,604 77,198 77,772 78,325 78,856 79,311 79,399
2021 Lane County Veneta UGB 4103977050 4,845 4,915 5,337 5,759 6,180 6,602 7,030 7,482 7,961 8,468 9,025 9,140
2021 Lane County Westfir UGB 4103979950 275 282 303 324 345 365 386 407 430 454 479 485
2021 Lane County Outside UGBs 4103999999 70,144 70,709 71,304 71,460 71,203 70,631 70,122 69,595 69,050 68,486 67,834 67,702
2021 Lincoln County 41041 48,304 50,883 52,344 53,149 53,428 53,500 53,571 53,643 53,714 53,786 53,858 53,873
2021 Lincoln County Depoe Bay UGB 4104118850 1,450 1,875 2,270 2,688 3,128 3,602 4,078 4,612 5,206 5,868 6,602 6,773
2021 Lincoln County Lincoln City UGB 4104142600 9,671 10,123 10,473 10,685 10,782 10,827 10,862 10,882 10,885 10,870 10,835 10,822
2021 Lincoln County Newport UGB 4104152450 11,882 12,429 12,589 12,577 12,429 12,223 12,022 11,809 11,581 11,339 11,082 11,024
2021 Lincoln County Siletz UGB 4104167500 1,302 1,338 1,412 1,468 1,509 1,542 1,573 1,602 1,629 1,654 1,676 1,680
2021 Lincoln County Toledo UGB 4104174000 3,782 3,929 3,972 3,959 3,903 3,827 3,754 3,677 3,596 3,511 3,422 3,402
2021 Lincoln County Waldport UGB 4104178000 2,373 2,473 2,598 2,692 2,757 2,810 2,859 2,904 2,945 2,982 3,014 3,019
2021 Lincoln County Yachats UGB 4104184200 780 836 894 943 983 1,020 1,054 1,089 1,123 1,155 1,187 1,193
2021 Lincoln County Outside UGB Area 4104199999 17,064 17,879 18,135 18,137 17,937 17,649 17,369 17,069 16,748 16,406 16,041 15,959
2021 Linn County 41043 127,320 134,032 139,090 142,903 146,130 149,296 152,500 155,773 159,117 162,532 166,020 166,727
2021 Linn County Albany UGB (Linn) 4104301000 47,654 50,861 53,444 55,552 57,435 59,289 61,126 62,972 64,822 66,674 68,521 68,888
2021 Linn County Brownsville UGB 4104309050 1,746 1,928 2,058 2,171 2,275 2,379 2,482 2,588 2,696 2,806 2,919 2,942
2021 Linn County Gates UGB (Linn) 4104328200 45 46 46 46 46 46 46 45 45 45 44 44
2021 Linn County Halsey UGB 4104331750 950 1,039 1,112 1,176 1,237 1,297 1,357 1,419 1,483 1,548 1,614 1,628
2021 Linn County Harrisburg UGB 4104332550 3,804 3,944 4,339 4,717 5,096 5,491 5,887 6,307 6,752 7,222 7,719 7,826
2021 Linn County Idanha UGB (Linn) 4104335800 65 90 110 133 158 185 214 247 285 329 379 391
2021 Linn County Lebanon UGB 4104341650 20,314 20,979 21,588 21,973 22,244 22,483 22,723 22,948 23,158 23,350 23,525 23,553
2021 Linn County Lyons UGB (Linn) 4104344300 1,248 1,330 1,403 1,464 1,518 1,570 1,622 1,674 1,727 1,780 1,833 1,844
2021 Linn County Mill City UGB (Linn) 4104348150 1,798 2,000 2,094 2,168 2,231 2,291 2,351 2,411 2,470 2,528 2,586 2,597
2021 Linn County Millersburg UGB 4104348300 2,850 3,312 3,752 4,243 4,772 5,356 5,954 6,612 7,339 8,138 9,017 9,215
2021 Linn County Scio UGB 4104365650 975 1,122 1,204 1,276 1,344 1,413 1,481 1,552 1,624 1,698 1,775 1,790
2021 Linn County Sodaville UGB 4104368550 355 378 411 441 472 504 535 569 604 640 678 686
2021 Linn County Sweet Home UGB 4104371950 9,461 10,046 10,455 10,759 11,010 11,246 11,480 11,710 11,935 12,154 12,368 12,408
2021 Linn County Tangent UGB 4104372600 1,394 1,394 1,431 1,453 1,467 1,478 1,490 1,501 1,511 1,519 1,527 1,528
2021 Linn County Waterloo UGB 4104379050 235 236 244 248 252 255 259 262 265 267 270 270
2021 Linn County Outside UGB Area 4104399999 34,426 35,328 35,400 35,082 34,574 34,013 33,493 32,957 32,403 31,833 31,247 31,116
2021 Marion County 41047 349,121 369,983 385,366 397,723 407,818 416,327 424,996 433,845 442,878 452,100 461,514 463,420
2021 Marion County Aumsville UGB 4104703250 4,376 4,581 5,007 5,423 5,835 6,250 6,668 7,112 7,582 8,081 8,609 8,722
2021 Marion County Aurora UGB 4104703300 1,023 1,162 1,325 1,491 1,661 1,838 2,019 2,216 2,432 2,668 2,926 2,983
2021 Marion County Detroit UGB 4104719100 205 201 219 237 253 269 285 302 319 338 357 362
2021 Marion County Donald UGB 4104720100 995 1,389 1,607 1,839 2,086 2,353 2,628 2,934 3,274 3,652 4,073 4,168
2021 Marion County Gates UGB (Marion) 4104728200 498 498 507 511 512 510 508 507 505 503 501 500
2021 Marion County Gervais UGB 4104728650 2,624 2,782 2,961 3,120 3,263 3,396 3,528 3,665 3,805 3,949 4,097 4,128
2021 Marion County Hubbard UGB 4104735450 3,454 3,596 3,768 3,910 4,028 4,129 4,230 4,332 4,435 4,538 4,642 4,663
2021 Marion County Idanha UGB (Marion) 4104735800 90 91 97 104 109 114 120 125 131 137 143 144
2021 Marion County Jefferson UGB 4104737250 3,335 3,644 4,073 4,502 4,935 5,375 5,822 6,305 6,824 7,384 7,986 8,118
2021 Marion County Keizer UGB 4104738500 38,590 39,116 40,986 42,530 43,821 44,927 46,040 47,162 48,294 49,433 50,579 50,808
2021 Marion County Mill City UGB (Marion) 4104748150 312 352 409 468 529 592 657 729 809 896 993 1,015
2021 Marion County Mt. Angel UGB 4104750150 3,595 4,108 4,341 4,544 4,727 4,895 5,063 5,234 5,410 5,589 5,772 5,810
2021 Marion County Salem UGB (Marion) 4104764900 177,362 192,862 201,272 208,061 213,614 218,273 222,969 227,682 232,405 237,135 241,864 242,799
2021 Marion County Scotts Mills UGB 4104765800 387 422 463 502 540 578 616 656 699 745 793 803
2021 Marion County Silverton UGB 4104767650 11,050 11,568 12,116 12,571 12,955 13,289 13,625 13,963 14,305 14,650 14,996 15,066
2021 Marion County St. Paul UGB 4104764850 440 431 491 554 619 688 758 834 918 1,011 1,112 1,134
2021 Marion County Stayton UGB 4104770200 8,159 8,451 8,798 9,069 9,282 9,453 9,625 9,797 9,969 10,139 10,308 10,341
2021 Marion County Sublimity UGB 4104770700 3,050 3,319 3,405 3,461 3,495 3,512 3,531 3,549 3,566 3,582 3,596 3,598
2021 Marion County Turner UGB 4104775150 2,410 2,738 2,974 3,203 3,426 3,649 3,874 4,111 4,361 4,624 4,901 4,961
2021 Marion County Woodburn UGB 4104783750 25,882 26,370 27,809 29,050 30,139 31,121 32,106 33,109 34,131 35,171 36,228 36,443
2021 Marion County Outside UGB Area 4104799999 61,285 62,302 62,735 62,574 61,988 61,117 60,324 59,519 58,703 57,875 57,036 56,852
2021 Polk County 41053 83,805 92,866 101,329 110,043 119,187 128,783 139,068 150,175 162,168 175,120 189,106 192,035
2021 Polk County Dallas UGB 4105317700 17,201 18,564 20,611 22,773 25,089 27,568 30,235 33,152 36,341 39,826 43,635 44,445
2021 Polk County Falls City UGB 4105324550 1,000 1,074 1,161 1,248 1,337 1,429 1,526 1,630 1,741 1,858 1,983 2,009
2021 Polk County Independence UGB 4105336150 9,851 12,126 13,578 15,131 16,814 18,636 20,603 22,771 25,160 27,793 30,695 31,318
2021 Polk County Monmouth UGB 4105349550 10,022 12,003 13,068 14,165 15,317 16,527 17,821 19,212 20,706 22,311 24,034 24,392
2021 Polk County Salem UGB (Polk) 4105364900 29,768 32,132 34,819 37,536 40,337 43,222 46,304 49,593 53,102 56,845 60,836 61,658
2021 Polk County Willamina UGB (Polk) 4105382350 905 927 1,020 1,116 1,217 1,324 1,438 1,562 1,696 1,841 1,998 2,031
2021 Polk County Outside UGB Area 4105399999 15,057 16,041 17,073 18,076 19,077 20,076 21,140 22,255 23,423 24,646 25,926 26,182
2020 Clackamas County 41005 375,992 417,602 437,222 460,401 483,349 505,622 526,837 548,942 571,975 595,974 620,979 626,105 631,273 636,484 641,737 647,034
2020 Clackamas County Barlow UGB 4100504000 137 141 143 149 152 156 158 160 161 164 168 169 170 170 171 172
2020 Clackamas County Canby UGB 4100510750 17,097 18,347 19,468 20,796 22,234 23,635 25,056 26,546 28,235 29,815 31,373 31,681 31,993 32,307 32,624 32,945
2020 Clackamas County Estacada UGB 4100523800 3,330 4,235 4,633 5,044 5,449 5,827 6,196 6,657 7,201 7,684 8,147 8,237 8,328 8,420 8,513 8,607
2020 Clackamas County Molalla UGB 4100549450 8,561 10,237 11,290 12,515 13,814 15,141 16,472 17,988 19,825 21,400 22,877 23,158 23,443 23,731 24,023 24,318
2020 Clackamas County Sandy UGB 4100565250 9,912 11,628 12,738 14,167 15,757 17,514 19,416 21,307 23,613 25,573 27,400 27,747 28,097 28,453 28,813 29,177
2020 Clackamas County Outside UGB Area 4100599999 79,969 86,276 87,375 87,421 87,407 87,294 86,899 85,360 82,135 80,909 80,668 80,756 80,824 80,892 80,960 81,028

Page 76



2020 Clatsop County 41007 37,039 38,254 38,807 39,261 39,632 40,010 40,419 40,832 41,249 41,670 42,095 42,181 42,266 42,352 42,439 42,525
2020 Clatsop County Astoria UGB 4100703150 9,782 9,815 9,889 9,901 9,910 9,900 9,852 9,840 9,799 9,804 9,833 9,842 9,850 9,859 9,867 9,876
2020 Clatsop County Cannon Beach UGB 4100710850 1,693 1,652 1,664 1,698 1,715 1,714 1,715 1,728 1,740 1,754 1,770 1,773 1,776 1,780 1,783 1,786
2020 Clatsop County Gearhart UGB 4100728450 1,508 1,516 1,545 1,573 1,601 1,618 1,634 1,659 1,687 1,711 1,734 1,738 1,743 1,747 1,752 1,756
2020 Clatsop County Seaside UGB 4100765950 6,657 6,716 6,874 7,050 7,177 7,283 7,435 7,587 7,761 7,905 8,035 8,059 8,083 8,107 8,132 8,156
2020 Clatsop County Warrenton UGB 4100778900 5,022 5,586 5,924 6,322 6,689 7,011 7,325 7,727 8,222 8,583 8,880 8,931 8,983 9,035 9,087 9,139
2020 Clatsop County Outside UGB Area 4100799999 12,377 12,969 12,911 12,716 12,539 12,484 12,459 12,291 12,039 11,911 11,844 11,838 11,831 11,825 11,818 11,812
2020 Columbia County 41009 49,351 51,623 52,981 54,701 56,476 58,204 59,786 61,411 63,080 64,795 66,556 66,914 67,274 67,636 67,999 68,365
2020 Columbia County Clatskanie UGB 4100913750 1,867 1,822 1,817 1,875 1,934 1,993 2,044 2,085 2,124 2,170 2,219 2,230 2,240 2,251 2,261 2,272
2020 Columbia County Columbia City UGB 4100914750 1,950 1,871 1,899 1,953 2,033 2,096 2,140 2,194 2,249 2,306 2,366 2,378 2,391 2,404 2,416 2,429
2020 Columbia County Prescott UGB 4100959750 57 53 53 52 51 51 51 50 48 47 47 47 47 46 46 46
2020 Columbia County Rainier UGB 4100960850 2,430 2,378 2,414 2,448 2,526 2,579 2,620 2,661 2,694 2,741 2,795 2,807 2,819 2,831 2,843 2,855
2020 Columbia County Scappoose UGB 4100965500 7,269 8,025 8,511 9,146 9,758 10,406 11,009 11,704 12,534 13,221 13,846 13,963 14,081 14,199 14,319 14,440
2020 Columbia County St. Helens UGB 4100964600 14,839 15,503 16,338 17,327 18,354 19,347 20,246 21,330 22,600 23,682 24,684 24,874 25,066 25,259 25,453 25,649
2020 Columbia County Vernonia UGB 4100977250 2,191 2,039 2,037 2,054 2,089 2,113 2,126 2,130 2,120 2,131 2,153 2,159 2,165 2,170 2,176 2,182
2020 Columbia County Outside  UGB Area 4100999999 18,748 19,933 19,911 19,844 19,731 19,619 19,551 19,257 18,712 18,498 18,446 18,455 18,464 18,474 18,483 18,492
2020 Hood River County 41027 22,346 24,406 25,483 26,561 27,668 28,723 29,702 30,715 31,763 32,846 33,966 34,195 34,425 34,656 34,889 35,124
2020 Hood River County Cascade Locks UGB 4102711600 1,147 1,324 1,347 1,390 1,440 1,487 1,534 1,569 1,599 1,638 1,681 1,690 1,700 1,710 1,719 1,729
2020 Hood River County Hood River UGB 4102734900 8,800 10,177 10,938 11,693 12,469 13,216 13,924 14,757 15,725 16,579 17,389 17,545 17,703 17,862 18,023 18,185
2020 Hood River County Outside  UGB Area 4102799999 12,399 12,905 13,197 13,478 13,759 14,020 14,244 14,390 14,438 14,629 14,895 14,958 15,021 15,084 15,147 15,211
2020 Tillamook County 41057 25,250 26,076 26,423 26,810 27,184 27,570 27,987 28,412 28,842 29,279 29,723 29,812 29,902 29,992 30,082 30,173
2020 Tillamook County Bay City UGB 4105704800 1,358 1,425 1,467 1,551 1,617 1,673 1,728 1,802 1,890 1,960 2,020 2,031 2,042 2,053 2,065 2,076
2020 Tillamook County Garibaldi UGB 4105728000 783 774 772 771 769 767 767 764 757 756 758 759 760 760 761 762
2020 Tillamook County Manzanita UGB 4105745700 827 798 813 857 894 924 949 986 1,031 1,066 1,097 1,103 1,109 1,114 1,120 1,126
2020 Tillamook County Nehalem UGB 4105751700 1,120 1,215 1,257 1,331 1,412 1,493 1,585 1,672 1,778 1,859 1,928 1,940 1,953 1,966 1,978 1,991
2020 Tillamook County Rockaway Beach UGB 4105762900 1,510 1,469 1,516 1,579 1,641 1,702 1,759 1,828 1,910 1,975 2,033 2,043 2,054 2,065 2,075 2,086
2020 Tillamook County Tillamook UGB 4105773700 5,605 5,603 5,666 5,822 5,972 6,097 6,224 6,371 6,535 6,679 6,814 6,840 6,866 6,892 6,919 6,945
2020 Tillamook County Wheeler UGB 4105781300 420 423 434 451 470 487 508 528 551 570 587 590 593 596 599 602
2020 Tillamook County Outside UGB Area 4105799999 13,627 14,369 14,498 14,448 14,409 14,425 14,467 14,459 14,389 14,413 14,485 14,505 14,525 14,545 14,565 14,585
2020 Wasco County 41065 25,213 26,483 27,146 27,772 28,454 29,097 29,728 30,372 31,031 31,703 32,391 32,530 32,670 32,810 32,951 33,093
2020 Wasco County Antelope UGB 4106502250 46 42 41 40 40 40 40 40 39 38 38 38 38 38 38 38
2020 Wasco County Dufur UGB 4106520900 610 621 628 631 634 637 639 640 636 639 644 645 646 648 649 650
2020 Wasco County Maupin UGB 4106546500 421 403 406 418 430 439 446 455 463 473 482 484 486 488 490 492
2020 Wasco County Mosier UGB 4106550050 441 464 475 502 527 553 574 600 629 654 677 681 685 690 694 698
2020 Wasco County Shaniko UGB 4106566700 36 34 34 34 34 34 34 33 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32
2020 Wasco County The Dalles UGB 4106572950 15,792 16,148 16,589 17,092 17,668 18,243 18,823 19,387 20,008 20,577 21,126 21,233 21,341 21,450 21,558 21,668
2020 Wasco County Outside UGB Area 4106599999 7,867 8,770 8,974 9,056 9,123 9,152 9,172 9,218 9,223 9,291 9,392 9,416 9,440 9,464 9,489 9,513
2020 Washington County 41067 529,710 608,124 647,148 694,830 741,170 786,487 828,985 873,780 920,995 970,762 1,023,218 1,034,044 1,044,985 1,056,042 1,067,216 1,078,508
2020 Washington County Banks UGB 4106703850 1,876 1,855 2,043 2,232 2,420 2,608 2,797 3,009 3,253 3,486 3,718 3,765 3,812 3,860 3,908 3,957
2020 Washington County Gaston UGB (Washington) 4106728100 646 628 645 675 708 741 772 793 809 835 865 872 879 886 893 900
2020 Washington County North Plains UGB 4106753150 1,964 3,410 4,497 5,936 6,580 7,076 7,573 8,725 10,183 11,419 12,575 12,794 13,017 13,243 13,474 13,708
2020 Washington County Outside UGB Area 4106799999 25,429 25,175 25,184 25,102 24,973 24,783 24,564 23,553 21,720 20,738 20,161 20,093 20,025 19,957 19,889 19,822
2020 Yamhill County 41071 99,193 105,911 110,781 116,657 122,857 128,931 134,702 140,732 147,031 153,613 160,488 161,900 163,324 164,761 166,210 167,672
2020 Yamhill County Amity UGB 4107102000 1,623 1,733 1,783 1,871 1,958 2,029 2,083 2,152 2,215 2,292 2,377 2,395 2,413 2,431 2,450 2,468
2020 Yamhill County Carlton UGB 4107111150 2,007 2,329 2,497 2,757 2,970 3,152 3,313 3,551 3,830 4,083 4,330 4,378 4,427 4,477 4,526 4,577
2020 Yamhill County Dayton UGB 4107118250 2,708 2,778 2,861 3,049 3,223 3,364 3,488 3,641 3,799 3,966 4,141 4,177 4,214 4,250 4,288 4,325
2020 Yamhill County Dundee UGB 4107121050 3,162 3,139 3,322 3,556 3,782 4,003 4,195 4,433 4,699 4,956 5,214 5,266 5,318 5,370 5,423 5,477
2020 Yamhill County Gaston UGB (Yamhill) 4107128100 154 154 161 167 174 182 189 196 203 210 218 220 222 223 225 227
2020 Yamhill County Lafayette UGB 4107140300 3,742 4,146 4,606 5,190 5,682 6,131 6,554 7,159 7,890 8,526 9,128 9,244 9,361 9,479 9,599 9,721
2020 Yamhill County McMinnville UGB 4107145000 32,527 34,564 36,268 38,195 40,339 42,457 44,539 46,653 48,901 51,200 53,577 54,062 54,552 55,046 55,544 56,047
2020 Yamhill County Newberg UGB 4107152100 22,572 24,877 26,557 28,432 30,576 32,780 34,929 37,247 39,907 42,377 44,807 45,287 45,772 46,262 46,757 47,258
2020 Yamhill County Sheridan UGB 4107167050 6,210 6,102 6,268 6,530 6,774 7,008 7,232 7,433 7,605 7,835 8,099 8,156 8,214 8,272 8,330 8,389
2020 Yamhill County Willamina UGB (Yamhill) 4107182350 1,180 1,247 1,255 1,295 1,344 1,387 1,425 1,452 1,469 1,502 1,543 1,552 1,562 1,571 1,580 1,590
2020 Yamhill County Yamhill UGB 4107184250 1,024 1,090 1,173 1,229 1,297 1,364 1,430 1,502 1,581 1,659 1,740 1,756 1,773 1,789 1,806 1,823
2020 Yamhill County Outside UGB Area 4107199999 22,284 23,752 24,031 24,386 24,740 25,073 25,326 25,311 24,932 25,008 25,315 25,406 25,496 25,588 25,679 25,771
2019 Baker County 41001 16,134 15,790 15,758 15,562 15,404 15,274 15,156 15,063 14,971 14,880 14,789 14,699 14,681 14,663 14,645 14,627
2019 Baker County Baker City UGB 4100103650 9,871 9,858 9,855 9,855 9,852 9,850 9,849 9,847 9,883 9,943 9,961 9,959 9,958 9,958 9,957 9,957
2019 Baker County Greenhorn UGB 4100131050 0 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
2019 Baker County Haines UGB 4100131600 416 407 407 402 401 402 402 403 403 404 404 404 404 404 403 403
2019 Baker County Halfway UGB 4100131650 319 310 308 303 300 299 300 302 302 302 301 300 300 300 300 299
2019 Baker County Huntington UGB 4100135700 440 382 376 365 356 352 349 345 340 334 329 325 325 324 323 322
2019 Baker County Richland UGB 4100161700 187 189 189 190 195 199 202 204 209 214 218 220 220 220 221 221
2019 Baker County Sumpter UGB 4100171000 204 213 214 217 221 223 224 224 227 231 233 235 235 235 235 236
2019 Baker County Unity UGB 4100176250 71 62 62 60 59 59 59 59 58 58 57 57 57 56 56 56
2019 Baker County Outside UGB Area 4100199999 4,626 4,367 4,345 4,168 4,018 3,888 3,769 3,678 3,548 3,392 3,283 3,198 3,181 3,164 3,147 3,130
2019 Gilliam County 41021 1,871 1,808 1,800 1,771 1,763 1,763 1,761 1,759 1,757 1,755 1,754 1,752 1,751 1,751 1,751 1,750
2019 Gilliam County Arlington UGB 4102102800 645 673 676 686 710 734 752 772 797 827 847 862 865 868 871 874
2019 Gilliam County Condon UGB 4102115000 683 631 631 618 614 616 609 602 599 595 592 590 589 589 589 588
2019 Gilliam County Lonerock UGB 4102143400 21 19 19 18 16 16 16 16 15 14 14 13 13 13 13 13
2019 Gilliam County Outside UGB Area 4102199999 522 484 475 449 422 397 384 369 347 319 300 286 284 281 278 275
2019 Grant County 41023 7,445 7,102 7,067 6,907 6,771 6,662 6,566 6,477 6,389 6,303 6,217 6,133 6,116 6,100 6,083 6,067
2019 Grant County Canyon City UGB 4102310950 739 709 709 698 701 712 721 728 735 747 751 751 751 751 751 751
2019 Grant County Dayville UGB 4102318300 149 145 146 145 146 146 146 146 147 148 148 148 148 148 148 148
2019 Grant County Granite UGB 4102330500 38 37 37 36 36 36 35 34 34 33 33 32 32 32 32 32
2019 Grant County John Day UGB 4102337550 2,081 1,987 1,986 1,958 1,947 1,958 1,962 1,961 1,966 1,979 1,978 1,970 1,968 1,967 1,965 1,963
2019 Grant County Long Creek UGB 4102343550 197 190 190 186 182 179 175 172 169 166 164 161 161 160 160 159
2019 Grant County Monument UGB 4102349750 128 121 121 118 115 113 111 109 107 106 104 102 102 102 101 101
2019 Grant County Mt. Vernon UGB 4102350250 535 499 499 490 484 476 467 460 455 450 445 439 438 437 436 435
2019 Grant County Prairie City UGB 4102359650 909 859 859 834 809 790 769 750 731 712 696 681 679 676 673 670
2019 Grant County Seneca UGB 4102366200 199 194 194 191 191 189 187 184 183 182 181 180 179 179 179 179

Page 77



2019 Grant County Outside UGB Area 4102399999 2,470 2,361 2,328 2,251 2,161 2,063 1,993 1,934 1,862 1,779 1,718 1,668 1,658 1,648 1,638 1,628
2019 Malheur County 41045 31,313 31,011 30,981 30,890 30,799 30,675 30,514 30,317 30,122 29,928 29,735 29,544 29,506 29,468 29,430 29,392
2019 Malheur County Adrian UGB 4104500500 177 179 179 180 181 182 183 184 184 185 186 186 186 186 186 186
2019 Malheur County Jordan Valley UGB 4104537850 181 160 160 152 143 144 145 145 141 137 134 131 131 130 130 129
2019 Malheur County Nyssa UGB 4104553750 3,455 3,463 3,443 3,478 3,494 3,512 3,518 3,524 3,535 3,555 3,560 3,557 3,557 3,556 3,556 3,555
2019 Malheur County Ontario UGB 4104554900 12,296 12,207 12,211 12,222 12,228 12,240 12,256 12,256 12,242 12,245 12,219 12,180 12,172 12,165 12,157 12,149
2019 Malheur County Vale UGB 4104576600 2,141 2,159 2,164 2,171 2,186 2,192 2,198 2,199 2,204 2,212 2,213 2,210 2,210 2,209 2,208 2,208
2019 Malheur County Outside UGB Area 4104599999 13,063 12,843 12,825 12,687 12,566 12,405 12,214 12,009 11,815 11,593 11,424 11,279 11,251 11,222 11,194 11,165
2019 Morrow County 41049 11,173 12,143 12,329 12,615 12,960 13,345 13,698 14,041 14,392 14,752 15,121 15,499 15,576 15,653 15,731 15,809
2019 Morrow County Boardman UGB 4104907200 3,555 4,201 4,574 4,797 5,068 5,348 5,631 5,912 6,221 6,583 6,888 7,167 7,224 7,281 7,339 7,397
2019 Morrow County Heppner UGB 4104933550 1,343 1,303 1,295 1,267 1,255 1,249 1,247 1,244 1,222 1,184 1,167 1,160 1,159 1,157 1,156 1,154
2019 Morrow County Ione UGB 4104936400 335 332 331 333 337 341 344 346 348 348 350 354 355 356 356 357
2019 Morrow County Irrigon UGB 4104936500 2,081 2,268 2,269 2,394 2,572 2,718 2,850 2,992 3,163 3,365 3,533 3,685 3,716 3,747 3,779 3,811
2019 Morrow County Lexington UGB 4104942200 243 255 254 249 244 241 239 238 232 222 217 214 214 213 213 212
2019 Morrow County Outside UGB Area 4104999999 3,616 3,784 3,607 3,575 3,483 3,448 3,387 3,308 3,208 3,051 2,967 2,919 2,908 2,898 2,888 2,877
2019 Sherman County 41055 1,765 1,709 1,703 1,679 1,653 1,636 1,626 1,617 1,609 1,600 1,592 1,583 1,581 1,580 1,578 1,576
2019 Sherman County Grass Valley UGB 4105530650 164 162 162 160 158 156 155 153 153 152 151 150 150 150 149 149
2019 Sherman County Moro UGB 4105550000 324 315 316 308 299 298 297 296 294 291 289 286 286 286 285 285
2019 Sherman County Rufus UGB 4105564200 249 246 245 243 243 237 234 232 231 229 228 226 226 226 226 225
2019 Sherman County Wasco UGB 4105578950 410 414 412 415 425 436 443 448 459 474 482 488 489 490 491 492
2019 Sherman County Outside UGB Area 4105599999 619 572 567 553 527 509 496 488 473 455 443 433 431 429 427 425
2019 Umatilla County 41059 75,889 78,383 78,692 80,737 82,943 85,093 87,075 88,899 90,762 92,663 94,605 96,587 96,988 97,391 97,796 98,203
2019 Umatilla County Adams UGB 4105900350 350 343 343 347 357 366 373 376 382 387 393 400 402 403 404 406
2019 Umatilla County Athena UGB 4105903200 1,134 1,147 1,150 1,154 1,168 1,180 1,184 1,183 1,183 1,175 1,177 1,185 1,187 1,188 1,190 1,191
2019 Umatilla County Echo UGB 4105922200 722 717 718 723 731 743 752 761 765 766 772 781 783 784 786 788
2019 Umatilla County Helix UGB 4105933250 194 191 192 191 193 195 196 197 197 195 195 196 197 197 197 197
2019 Umatilla County Hermiston UGB 4105933700 19,234 21,185 21,395 22,414 23,540 24,784 26,045 27,257 28,522 30,013 31,242 32,354 32,580 32,808 33,037 33,267
2019 Umatilla County Milton-Freewater UGB 4105948600 7,213 7,278 7,285 7,441 7,633 7,824 8,032 8,218 8,385 8,555 8,730 8,910 8,946 8,983 9,020 9,056
2019 Umatilla County Pendleton UGB 4105957150 17,015 17,209 17,230 17,808 18,254 18,537 18,718 18,879 19,147 19,385 19,681 20,009 20,075 20,142 20,209 20,276
2019 Umatilla County Pilot Rock UGB 4105957650 1,576 1,558 1,560 1,557 1,558 1,559 1,560 1,560 1,546 1,519 1,511 1,511 1,512 1,512 1,512 1,512
2019 Umatilla County Stanfield UGB 4105969900 2,061 2,199 2,224 2,290 2,384 2,468 2,526 2,582 2,654 2,733 2,806 2,877 2,891 2,906 2,920 2,935
2019 Umatilla County Ukiah UGB 4105975550 193 270 271 243 247 251 255 258 254 246 242 241 240 240 240 239
2019 Umatilla County Umatilla UGB 4105975650 7,623 8,104 8,205 8,735 9,300 9,835 10,340 10,824 11,407 12,105 12,668 13,168 13,270 13,373 13,476 13,580
2019 Umatilla County Weston UGB 4105980350 679 694 696 695 704 713 720 725 726 724 727 733 735 736 737 738
2019 Umatilla County Outside UGB Area 4105999999 17,895 17,487 17,421 17,140 16,873 16,639 16,376 16,079 15,593 14,861 14,460 14,220 14,169 14,118 14,067 14,017
2019 Union County 41061 25,748 26,343 26,413 26,700 26,981 27,260 27,482 27,674 27,866 28,060 28,255 28,452 28,491 28,531 28,571 28,610
2019 Union County Cove UGB 4106116250 552 552 553 554 557 557 559 559 558 556 556 557 557 557 557 558
2019 Union County Elgin UGB 4106122550 1,747 1,695 1,697 1,723 1,761 1,794 1,825 1,850 1,879 1,914 1,941 1,965 1,970 1,975 1,980 1,984
2019 Union County Imbler UGB 4106136050 319 337 340 347 355 365 376 387 396 408 416 423 425 426 428 429
2019 Union County Island City UGB 4106136750 1,056 1,165 1,171 1,180 1,230 1,276 1,319 1,357 1,396 1,445 1,480 1,510 1,516 1,522 1,528 1,534
2019 Union County La Grande UGB 4106140350 13,645 13,960 13,998 14,148 14,271 14,380 14,491 14,590 14,671 14,746 14,832 14,922 14,940 14,958 14,976 14,994
2019 Union County North Powder UGB 4106153300 435 423 424 422 419 420 421 421 419 415 414 413 413 413 413 413
2019 Union County Summerville UGB 4106170850 135 131 132 134 136 137 138 140 141 142 143 144 145 145 145 145
2019 Union County Union UGB 4106175850 2,107 2,141 2,150 2,192 2,240 2,279 2,318 2,355 2,394 2,439 2,475 2,507 2,513 2,520 2,526 2,533
2019 Union County Outside UGB Area 4106199999 5,752 5,940 5,947 6,000 6,012 6,052 6,035 6,016 6,012 5,995 5,998 6,011 6,013 6,016 6,018 6,021
2019 Wallowa County 41063 7,008 6,906 6,885 6,772 6,695 6,612 6,545 6,521 6,497 6,474 6,450 6,427 6,423 6,418 6,413 6,409
2019 Wallowa County Enterprise UGB 4106323500 1,954 1,954 1,968 1,968 1,976 1,987 1,996 2,006 2,031 2,065 2,085 2,097 2,100 2,102 2,105 2,107
2019 Wallowa County Joseph UGB 4106337900 1,093 1,090 1,095 1,102 1,108 1,117 1,124 1,128 1,145 1,167 1,180 1,189 1,190 1,192 1,194 1,196
2019 Wallowa County Lostine UGB 4106343900 241 235 236 232 230 231 230 229 230 231 231 232 232 232 232 232
2019 Wallowa County Wallowa UGB 4106378150 914 885 887 863 856 853 850 847 846 846 844 843 842 842 842 841
2019 Wallowa County Outside UGB Area 4106399999 2,806 2,743 2,700 2,607 2,524 2,424 2,345 2,312 2,246 2,165 2,110 2,067 2,058 2,050 2,041 2,033
2019 Wheeler County 41069 1,441 1,363 1,355 1,326 1,299 1,272 1,250 1,235 1,219 1,203 1,188 1,173 1,170 1,167 1,164 1,161
2019 Wheeler County Fossil UGB 4106926650 473 462 462 461 458 458 459 461 464 469 470 469 469 469 469 468
2019 Wheeler County Mitchell UGB 4106949150 130 124 124 118 111 109 106 103 100 96 93 91 90 90 89 89
2019 Wheeler County Spray UGB 4106969450 167 161 161 162 162 162 162 163 165 167 168 168 168 168 168 168
2019 Wheeler County Outside UGB Area 4106999999 671 615 608 585 567 543 523 507 490 472 457 445 443 441 438 436

Page 78



City of Carlton – Resolution No. 2024-358 Page 1 of 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-358 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE WATER MANAGEMENT AND CONSERVATION PLAN AS SHOWN IN 
EXHIBIT A FOR THE CITY OF CARLTON 
   

RECITALS: 
 

WHEREAS,  The Oregon Water Resources Department issued a final order approving the City’s 
previous Water Management and Conservation Plan (WMCP) on January 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City is required to submit an updated WMCP meeting the requirements of OAR 
Chapter 690, Division 086 to the Department no later than July 16, 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City has developed a water management and conservation plan in accordance with 
state requirements. 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Carlton City Council does hereby adopt the Carlton Water 
Management and Conservation Plan, attached as Exhibit A. 
 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Carlton, Oregon, on June 4, 2024, by the following votes: 
  
 AYES:  NAYES: ABSENT: ABSTAIN:   
 

APPROVED and signed by the Mayor on June 4, 2024. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Linda Watkins, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: ____________________________________ 
    Aimee Amerson, City Recorder 

Page 79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.1 
 

 

To:  Mayor and Members of the Carlton City Council 
From:  Scott Whyte, Contract City Planner, MWVCOG 
Subject: Continued Hearing on Pending Draft Changes to the Carlton Development Code 
Date:  May 24, 2024, for the Council meeting of June 4, 2024 
 
Background and Discussion 
On May 7, 2024, the City Council opened the public hearing for case file LA 2024-02, Carlton 
Development Code Update. After receiving public testimony, the Mayor closed the hearing to 
allow for deliberation. Council discussion ensued and questions were asked of staff in response 
to the Planning Commission recommendations that differ from the staff recommendations. 
 
Most questions on May 7 were related to three topics of interest (summarized below). 

• Street Tree Spacing – What is the potential for street tree spacing if based on canopy 
spread, as used by jurisdictions? What issues are present / what code changes are needed? 
 

• Open Space as part of Subdivisions - Further explain draft code options for providing open 
space / greenspace.  What counts / does not count for the minimum 5% as proposed? 

 
• AH zone changes - Clarify proposed changes to the city AH zone. If no changes are 

introduced now, at what point (via future study or otherwise) would changes be proposed? 
 
The City Attorney and City Manager explained how staff can return with information about these 
topics if the Council decides to continue the hearing.  The Council set the date certain of June 4, 
2024 and continued the hearing.  Included herein are relevant extractions from the Draft Carlton 
Development Code, specific to the topics above.  Proposed text changes subject to ordinance 
adoption (Exhibits 1 and 2 of the Staff Report dated April 30, 2024) are also exhibits to this 
memorandum.  No changes have been made to Exhibits 1 and 2 as shown to the April 30 report. 
 
 

• Street Tree Spacing – What is the potential for street tree spacing if based on canopy 
spread, as used by jurisdictions? What issues are present / what code changes are needed? 

 
At the May 7 public hearing, project consultant Elizabeth Decker of JET Planning explained how 
the Planning Commission recommends street tree spacing at the distance of 25 feet, everywhere 
where street trees are required by the Development Code. 
 

Page 81



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.2 
 

For reference, the key provisions related to this topic are found in CDC Section 17.84.090.  Exhibit 
2 (attached) reflects direction received from the Council on this topic at the final work session 
meeting of March 5, 2024.  Below is an extract from Exhibit 2 with yellow highlighted text in bold 
indicating proposed addition and blue highlighted struck-through indicating proposed deletion. 
Text shown highlighted in green indicates additional edits that incorporate Council feedback after 
producing Exhibit 1 (draft/proposed changes to all seven Divisions of Carlton Development Code, 
attached). 

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

A.    All new residential developments shall install a minimum of one street tree per thirty-five 
(35)forty (40) feet of street frontage, or fraction thereof. 

B.    Street trees shall be planted within the landscape strip, if present, or within the front yard. 

C.    All street trees must be a species listed in the adopted approved street tree list.  A list of 
recommended and prohibited street trees will be provided by the City of Carlton.  

D.    To create a variety of street trees, no more than forty (40) percent of new street trees on a 
single block can be of one species. 

 
Alternative 
Below is an alternative for the Council to consider. Text shown highlighted in grey (below) could 
be added in support of an alternative where spacing would be based on mature canopy spread 
of the selected tree. Staff also observe the need for adding flexibility and recommends addition 
of “E” below.  

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

A.    All new residential developments shall install a minimum of one street tree per 
mature canopy spread, to range between twenty-five (25) feet and forty (40) feet of 
street frontage, or fraction thereof. 

B.    Street trees shall be planted within the landscape strip, if present, or within the 
front yard. 

C.    All street trees must be a species listed in the adopted approved street tree list.  A 
list of recommended and prohibited street trees will be provided by the City of 
Carlton.  

D.    To create a variety of street trees, no more than forty (40) percent of new street 
trees on a single block can be of one species. 

 
E.    As determined by the City Engineer in review of detailed site improvement plans, 

street trees may be spaced more than forty (40) feet apart, if tree spacing is shown 
to conflict with required placement of streetlights, street signs, utilities and street 
access at minimum width.  In these cases, options for relocating lights, signs, utilities 
and driveway access are to be first explored along with selection of a different 
species of tree shown to the approved street tree list. 

Page 82



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.3 
 

 
Below is the City of Portland’s Appendix A: Street tree spacing diagram.  This diagram (included 
as an exhibit to the April 30 staff report) is not proposed for addition to the Carlton Development 
Code but provides a good illustration of common street infrastructure and other spacing 
distances to observe.  
 

City Portland 
Appendix A is 
visual example 
and not proposed 
for addition to the 
Carlton Code. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At the continued hearing of June 4, staff will address the above topic in further detail.  Other 
factors should be considered for placement / spacing of street trees (e.g., minimum vision 
clearance at street intersections as the diagram above shows).  The above diagram does not show 
width of the landscape strip.  Certain trees require larger landscape widths for root area / growth. 
 
 
 

• Open Space as part of Subdivisions. Further explain draft code options for providing open 
space / greenspace.  What counts and does not count for the minimum 5% - as proposed? 

 
At the City Council hearing of May 7, project consultant Elizabeth Decker explained how new 
standards are proposed to create more open space within subdivisions (Section 17.174.035).  Ms. 
Decker further explained how the new standards for open space would require 5% of the 
property (net area) reserved for open space and how this space can be arranged / allocated as 
active space (like a mini park) or for passive enjoyment (mostly trees / vegetation) or as boulevard 
space (e.g., by expanding the landscape strip situated along roadways / street frontages).    
 
Ms. Decker also explained the staff recommendation of applying the required open space only 
to larger subdivisions, specifically at 28 or more lots.  This differs from the Planning Commission 
recommendation of applying the requiring open space to all subdivisions (four or more lots). 
 

Page 83



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.4 
 

Below is Slide 33 from the May 7, 2024, staff PowerPoint presentation.  The purpose of this slide 
is to present arguments in favor and against the Planning Commission the recommendation.  
Slide 33 illustrates a small infill subdivision of four lots, with two of the proposed lots shown to a 
flag configuration (driveway access is the flagpole portion of the lots).  

 
In the above example, net lot area is shown at 30,000 square feet and open space (at 5%) would 
be 1,500 square feet as shown.  This small area of open space does not meet the proposed 
minimum area shown for “active-style” open space (i.e., proposed at 5,000 sq. ft. in Exhibit 2, 
CDC 17.176.035.B).  Staff observe potential long-term maintenance challenges for smaller open 
space areas.  Also, the city is less likely to accept conveyance of small open space if offered. 
    
Proposed text in 17.176.035.C (shown below) explains how open space (via tract or conservation 
easement) is to be conveyed either to the city, a homeowners’ association (HOA) or other legal 
entity. Section 17.176.035.C and additional proposed text related to open space (as part of 
subdivision approval) is shown in Exhibit 2, titled Additional Code Changes. 
 
****** 
C. The open space shall be conveyed in accordance with one of the following methods: 

1. By dedication to the City as public open space (if acceptable to the City). Open space 
proposed for dedication to the City must be acceptable to the City Manager with regard to 
the size, shape, location, improvement, environmental condition, and budgetary and 
maintenance abilities; 

2. By leasing or conveying title (including easement beneficialary ownership) to a corporation, 
the City, homeowners' association or other legal entity, with the City retaining given the 
development rights ability to access and maintain the open space. The terms of such lease 
or other instrument of conveyance must include provisions (e.g., maintenance, property tax 
payment, etc.) suitable to the City. 

Page 84



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.5 
 

****** 
    
On May 7, the Council also inquired about what is / is not intended to count for the minimum 5% 
open space / greenspace as applied to new subdivisions.  Staff refer to the full text of the 
proposed open space requirement in CDC 17.176.035 (Exhibit 2).  Below is a table summary (not 
part of 17.176.035) that answers to the question of what is to count (and not) as open space / 
greenspace under current proposed text. 
 

Item Would it count as open space / 
greenspace? 

Staff comments in review of 
proposed code in 17.176.035. 

Landscape in the required yards or 
setbacks of individual lots of the 
subdivision. 

No. Proposed text in 17.176.035, 
clearly says it would not. 

This includes the front, side and rear 
yards of all lots intended for sale / 
private ownership.  

Existing trees & vegetated areas Possibly 
No, if part of individual lot 
Yes, if in tract or easement 

Would need to be in a tract or 
conservation easement & include 
recorded documents declaring HOA 
(or city if accepted) as beneficiary of 
tract or easement for maintenance. 

Vegetated Water Quality Swale / 
Bioswale (intended for treatment) 

Yes – if vegetated / landscaped for 
serving as storm water treatment. 

Would also need to be in tract or 
easement as explained above. 

Land in special flood hazard area  
(100 yr. floodplain & floodway) 

Yes - if in tract or easement. Would also need to be in tract or 
easement as explained above. 

Wider street landscape strip 
(e.g., area between curb/sidewalk) 

Yes – if part of right-of-way or public 
easement created. 

Proposed amendments allow if in 
“excess” of the minimum landscape 
(public street standard). 

Landscape Buffer Screen (visual) Possibly, Q: Part of individual lot? No if part of a private yard / not in 
tract or easement as explained. 

Permeable Pavement / grass create 
for access serving two or more lots.  

No. Passive-style o.s. would need to 
be landscaped (via proposed code). 

Access that serves two or more lots 
also subject to Fire Code review. 

Swing set, putting green, horseshoe 
and general play equipment. 

No - if on private lot. 
Yes - if in tract or easement. 

In tract or easement as explained 
above & active space min. 5,000 s. f.  

  
Staff observe more options for utilization of open space if larger in size.  Also, depending on the 
circumstances and budgetary abilities, the city would be more inclined to accept conveyance of 
a large open space tracts / easements if shown to abut an existing park or shown to be part of an 
acknowledged need identified in the adopted city Parks Development Plan.  Comparatively, a 
subdivision with 28 lots in the R-1 zone (assuming each lot at 7,500 sq. ft.) with net total area of 
210,000 square feet, would require minimum open space at 10,500 square feet (if at 5%). 
 
Staff observe how the proposed standards in 17.176.035 allow open space to be developed as 
either ‘active-style,’ ‘passive-style,’ or ‘boulevard style,’ or any combination thereof.  For example, 
the area of 10,500 square feet (shown for the 28-lot example above) might consist of two tracts 
of land created for passive open space (no minimum area requirement) and a third tract for 
active-style (minimum of 5,000 square feet).    
 
Potential Loophole – if land is partitioned first. Staff acknowledge how it would be possible for 
an applicant to first partition a large property (say at 210,000 + square feet) to create two smaller 

Page 85



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.6 
 

lots at sizes that fall below an established minimum lot threshold, thereby avoiding the open 
space requirement.  Staff explained this possibility to the Planning Commission at the hearing of 
April 8, 2024.  This is another argument in support of the Commission recommendation to make 
open space applicable to all subdivision applications, regardless the number of lots proposed. 
 
Comments from DLCD about open space.  Exhibit 7 of the May 7 hearing materials (not provided 
as an exhibit to this memo) include comments received from the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development (DLCD) in response to proposed updates. Below are extraction 
specific to the proposed open space standard.  
 
“A required 5% open space standard, in addition to a park land dedication, for all subdivisions, 
creates a rather significant flag on cost/delay. …” 
 
“… We could see this kind of standard making more sense for a large subdivision or PUD, but we 
recommend that the city think through the implications, in addition to any potential statutory 
conflicts.”  
 
Alternative 
Herein staff has explained certain challenges to creating and maintaining open space/greenspace 
for small subdivisions. One alternative is to reduce the staff-recommended open space 
applicability threshold of 28 + lots to 14 + lots.  At 14 lots, staff observe how the area of open 
space could amount to as much as 5,250 sq. ft. (assuming R-1 zone with lot size consistent with 
minimum size) and would be enough to create “active-style” open space as an option (i.e., 
consistent with the proposed minimum of 5,000 sq. ft.). Below are math comparatives for 
subdivisions, applying the R-1 zone example (with minimum lot size of 7,000 sq. ft.) at 4 lots, 28 
lots and 14 lots. 
 
4 lot example in R-1 zone - 4 x 7,500 = 30,000 x 0.05 = 1,500 sq. ft.  (no active space option) 
28 lot example in R-1zone - 28 x 7,500 = 210,000 x 0.05 = 10,500 sq. ft. (yes - active space option) 
14 lot example in R-1zone - 14 x 7,500 = 105,000 x 0.05 = 5,250 sq. ft. (yes - active space option) 
 
Also, if Council supports a 14 + lot alternative threshold, staff recommends the following text to 
thwart a partition-first loophole (as described above). Text shown highlighted in grey (below) 
could be added to proposed changes shown to Chapter 17.172, titled Partitions. 
17.172.020 General provisions. 

****** 

E.  A master plan for development is required for any application that leaves a portion of the 
subject property capable of replatting creates an oversized lot which is greater than twice 
the required minimum lot size allowed by the subject zone. If the parent parcel of the 
proposed partition is over 105,000 square feet in size, the master plan shall further show 
the area of future open space to the standards in Section 17.176.035 and further explain 
the means for ensuring open space is created upon future land division.  Covenants are to 
be recorded with final plat for this purpose, binding to all future property owners.  

Page 86



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.7 
 

At the continued hearing of June 4, staff will address the above topic in further detail.   
 
 

• AH zone changes -- Clarify proposed changes to the city AH zone. If no changes are 
introduced now, at what point (via future study or otherwise) would changes be proposed? 
 

At the hearing of May 7, Elizabeth Decker informed the Council of certain proposed changes 
shown to Division II of the Carlton Development Code, specific to the Agricultural Holding (AH) 
Zone (in Chapter 17.48).  In summary, Ms. Decker observed how the AH zone is a holding zone, 
intended to allow agricultural uses (the primary permitted use of the zone) “…until such time that 
agricultural lands are needed for urban uses and public facilities and services are available.” (CDC 
17.48.010).  The Development Code does not preclude the ability to divide property zoned AH 
and Ms. Decker noted how the Development Codes currently requires a minimum lot size of 
7,500 square feet.   
 
Ms. Decker also explained the staff recommendation of increasing minimum lot size in the AH 
zone to at least three (3) acres and prohibiting land divisions.  The Planning Commission does not 
support these changes and thereby recommends that the Council not adopt proposed changes 
that increase minimum lot size and prohibit land division in the AH zone in Chapter 17.48. 
 
Below is slide 20 from the May 7, 2024, staff PowerPoint presentation.  The purpose of this slide 
is to present arguments in favor and against the Planning Commission the recommendation.  

 
The graphic to the right of Slide 20 does not represent any particular property in Carlton zoned 
AH. The graphic is mostly intended to show how a property zoned AH can first be divided without 
extending public utilities or full public street improvements (even if these are stubbed to the site 
as Graphic # 1 shows).  State Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) decisions (in particular, the case 

Page 87



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.8 
 

decision issued for McClure v. City of Springfield, 37 Or LUBA 759 (2000)) clarify the degree to 
which cities can apply conditions of approval that require dedication of right-of-way and street 
improvements as part of land divisions.  In short, the city, not the applicant, bears the burden of 
explaining how street dedication / improvements are roughly proportional to the impacts caused 
by the development.  Certain permitted uses of the AH zone (e.g., “Raising or harvesting crops;” 
as 17.48.020 describes) do not generate significant vehicle trips.  Accordingly, findings of rough 
proportionality in support of full public dedication for right-of-way and construction of street 
improvements and utilities can be difficult, especially when propose lots of a land division 
application shown potential for further division.  
 
Existing code in 17.172.020 explains how a master plan (a.k.a. concept plan) is required for a 
partition that leaves a portion of property capable of further division.  Graphic #2 of Slide 20 
describes a type of concept plan an applicant for Partition might provide the city for this purpose.  
 
When only one of three parcels is later divided (as Graphic #3 for Lot 3 shows) public utilities 
(water / sewer) are extended where currently stubbed, but a full street section (with sidewalk, 
curb and landscape strip) is only constructed within the lot boundary of Lot 3.  Full / remaining 
street improvements of the street extension are completed later (TBD) when Lots 1 and 2 are 
divided consistent with the master / concept plan in the middle graphic (#2). 
 
Q:  If no changes are introduced to the AH zone now, at what point (via future study or otherwise) 

would changes be proposed? 
 
In short reply to the question above, future holistic changes to the AH zone are most likely to 
occur after the city has conducted Housings Needs Analysis (HNA) as described by state law.  The 
city can initiate HNA at any time, but DLCD advises not to start until a new regional forecast 
methodology (underway) is adopted.  
 
Statewide Planning Goal 10 requires cities to inventory buildable lands inside Urban Growth 
Boundaries (UGB) to ensure enough land is planned and zoned to accommodate housing needs 
over a period of 20 years. Statutes and rules that implement Goal 10 describe HNA as the means 
and methodology for determining and forecasting the 20-year need.  A key component of this 
analysis is the Housing Production Strategy (HPS, described in ORS 197.290). 
 
HPS is a set of actions the city commits to ensure land is ready to serve the number units / housing 
types as forecasted.  One possible HPS action (depending on the outcome of HNA) is assignment 
of new urban / residential land use designations to all properties currently planned / zoned AH. 
Policy 3 of Goal 2 from the Carlton Comprehensive Plan (below) acknowledges a process to 
phase-out and assign new urban land use designations to properties planned / zoned AH. 
 
Policy 3  Initiate a process to phase out the Agricultural Holding designation. Assign new urban 

land use designations to areas that are currently within the Agricultural Holding 
District. Agricultural uses will still be allowed for areas outside city limits, but an urban 
zone district will be applied upon annexation. 

Page 88



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.9 
 

Where the second sentence of the above policy refers to “areas outside city limits” staff observes 
all properties planned and zoned AH to be within city limits.  As the city limit line and city UGB 
are the same, no other properties outside city limits are eligible for annexation currently.  
Through future HNA, land planned and zoned AH in the city / UGB will be studied. The question 
will be how much AH planned / zoned land should be assigned a new urban residential plan / 
zone designation(s) to meet housing needs as forecasted for the next 20 years. 
 
Why three acres for minimum lot size in AH?   
 
At the May 7 hearing, Council inquired about the staff-proposed change to minimum lot size. 
Staff observe the AH zone to set minimum land-per-animal ratios. These ratios (shown below) 
are not proposed for change.  Three (3) acres is the minimum shown for livestock and is presumed 
to be the basis for the staff recommendation. 

17.48.040 Limitations on use. 

A. The term "livestock", as used in this district, shall not include swine.  

B. No livestock shall be kept on parcels of less than three (3) acres.  

C. Poultry or bees shall not be kept on parcels of less than one acre.  

D. The total livestock permitted per parcel shall be limited to the square footage of the parcel 
divided by the minimum area required for each animal listed as follows:  

1. Livestock: twenty-five thousand (25,000) square feet per animal over six (6) months of 
age;  

2. Poultry: five hundred (500) square feet per animal;  

3. Bees: one thousand (1,000) square feet per colony.  

E. If a residence is located on a parcel described in subsection D of this section, the lot area 
per animal shall be in addition to a seven thousand five hundred (7,500) square foot per 
residence requirement.  

F. Animal shelters shall not be located closer than seventy (70) feet to an abutting street or 
non-agricultural district.  

 
Alternative 
Below is a proposed alternative for the Council to consider. Text shown highlighted in grey 
(below) indicates alternative / option. 
 
To summarize and clarify the recommendations specific to the AH zone, below is the staff-
recommended change. The Planning Commission recommendation is not to make this change 
(to keep as-is).   
 
Extract from Section 17.48.050 is shown below. 

Page 89



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.10 
 

17.48.050 Dimensional standards. 

****** 

 Minimum Lot Area  7,500 square feet 3 acres 

******  

 
 Alternative 

****** 

 Minimum Lot Area  7,500 square feet One acre 

******  

 
Applying the above alternative, lots created via future land division would need to be at least one 
acre in size (in AH).  A change to one acre for minimum lot size would allow for one residential 
dwelling to “carry out a use specific in subsection A…” (generally describing agricultural uses).   
 
Staff observe how one acre is the minimum necessary for poultry or bees (under limitations on 
use, 17.48.040).  Staff also observe how a lot size of 7,500 sq. ft., does not currently allow the 
keeping of certain animals to minimum areas required for each as described in 17.48.040.  
Therefore, according to existing code, if lot size in AH is at 7,500 sq. ft. the “harvesting of crops…” 
is permitted, but “…feeding, breeding, and management of livestock” is not. 
 
Along with the above alternative for minimum lot area at one acre, staff proposes another 
alternative that would allow land divisions in the AH zone (not prohibit).  Under this alternative, 
existing text shown struck through (below) would be retained and no there would be no added 
text as shown.  Below is the current staff proposed text change shown in Exhibit 1.   

17.48.060 Development standards. 

***** 
D. Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 

17.172. Land divisions shall be prohibited in the AH district. 

Staff-proposed alternative would retain existing (as text highlighted in grey shows retaining). 

D. Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 
17.172. 

At the continued hearing of June 4, staff will address the above topic in further detail.   
 
The next page shows the City Zoning and Comprehensive Plan maps.  Areas shown in green 
represent the extent of existing Agricultural Holding (planned and zoned) currently.   

Page 90



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.11 
 

 
 

  
 
 

Areas in green 
are planned AH. 

Areas in green 
are zoned AH. 

City limits 
& UGB are 
the same. 

City limits 
& UGB are 
the same. 

Page 91



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.12 
 

 
 
Procedure 
After the staff oral summary on June 4 and after questions from the Council, staff recommends 
re-opening the hearing to receive public testimony. Council deliberation follows.  If Council 
determines that all information is available and adequate for deciding on LA 2024-02, staff 
recommends a motion to approve.  
 
To help with the motion, the following table summarizes the three key topics discussed herein, 
and respective recommendations of the staff and Planning Commission. The right column 
summarizes the Alternative (explained herein) which is generally a hybrid of the staff, 
Commission and Council recommendations.  

Key Item Staff Recommendation Planning Commission 
Recommendation 

Alternative (proposal 
shown to this memo) 

Street Tree Spacing Neutral. Feedback from 
Council work session of 
May 5 identified 40-ft. 
between trees.   

25-ft. everywhere & 
anywhere a code 
standard is shown for 
tree spacing. 

To range from min. of 
25-ft. to max. of 40-
ft., based on mature 
spread of tree canopy 
and adjustable only if 
utility / safety issues. 

Open Space / 
Greenspace at 5% 

Set threshold at 28 lots 
or more, consistent 
with same # threshold 
identified for the mix of 
unit types applicable if 
28 lots are proposed. 

Do not set a threshold 
for min. # of lots 
within subdivisions, 
thereby subdivisions 
small as 4 lots are to 
provide open space. 

Set threshold for 14 
lots or more, as it 
would create a larger 
open space area; also 
add text to thwart the 
partition loophole. 

AH zone changes Increase min. lot size 
from 7,500 s. f. to 3 ac. 
& prohibit land division. 

No change to existing 
min. lot size & ability 
to divide property. 

Increase min. lot size 
to one acre.  Continue 
to allow land divisions 

 
Action Options 
 
For adoption: This action option (sample motion below) would require the motion maker to identify the 
key item (above) and corresponding recommendation.  Example: for 1) Street Tree Spacing – the 
Alternative, 2) for Open Space – the staff recommendation, and 3) for AH zone changes – the Commission 
recommendation. 
 

Sample motion for adoption:  I move to approve LA 2024-02 with all changes as shown in Exhibit 1, 
in addition to all changes shown in Exhibit 2, except for the following: 

a. For Street Tree Spacing…  [indicate the desired recommendation, above] 
b. For Open Space…  [indicate the desired recommendation, above] 
c.  For AH zone change …  [indicate the desired recommendation, above] 

 
 

Page 92



Staff Report for LA 2024-02 dated May 24, 2024 – Continued Public Hearing                           P.13 
 

For hearing continuance: 
 

Sample motion: I move to continue the hearing to a date / time certain of ____________________*  
 
                 *Avoids need for re-notice if date / time identified.  
 
There is also the action option of denial, but staff recommends continuing the hearing if matters are left 
unresolved and more information is desired. 
 
Exhibits 
To this memorandum, Exhibits 1 and 2 of the Staff Report dated April 30, 2024 are included.  
Exhibits 1 and 2 are proposed text changes subject to ordinance adoption.  The draft ordinance 
(included with the Staff Report dated April 30, 2024 and is labeled Exhibit 8 thereof) has been 
updated by the City Attorney and is included hereto if the Council chooses to approve the 
proposed amendments.  The draft Ordinance would be amended further based on the Council 
decision in response to the three key topics discussed herein and return for second reading. 
  

Exhibit 1 – Draft Carlton Development Code, February 26, 2024 
Division I – General Provisions 
Division II – Zoning and Development Provisions 
Division III – General Development Standards 
Division IV – Supplemental Standards for Special Uses 
Division V – General Standards 
Division VI – Application Requirements and Review Criteria  
Division VII – Administrative Procedures 

 
Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes 
  Part A.  Changes from Council/PAC feedback on 3-5-2024 
  Part B.  Additional staff-proposed, prior to hearing of 4-8-24 
  Part C.  Staff-proposed changes in reply to DLCD comments 
  Part D.  Changes by Planning Commission action on 4-8-24 (summary list below) 

1. 10-foot maximum perimeter setback for cottages 
2. Keep Type III subdivision preliminary plat review 
3. Apply 5% open space requirement to subdivisions of all sizes 
4. No changes to AH zone: retain existing 7,500-SF lot option and ability to subdivide 
5. Require bicycle parking spaces to be covered 
6. Require 25-ft maximum spacing for trees in all landscaping areas and for street trees 
7.  Vary species diversity requirement based on number of trees 

 

Exhibit 8 – Draft Ordinance prepared by City Attorney (updated) 
 

 

Not included with this memorandum are other exhibits to the record that were included with the 
Staff Report addressed to Council, dated April 30, 2024.  Also, at the hearing of May 7, staff 
acknowledged written testimony not included with April 30 report but received thereafter. As of 
the date of this memorandum (May 24) staff has not received additional written testimony. Any 
additional written testimony will be forwarded to the attention of the Council and entered to the 
record at the continued hearing of June 4. 
 

Page 93



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division I. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Chapter 17.04 TITLE AND PURPOSE 

17.04.010 Title. 

The ordinance codified in this title shall be known and may be referred to as the City of Carlton 
Development Code, 2000.  

17.04.020 Purpose. 

The ordinance codified in this title is enacted to:  

A. Implement the goals and policies of the City of Carlton, Comprehensive Plan 202300; June 
2001 (Reprint), as amended;  

B. Provide methods of administering and enforcing the provisions of this title; and  

C. Promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of the community.  

17.04.030 Conformance required. 

Except as provided by Section 17.128.060 Nonconforming Situations, the use of all land, as well as 
the construction, reconstruction, enlargement, structural alteration, movement, use, or occupation of 
any structure within the City of Carlton shall conform to the requirements of this title.  

17.04.040 Remedies for unlawful structures or land use. 

A. No person shall locate, construct, maintain, repair, alter, or use a building or other structure or use 
or transfer land in violation of this City of Carlton development code or any ordinance lawfully 
adopted by the City of Carlton.  

B. In the event a building or other structure is, or is proposed to be, located, constructed, maintained, 
repaired, altered, or used, or any land is, or is proposed to be, used, in violation of an ordinance or 
regulation designed to implement the City of Carlton Development Code, the City of Carlton or a 
person whose interest in real property in the city is or may be affected by the violation, may, in 
addition to other remedies provided by law, institute injunction, mandamus, abatement, stop 
order or other appropriate proceedings to prevent, temporarily or permanently enjoin, abate, or 
remove the unlawful location, construction, maintenance, repair, alteration or use.  

C. In addition to the enforcement provisions set forth in this development code, a person violating 
any of the provisions of this title may be cited into the City of Carlton Municipal Court, or any other 
court of competent jurisdiction to adjudicate such violation, and be subject to fines set by City 
Council Resolution for such violations.:  

1. Upon the first conviction thereof be punishable by a fine not to exceed the sum of one 
hundred fifty dollars ($150.00);  

2. Upon the second conviction thereof, be punishable by a fine not to exceed the sum of three 
hundred dollars ($300.00);  

Page 94



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. Upon the third or further conviction thereof, be punishable by a fine not to exceed the sum of 
three hundred dollars ($300.00), or by imprisonment for a period not to exceed thirty (30) 
days, or both.  

Each day's violation of any provision of this title shall constitute a separate offense, punishable as 
set forth in this section. The penalties imposed by this section are in addition to and not in lieu of any 
other remedies.  

17.04.050 Interpretation. 

The provisions of this title shall be interpreted as minimum requirements. Where this title imposes 
a greater restriction than is required by other provisions of law, or by other regulations, resolutions, 
easements, covenants or agreements between parties, the provisions of this title shall control. When 
there is doubt regarding the intent of this title as interpreted by the city staff, the Planning Commission 
may issue an interpretation of the question if they have first determined that such interpretation is 
within their power and is not a legislative act. The Planning Commission may request an interpretation 
of this title by the City Council.  

17.04.060 Severability. 

The provisions of this title are severable. Should any section, clause, or provision of this title be 
adjudged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, that decision shall not affect the validity of any 
remaining portion of the title.  

17.04.070 Conflicting ordinances. 

City of Carlton Ordinance No. 350 as amended, zone code; Ordinance No. 549 as amended, 
subdivision code; Ordinance No. 473 and all other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 
are hereby repealed.  

  

Page 95



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.08 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

17.08.010 Districts. 

For the purposes of this title, the incorporated area of the City of Carlton, Oregon, is hereby 
divided into the following zoning districts which implement the corresponding Carlton Comprehensive 
Plan land use map designations:  

 Plan Designation  Zoning District Name  Chapter  
Residential (Low Density)  Residential-Low Density (R-1)  17.20 
 Residential (Medium Density)  Residential-Medium Density (R-2)  17.22 
 Residential (Manufactured) Home Manufactured Home (MH)  17.24 
 Residential (High Density)  Residential-Medium High Density (R-3)  17.28 
 Commercial  Downtown (D) * 17.30 
 Commercial  Commercial Business (CB)  17.32 
 Commercial  Commercial Industrial (CI)  17.36 
 Industrial  General Industrial (IG)  17.40 
 Public Facility  Public Facility (PF)  17.44 
 Agricultural Holding Agricultural Holding (AH)  17.48 
 Mixed Density Residential Mixed Density Residential (MX) 17.52 

* The Downtown (D) zone includes three sub-districts, described in Chapter 17.30. 

For the purposes of this title, the following overlay zones are placed in certain areas of the City of 
Carlton:  

  Chapter  
Floodplain Management Overlay Zone (FP)  17.56 

 

17.08.020 Boundaries. 

A. The zoning district boundaries are shown on the official zoning map of the City of Carlton Zoning 
Map for 2000 as amended. This map is hereby made a part of this title by reference. Any future 
changes to the zoning of land within the City of Carlton that are approved under the provisions of 
this title shall be annotated on an amending zoning map.  

B. In interpreting the location of such boundaries on the zoning map, the Planning Commission shall 
rely on the City of Carlton, Comprehensive Plan 2000 Map, as amended, and the following 
guidelines for the location of zoning district boundaries; section lines; property lines; lot lines; 
center lines of streets, alleys, streams, or railroad rights-of-way; city boundaries; or other planning 
criteria determined appropriate by the Planning Commission. Any decision of the Planning 
Commission regarding the location of a zoning district boundary may be appealed to the City 
Council pursuant to the general procedures outlined for appeal requests in Chapter 17.204.  

C. Whenever any public right-of-way is lawfully vacated, and the lands formerly served as a land use 
district boundary, the lands formerly within the vacated right-of-way shall be allocated 
proportionately between the subject land use districts.  

 

Page 96



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.12 DEFINITIONS 

17.12.010 Grammatical interpretation. 

Words used in the masculine include the feminine, and feminine the masculine. Words used in the 
present tense include the future; the singular number includes the plural. The word "shall" is mandatory 
and not directory. The word "may" is permissive. All terms in this code have their commonly accepted, 
dictionary meaning unless they are specifically defined in the following section or the context in which 
they are used clearly indicates to the contrary.  

17.12.020 Definitions. 

The following words and phrases, when used in this title, shall have the meanings set forth in this 
section, except in those instances where the context clearly indicates a different meaning.  

"Access" means the way or means by which pedestrians and/or vehicles shall have safe, adequate 
and usable ingress and egress to property. A private access is an access not in public ownership and is 
controlled by means of deed, dedications or easement.  

"Access classification" means a ranking system for streets used to determine the appropriate 
degree of access management. Factors considered include functional classification, the adopted plan for 
the roadway, subdivision or abutting properties, and existing level of access control.  

"Access management" means the process of providing and managing access to land development 
while preserving the regional flow of traffic in term of safety, capacity, and speed.  

"Accessory structure" means a detached, subordinate building or portion of a main structure, the 
use of which is incidental to that of the main structure or to the use of the land.  

"Accessory use" means a use incidental, appropriate and subordinate to the main use of the parcel, 
lot or structure.  

"Addition" means a modification to an existing building or structure that increases the site 
coverage.  

"Adjoining" means contiguous or abutting, exclusive of street width. It shall include the terms 
adjacent, abutting, or contiguous.  

"Administrative review" means a decision affecting land use within the city that is based on the 
application and/or enforcement of existing standards contained in this title.  

Alteration, Structural. "Structural alteration" means any change in the exterior dimensions of a 
building or a change or repair that would affect or materially change a supporting member of a building, 
such as a bearing wall, column, beam, or girder.  

"Annexation" means the incorporation of a land area into the city with a resulting change in the 
boundaries of the city.  

"Appeal" means a request for a review of the decision-making authority's action on an application 
or interpretation.  

"Applicant" means the owner of record or contract purchaser who submits an application for 
approval of a permit or land use action.  

Page 97



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Area of special flood hazard" means the land in the floodplain subject to a one percent or greater 
chance of flooding in any given year.  

"Base flood" means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 
given year.  

"Basement" means that portion of a building between floor and ceiling that is partly below and 
partly above grade, but so located that the vertical distance from grade to the floor below is equal to or 
greater than the vertical distance from grade to ceiling. If such portion of a building is not a basement, it 
shall be considered a story.  

"Bed and breakfast" means a structure designed and occupied as a residence and in which sleeping 
rooms are provided on a daily or weekly basis for use by travelers or transients for a charge or fee paid 
for the rental or use of the facilities. An operator of a bed and breakfast must be a permanent, full time 
resident of the structure where the use takes place.  

"Bike lane" means a four to six-foot (6 ft.) portion of a roadway that has been designated by 
striping and pavement markings for the preferential or exclusive use of bicyclists.  

"Block" means a parcel of land bounded by three (3) or more streets, railroad rights-of-way, 
waterways, or combination thereof.  

"Boarding, lodging, or rooming house" means a building where lodging with or without meals is 
provided for compensation for not more than five (5) persons in addition to members of the family 
occupying such building.  

"Building" means a structure having a roof and built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of 
persons, animals, or property of any kind.  

"Building height" means the vertical distance from a reference datum measured to the highest 
point of the coping of a flat roof or the deck line of a mansard roof or to the average height of the 
highest gable of a pitched or hipped roof. The reference datum shall be selected by either of the 
following; whichever yields a greater height of building:  

1. The elevation of the highest adjoining sidewalk or ground surface within five-foot horizontal 
distance of exterior wall of building when such sidewalk or ground surface is not more than 
ten (10) feet above lowest grade.  

2. An elevation ten (10) feet higher than the lowest grade when the sidewalk or ground surface 
described in subsection (1) of this section is more than ten (10) feet above lowest grade. The 
height of a stepped or terraced building is the maximum height of any segment of the 
building.  

Page 98



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
"Building line" means a line established by plat or ordinance a certain distance from a lot line or 

the street right-of-way beyond which a building cannot extend. The equivalent of a setback line.  

"Building official" means an individual empowered by the City Council to administer and enforce 
the State Building Code (ORS 456.806 (1)).  

Building, Primary. "Primary building" means a building in which is conducted a principal or main 
use of the building site on which it is situated.  

"Building site" means a parcel, lot, or plot of land occupied or to be occupied by a principal use and 
accessory uses and/or building or group of buildings, which parcel, lot, or plot of land complies with all 
the requirements of this title relating to building sites.  

"Cabana" means a stationary structure that may be prefabricated or demountable, with two (2) or 
more walls, used in conjunction with a manufactured home to provide additional living space and meant 
to be moved with the manufactured home.  

"Campground" means a premises under one ownership where persons camp or live in any manner 
other than a permanent building constructed entirely of wood or more lasting materials, excepting a 
recreational vehicle park.  

"Carport" means a stationary structure consisting of a roof with its supports and not more than 
one wall or storage cabinet substituting for a wall and used for covering a vehicle parking space.  

"Cemetery" means land used or intended to be used for the burial of the dead, and dedicated for 
cemetery purposes, including a columbarium, crematory, mausoleum, or mortuary, when operated in 
conjunction with and within the boundary of such cemetery.  

"Change of use" means any use that differs from the previous use.  

“Child care center” means a childcare facility, other than a “family child care home,” that is 
certified under ORS 329A.280(3).  

"City" means the City of Carlton, Oregon.  

Page 99



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

“City Manager” means the person appointed by City Council to the position and duties described 
in Chapter 2.08 of the Carlton Municipal Code. 

"Clinic" means a facility for examination and treatment of human ailments by a group of 
physicians, dentists, or other licensed practitioners on an out-patient basis and not involving overnight 
housing of patients.  

"Club" means an organization, group, or association supported by the members thereof, the 
purpose of which is to render a service primarily for members and their guests, but shall not include any 
organization, group, or association the primary activity of which is to render a service customarily 
carried on as a business for profit.  

“Cottage cluster” means a grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units, located on a 
single lot or parcel that includes a common courtyard. Cottage cluster may also be known as “cluster 
housing,” “cottage housing,” “bungalow court,” “cottage court,” or “pocket neighborhood.”  

"Commercial retail marijuana" means all parts of the plant cannabis family cannabaceae, genus 
cannabis whether growing or not, and the seed of such plants.  

"Commercial retail marijuana facility" means a commercial retail marijuana facility licensed under 
Section 22, Chapter 1, Oregon Laws, 2015, that sells, distributes, transmits, gives, dispenses or otherwise 
provides medical marijuana to qualifying patients.  

"Commission" means the Planning Commission of the City of Carlton, Oregon.  

"Common area" means an area, feature, or building or other facility within a development 
designed and intended for the use or enjoyment of all occupants of the development or for the use and 
enjoyment of the general public.  

"Community building" means a publicly owned and operated facility used for meetings, recreation, 
or education.  

"Comprehensive plan" means the comprehensive plan of the City of Carlton, Oregon including all 
adopted supporting documents.  

"Conditional use" means a use that requires a conditional use permit. See Chapter 17.152.  

"Condominium" means property submitting to the provisions of ORS Chapter 100.  

"Conforming" means in compliance with the regulations of this title.  

"Conveyance" means the carrying capacity of all or a part of the floodplain. It reflects the quantity 
and velocity of floodwaters. Conveyance is measured in cubic feet per second (CFS). If the flow is thirty 
thousand (30,000) CFS at a cross section, this means that thirty thousand (30,000) cubic feet of water 
pass through the cross section each second.  

"Council" means the City Council of Carlton, Oregon.  

"Critical feature" means an integral and readily identifiable part of a flood protection system, 
without which the flood protection provided by the entire system would be compromised.  

"Cross access" means a service drive providing vehicular access between two or more contiguous 
sites so the driver need not enter the public street system.  

"Cultivation" means a location where marijuana is produced or cultivated for use by a medical 
marijuana qualifying patient including within a building, structure or premises used for the cultivation or 

Page 100



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

storage of medical marijuana that is physically separate and off site from a medical marijuana 
dispensary.  

"Day care facility" means an institution, establishment or place, not a part of a public school 
system, in which are commonly received three or more children, not of common parentage, under the 
age of fourteen (14) years, for a period not exceeding twelve (12) hours per day for the purpose of being 
given board, care, or training apart from their parents or guardians for compensation or reward. 

"Dedication" means the limited grant by a property owner allowing the use of property by the 
public for specified purposes.  

"Density" means the number of units per a given amount of land. Means a measure of the 
number of dwelling units per gross acre.  

“Density, gross” means density calculated including all buildable and unbuildable land such as 
streets, streams, slopes, open space, easements, and other rights-of-way. Generally expressed in units 
per gross acre. 

“Density, net” means density calculated excluding non-buildable land, such as streets, streams, 
slopes, open space, easements, and other rights-of-way. Generally expressed in units per net acre. 

"Development" means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including 
but not limited to buildings or other structures, drilling, and site alteration such as that due to grading, 
paving, or excavation.  

"Drive-through facility" means a drive-through use is a business activity involving buying or selling 
of goods or the provision of services where one of the parties conducts the activity from within a motor 
vehicle. Facilities usually associated with a drive through use are queuing lanes, service windows, and 
service islands for vehicular use.  

"Driveway" means a minor private way used by vehicles and pedestrians to gain access from an 
approved public access or right-of-way onto a lot or parcel of land.  

"Dwelling" means a structure or portion thereof that is used for human habitation including 
permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation.  

“Dwelling, Accessory” means an interior, attached, or detached residential structure that is used 
in connection with, or that is accessory to, a single-family dwelling and is located on the same lot.  

“Dwelling, Cottage” means an individual dwelling unit that is part of a cottage cluster.  

“Dwelling, Duplex or Two-Family” means a detached building containing two dwelling units on a 
single lot. designed exclusively for occupancy by two families living independently of each other.  

“Dwelling, Multi-Family” means a building containing three or more dwelling units on a single lot. 
designed for occupancy by three or more families living independently of each other.  

“Dwelling, Single-Family” means a detached building containing one dwelling unit on a single lot. 
designed exclusively for occupancy by one family.  

“Dwelling, Townhouse” means a dwelling unit constructed in a row of two or more attached 
units where each dwelling unit is located on an individual lot and shares at least one common wall 
with an adjacent unit, also commonly called a “single-family attached dwelling,” “row house” or 
“common-wall house.” 

Page 101



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Dwelling, Vacation Rental. "Vacation rental dwelling" means a dwelling unit, which is rented, or is 
available for rent on a daily or weekly basis or is advertised; or is listed with an agent as a vacation 
rental. See Chapter 17.125.  

"Dwelling unit" means one or more habitable rooms designed for occupancy by one family. means 
a single unit of one or more habitable rooms providing complete independent facilities for occupants, 
including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation. 

"Easement" means a grant of right to use an area of land for a specific purpose.  

"Eating and drinking establishment" means a retail service establishment where meals and/or 
beverages are prepared and served to the public generally for primarily indoor consumption on the 
premises.  

"Employees" means all persons normally working on the premises during the largest shift. The 
Planning Commission shall determine the estimated number of employees of a new business and the 
number of employees of an established business shall be determined from an examination of the 
payroll.  

"Encroachment" means any obstruction in the floodplain that affects flood flows.  

"Expedited land division" means a division of land as defined in ORS 197.360. 

"Face" means to front upon.  

"Family" means an individual or two (2) or more persons related by blood or marriage, including 
adopted children or those pending adoption, or a group of not more than five (5) persons who need not 
be related by blood or marriage living as one housekeeping unit.  

"Family Child Care Home" means a child care facility in a dwelling that is caring for not more than 
16 children and is certified under ORS 329A.280(2) or is registered under ORS 329A.330.provides care 
for not more than sixteen (16) children in a home. See ORS 657A.440(4) for applicable requirements.  

"Farming" means the use of land for purposes defined in ORS Chapter 215.  

"Fence" means an unroofed barrier or an unroofed enclosing structure or obstruction constructed 
of any materials including but not limited to, wire, wood, cement, brick, and plastic.  

Fence, Sight-Obscuring. "Sight-obscuring fence" means a fence or evergreen planting arranged in 
such a way as to obstruct vision. The example above at left is partially (approximately fifty (50) percent) 
sight obscuring, and the example above at right (e.g., solid wood, vinyl, etc.) is fully sight obscuring. 
Under either example, if the fence were constructed at less than four (4) feet in height it would not be 
considered sight-obscuring.  

 
"Flood" or "flooding." means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation 

of normally dry land areas from the unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from 
any source. See Chapter 17.56. 

Page 102



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Flood insurance rate map (FIRM)" means the official map on which the Federal Insurance 
Administration has delineated both the areas of special flood hazards (floodplain) and the risk premium 
zones.  

"Flood Insurance Study (FIS)" means the official report provided by the Federal Insurance 
Administration that includes flood profiles, the flood boundary-floodway map, and the water surface 
elevation of the base flood.  

"Floodplain" means lands that are subject to a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any 
given year or a regional flood.  

"Floodproofing" means a combination of structural or non-structural provisions, changes, or 
adjustments to structures, land or waterways for the reduction or elimination of flood damage to 
properties, water and sanitary facilities, structures and contents of buildings in a flood hazard area.  

"Floodway" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that 
must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface 
elevation more than one (1) foot.  

"Floodway fringe" means the area of a floodplain lying outside of the floodway, but subject to 
periodic inundation.  

"Floor area" means the gross horizontal area under a roof of all floors of a building, measured from 
the exterior faces of the exterior walls or from the centerline of walls separating two buildings, but not 
including:  

1. Attic space providing headroom of less than seven (7) feet;  

2. Basement, if the floor above is less than six (6) feet above grade;  

3. Uncovered steps or fire escapes;  

4. Private garages, carports, or porches;  

5. Accessory water towers or cooling towers;  

6. Off-street parking or loading spaces.  

"Food cart" means the sale of food and/or non-alcoholic beverages from an enclosed mobile unit 
located on private property which is used for the purpose of preparing, processing or converting food 
for immediate consumption as a drive-in or walk-up service. Examples include trailers designed to 
prepare and serve food but does not include outdoor barbecue grills, street vendors. Exceptions include:  

1. Residential lemonade stands and similar short-term sales associated with residential uses, 
and  

2. Temporary uses that last less than seven days in a calendar year that are directed toward a 
specific event.  

"Frontage" means that dimension of a property that abuts a public or private street right-of-way.  

"Functional area (intersection)" means that area beyond the physical intersection of two (2) streets 
that comprises decision and maneuver distance, plus any required vehicle storage length.  

"Functional classification" means a system used to group public roadways into classes according to 
their purpose in moving vehicles and providing access.  

Page 103



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Garage, Private. "Private garage" means an accessory building or portion of a main building used 
for the parking or temporary storage of automobiles in which no business, occupation, or service is 
provided.  

Garage, Public. "Public garage" means a building, other than a private garage, used for the care, 
repair, or equipping of motor vehicles, or where such vehicles are parked or stored for compensation, 
hire, or sale.  

"Grade" means the average elevation of the finished ground at the centers of all walls of a building, 
except that if a wall is parallel to and within five (5) feet of a sidewalk, the sidewalk elevation opposite 
the center of the wall shall constitute the ground elevation.  

"Group care home" means a home or private institution maintained and operated for the care, 
boarding or training of one or more persons.  

"Guest house" means a detached accessory building used as sleeping quarters for guests of the 
occupants of the main dwelling on a noncommercial basis and having no cooking facilities.  

"Historic site" means a site or structure, generally fifty (50) years old or older, listed in the 
comprehensive land use plan as a historic or cultural resource. An inventory of properties done in 
conjunction with Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission Goal 5 to include and/or 
properties listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places established and maintained 
under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (P.L. 89-665); or a contributing property in a 
National Register Historic district, or property designated by local ordinance as an individual historic 
property or as a contributing property in a historic district and that the State Historic Preservation 
Officer (SHPO) finds is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places. Such designation is 
subject to the provisions of ORS 197.772.  

"Home occupation" means a lawful occupation carried on by a resident of a dwelling as a 
secondary use within the same dwelling. The residential character of the property is maintained in a 
manner as not to give an outward appearance nor manifest any characteristic of a business in the 
ordinary meaning of the term. A home occupation shall not include the outside storage of equipment or 
materials.  

"Homeowners association" means an association operating under recorded land agreements 
through which each lot owner of a planned development, condominium development, subdivision or 
other described land are automatically subject to a charge for a proportionate share of the expenses for 
the organization's activities, such as maintaining a common property.  

"Hospital" means an establishment that provides sleeping and eating facilities to persons receiving 
medical, obstetrical, or surgical care with nursing service on a continuous basis.  

"Hotel" means any building in which lodging is provided to guests for compensation and in which 
no provision is made for cooking in individual rooms.  

"Improvement" means any permanent structure that becomes part of, placed upon, or is affixed to 
property.  

"Industrial" means any enterprise involving the manufacturing, processing, or assembly of semi-
finished or finished products from raw materials or similar treatment or packaging of previously 
prepared materials.  

"Infusion" means a facility or business that incorporates marijuana (cannabis) by means of cooking, 
blending, or incorporation into consumable/edible goods.  

Page 104



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Joint access (or shared access)" means a driveway connecting two (2) or more contiguous sites to 
the public street system.  

"Junk yard" means the use of more than two hundred (200) square feet of the area of any lot for 
the storage of salvage materials, including scrap metals or other scrap materials, or for the dismantling 
or "wrecking" of automobiles or other vehicles or machinery, whether or not such uses are conducted as 
a business for profit or otherwise.  

"Kennel" means any lot or premises, on which four (4) or more dogs and/or cats over the age of six 
(6) months are kept for sale, lease, boarding, or training.  

"Land division" means the process of dividing land to create lots or parcels.  

"Livestock" means domestic animals of types customarily raised or kept on farms.  

"Loading space" means an off-street space on the same lot with a building, or contiguous to a 
group of buildings, used for the temporary parking of a commercial vehicle while loading or unloading 
merchandise or materials, and which abuts upon a street, alley or other appropriate means of access.  

"Lot" means a unit of land created by a subdivision or partitioning of land. Except where otherwise 
stated, the term "lot" includes the term "parcel."  

Lot, Corner. "Corner lot" means a parcel abutting on two (2) intersecting streets, other than an 
alley. In the event a street front lot line is a curve at its point of intersection with a side lot line, the 
tangent to the curve at that point shall be considered the direction of the front lot line.  

Lot, Flag. "Flag lot" means a parcel of land taking access by a relatively narrow strip of land 
between the major portion of the parcel and the point of public access to the parcel, all of which is in 
the same ownership or title.  

Lot, Interior. "Interior lot" means a parcel other than a corner lot.  

Lot, Through. "Through lot" means an interior lot having frontage on two (2) streets.  

"Lot area" means the total area of a parcel, measured in a horizontal plane within the boundary 
lines. For flag lots, the access strip shall not be included in lot area for the purposes of minimum lot area 
requirements of this title.  

 
"Lot coverage" means the portion of a parcel covered or occupied by buildings, roofed structures, 

and impervious paved surfaces.  

Page 105



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Lot depth" means the horizontal distance measured from the midpoint of the front lot line to the 
midpoint of the rear lot line.  

"Lot frontage" means the distance between the two (2) side lot lines measured at the minimum 
front setback line, parallel to the street line.  

Lot Line, Front. "Front lot line" means the property line separating the lot from a street, other than 
an alley. In the case of a corner lot, the shortest property line along a street, other than an alley.  

Lot Line, Rear. "Rear lot line" means a property line that is opposite and most distant from the 
front lot line. In the case of an irregular, triangular or other-shaped lot, a line ten (10) feet in length 
within the lot, parallel to and at a maximum distance from the front lot line.  

Lot Line, Side. "Side lot line" means any property line that is not a front or rear lot line.  

"Lot line adjustment" means the relocation of a common property line between two (2) abutting 
properties that does not involve the creation of a new lot or parcel.  

"Lot of record" means a lawfully created lot or parcel established by plat, deed, or contract as duly 
recorded in Yamhill County property records.  

"Lot width" means the average horizontal distance between the side lot lines, ordinarily measured 
parallel to the front lot line.  

"Lowest floor" means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area, including basement, of a 
building or structure. For purposes of Chapter 17.56, Floodplain Management Overlay Zone only, an 
unfinished or flood resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage, 
in an area other than a basement area, is not considered a building's lowest floor.  

"Manufactured home" means a structure constructed for movement on the public highways that 
has sleeping, cooking and plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, that is being used 
for residential purposes and that was constructed in accordance with federal manufactured housing 
construction and safety standards and regulations in effect at the time of construction. 

1. A residential trailer, a structure constructed for movement on the public highways that has 
sleeping, cooking and plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, that is being used for 
residential purposes and that was constructed before January 1, 1962.  

2. A mobile home, a structure constructed for movement on the public highways that has sleeping, 
cooking and plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, that is being used for residential 
purposes and that was constructed between January 1, 1962 and June 15, 1976, and met the 
construction requirements of Oregon mobile home law in effect at the time of construction.  

3. A manufactured home, a structure with a Department of Housing and Urban Development label 
certifying that the structure is constructed in accordance with the National Housing Construction and 
Safety Standards Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5401 et seq.), as amended August 22, 1981 and constructed 
after June 15, 1976.  

“Manufactured dwelling” means a residential trailer, mobile home, prefabricated structure, or 
manufactured home. A manufactured dwelling does not include any building or structure constructed 
to conform to the Oregon Structural Specialty Code or the One and Two Family Dwelling Code 
adopted pursuant to ORS 455.100 to 455.450 and 455.610 to 455.630, or any unit identified as a 
recreational vehicle by the manufacturer. 

Page 106



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Manufactured dwelling home park" means any place where four (4) or more manufactured 
homes are located within five hundred (500) feet of one another on a lot, tract, or parcel of land under 
the same ownership, the primary purpose of which is to rent or lease space or keep space for rent or 
lease to any person for a charge or fee paid or to be paid for the rental, lease, or use of facilities or to 
offer space free in connection with securing the trade or patronage of such person. Manufactured 
dwelling park does not include a lot or lots located within a subdivision being rented or leased for 
occupancy by no more than one manufactured dwelling per lot. 

"Marginal access street" means a public or private drive that generally parallels a public street 
between the right-of-way and the front building setback line. The marginal access street provides access 
to private properties while separating them from the arterial street.  

"Master plan" means a sketch or other presentation showing the ultimate location of lot lines and 
other details of layout such that future division may readily be made without violating the requirements 
of this title. It is intended that the lot lines and other details of future subdivision or partition be 
advisory only, and shall not be binding on the applicant or city; however, any restriction of building 
within future street locations may be imposed and be set forth in recorded deed restrictions.  

"Medical marijuana" means all parts of the genus cannabis whether growing or not, and the seed 
of such plants that may be administered to treat or alleviate a qualifying patient's debilitating medical 
condition or symptoms associated with the patient's debilitating medical condition.  

"Medical marijuana dispensary" means a medical marijuana facility registered by the Oregon 
Health Authority under ORS 475.300 to 475.346 and that sells, distributes, transmits, gives, dispenses or 
otherwise provides medical marijuana to qualifying patients.  

"Medical marijuana qualifying patient" means a registry identification cardholder (person who has 
been diagnosed by a physician as having a debilitating medical condition) as further defined by ORS 
475.302(3) or the designated primary caregiver of the cardholder as defined by ORS 475.302(5).  

"Mini-warehouse storage" means an area or areas located within an enclosed building or structure 
designed and intended to be used for the rental of storage units to individuals for the safekeeping of 
personal items.  

“Mobile home” means a structure constructed for movement on the public highways that has 
sleeping, cooking and plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, that is being used for 
residential purposes and that was constructed between January 1, 1962, and June 15, 1976, and met 
the construction requirements of Oregon mobile home law in effect at the time of construction. 

"Modular or prefabricated home" means a dwelling unit whose components are assembled and 
brought to the site and erected. The dwelling unit is intended and designed to be placed upon a 
permanent foundation and substantial construction is needed before it is complete and ready for 
permanent occupancy. The Uniform Building Code (UBC) regulates modular or prefabricated homes.  

"Motel" means a building or group of buildings on the same lot containing rooms designed for 
lodging, with or without cooking facilities, which are available for rent and in which each lodging unit is 
separate. The term includes auto courts, tourist courts, tourist homes, and motor lodges.  

"New construction" means any remodeling of an existing structure, any construction of a new 
structure, or any placement of a manufactured home or building requiring a building or placement 
permit initiated on or after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this title.  

Page 107



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Nonconforming structure or use" means a lawfully existing structure or use at the time this title or 
any amendments thereto becomes effective, which does not conform to the requirements of the zone 
in which it is located.  

"Nursing home" means any home, place or institution which operates and maintains facilities 
providing convalescent or nursing care, or both, for a period exceeding twenty-four (24) hours for two 
(2) or more ill or infirm patients not related to the nursing home administrator, or owner, by blood or 
marriage. Convalescent care may include, but is not limited to, the procedures commonly employed in 
nursing and caring for the sick and includes rest homes and convalescent homes, but does not include a 
boarding home for the aged, a retirement home, hotel, hospital, or a chiropractic facility licensed under 
Oregon Revised Statutes.  

"NWI/LWI Maps" means a National Wetland Inventory (NWI) Map or, if available, a Local Wetland 
Inventory (LWI).  

"Official zoning map" means the map or maps upon which the zoning districts in the City of Carlton 
are indicated.  

"Outdoor storage" means the keeping, not within a building, of any goods, junk, material, 
merchandise or vehicles in the same place for more than twenty-four (24) hours.  

"Owner" means the owner of record of real property as shown on the latest tax rolls or deed 
records of Yamhill County, and includes a person who furnishes evidence that they are purchasing a 
parcel of property under a written recorded or unrecorded land sale contract.  

Parking Area, Private. "Private parking area" means an open area, building or structure, other than 
a street or alley, used for the parking of the automobiles of residents and guests of a building.  

Parking Area, Public. "Public parking area" means an open area, building or structure, other than a 
private parking area, street or alley, used for the parking of automobiles and other motor vehicles, and 
available for use by persons patronizing a particular building or establishment.  

"Parking space" means an enclosed or unenclosed surfaced area, exclusive of maneuvering and 
access area, permanently reserved for the temporary storage of an automobile and connected with a 
street or alley by a surfaced driveway that affords ingress and egress for automobiles.  

"Partition" means to divide an area or tract of land into two (2) or three (3) parcels within a 
calendar year when such area or tract of land exists as a unit or contiguous units of land under single 
ownership at the beginning of such year. "Partition" does not include:  

1. Divisions of land resulting from lien foreclosures, divisions of land resulting from contracts for 
the sale of real property, and divisions of land resulting from the creation of cemetery lots; or  

2. A sale or grant by a person to a public agency or public body for state highway, county road, 
or other right-of-way purposes provided that such road or right-of-way complies with the 
applicable comprehensive plan and ORS 215.213(2)(q) to (s) and 215.283(2)(p) to (r).  

"Pedestrian circulation system" means pedestrian connection(s) between entrance(s) of the 
proposed development and adjacent street(s), the parking area, and the existing or future development 
on adjacent properties.  

"Pedestrian connection" means a continuous, unobstructed, reasonably direct route between two 
(2) points that is intended and suitable for pedestrian use. Pedestrian connections include but are not 
limited to sidewalks, walkways, accessways, stairways and pedestrian bridges. On developed parcels, 
pedestrian connections are generally hard surfaced. In parks and natural areas, pedestrian connections 

Page 108



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

may be soft-surfaced pathways. On undeveloped parcels intended for redevelopment, pedestrian 
connections may also include right-of-way or easements for future pedestrian improvements.  

"Pedestrian facilities" means improvements that provide for public pedestrian foot traffic including 
sidewalks, walkways, crosswalks and other improvements, such as lighting or benches, which provide 
safe, convenient and attractive walking conditions.  

"Pedestrian plaza" means a small semi-enclosed area usually adjoining a sidewalk or a transit stop 
that provides a place for pedestrians to sit, stand, or rest. They are usually paved with concrete, paving 
stones or similar material and include seating, pedestrian scale lighting and similar improvements. Low 
walls or planters and landscaping are usually provided to create a semi-enclosed space and to buffer and 
separate the plaza from adjoining parking lots and vehicle maneuvering areas.  

"Pedestrian scale lighting" means light standards or placement no greater than fourteen (14) feet 
in height located along walkways.  

"Pedestrian way" means a right-of-way for pedestrian traffic.  

"Permit" means any form of written approval pertaining to the use of land.  

"Permitted use" means any use allowed in a zoning district and subject to the restrictions 
applicable to that zoning district as provided in the development code.  

"Person" means every natural person, firm, partnership, association, social or fraternal 
organization, corporation, estate, trust, receiver, syndicate, branch of government, or any other group 
or combination acting as a unit.  

"Place of worship" means a church, synagogue, temple, mosque, chapel, meeting house or other 
nonresidential place used for activities customarily associated with the practices of the religious activity, 
including worship services, religion classes, weddings, funerals, child care and meal programs.  

"Planned unit development" means a type of development of a site that, as a single project, is 
based on a design that incorporates all elements of land, structures and uses in conformance with the 
applicable standards of this title.  

"Planning Commission" means the Planning Commission of Carlton, Oregon.  

"Plat" means the final map which is a diagram, drawing, re-plat or other writing containing all the 
descriptions, locations, specifications, dedications, provisions, and information concerning a subdivision 
or partition.  

"Portable accessory structure" means a structure intended for the shelter or storage of self-
propelled vehicles, which is comprised of a self-supporting assemblage of material and is not 
permanently attached to a footing and foundation in compliance with the Uniform Building Code.  

“Prefabricated structure” means a prefabricated structure, as defined in ORS 455.010, that is 
relocatable, more than eight and one-half feet wide and designed for use as a single-family dwelling. 

"Professional office" means an office occupied by an accountant, architect, artist, attorney-at-law, 
professional engineer, land surveyor, land use planner, insurance agent, real estate broker, landscape 
architect, or practitioner of the human healing arts, or other professional business similar in type, scale 
and character.  

"Quasi-judicial review" means an action or decision that requires substantial discretion or 
judgment in applying the standards or criteria of this title.  

Page 109



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Ramada" means a stationary structure having a roof extending over a manufactured home, which 
may also extend over a patio or parking space and is used principally for protection from the elements.  

"Recreational vehicle" means a vacation trailer or other vehicular or portable unit which is either 
self-propelled, towed or is carried by a motor vehicle and which is intended for temporary human 
occupancy and is designed for vacation or recreational purposes but not residential use.  

"Recreational vehicle park" means any area operated and maintained for the purposes of parking 
or providing space for overnight use by recreational vehicles.  

"Remodeling" means any structural improvement or addition made to an existing structure which 
adds more than twenty (20) percent to the useable floor area; or adds more than five hundred (500) 
square feet to the useable floor area; or which permit value exceeds thirty-five (35) percent of the 
current year assessed improvement value.  

"Reserve strip" means a strip of land, usually one foot in width, deeded to the city, reserved across 
the end of a street or alley at the boundary of a subdivision or partition; or a strip of land deeded to the 
city between a dedicated street and adjacent property; in either case reserved or held by the city for 
future street extension or widening, or to prohibit access from property adjacent to a street.  

"Residential care facility" means a residential care, residential training or residential treatment 
facility, as those terms are defined in ORS 443.400, that provides residential care alone or in 
conjunction with treatment or training or a combination thereof for six to 15 individuals who need not 
be related. Staff persons required to meet licensing requirements shall not be counted in the number 
of facility residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of the residential care 
facility. means a facility licensed by or under the authority of the Department of Human Resources 
under ORS 443.400 to 443.460 which provides residential care alone or in conjunction with treatment or 
training or a combination thereof for six to fifteen (15) individuals who need not be related. Staff 
persons required meeting Department of Human Resources licensing requirements shall not be counted 
in the number of facility residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of the 
residential facility.  

"Residential home" means a residential treatment or training home, as defined in ORS 443.400 
(Definitions for ORS 443.400 to 443.455), a residential facility registered under ORS 443.480 
(Definitions for ORS 443.480 to 443.500) to 443.500 (Investigation of registered facilities) or an adult 
foster home licensed under ORS 443.705 (Definitions for ORS 443.705 to 443.825) to 443.825 
(Disposition of penalties recovered) that provides residential care alone or in conjunction with 
treatment or training or a combination thereof for five or fewer individuals who need not be related. 
Staff persons required to meet licensing requirements shall not be counted in the number of facility 
residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of the residential home. means a 
home licensed by or under the authority of the Department of Human Resources under ORS 443.400 to 
443.825 that provides residential care alone or in conjunction with treatment or training or a 
combination thereof for five or fewer individuals who need not be related. Staff persons required to 
meet Department of Human Resources licensing requirements shall not be counted in the number of 
facility residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of the residential facility.  

“Residential trailer” means a structure constructed for movement on the public highways that 
has sleeping, cooking and plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, that is being used 
for residential purposes and that was constructed before January 1, 1962. 

Page 110



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Retail cultivation" means a location where commercial retail marijuana is produced or cultivated 
including within a building, structure or premises used for the cultivation or storage of commercial retail 
marijuana that is physically separate and off site from a commercial retail marijuana facility.  

"Retail trade" means the process of selling to the consumer for direct consumption and not for 
resale.  

"Right-of-way" means land that is owned in fee simple by the public and usually used for 
transportation facilities.  

School, Elementary; Middle School or High School. "Elementary school, middle school or high 
school" means an institution public or parochial, offering instruction in the several branches of learning 
and study, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the State Department of Education.  

School, Trade or Commercial. "Trade or commercial school" means a building where the instruction 
is given to pupils for a fee in money or otherwise, which fee is the principal reason for the existence of 
the school.  

"Service station" means any lot used primarily for the retail sales of motor vehicle fuels and 
lubricants for delivery on premises, and minor automobile repair and service.  

"Setback" means the distance between a specified lot line and the foundation or exterior wall of a 
building or structure.  

"Sign" means any writing, including letter, word, or numeral; pictorial presentation, including 
mural, illustration or decoration; emblem, including device, symbol or trademark; flag, including banner 
or pennant; or any other device, figure or similar thing which is a structure or any part thereof, or is 
attached to, painted on, or in any other manner represented on a building or structure or device; and is 
used to announce, direct attention to, or advertise; and is visible from any public right-of-way. Sign does 
not include house numbers. For purposes of Chapter 17.80, the following definitions apply:  

1. "Alteration" means any change in the size, shape, or method of illumination, position, 
location, construction, or supporting structure of a sign. A change in sign copy or sign face 
alone, including replacement of damaged or worn materials with like materials, shall not be 
considered an alteration.  

2. "Area" means the area of a sign shall be the entire area within any type of perimeter or 
border which encloses the outer limits of any writing, representation, emblem, figure, or 
character. If the sign is enclosed in a frame or cabinet the area is based on the inner 
dimensions of the frame or cabinet surrounding the sign face. When a sign is on a base 
material and attached without a frame, such as a wood board or Plexiglas panel, the 
dimensions of the base material are to be used. The area of a sign having no such perimeter, 
border, or base material shall be computed by enclosing the entire area within a 
parallelogram or a triangle of the smallest size sufficient to cover the entire message of the 
sign and computing the area of the parallelogram or a triangle. For the purpose of computing 
the number of signs, all writing included within such a border shall be considered one sign, 
except for multi-faced signs on a single sign structure, which shall be counted as one sign per 
structure. The area of multi-faced signs shall be calculated by including the total area of all 
sign faces.  

3. "Awning" means a shelter supported entirely from the exterior wall of a building and 
composed of non-rigid materials, except for the supporting framework.  

Page 111



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

4. "Building face" means the single wall surface of a building facing a given direction.  

5. "Building frontage" means the portion of a building face most closely in alignment with an 
adjacent right-of-way or fronting a parking lot when so defined. A service station may use the 
overhanging canopy as a substitute for building frontage when computing the allowable sign 
area. The longest side of the canopy shall be used to compute the allowable sign area.  

6. "Canopy sign" means a sign hanging from a canopy or eaves, at any angle relative to the 
adjacent wall, the lowest portion of which is at least eight (8) feet above the underlying 
grade.  

7. "Flashing sign" means a sign any part of which pulsates or blinks on and off, except time and 
temperature signs and message signs allowed by conditional use.  

8. "Freestanding sign" means a sign supported by one or more uprights, poles or braces placed 
in or upon the ground, or a sign supported by any structure primarily for the display and 
support of the sign.  

9. "Incidental signs" means a sign that is normally incidental to the allowed use of the property, 
but can contain any message or content. Such signs can be used for, but are not limited to, 
nameplate signs, warning or prohibition signs, and directional signs not otherwise allowed.  

10. "Indirect illumination" means a source of illumination directed toward such sign so that the 
beam of light falls upon the exterior surface of the sign.  

11. "Internal illumination" means a source of illumination from within a sign.  

12. "Message sign" means a sign that can change its message electronically and is designed to 
display various messages, including but not limited to signs displaying time and temperature.  

13. "Monument sign" means a square or rectangular sign that sits directly on the ground without 
pole or uprights.  

14. "Multi-faced sign" means a sign that has two or more sign faces, contained in a single sign 
structure.  

15. "Mural" means an illustration (with or without words or numbers) that is painted or 
otherwise applied (without projections) to an outside wall of a structure.  

16. "Nonconforming sign" means any sign that lawfully exists prior to the effective date of the 
ordinance codified in this title but which due to the requirements adopted herein, no longer 
complies with the height, area and placement regulations or other provisions of these 
regulations.  

17. "Owner" means as used in these regulations, "owner" means owner or lessee of the sign. If 
the owner or lessee of the sign cannot be determined, then "owner" means owner or 
purchaser of the land on which the sign is placed.  

18. "Official sign" means a sign erected by a governmental agency or its designee, setting forth 
information pursuant to law.  

19. "Portable sign" means any sign that is not originally designed, regardless of any subsequent 
modification, to be permanently affixed to a building, structure, or the ground. These signs 
primarily include, but are not limited to, A-frame or sandwich board signs; signs attached to 
wood or metal frames and designed to be self-supporting and movable, including trailer 

Page 112



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

mounted reader boards. Portable signs are considered temporary signs as defined and used in 
this title.  

20. "Projecting sign" means a sign the face of which is not parallel to the wall on which it is 
mounted, projecting more than eight (8) inches from a structure.  

21. "Real estate sign" means a sign for the purpose of rent, lease, sale, etc. of real property, 
building opportunities, or building space.  

22. "Roof line" means either the eaves of the roof or the top of the parapet, at the exterior wall. 
(A "mansard roof" is below the top of a parapet and is considered a wall for sign purposes.)  

23. "Roof sign" means a sign or any portion of which is displayed above the highest point of the 
roof, whether or not such sign also is a wall sign.  

24. "Rotating/revolving sign" means a sign, all or a portion of which, moves in some manner.  

25. "Sign face" means surface of a sign containing the message. The sign face shall be measured 
as set forth in the definition for "sign area."  

26. "Sign height" is measured from the grade of the curb line lowest to the base of the sign to the 
highest portion of the sign, sign structure or frame; whichever is greater highest point of the 
sign. In the absence of a curb line, the edge of the street pavement shall be used. In the 
absence of street pavement, the ground level shall be used to measure the height.  

27. "Sign structure" means the supports, uprights, braces, framework and other structural 
components of the sign.  

28. "Temporary sign" means a sign not permanently affixed to a structure on a property. These 
signs primarily include, but are not limited to, canvas, cloth, or paper banners or posters hung 
on a building wall or on a permanent pole such as on a freestanding sign support.  

29. "Wall sign" means a sign attached to, erected against or painted on a wall of a building or 
structure, with the exposed face of the sign in a plane approximately parallel to the face of 
said wall and not projecting more than eight (8) inches. A sign painted on an awning in which 
the face of the sign is approximately parallel to the wall shall also be considered a wall sign.  

"Significant change in trip generation" means a change or expansion in the use of property, land, 
structures or facilities causing an increase in the trip generation of the property exceeding: (1) local: ten 
(10) percent more trip generation (either peak or daily) and one hundred (100) vehicles per day more 
than the existing use for all roads under local jurisdiction; or (2) state: exceeding twenty-five (25) 
percent more trip generation (either peak or daily) and one hundred (100) vehicles per day more than 
the existing use for all roads under state jurisdiction.  

Space, Manufactured Home. "Manufactured home space" means an area reserved exclusively for 
the use of a single manufactured home.  

"Start of construction" means the date a building permit is issued, provided that the actual start of 
construction, repair, reconstruction, placement or other improvement occurs within one hundred eighty 
(180) days of the permit date.  

"Story" means that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the 
upper surface of the floor next above, except that the top-most story shall be that portion of a building 
included between the upper surface of the top-most floor and the ceiling or roof above. If the finished 

Page 113



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

floor level directly above a basement or cellar is more than six (6) feet above grade as defined herein, 
such basement or cellar shall constitute a story.  

"Street" means the entire width between the boundary lines of a public or private way of travel for 
the purpose of providing ingress and egress for vehicular and pedestrian traffic and the placement of 
utilities to one or more lots, parcels, areas, or tracts of land. A private way is excluded that is created to 
provide ingress and egress to land in conjunction with the use of such land for forestry, mining, or 
agricultural purposes.  

1. "Alley" means a thoroughfare not more than twenty (20) feet and not less than ten (10) feet 
in width, which has been dedicated or deeded to the public for public use providing a 
secondary means of access to abutting property.  

2. "Arterial" means a street of considerable continuity that is used primarily for through traffic 
and interconnection between major areas and designated on the current Carlton 
comprehensive plan.  

3. "Boundary" means a street that abuts the boundary of a development or site of a land use 
action.  

4. "Collector" means a street supplementary to the arterial street system, used partly by 
through traffic and partly for access to abutting properties and designated on the current 
Carlton comprehensive plan.  

5. "Cul-de-sac (dead-end)" means a short street with one end open to traffic and the other 
terminated by a vehicle turn-around.  

6. "Frontage road" means a service road public or private drive parallel and adjacent to an 
arterial street providing access to abutting properties, but protected from through traffic.  

7. "Local access street" means a street intended primarily for access to abutting properties, but 
protected from through traffic.  

8. "Private street" means a street or right-of-way serving a subdivision or planned unit 
development that is not dedicated to the public or accepted by the city.  

"Structural alteration" means any change to the supporting members of a structure, including 
foundation bearing walls or partitions, columns, beams or girders, or any structural change in the roof or 
in the exterior walls.  

"Structure" means that which is built or constructed, an edifice or building of any kind, or a piece of 
work artificially built up or composed of parts joined together in some definite manner.  

"Stub-out (stub-street)" means a portion of a street or cross access drive used as an extension to 
an abutting property that may be developed in the future.  

"Subdivision" means to divide a tract of land into four or more lots within a single calendar year 
when such land exists as a unit or contiguous units under a single ownership at the beginning of the 
year.  

"Substantial improvement" means the cost of any repair, reconstruction or improvement of a 
structure equal to or greater than fifty (50) percent of its market value before such alteration occurred.  

"Tax lot" means a lot designation created by the county assessor for the purpose of levying 
property taxes.  

Page 114



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 22 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

"Temporary use" means a use that is: (1) seasonal or directed toward a specific event; or (2) 
occasioned by an unforeseen event.  

Trailer (Travel or Vacation). See "Recreational vehicle."  

Travel Trailer Parks. See "Campground" or "Recreational vehicle park."  

"Unstable soil" means any soil type, as defined by the U.S. Natural Resources Conservation Service 
and identified in the comprehensive plan, which has severe limitations for development due to potential 
flooding, erosion, structural instability or inadequate sewage waste disposal.  

"Urban growth boundary" means an adopted boundary around the city that defines the area in 
which the city expects to grow, where public facilities will be extended, and where joint planning 
responsibilities are exercised with Yamhill County.  

"Use" means the purpose for which land or a structure is designed, arranged, or intended, or for 
which it is occupied or maintained.  

"Veterinary clinic" means a facility designed to contain treatment and temporary care facilities for 
the cure and prevention of ailments or injuries of domestic animals, including both domestic pets and 
farm animals, under the direction of a licensed veterinarian.  

"Vision clearance area" means a triangular area on a lot at the intersection of two (2) streets or a 
street and a railroad, two (2) sides of which are lines measured from the corner intersection of the right-
of-way lines. The third side of the triangle is a line across the corner of the lot joining the ends of the 
other two (2) sides. Where the lines at the intersections have rounded corners the right-of-way lines will 
be extended in a straight line to a point of intersection.  

"Visual obstruction" means any fence, hedge, tree, shrub, device, wall or structure between the 
elevations of three (3) and eight (8) feet above the adjacent curb height or above the elevation of the 
street edge where there is no curb, as determined by the city engineer, as so located at a street, drive, 
or alley intersection as to limit the visibility of pedestrians or persons in motor vehicles on said streets, 
drives, or alleys.  

"Walkway" means a right-of-way deeded, dedicated, and designated for the use of nonmotorized 
vehicles and pedestrians.  

"Warehouse" means a place for the safekeeping of goods and materials necessary for the 
functioning of an industrial or commercial enterprise.  

"Wholesale" means the bulk sale of goods for resale to a person other than the direct consumer.  

"Yard" means an open space on a lot that is unobstructed from the ground upward except as 
otherwise provided in this title.  

Yard, Front. "Front yard" means a yard extending across the full width of the lot, the depth of 
which is the minimum horizontal distance between the front lot line and a line parallel thereto at the 
nearest point of the foundation of the main structure.  

Yard, Rear. "Rear yard" means a yard extending across the full width of the lot, the depth of which 
is the minimum horizontal distance between the rear lot line and a line parallel thereto at the nearest 
point of the foundation of the main structure.  

Yard, Side. "Side yard" means a yard, between the main structure and the side lot line, extending 
from the front yard, or front lot line where no front yard is required, to the rear yard or the rear lot line 

Page 115



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 23 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

if no rear yard is required; the width of the required side yard shall be measured horizontally from the 
nearest point of the side lot line toward the nearest part of the foundation of the main structure.  

"Zero side yard" means no required set back from the adjacent property line.  

  

Page 116



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 24 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.16 FILES AND RECORDS RETENTION 

17.16.010 Purpose. 

The preservation of land use records is essential to meet the needs of the City of Carlton and to 
conform to the requirements of the Secretary of State, Archives Division.  

17.16.020 General. 

The following constitutes the minimum records retention for various categories of land use 
records. When the requirements of the Secretary of State, Archives Division, are greater, those 
guidelines shall prevail. Records may be created and retained in a variety of media and physical formats, 
including but not limited to paper, microfilm, sound recordings, video recordings, magnetic tape and 
disk, and optical disk.  

17.16.030 Records retention. 

A. Council Meeting Records. Records documenting the proceedings of the council and may include 
minutes, agendas, tape recordings, exhibits, materials distributed by citizens, and other records. 
Minimum retention: (1) minutes, agendas, resolutions, and exhibits: permanent; (2) audio or visual 
recordings: one year after minutes prepared; (3) other records: five years.  

B. Planning Records. Records relating to general or comprehensive plan amendments, land use map 
changes, annexations, development code amendments and code interpretations. Any other 
documents adopted to guide long term city growth and development of the city. May include 
public hearings records, plans, amendments, staff reports, periodic review records, maps, and 
other related records. Minimum retention: permanent.  

C. Historic Structures Inventory Records. Records documenting the results of inventory projects to 
designate historic properties within the city in conjunction with Oregon Land Conservation and 
Development Commission Goal 5 procedures. Minimum retention: Permanent.  

D. Zone Change Records. Applications and decisions related to rezoning land. May include 
applications, staff reports, technical notes, approval orders, and related records. Minimum 
retention: (1) findings of fact, and decision documents: permanent; (2) other records: ten (10) 
years after approval or denial.  

E. Subdivision and Planned Unit Development Records. May include applications, site locations, site 
plans, staff reports, appeals reports, decision statements, maps, and related records. Minimum 
retention: (1) if approved and city conditions met: permanent; (2) if not approved: ten (10) years 
after expiration or revocation.  

F. Partition and Lot Line Adjustment Records. Applications, staff reports, technical notes, approval 
orders, maps, and related records. Minimum retention: (1) if approved and filed: permanent; (2) if 
not: ten (10) years after denial, expiration or revocation.  

G. Conditional Use Permit Records. Applications and decisions related to conditional use permit 
requests. May include applications, site plans, staff reports, and related records. Minimum 
retention: ten (10) years after expiration, revocation, or discontinuance of use.  

Page 117



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 25 of 25 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

H. Variance Records. May include applications, site plans, descriptions of requests, site plans, staff 
reports, and related records. Minimum retention: ten (10) years after expiration, revocation, or 
discontinuance of use.  

I. Development Review Records. Records also may include applications, site plans, staff reports, 
maps, and related documents. Three-dimensional exhibits such as sample boards of brick, tile, and 
other building materials are not public records. Minimum retention: five years.  

J. Sign Review Records. May include, descriptions, drawings, photographs, reports, applications, and 
related records. Minimum retention: life of the structure.  

K. Temporary Use Records. Records documenting actions relating to home occupations, fence 
permits, and nonconforming uses. May include applications, permits, staff reports, approval 
orders, and other documents. Minimum retention: five years after discontinuance of use.  

 

Page 118



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division II. ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT PROVISIONS 

Chapter 17.20 RESIDENTIAL-LOW DENSITY (R-1) DISTRICT 

17.20.010 Purpose. 

The Residential-Low Density (R-1) district preserves existing single-family neighborhood residential 
areas and provides for future single-family neighborhood residential housing opportunities including 
single-family detached homes, duplexes, and other similarly scaled dwellings. The R-1 district is 
consistent with the Residential comprehensive plan designation.  

17.20.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Residential-Low Density District:  

A.  Single-family dwelling, including a single-family manufactured home subject to Chapter 
17.116 and a prefabricated structure.  

B.  Duplex dwelling on a corner lot.  

C.  Public park and recreation area.  Accessory dwelling, subject to the provisions of Section 
17.20.060. 

D. Cottage cluster, subject to the provisions of Section 17.106.040. 

D E.  Planned unit development subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.112.  

E F.  Child care facilities, as defined by Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 657A.  Family child care 
home. 

F G.  Residential care home.s, as defined by this ordinance. All residential care homes shall be duly 
licensed by the State of Oregon.  

G H.  Home Occupation, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.124.  

H I.  A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental 
dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling conditional use standards and 
procedures set forth in subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.125.  

J.  Public park and recreation area.  

17.20.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses are permitted as conditional uses, provided that such uses are approved in 
accordance with Chapter 17.152.  

A. Place of worship.  

B. Public or private school.  

C. Community building.  

D. Utility facility including utility rights-of-way.  

E. Bed and breakfast.  

Page 119



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. A two-family vacation rental dwelling when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental permit for 
both units, unless one of the units is owner-occupied, in accordance with the vacation rental 
dwelling standards set forth in Section 17.125.010.  

17.20.035 Density standards. 

A. The minimum net density in the Residential-Low Density District shall be 4.6 dwelling units 
per net acre.  

B. The maximum net density in the Residential-Low Density District shall be determined by 
the allowed minimum lot areas.  

17.20.040 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards shall be the minimum requirements for all development in 
the R-1 district except for modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

Minimum Lot Area   
Single-family dwelling  7,500 square feet, except lots smaller than 7,500 

square feet lawfully created prior to Ordinance 
#619 on November 10, 2003 [effective date of 
Code] are permitted  

Duplex  9,000 7,500 square feet, provided duplexes on 
corner lots shall have each unit access a different 
street  

Cottage cluster 15,000 square feet 
Public utility structures  Lot area shall be adequate to contain all 

proposed structures within the required yard 
setbacks  

Minimum Yard Setback Requirements, except as 
provided for Accessory Structures under Chapter 
17.96:  

 

Front yard  20 feet, except 15 feet for uncovered porches 
and covered but unenclosed porches not more 
than one story high  

Rear yard  15 feet  
Side yard (interior)  5 feet  
Side yard (adjacent to street)  Same as Front Yard  
Nonconforming structures  Where an existing structure on an abutting parcel 

is placed closer than 5 feet to a side property 
line, the minimum separation between the 
existing structure and any new construction shall 
conform to the applicable building code  

Maximum structure height  35 feet  
Minimum lot width at building line  75 50 feet, except lots narrower than 75 50 feet 

lawfully created prior to Ordinance #619 on 
November 10, 2003 [effective date of Code] are 
permitted.  

Page 120



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Maximum Lot Coverage 65 percent where a building exceeds 20 feet in 
height 
70 percent where all buildings on the site are 20 
feet or less in height 

 

17.20.050 Development standards. 

All development in the R-1 district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-Street Parking. Parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

D. Lot Coverage. The following standards are applied to parcel area or lot area, as applicable:  

1. Maximum lot coverage by buildings: thirty-five (35) percent where a building exceeds 20 
feet in height, and forty (40) percent where all buildings on the site are 20 feet or less in 
height;  

2. Maximum lot coverage by impervious surfaces, including pavement and roofed areas 
not otherwise considered buildings: thirty (30) percent;  

3. Combined maximum lot coverage: sixty-five (65) percent where a building exceeds 20 
feet in height, and seventy (70) percent where all buildings on the site are 20 feet or less 
in height.  

D. Cottage clusters shall be subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156.  

E. Yards and Lots. Yards and lots shall conform to the standards of Chapter 17.92.  

F. Signs. Signs shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.80.  

G. Driveways. Driveways shall conform to the standards 17.68.060.  

H. Landscaping and Screening. Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required 
pursuant to land division approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall be 
installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building 
occupancy permits.  

I. Building and Site Design. All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of 
Chapter 17.106.  

1. Single-family dwellings shall comply with the garage or carport standards in Section 
17.106.025.  

17.20.060 Accessory dwelling standards. 

Accessory dwellings shall conform to all of the following standards:  

A. A maximum of one accessory dwelling is allowed per single-family dwelling. The unit may 
be a detached building, in a portion of a detached accessory building (e.g., above a garage 

Page 121



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

or workshop), or a unit attached or interior to the primary dwelling (e.g., an addition or the 
conversion of an existing floor).  

B.  Size. An accessory dwelling shall not exceed 800 square feet of floor area.  However, 
accessory dwellings that result from the conversion of a level or floor (e.g., basement, attic, 
or second story) of the primary dwelling may occupy the entire level or floor, even if the 
floor area of the accessory dwelling would be more than 800 square feet.  

C.  Other Development Standards. Accessory dwellings shall meet all other development 
standards (e.g., height, setbacks, lot coverage, etc.) for buildings in the zoning district, 
except that:  

1.  Conversion of an existing legal non-conforming structure to an accessory dwelling is 
allowed, provided that the conversion does not increase the non-conformity. 

2. Conversion of an existing legal accessory structure to an accessory dwelling is allowed. 

3. Accessory dwellings are not included in minimum or maximum density calculations.  

D. Parking. No off-street parking is required for an accessory dwelling.  

  

Page 122



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.22 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM DENSITY (R-2) DISTRICT 

17.22.010 Purpose. 

The Residential-Medium Density (R-2) district provides for single-family and duplex neighborhood 
residential housing at an average density of ten (10) dwelling units per acre or less including single-
family dwellings, duplexes, townhouses and cottages at compatible scale. The R-2 district is consistent 
with the new Residential Medium-Density comprehensive plan designation.  

17.22.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Residential-Medium Density District:  

A. Single-family dwelling, including a single-family manufactured home subject to Chapter 
17.116 and a prefabricated structure.  

B. Duplex dwelling.  

C. Accessory dwelling, subject to the provisions of Section 17.20.060. 

C D.  Attached single-family Townhouse dwelling (maximum of two (2) consecutively attached 
townhome townhouse units), subject to Chapter 17.156.  

D E.  Public park and recreation area. Cottage cluster, subject to the provisions of Section 
17.106.040. 

E F.  Planned unit development subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.112.  

F G.  Child care facilities, as defined by Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 657A.  Family child care 
home. 

G H. Residential care home.s, as defined by this ordinance. All residential care homes shall be duly 
licensed by the State of Oregon. 

H I.  Home Occupation, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.124.  

I J.  A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental 
dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling conditional use standards and 
procedures set forth in subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.125. 

K.  Public park and recreation area.  

17.22.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses are permitted as conditional uses, provided that such uses are approved in 
accordance with Chapter 17.152.  

A. Place of worship.  

B. Public or private school.  

C. Community building.  

D. Utility facility including utility rights-of-way.  

E. Bed and breakfast.  

Page 123



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. A two-family vacation rental dwelling when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental permit for 
both units, unless one of the units is owner-occupied, in accordance with the vacation rental 
dwelling standards set forth in Section 17.125.010.  

17.22.035 Density standards. 

A. The minimum net density in the Residential-Medium Density District shall be 5.8 dwelling 
units per net acre.  

B. The maximum net density in the Residential-Medium Density District shall be determined 
by the allowed minimum lot areas.  

17.22.040 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards shall be the minimum requirements for all development in 
the R-2 district except for modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

Minimum Lot Area   
Single-family dwelling  6,000 square feet 
(1) Non-common wall dwelling  6,000 square feet  
(2) Attached (townhome) dwelling—Maximum 
of two (2) consecutively attached units 
Townhouse dwelling 

2,400 square feet for an interior lot and 4,000 
square feet for a corner lot  

Duplex dwelling 7,000 6,000 square feet, provided duplexes on 
corner lots shall have each unit access a different 
street, unless the lot is located on an arterial 
street.  

Cottage cluster 12,000 square feet 
Public utility structures  Lot area shall be adequate to contain all 

proposed structures within the required yard 
setbacks  

Minimum Yard Setback Requirements, except as 
provided for Accessory Structures under Chapter 
17.96:  

 

Front yard  Front yard 15 feet, except 20 feet for a garage or 
carport opening when facing street, and 10 feet 
for uncovered porches and covered but 
unenclosed porches not more than one story 
high (except where easements preclude closer 
setback)  

Rear yard  15 feet  
Side yard (interior)  3 feet, except 0 feet for adjoining townhome 

units townhouses 
Side yard (adjacent to street)  10 feet  
Nonconforming structures  Regardless of the above the minimum distance 

between a proposed structure and an existing 
structure on another parcel shall be 6 feet  

Maximum structure height  35 feet, except where a new building (any use) is 
proposed on a lot platted prior to [effective date 

Page 124



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

of Code], the height of the new building shall not 
exceed the average height of all dwellings 
(residential uses) located within 50 feet of the 
subject lot, plus 5 feet.  

Minimum lot width at building line  24 feet, except 40 feet for corner lot  
Maximum Lot Coverage 80 percent where a building exceeds 20 feet in 

height 
85 percent where all buildings on site are 20 feet 
or less in height 

 

17.22.050 Development standards. 

All development in the R-2 district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-Street Parking. Parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176 as applicable.  

D. Lot Coverage. The following standards are applied to parcel area or lot area, as applicable:  

1. Maximum lot coverage by buildings: fifty (50) percent where a building exceeds twenty 
(20) feet in height, and sixty (60) percent where all buildings on the site are twenty (20) 
feet or less in height;  

2. Maximum lot coverage by impervious surfaces, including pavement and roofed areas 
not considered buildings: thirty (30) percent;  

3. Combined maximum lot coverage: eighty (80) percent where a building exceeds twenty 
(20) feet in height, and eighty-five (85) percent where all buildings on the site are twenty 
(20) feet or less in height.  

D. Cottage clusters shall be subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156.  

E. Yards and Lots. Yards and lots shall conform to the standards of Chapter 17.92.  

F. Signs. Signs shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.80.  

G. Driveways. Driveways shall conform to the standards 17.68.060.  

H. Landscaping and Screening. All front and street side yards shall be landscaped pursuant to 
Section 17.84.050. Other landscaping, fencing or other screening may be required pursuant to 
land division approval or other land use approval. All landscaping shall be installed in 
accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building occupancy 
permits.  

I. Building and Site Design. All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of 
Chapter 17.106.  

1. Single-family dwellings shall comply with the garage or carport standards in Section 
17.106.025.   

Page 125



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.24 MANUFACTURED HOME (MH) DISTRICT 

17.24.010 Purpose. 

The manufactured home (MH) district provides areas for the development of residential 
manufactured home dwelling parks to increase the choice and mixture of single-family housing 
opportunities. The MH district is consistent with the residential Manufactured Home comprehensive 
plan designation.  

17.24.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Manufactured Home District:  

A. Single-family dwelling; including a single-family manufactured home subject to Chapter 
17.116 and a prefabricated structure.  

B. Duplex dwelling. 

B C. Public park and recreation area. Accessory dwelling, subject to the provisions of Section 
17.20.070. 

D. Manufactured dwelling park subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.120.  

C E.  Planned unit development subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.112.  

D F.  Child care facilities, as defined by Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 657A.  Family child care 
home. 

E G.  Residential care home.s, as defined by this ordinance. All residential care homes shall be duly 
licensed by the State of Oregon. 

F H.  Home occupation, subject to the provisions in Chapter 17.124.  

G I. A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental 
dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling conditional use standards and 
procedures set forth in subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.125. 

J. Public park and recreation area.  

17.24.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses are permitted as conditional uses, provided that such uses are approved in 
accordance with Chapter 17.152.  

A. Manufactured home park subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.120.  

B.A Place of worship.  

C.B Public or private school.  

D.C Community building.  

E.D Utility facility including utility rights-of-way.  

17.24.035 Density standards. 

A. The minimum net density in the Manufactured Home District shall be 4.6 dwelling units per 
net acre.  

Page 126



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. The maximum net density in the Manufactured Home District shall be determined by the 
allowed minimum lot areas. Maximum net density for manufactured dwelling parks shall be 
as specified in Chapter 17.120. 

17.24.040 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards shall be the minimum requirements for all development in 
the MH district except as provided for manufactured home dwelling parks under Chapter 17.120 or for 
modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

Minimum Lot Area   
Single-family dwelling  7,500 square feet  
Duplex dwelling  7,500 square feet  
Public utility structures  Lot area shall be adequate to contain all 

proposed structures within the required yard 
setbacks  

Minimum Yard Setback Requirements, except as 
provided for Accessory Structures under Chapter 
17.96:  

 

Front yard  20 feet, except 15 feet for uncovered porches 
and covered but unenclosed porches not more 
than one story high  

Rear yard  15 feet  
Side yard (interior)  5 feet  
Side yard (adjacent to street)  Same as Front Yard  
Maximum structure height  35 feet  
Minimum lot width at building line  75 50 feet  
Maximum Lot Coverage 65 percent 

 

17.24.050 Development standards. 

Except as otherwise provided for manufactured home dwelling parks under Chapter 17.120, all 
development in the MH district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 through 
17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-Street Parking. Parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapter 17.172 through 17.176 as applicable.  

D. Lot Coverage. The following standards are applied to parcel area or lot area, as applicable :  

1. Maximum lot coverage by buildings: thirty-five (35) percent;  

2. Maximum lot coverage by impervious surfaces, including pavement and roofed areas 
not considered buildings: thirty (30) percent;  

3. Combined maximum lot coverage: sixty-five (65) percent.  

DF. Yards and Lots. Yards and lots shall conform to the standards of Chapter 17.92.  

Page 127



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

EG. Signs. Signs shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.80.  

FH. Driveways. Driveways shall conform to the standards 17.68.060.  

GI. Landscaping and Screening. Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required 
pursuant to land division approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall be 
installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building 
occupancy permits.  

HJ. Building and Site Design. All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of 
Chapter 17.106.  

1. Single-family dwellings shall comply with the garage or carport standards in Section 
17.106.025.  

  

Page 128



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.28 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM HIGH DENSITY (R-3) DISTRICT 

17.28.010 Purpose. 

The Residential-Medium High Density (R-3) district provides opportunities for higher density 
housing in close proximity to substantial commercial and public development where full urban services 
are available. The R-3 district, which generally accommodates residential development of eight (8) to 
thirty-two (32) units per acre, is consistent with the Residential comprehensive plan designation.  

17.28.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Residential-Medium High Density district:  

A. Duplex dwelling, Multi-family dwellings, Manufactured Home Parks subject to Chapter 
17.120. 

B. Townhouse dwelling. 

C. Multi-family dwelling. 

D. Manufactured dwelling park subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.120. 

E. Cottage cluster subject to the provisions of Section 17.106.040. 

B. Public park and recreation area.  

C.F. Planned unit development subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.112.  

D. Boarding, lodging, or rooming house.  

E.G. Child care facilities, as defined by Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 657A Family child care 
home. 

F.H. Residential care homes and residential care facilities. , as defined by this ordinance. All 
residential care homes and residential care facilities shall be duly licensed by the State of 
Oregon.  

G. I Home occupation, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.124.  

H.J. Single-family dwelling subdivisions platted after [effective date of amended code] provided 
subdivision achieves a density of not less than eight (8) dwelling unit per acre. Single-family 
dwelling, including a manufactured home and a prefabricated structure, on a lot within a 
subdivision platted after adoption of Ordinance #619 on November 10, 2003. 

I.K. Single-family dwellings (attached or non-attached), including single-family manufactured 
dwelling subject to Chapter 17.116, lawfully existing as of adoption of Ordinance #619 on 
November 10, 2003 [effective date of amended code].  

L. Accessory dwelling, subject to the provisions of Section 17.20.070. 

J.M. A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental 
dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling conditional use standards and 
procedures set forth in subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.125.  

N. Public park and recreation area.  

Page 129



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.28.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses are permitted as conditional uses, provided that such uses are approved in 
accordance with Chapter 17.152.  

A. Place of worship.  

B. Public or private school.  

C. Community building.  

D. Utility facility including utility rights-of-way.  

E. Bed and breakfast.  

F. A two-family vacation rental dwelling when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental permit for 
both units, unless one of the units is owner-occupied, in accordance with the vacation rental 
dwelling standards set forth in Section 17.125.010.  

17.28.035 Density standards. 

A. The minimum net density in the Residential-Medium High Density district shall be 12 
dwelling units per net acre.  

B. The maximum net density in the Residential-Medium High Density district shall be 32 
dwelling units per net acre.  

17.28.040 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards shall be the minimum requirements for all development in 
the R-3 district except for modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

Minimum Lot Area   
Single-family dwelling  3,000 square feet 
(1) Non-common wall dwelling  4,000 square feet for an interior lot and 5,000 

square feet for corner lot  
(2) Attached (townhome) Townhouse dwelling—
Maximum of two (2) consecutively attached units  

2,400 2,000 square feet for an interior lot and 
5,000 2,400 square feet for a corner lot  

Duplex or Single-Dwelling with Accessory 
dwelling  

8,000 3,000 square feet  

Multi-family dwelling, 3-unit  9,500 5,000 square feet plus 1,500 square feet 
per unit in excess of 3 units  

Cottage cluster 6,000 square feet 
Public utility structures  Lot area shall be adequate to contain all 

proposed structures within the required yard 
setbacks  

Minimum Yard Setback Requirements, except as 
provided for Accessory Structures under Chapter 
17.96:  

 

Front yard  Lots less than 5,000 square feet: 10 feet 
Lots 5,000-10,000 square feet: 15 feet, except 10 
feet for uncovered porches and covered but 

Page 130



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

unenclosed porches not more than one story 
high 
Lots greater than 10,000 square feet: 20 feet, 
except 15 feet for uncovered porches and 
covered but unenclosed porches not more than 
one story high  
All lots: 20 feet for a garage or carport opening 
when facing street 

Rear yard  Lots less than 5,000 square feet: 10 feet 
Lots equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet: 
15 feet  

Side yard (interior)  Lots less than 5,000 square feet: 3 feet, except 0 
feet for adjoining townhouses 
Lots 5,000-10,000 square feet: 5 feet 
Lots greater than 10,000 square feet: 7 feet  

Side yard (adjacent to street)  20 feet, except 15 feet for uncovered porches 
and covered but unenclosed porches not more 
than one story high 
Same as Front Yard 

Minimum lot width at building line  40 feet for interior lot and 50 feet for corner lot, 
except 24 feet for interior lot with attached 
dwelling  
20 feet for townhouse dwelling, except 24 feet 
for corner lots 
30 feet for single-family and duplex dwelling  
50 feet for multi-family dwelling and cottage 
cluster 

Maximum structure height  35 feet  
Maximum Lot Coverage 80 percent, provided, all landscaping and open 

space requirements must be met 
 

17.28.050 Development standards. 

All development in the R-3 district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-street Parking. Parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

D. Lot Coverage. The following standards are applied to parcel area or lot area, as applicable:  

1. Maximum building coverage by buildings: forty (40) percent;  

2. Maximum lot coverage by impervious surfaces, including pavement and roofed areas 
not considered buildings: thirty (30) percent;  

Page 131



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. Combined maximum lot coverage: seventy (70) percent.  

DE. Multi-family residential uses and townhouse dwellings (three or more units) and cottage 
clusters shall be subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156.  

F. Landscaping. Multi-family dwelling developments shall provide a minimum landscaped area 
equal to twenty-five (25) percent of the gross site area. Landscaping improvements shall be 
installed and maintained in accordance with Chapter 17.84.  

EG. Signs. Signs shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.80.  

FH. Driveways. Driveways shall conform to the standards 17.68.060.  

GI. Landscaping and Screening. Minimum landscaped area requirements of Section 17.84.050 
shall be met, including landscaping requirements for all front and street side yards shall be 
landscaped pursuant to Section 17.84.050. Other landscaping, fencing or other screening may 
be required pursuant to land division approval or other land use approval. All landscaping 
shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of 
building occupancy permits.  

J. The minimum landscape area standard of twenty-five (25) percent for multifamily 
development may be reduced to ten (10) percent where the development plan dedicates 
one-quarter (¼) acre or more land for a neighborhood park, consistent with an adopted city 
parks plan.  

HK. Building and Site Design. All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of 
Chapter 17.106.  

1. Single-family dwellings shall comply with the garage or carport standards in Section 
17.106.025.  

  

Page 132



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.30 DOWNTOWN (D) DISTRICT 

17.30.010 Purpose and applicability. 

A. Chapter 17.30 establishes land use and design standards for downtown Carlton. The Downtown (D) 
district is the historic, commercial and civic core of Carlton. It is also a major wine-processing 
center for the region. As such, it offers a unique opportunity to combine local commercial services, 
wine making, tourism-oriented services, and public amenities in an attractive, walkable, mixed-use 
environment. Chapter 17.30 is intended to guide land use, development, redevelopment, and 
historic restoration consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the objectives described above.  

B. Chapter 17.30 applies to properties designated Downtown (D) district on the City of Carlton Zoning 
Map. Within the Downtown district, the provisions of this Chapter apply to three distinct subareas 
or "sub-districts," the Historic Main Street (D-MS), Winery Gallery (D-WG), and Railroad (D-RR) sub-
districts, as indicated in Figure 1.  

1. Main Street Sub-district (D-MS) 

2. Winery Gallery Sub-district (D-WG) 

3. Railroad Sub-district (D-RR) 

 
Figure 1 - Downtown Sub-districts 
 

Page 133



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.30.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Downtown district subject to the Site Design Review 
(Chapter 17.156), provided such uses are primarily conducted indoors, do not include drive-through 
facilities, and are not otherwise subject to conditional use permit approval (Section 17.30.030).  

A. Art galleries and artist studios.  

B. Banks and similar financial institutions.  

C. Commercial services, including retail sales and personal and professional services.  

D. Bed and breakfast inn.  

E. Dwellings, provided dwelling units within one hundred (100) feet of Main Street shall be 
located on the second story, or above, in a building meeting the design standards of this 
chapter.  

F. Eating and drinking establishments (not including food carts or drive-through facilities).  

G. Offices, including professional, administrative, medical, governmental, and similar office uses.  

H. Outdoor (unenclosed) uses subject to the limitations of Section 17.30.040.  

I. Overnight accommodations, including hotels, motels, inn, and similar lodging uses.  

J. Parks, plazas, outdoor dining areas, sidewalk café seating and sales (permit required), and 
similar outdoor uses, subject to the limitations of Section 17.30.040.  

K. Public and/or institutional uses, including public parking; and new on-premise parking subject 
to a public shared parking agreement.  

L. Retail sales and commercial services.  

M. Theaters, including movie theaters, subject to a public shared parking agreement when on 
premise parking is provided.  

N. Manufacturing and/or processing of food, beverages, arts, crafts, and/or similar goods, 
including wineries, subject to the limitations of Section 17.30.040.  

O. Child care centers and family child care homes. 

P. Residential care facilities. 

QO. Other uses the city planning official City Manager or Planning Commission, as applicable, 
determines to be similar to those uses listed above.  

17.30.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses and uses determined by the city to be similar to those listed are allowed with a 
conditional use permit, except such uses located within one hundred (100) feet of Main Street are 
limited to those lawfully existing as of February 9, 2011; such lawfully created nonconforming uses are 
allowed to continue pursuant to Chapter 17.164.  

A. Veterinary clinics and animal boarding facilities.  

B. Drive-through facility, including but not limited to drive-up windows (e.g., restaurants, banks, 
and pharmacies), automatic teller machines and similar facilities. Electric fueling stations for 
plug-in electric vehicles do not require a conditional use permit but are subject to site review.  

Page 134



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C. Manufacturing and/or processing uses that meet any one of the following criteria require a 
conditional use permit:  

1. Uses with shift(s) arriving or departing earlier than 7:00 a.m. or later than 9:00 p.m. on 
thirty (30) or more days during a calendar year.  

2. Processing or packaging of meat, fish, dairy, or other animal products.  

3. Taxidermy.  

4. Uses the city planning official City Manager or Planning Commission, as applicable, 
determines to be similar to those listed in subsections 1—3, above.  

D. Food carts, subject to the provisions in Chapter 17.126.  

17.30.040 Prohibited uses and uses permitted with limitations. 

A. Prohibited Uses.  

1. Self-storage units, including mini-storage warehouses, portable storage units and similar 
facilities are prohibited, except temporary storage facilities that are accessory to a primary 
permitted use are permitted when setback at least one hundred (100) feet from Main Street 
and screened from all public rights-of-way.  

2. Commercial parking facilities on surface parking lots when not subject to a public shared 
parking agreement.  

3. Unenclosed commercial or industrial uses that do not meet the standards and limitations of 
this Chapter.  

B. Permitted Outdoor Display, Storage and/or Sales. Except as permitted under Section 17.30.020, or 
as approved with a conditional use permit under Section 17.30.030, outdoor display, storage, 
and/or sales of merchandise shall not exceed three (3) days in any seven (7) day period, and shall 
be located under cover of a projecting roof, canopy, awning, or other City-approved shelter. None 
of the uses permitted herein shall interfere with pedestrian, bicycle, or automobile circulation.  

C. Permitted manufacturing, processing and/or packaging and distribution activities are permitted 
provided such activities shall meet all of the following standards:  

1. Manufacturing, processing, packaging, and storage, including waste/recycling handling and 
storage, and similar activities must be enclosed within a building; except as approved with a 
conditional use permit, or as permitted for wineries under subsection 17.30.040(C)(2).  

2. Outdoor processing, packaging, bottling, and storage directly related to winery operations is 
permitted pursuant to subsection 17.30.040(D), provided such activity is not located within 
one hundred (100) feet of Main Street.  

3. Where a parcel is located within one hundred (100) feet of Main Street, manufacturing and 
processing uses shall comprise not more than fifty (50) percent of the total site area. The 
balance of the site area must contain permitted commercial, residential (e.g., upper story) 
public, institutional, or open space use, pursuant to subsection 17.30.040(C)(5).  

4. Where a parcel is located more than one hundred (100) feet from Main Street, manufacturing 
and processing uses shall comprise not more than eighty (80) percent of total site. The 
balance of the site area must be in a permitted commercial, residential (e.g., upper story), 
public, institutional, or open space use, pursuant to subsection 17.30.040(C)(5).  

Page 135



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

5. Shared parking and open space areas may be used to satisfy the requirements of subsections 
17.30.040(C)(3) or 17.30.040(C)(4) where such areas are improved to city standards and allow 
public access, either through dedication to the city or through a public access easement with 
a maintenance agreement. Examples of open space areas include plazas, outdoor 
seating/dining areas, convertible plazas that may be used for parking or special 
events/community gatherings, and similar uses.  

6. Adequate water, sanitary sewer, and fire protection services must be available to the 
proposed use, as determined by the applicable local decision making body.  

7. All applicable building code, state licensing, and health and safety requirements must be met.  

8. The city decision-making body may require conditions of approval to ensure compliance with 
the above use requirements.  

D. Winery-Related Land Use Standards. The following requirements apply to wineries in the 
Downtown district. The requirements apply twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per 
week, year-round.  

 (Delete) 

1. Use of street for loading and unloading of trucks:  

a. Not permitted within twenty (20) feet of Highway 47 right-of-way.  

b. Position truck at least twenty (20) feet from any intersection.  

c. Position truck so that traffic is not impeded. If needed have designated person to direct 
traffic around area.  

d. Place markers and/or cones to designate loading area.  

e. If using forklifts, have safety lights turned on.  

f. Don't block sidewalk access.  

g. Clean up any material left on street or sidewalks.  

2. Use of street for truck mounted bottling or processing operations:  

a. Obtain Police Department approval in advance of using street for this purpose.  

b. Position truck at least twenty (20) feet from any intersection.  

c. Position truck so that traffic is not impeded. If needed have designated person to direct 
traffic around area.  

Page 136



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

d. Place markers and/or cones to designate loading area.  

e. If using forklifts, have safety lights turned on.  

f. Don't block sidewalk access.  

g. Clean up any material left on street or sidewalks.  

3. Use of street for dumpster/containers of grape pumices or other material:  

a. Obtain Police Department approval in advance of using street for this purpose.  

b. Place container at least twenty (20) feet from any intersection. Position truck so that 
traffic is not impeded. If needed have designated person to direct traffic around area.  

c. Comply with 72-hour maximum placement ordinance if on right of way.  

d. Don't block sidewalk access.  

e. Place markers and/or cones to alert drivers especially at night.  

f. Use only four (4) foot or lower containers to allow better sight lines.  

g. Insure that any runoff of liquid is contained and cleaned up so that no runoff goes into 
storm sewers.  

h. If using forklifts, have safety lights turned on.  

i. Clean up any material left on street or sidewalks.  

4. Wineries may add on-site food service, subject to Site Design Review to ensure compliance 
with applicable land use requirements and building codes.  

17.30.050 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards shall apply to all development in the Downtown district, 
with the exception of except for modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132. 

 

Table 17.30.050 - Downtown District Dimensional Standards  
Minimum Lot Area  None  
Minimum Front/Street Side Yards  D-MS: No front setback is allowed, except for a 

pedestrian plaza, landscaping, or similar purpose. 
D-WG: 5-foot minimum. Setback must be 
landscaped or serve as an extension of the 
sidewalk (e.g., outdoor café or plaza), except 
where access drives/alleys preclude landscaping.  
D-RR: None, except setback area provided must 
be landscaped or serve as an extension of the 
sidewalk (e.g., outdoor café or plaza), except 
where access drives/alleys preclude landscaping.  

Minimum Rear Yard  None, except 15 feet when abutting a residential 
district or city-owned plaza or parking lot.  

Page 137



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Minimum Side Yard  None, except 10 feet required when abutting a 
residential district or city-owned plaza or parking 
lot, and as required for Street Side Yards (above).  

Minimum and Maximum Structure Height  D-MS: 21 feet minimum and 35 feet maximum 
building height; or 45 feet with height bonus, 
subject to subsection 17.30.060(H D). Minimum 
14 foot first floor ceiling height.  
D-WG: 35 feet maximum building height.  
D-WG & D-RR: 21 feet minimum and 35 feet 
maximum building height, except existing grain 
elevator is permitted and may be rebuilt in 
current location to original height. 

 

17.30.055 Design review requirements. 

A. Purpose. Section 17.30.060 is Downtown design standards and sub-district design guidelines are 
intended to support downtown development and revitalization consistent with Carlton's historical 
context and its vision for the future. Because much of Carlton's historic downtown is intact, the 
standards and guidelines build on that historic integrity while allowing contemporary 
interpretations of building forms and styles scaled to specific downtown sub-districts.  

B. Applicability.  

1. The design standards of Section 17.30.060, general design guidelines of Section 17.30.065, 
and sub-district design guidelines of Section 17.30.070 apply to all new structures and 
exterior remodels of structures in the Downtown district that are subject to Site Design 
Review per Chapter 17.156. Site Design Review is required only for that portion of a structure 
or development that is proposed to change.  

2. The regulations related to building materials and colors under subsection 17.30.060(J F) apply 
to all exterior building projects regardless of whether the project is subject to Site Review for 
all new development and alternation of existing buildings.  

C. Adjustments. The Planning Commission may adjust the design standards of Section 17.30.060, 
without the need for a variance, upon finding that the proposed design is not expressly prohibited 
by this Chapter, is consistent with the purpose in subsection 17.30.060(A) 17.30.055(A) and the 
general design guidelines in subsection 17.30.060(D) Section 17.30.065, and meets the intent of 
the standard for which the adjustment is requested.  

17.30.060 Development and Downtown design standards. 

A. Purpose. Section 17.30.060 is intended to support downtown development and revitalization 
consistent with Carlton's historical context and its vision for the future. Because much of Carlton's 
historic downtown is intact, the standards build on that historic integrity while allowing 
contemporary interpretations of building forms and styles scaled to specific downtown sub-
districts.  

B. Applicability. The standards of Section 17.30.060 apply to all new structures and exterior remodels 
of structures in the Downtown district that are subject to Site Review. Site Review is required only 
for that portion of a structure or development that is proposed to change. The regulations related 

Page 138



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

to building materials and colors under subsection 17.30.060(J) apply to all exterior building 
projects, regardless of whether the project is subject to Site Review.  

C. Adjustments. The Planning Commission may adjust the standards of Section 17.30.060, without the 
need for a variance, upon finding that the proposed design is not expressly prohibited by this 
Chapter, is consistent with the Purpose in subsection 17.30.060(A) and the Guidelines in subsection 
17.30.060(D), and meets the intent of the standard for which the adjustment is requested.  

 (Delete) 

 (Delete) 

D. Design Guidelines. For the purpose of this Chapter, Design Guidelines describe and illustrate the 
standards contained in Section 17.30.060 and provide examples of how a project may comply with 
the standards. The Planning Commission shall rely upon the guidelines below and the illustrations 
in Section 17.30.070 in interpreting the discretionary standards contained in this Section (Section 
17.30.060 only) or in granting adjustments to Section 17.30.060. The Commission may approve an 
adjustment only upon making affirmative findings on each of the following guidelines, as it deems 
applicable. The illustrations in Section 17.30.060 are provided for reference only. Please see the 
complete set of guideline illustrations in Section 17.30.070.  

1. Does the proposal contribute to the attributes that make the subject downtown sub-district 
(D-MS, D-WG, and/or D-RR) distinct? For example, does the proposal respond to the building 
forms, scale, setbacks, orientation, architectural style, materials, detailing, color, signage, 
parking, and/or other elements that distinguish the sub-district without mimicking other 
building designs? Is the proposal compatible with existing structures that have retained their 
historic integrity? It is not the City's intent to create an architectural theme, but rather to 
ensure that new buildings and alterations fit the historic context.  

Page 139



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 22 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. If the proposal involves remodeling a building listed on a local state, or national historical 
register, is the remodel consistent with the guidelines for altering such historic resources?  

3. Does the proposal enhance the streetscape or other public spaces with appropriate building 
placement, orientation, height, architectural detailing and landscaping?  

4. If located at the intersection of Main Street/Pine Street, Main Street/Yamhill Street, or Pine 
Street/Grant Street, does the design enhance the "gateway" location with a corner plaza or 
vertical building elements (e.g., increased height) at the corner?  

  (Delete) 

5. Does the structure have a compatible building scale relationship with adjacent residences? 
For example, does the structure step-down in height adjacent to single family dwellings?  

6. Does the building design address all four sides of the building with a unified design? For 
example, are the materials, textures and colors on each elevation coordinated?  

7. Where a zero-setback is proposed, does the side elevation facilitate common wall 
development in the future?  

8. Where the proposal includes an adjustment to the window transparency standards or other 
detailing standards, does the proposed design adequately break up the building elevation 
(avoid creating a blank wall) and express storefront character in other ways?  

9. Does the building contain openings (doors or windows) adjacent public spaces or parking 
areas, including those that may also serve as plazas or community gathering places during 
special events?  

10. Do the facade and roofline have a rhythm that is consistent with adjacent buildings, or 
appropriately transition from one building to another?  

11. Does the proposal contain adequate sidewalks? Sidewalks must contain a sufficient 
pedestrian through zone (clearance) and Americans with Disabilities Act accessibility. 
Sidewalks within the MS sub-district must also contain a furnishing zone, per Section 
17.30.070.  

12. If located adjacent to a plazas or area with curb extension or widened sidewalk, does the 
proposal include benches, café seating, or public art, per Section 17.30.070?  

Page 140



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 23 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

13. If the proposal adjusts the lot coverage standard or contains on-premise parking, does it 
manage storm water drainage more effectively than would be possible under a conventional 
design? Does it utilize on-site retention with water quality features?  

14. Does the proposal promote water conservation, for example, through drought-tolerant 
plantings or capturing rainwater for use in landscape irrigation?  

15. If the proposal leaves a gap between buildings (non-common wall development), does it 
provide landscaping (e.g., courtyard garden), or a plaza, with seating in that area?  

 

The following design standards apply to development in the Downtown District.  

E. A. Building Orientation, Parking, and Entrance Standards. The following standards are intended to 
facilitate safe, direct, and convenient pedestrian access to buildings and uses, enhance the 
appearance of the downtown, and facilitate redevelopment without compromising the historic 
integrity of the downtown. All of the standards below must be met, or adjustments approved, as 
applicable, for Site Design Review approval:  

 (Delete) 

1. Comply with the dimensional standards in subsection 17.30.050.  

2. Provide at least one primary building entrance facing an abutting street (i.e., within 45 
degrees of the street property line); or if the building entrance is turned more than 45 
degrees from the street (i.e., front door is on a side elevation), the primary entrance shall 
open onto a pedestrian plaza or courtyard and a walkway shall connect the primary entrance 
to the plaza and sidewalk.  

3. Development abutting Main Street shall orient to Main Street. Where a development does 
not abut Main Street, it shall provide a primary entrance facing the street that is likely to have 
the most pedestrian traffic, as determined by the Planning Commission.  

4. Buildings on lots abutting a plaza or a parking/plaza area shall have at least one secondary 
entrance oriented to such plaza or parking/plaza area.  

5. Building entrances shall be recessed or otherwise covered by pedestrian shelters, consistent 
with subsection 17.30.060(K G).  

6. Rear building entrances, and entrances facing a plaza or parking area that may also serve as a 
plaza or community gathering space during special events, shall incorporate patios with 
decorative landscape structures, such as garden walls, arbors, trellises, porticos, or pergolas 
with lighted pathways. Such patios and structures shall comprise not less than thirty (30) 
percent of the building frontage where it abuts the plaza/parking area.  

Page 141



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 24 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 (Delete) 

7. Off-street parking, trash pick-up, and above ground utilities, including but not limited to utility 
vaults and propane tanks, shall not be placed between building entrances and the street(s) to 
which they are oriented, but shall be oriented internally to the block, screened, and accessed 
by alleys to the extent practicable.  

8. Where off-street parking is provided, it shall conform to the dimensional standards and 
landscape standards of Chapter 17.68.  

9. Street access points, including new or modified driveway approaches, shall conform to the 
Access Control Standards in Section 17.100. Uses and development located outside the 
Downtown District shall not receive vehicle access through the Downtown District, except 
driveway approaches lawfully established prior to February 9, 2011 [Effective date of 
Downtown District] are permitted, subject to the requirements of Chapter 17.100.  

10. Where a development contains multiple buildings and there is insufficient street frontage to 
which buildings can be oriented, a primary entrance may be oriented to plaza, courtyard, or 
similar space containing pedestrian amenities. When oriented this way, the primary 
entrance(s), plaza, or courtyard shall be connected to the street by a landscaped and lighted 
walkway with an approved surface not less than five (5) feet in width.  

11. Buildings on corner lots shall have corner entrances or contain architectural features that 
emphasize the corner (e.g., chamfered/rounded edge, windows, molding, art).  

12. Primary building entrances shall be at least fifty percent (50%) transparent so that two-way 
views, in and out of a building, are possible. This standard can be met by a door with a 
window, a transom window above the door, or sidelights beside the door. Where ATMs or 
kiosks are proposed, they shall be visible from the street for security and have a canopy, 
awning, or other weather protection shelter.  

F. B Front Façade. Materials used on the front façade shall turn the building corners and extend for a 
length of at least 12-inches across each side elevations to avoid the appearance of a false front 
building.  

G. C. Building Openings. The following standards are intended to facilitate safe, direct, and convenient 
pedestrian access to buildings and uses, enhance the appearance of the downtown, and protect 
the historic integrity of the downtown. For the purposes of this Chapter, "transparent" means 

Page 142



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 25 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

allowing two-way views in and out of a building. All of the following standards must be met, or 
adjustments approved, as applicable:  

1. Architectural detailing shall define building entrances. Detailing may include, but is not 
necessarily limited to, a stoop or recess behind the front plane of the building, a canopy or 
awning cover, an entryway plaza (e.g., with pavers and seating), planter beds, window boxes, 
or similar detailing.  

2. The ground floor, street- or plaza-facing elevation(s) of buildings located within one hundred 
(100) feet of Main Street shall comprise not less than sixty (60) percent transparent windows. 
Building abutting Main Street shall have windowed doors and transom windows, except 
where historical precedence dictates otherwise.  

 (Delete) 

3. All ground floor building elevations located more than one hundred (100) feet from Main 
Street and facing a street, plaza, or courtyard shall comprise not less than thirty (30) percent 
transparent windows.  

4. All side building elevations not otherwise subject to the provisions of subsection 2 or 3, 
above, shall comprise not less than twenty (20) percent transparency; except zero-lot 
line/common wall elevations are not required to provide windows.  

5. Window coverage shall be measured along the width of the street-facing elevation, between 
the building base (twenty-four (24) inches above the sidewalk grade, whichever is less) and a 
plane seventy-two (72) inches above the sidewalk grade.  

6. The Planning Commission may grant exceptions (no adjustment required) to the window 
transparency standards for buildings containing industrial processing uses, provided the 
subject elevation contains detailing (e.g., false windows, offsets, projections, bays, changes in 
materials and/or texturing, or similar details) that break up the wall into smaller components.  

7. Windows shall contain trim, reveals or recesses of not less than four (4) inches in width or 
depth as applicable. The use of sills and decorative detailing and ornamentation around 
windows (e.g., patterning, corbels, medallions, pediments, shutters, or similar features), as 
appropriate for the sub-district, is required. This provision also applies to false windows.  

8. Windows in the D-MS Sub-district. In the D-MS sub-district, upper story windows shall be 
vertically oriented, their height greater than their width. Upper story windows shall follow the 
vertical lines of the lower level piers and the horizontal definition of spandrels and any 

Page 143



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 26 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

cornices. Paired or grouped windows that, together, are wider than they are tall, shall be 
visually divided to express the vertical orientation of individual windows. Except for transom 
windows and bay windows, windows and display cases shall not break the front plane of the 
building; projecting display boxes and bay windows are not allowed on elevations facing Main 
Street. For reasons of durability and historic compatibility, display cases, when provided, shall 
be flush with the building façade (not affixed to the exterior) and integrated into the building 
design with trim or other detailing. Window flower boxes are allowed provided they do not 
encroach into the pedestrian through-zone.  

9. Decorative wall-mounted lighting, consistent with the architectural of the building, shall be 
provided for signage and at primary entrances.  

10. The Planning Commission may require security lighting at rear entries.  

11. The Planning Commission may grant an exception to the window transparency requirement 
for parking garages, provided the building design shall incorporate openings, screening, or 
other detailing, subject to Site Design Review.  

H. D. Building Height Bonus (Option). The following standards are intended to support the urban design 
objectives for downtown and facilitate mixed-use development through increased building height, 
while protecting the historic integrity of downtown buildings. All of the standards below must be 
met, or adjustments approved, as applicable, for approval of a building height bonus:  

1. The maximum allowable height may be increased from thirty-five (35) feet to forty-five (45) 
feet on corner lots located within one hundred (100) feet of the following intersections, 
pursuant to subsections 2 and 3, below: Main Street/Pine Street, Main Street/Kutch Street, 
Main Street/Yamhill Street, and Pine Street/Grant Street.  

2. The portion of the building exceeding thirty-five (35) feet shall cover not more than thirty (30) 
percent of the building floor plate, as defined by the building foundation perimeter except 
the height increase may be extended to up to one hundred (100) percent of the floor plate for 
a mixed-use building where the upper story incorporates multifamily dwelling units or 
overnight accommodations (e.g., hotel) and civic space is provided pursuant to subsection 
17.30.060(L).  

3. The portion of the building exceeding thirty-five (35) feet in height shall step-back from 
(recess behind) the building plane of the ground floor by at least four (4) feet.  

 (Delete) 

Page 144



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 27 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

I. E. Building Line and Rhythm.  

1. Horizontal Rhythm. Buildings facing a street or plaza must incorporate rhythmic divisions that 
relate to historic building patterns. Front elevations should be articulated (e.g., offset, recess, 
projection, or similar "break" in the wall plane) not less than once every twenty-five (25) feet. 
(This standard does not apply to building elevations that are less than fifty (50) feet in width.) 
Articulation should be subtle. For example, slight offsets in a building elevation, roofline 
and/or the rhythmic placement of windows, pilasters, awnings/canopies, trim, 
art/medallions, or other detailing and ornamentation can satisfy the standard. Changes in 
paint color do not satisfy this standard. Side and rear elevations may be articulated less 
frequently but should complement the overall building design. The Planning Commission may 
allow alternative detailing, such as a mural or landscape trellis where other detailing is 
impractical, such as on a zero-lot line elevation to reduce the apparent scale and avoid blank 
walls (i.e., until an abutting property develops). See examples in Section 17.30.070.  

 (Delete) 

2. Horizontal Lines. Building elevations within one hundred (100) feet of Main Street shall follow 
prominent horizontal lines existing on adjacent buildings at similar levels along the street 
frontage. Examples of such horizontal lines include but are not necessary necessarily limited 
to the base below a series of storefront windows; an existing awning or canopy line; a belt 
course between building stories; and/or an existing cornice or parapet line. See examples in 
Section 17.30.070. Exceptions: Where adjacent buildings do not provide a historically 
appropriate reference, the development may establish new horizontal lines consistent with 
historical precedence. See examples in Section 17.30.070.  

3. Ground Floor/Upper Floor Division. Building elevations within one hundred (100) feet of Main 
Street shall maintain clear visual division between the ground level floor and upper floors; 
this is accomplished, for example, through the use of a belt course, transom, awnings or 
canopies in the D-MS sub-district, and through the use of wood trim and other detailing in the 
D-WG and D-RR sub-districts, consistent with historical precedence.  

4. Vertical Rhythm. Buildings shall reflect a vertical orientation, through either actual volume, 
roof form, and/or the use of surface detail; for example, the use of vertically oriented sash 
windows and masonry trim in the D-MS sub-district, and pitched roofs and/or board and 
batten siding and corrugated metal detailing in the D-WG and D-RR sub-districts. See 
examples in Section 17.30.070.  

5. Roof Form.  

a. D-MS: Predominate roof form shall be a flat roof with appropriately scaled cornice or 
stepped parapet top.  

Page 145



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 28 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

b. D-WG: Predominate roof form shall be pitched (4:12 minimum); gabled, hipped, 
modified pitched roof forms are allowed.  

c. D-RR: No restriction on roof form provided the form reflects historic precedence (e.g., 
depot, ranch/farm buildings, silos/granary tower, historic main street, etc.) and is not an 
artificial or applied roof form.  

J. F. Materials and Color. City approval of proposed exterior materials and colors is required for all 
exterior remodels and alterations regardless of whether Site Review is required. The Planning 
Commission may approve adjustments to the following standards pursuant to Section 17.20.070.  

1. Exterior Cladding.  

a. D-MS: Except as permitted under subsection 'd', below, exterior cladding on new 
buildings shall predominately consist of durable reddish brick blends, as generally 
illustrated in Section 17.30.070; brick veneer is also permitted, except as otherwise 
required for designated historic buildings.  

b. D-WG: Except as permitted under subsection 'd', below, exterior cladding of buildings 
shall predominately consist of wood or fiber cement (lap, panel, board and batten, 
shingle or similar siding), stucco, stone, textured concrete, split-face concrete block, 
and/or similar masonry. Corrugated metal may be used as a secondary material only; 
vinyl siding and faux/cultured stone are not permitted.  

c. D-RR: There is no restriction on exterior cladding, provided the design reflects historic 
precedence of the sub-district (e.g., wood lap, panel, board and batten, shingle, stucco, 
stone, split-face concrete block, corrugated or sheet metal, etc.) and does not include 
vinyl siding. Except as permitted under subsection 'd', below, exterior cladding of 
buildings shall predominately consist of wood or fiber cement (lap, panel, board and 
batten, shingle or similar siding), stucco, stone, split-face concrete block, brick, 
corrugated or sheet metal. Vinyl siding and faux/cultured stone are not permitted. 

d. Building Additions: Building additions shall conform to the above standards or contain 
cladding similar to the original cladding of the structure. For purposes of this subsection, 
"original" means the cladding (material and detailing) used when the building was first 
constructed.  

e. Secondary Cladding. Any material permitted above may be used as secondary exterior 
cladding in the respective sub-district. Metals such as copper, steel, iron, bronze and 
similar appearance metals may be used as trims or accents (e.g., flashing, wainscoting, 
weather protection features, ornamentation, etc.) when non-reflective and consistent 
with historic precedence. In addition, rough-hewn wood, and timbers may be used as 
accents in the D-WG and D-RR sub-districts.  

2. Four Sides of Building. New buildings shall be designed so that all four sides contain 
complementary exteriors. Changes in material, texture or detailing (e.g., use of two or more 
different types of material) shall break up otherwise blank walls and define a building's base, 
middle and top. Side and rear elevations that do not face a street, plaza, patio, or pedestrian 
access way need not have two or more types of material where changes in texture or 
detailing break up the wall, consistent with the overall composition of the building.  

Page 146



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 29 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

(Delete) 

3. Roofs.  

a. Where pitched roofs are proposed, roof surfaces shall be wood, slate, cement tile, 
asphalt shingles, flat metal, or standing rib seam sheet metal.  

b. Metal roofing shall have a non-glare (e.g., matte finish).  

c. Where flat roofs are proposed, cornices and parapets shall incorporate materials that 
are consistent with historic precedence, as applicable, or otherwise consistent with the 
overall composition of the building.  

d. Roofs must be non-reflective and light in color (e.g., light gray or ash, brown, or other 
earth-tone), and not clash with exterior cladding.  

4. Windows and Doors. All windows and doors must have wood or vinyl-coated wood trim, or 
masonry trim and sills. See also, Pedestrian Shelter requirements under subsection 
17.30.060(K).  

5. Substitute Materials. The Planning Commission may approve an adjustment allowing 
substitute materials that are equal in appearance and durability to those listed above, 
provided such materials are historically appropriate. The applicant will be required to provide 
specifications from the manufacturer.  

6. Color. Paint and materials colors shall be consistent with the historic color palette as 
generally illustrated in Section 17.30.070 and on file at Carlton City Hall. Painting Color 
schemes shall be simple and coordinated over the entire building to establish a sense of 
overall composition. Reflective, luminescent, sparkling, and "day-glow" colors and finishes, 
and clashing paint colors or patterns are prohibited. Metals shall be matte finish, earth-tone 
color, or burnished/non-reflective (e.g., metal that has a non-reflective finish is allowed in the 
RR sub-district).  

K. G. Pedestrian Shelters. Within the D-MS sub-district, awnings, canopies, recesses or similar pedestrian 
shelters shall be provided along at least sixty (60) percent of a building's ground floor elevation(s) 
where the building abuts a sidewalk or civic space (e.g., plaza). Within the D-WG and D-RR sub-
districts, the minimum pedestrian shelter requirement is forty (40) percent.  

1. Pedestrian shelters used to meet the above standard shall extend at least five (5) feet over 
the pedestrian area, be proportionate to the building in its dimensions, and not obscure the 
building's architectural details.  

2. Pedestrian shelters shall align with one another to the extent practical.  

Page 147



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 30 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. Shelters shall not conflict with mezzanine or transom windows.  

4. Colored canvas (not plastic) awnings and metal or plexi-glass canopies, when consistent with 
historical styles, are allowed.  

Exceptions: Pedestrian shelters are not required where historical precedence dictates otherwise. In 
addition, the Planning Commission may reduce the minimum shelter depth upon finding that existing 
right-of-way, easements, or building code requirements preclude a standard shelter.  

L. H. Civic Space and Pedestrian Amenities.  

1. Purpose. The City encourages the provision of civic space in new development through 
regulatory incentives. Civic space such as plazas, courtyards, patios, and expanded 
sidewalks/outdoor seating areas should be provided along street frontages and where gaps 
between buildings occur. Civic spaces can make the downtown more attractive and inviting 
while providing informal gathering places for rest and socialization.  

  (Delete) 

2. Applicability. The following applies to Site Design Review proposals involving: (a) a height 
bonus pursuant to subsection 17.30.060(H); (b) an adjustment to a code standard under site 
review; or (c) where the applicant voluntarily provides civic space.  

3. Civic Space Standards. At least three (3) percent, or not less than three hundred (300) square 
feet, of the site should be designated and improved as civic space (plaza, landscaped 
courtyard, sidewalk extension, or similar space). Such areas should be accessible to the 
general public, with the highest priority locations being those areas with the highest 
pedestrian activity. Civic spaces should be connected to a public right-of-way by a sidewalk or 
pedestrian access way. All civic spaces shall have dimensions that allow for reasonable 
pedestrian access. For example, a small site may provide a 4-foot wide strip adjoining and 
adding on to the sidewalk for a small café seating area, whereas a larger site at a street corner 
may provide a plaza adjacent to a building entrance. Civic spaces shall include pedestrian 
amenities, per subsection 4, below. See also, Chapter 17.84 Site and Landscaping Design.  

4. Pedestrian Amenities Standards. Where street frontage improvements are required to 
comply with the Transportation System Plan, or where or civic space is required under 
subsection 17.30.060(L H), street frontages shall be improved with pedestrian amenities such 
as benches, public art, pedestrian-scale lighting, shade structures, way finding signs, or similar 
pedestrian facilities in an amount equal to or greater than one-half of one percent (0.5%) of 
the estimated construction cost of the proposed building(s), subject to review and approval 
by the Planning Commission. Where a civic space adjoins a building entrance, the cost of 
providing a weather protection canopy, awning, arcade, overhanging eave, arbor, portico, or 
similar feature, consistent subsection 17.30.060(K), may be credited toward the one-half of 
one percent (0.5%) requirement. Pedestrian amenities such as seating, planters, public art 

Page 148



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 31 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

and pedestrian lighting (e.g., street lamps or pathway bollard lights) at street corners or 
paved mid-block pedestrian access ways between buildings may also be counted toward the 
one-half of one percent (0.5%) requirement. The cost of a proposed public-private parking 
facility may be subtracted from building costs used in the assessment of civic space 
improvements. A licensed architect, landscape architect, or other qualified professional, shall 
prepare cost estimates for civic space improvements, which shall be subject to review and 
approval by the Planning Commission.  

M. I. Signs. In addition to complying with requirements of Chapter 17.80 Signs, conformance to 
following standards is required in the Downtown district:  

1. Building designs shall incorporate a sign band or otherwise provide for blade signs, awning 
signs, marquees, or other compatible sign types.  

2. Pole signs are prohibited.  

3. Monument signs shall not exceed six (6) feet in height and forty-eight (48) square feet of sign 
face for each side of a two-sided sign. A minimum of fifty (50) feet of street frontage is 
required for one monument sign.  

4. On multitenant buildings, signs shall be designed to accommodate multiple tenants.  

 (Delete) 

N. J. Landscaping. In addition to complying with requirements of Chapter 17.84 Site and Landscaping 
Design, conformance to following standards is required in the Downtown district:  

1. All Downtown Sub-districts: Landscape designs must be compatible with the downtown, 
where buildings are generally placed closer together than in other districts. Designs take into 
consideration exposure to sun and wind, opportunities for pedestrian safety and comfort 
(e.g., buffering vehicle areas, summer shade, etc.), maintenance requirements, and 
downtown beautification objectives. These factors are to be balanced so that the resulting 
design is functional, attractive, and cost-effective. For example, landscaping must define 
pedestrian pathways, buffer parking lots from outdoor seating areas, break up large blank 
walls, and add color and interest to streetscapes, parking lots, and plaza areas.  

2. D-MS: Zero (0) percent, minimum, except for required street trees (twenty-five (25) square 
feet per tree planting area), required civic space, and any required screening, as applicable, 
subject to site review.  

3. D-WG and D-RR: Ten (10) percent, minimum; may include required street trees (twenty-five 
(25) square feet per tree), planter beds, plant containers or window boxes, arbors, trellises, 
and climbing vines on garden walls and fences, as applicable. Where landscape structures 

Page 149



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 32 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

such as arbors are proposed, the Planning Commission may count the total surface area to be 
covered by plants within two (2) years of planting.  

4. Maintenance: All landscape and civic space areas shall be maintained and, as necessary, 
replaced by the property owner to ensure plant survival and upkeep of street furnishings, 
paving, and other built features. The use of water-conserving features, such small parking lot 
perimeter swales, and rain gardens fed by cisterns or roof drains is encouraged.  

O. K. Mechanical Equipment.  

1. Building Walls. Mechanical equipment shall not be mounted on any building where it will be 
visible within one hundred (100) feet of Main Street. When mechanical equipment, such as 
utility vaults, air compressors, generators, antennae, satellite dishes, or similar equipment, 
must be installed on a rooftop or adjacent to a building wall, it shall be screened from view. 
Where such equipment is installed on a side or rear building elevation and is adjacent to a 
plaza, pathway, or other public space, it shall be screened in accordance with Chapter 17.84. 
Standpipes, meters, vaults and similar incidental equipment need not be screened but shall 
not be placed on a front elevation when other practical alternatives exist; such equipment 
shall be placed low on a side or rear elevation to the extent practical.  

2. Rooftops. Except as provided below, rooftop mechanical units shall not be visible from the 
street or any alley, pedestrian access way or civic space. Such units should be screened 
behind a parapet wall or painted with muted, earth-tone colors that make them visually 
subordinate to their backgrounds. Exception: Equipment for small-scale renewable energy 
(e.g., mini-wind turbines, solar panels, and similar features) is allowed subject to site review; 
the Planning Commission may exempt such a facility from the screening standard upon 
finding that the screening would interfere with its operation, and the facility does not 
adversely impact any buildings of local historic significance.  

3. Ground-Mounted Mechanical Equipment. Ground-mounted equipment (e.g., generators and 
air compressors) shall be limited to side or rear yards and screened in accordance with 
Chapter 17.84. The City Planning Commission may require additional setbacks and/or noise 
attenuating equipment to promote compatibility with adjacent uses.  

4. Plazas and Open Spaces. Mechanical equipment and garbage storage areas are not permitted 
within plazas or other public open spaces, except as approved with an conditional use permit 
Adjustment. Where such facilities are allowed, the Planning Commission may require that 
such facilities be screened completely from view and set back from a civic space for aesthetic 
reasons and to minimize odors or noise.  

P. L. Historic Building Alterations. In addition to complying with requirements of Chapter 17.104 Historic 
Sites, conformance to following standards is required for historic building alterations in the 
Downtown district:  

1. Restoration, rehabilitation or remodeling projects shall incorporate, whenever possible, 
original design elements that have been removed, changed, or covered over.  

2. Scale, proportion and materials used in alteration or additions to existing structures, such as 
the size and relationship of new windows, doors, entrances and other building features, shall 
be visually compatible with the original architecture on buildings of local historical 
significance.  

Page 150



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 33 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

M. Off-Street Parking.  Parking shall conform to the standards in Chapter 17.68. Exemptions apply to 
properties within the Downtown Parking District, subject to the provisions of Section 17.68.120.  

17.30.065 General design guidelines for downtown design standards. 

A. Design Guidelines. Purpose. For the purpose of this Chapter, Design Guidelines The general design 
guidelines contained in this section describe and illustrate the standards contained in Section 
17.30.060 and provide examples of how a project may comply with the standards. The Planning 
Commission shall rely upon the guidelines below and the illustrations in Section 17.30.070 in order 
to: 

1.  in interpreting Interpret the discretionary standards contained in this Section (Section 
17.30.060 only); or  

2. in granting Grant adjustments to Section 17.30.060. The Commission may approve an 
adjustment only upon making affirmative findings on each of the following guidelines, as it 
deems applicable.  

The illustrations in Section 17.30.060 are provided for reference only. Please see the complete set 
of guideline illustrations in Section 17.30.070.  

B. General Design Guidelines. 

1. Does the proposal contribute to the attributes that make the subject downtown sub-district 
(D-MS, D-WG, and/or D-RR) distinct? For example, does the proposal respond to the building 
forms, scale, setbacks, orientation, architectural style, materials, detailing, color, signage, 
parking, and/or other elements that distinguish the sub-district without mimicking other 
building designs? Is the proposal compatible with existing structures that have retained their 
historic integrity? It is not the City's intent to create an architectural theme, but rather to 
ensure that new buildings and alterations fit the historic context.  

2. If the proposal involves remodeling a building listed on a local state, or national historical 
register, is the remodel consistent with the guidelines for altering such historic resources?  

3. Does the proposal enhance the streetscape or other public spaces with appropriate building 
placement, orientation, height, architectural detailing and landscaping?  

4. If located at the intersection of Main Street/Pine Street, Main Street/Yamhill Street, or Pine 
Street/Grant Street, does the design enhance the "gateway" location with a corner plaza or 
vertical building elements (e.g., increased height) at the corner? (See Main Street Guidelines 
– Figure 2 in Section 17.30.070.) 

Page 151



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 34 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

  (Delete) 

5. Does the structure have a compatible building scale relationship with adjacent residences? 
For example, does the structure step-down in height adjacent to single family dwellings?  

6. Does the building design address all four sides of the building with a unified design? For 
example, are the materials, textures and colors on each elevation coordinated?  

7. Where a zero-setback is proposed, does the side elevation facilitate common wall 
development in the future?  

8. Where the proposal includes an adjustment to the window transparency standards or other 
detailing standards, does the proposed design adequately break up the building elevation 
(avoid creating a blank wall) and express storefront character in other ways?  

9. Does the building contain openings (doors or windows) adjacent public spaces or parking 
areas, including those that may also serve as plazas or community gathering places during 
special events?  

10. Do the facade and roofline have a rhythm that is consistent with adjacent buildings, or 
appropriately transition from one building to another?  

11. Does the proposal contain adequate sidewalks? Sidewalks must contain a sufficient 
pedestrian through zone (clearance) and Americans with Disabilities Act accessibility. 
Sidewalks within the MS sub-district must also contain a furnishing zone, per Section 
17.30.070.  

12. If located adjacent to a plazas or area with curb extension or widened sidewalk, does the 
proposal include benches, café seating, or public art, per Section 17.30.070?  

13. If the proposal adjusts the lot coverage standard or contains on-premise parking, does it 
manage storm water drainage more effectively than would be possible under a conventional 
design? Does it utilize on-site retention with water quality features?  

14. Does the proposal promote water conservation, for example, through drought-tolerant 
plantings or capturing rainwater for use in landscape irrigation?  

15. If the proposal leaves a gap between buildings (non-common wall development), does it 
provide landscaping (e.g., courtyard garden), or a plaza, with seating in that area?  

Page 152



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 35 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.30.070 Subdistrict design guidelines. 

The following design guidelines apply to development within each of the downtown sub-
districts, in addition to the design standards on Section 17.30.060.  

Design Guidelines—Downtown Context 

 (Delete) 

Page 153



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 36 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 (Delete) 

 

A. Main Street Historic Sub-District Guidelines 

1. Building entrances orient to street with access to future Plaza and Upper Ladd Park.  

2. Buildings must be one to three stories tall, with division between the first and second 
stories, meeting the dimensional standards of Section 17.30.050. 1—3 stories; 14' min. first 
floor ceiling height; if one story, 21' min. to top of coping; division between 1st & 2nd stories; 
"step-back" 3rd story min. 4'-0".  

Page 154



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 37 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 (Delete) 

3. Brick masonry predominant material, except as historic precedence dictates; note brick 
detailing and "patterns."  

4. Flat roof with cornice or parapet on Main Street; secondary shed okay; gable okay on other 
streets if gable faces front and side setback is met.  

5. Canvas awnings or flat & shed painted metal canopies, except where historic buildings have 
no awning or canopy.  

6. Storefront windows with transom, with standards based on historic height, detailing, 
orientation, proportions, and percentages of glass. Upper story windows: vertical orientation, 
detailing & proportions.  

7. Sidewalk: Scored concrete (8'—12') with option for paver inlay.  

8. Furnishing area with benches, lighting (bollards or lamps), planters/baskets.  

9. Street trees in cutouts with grates; provide list of acceptable trees & grates trees to be 
selected from the adopted approved street tree list.  

10. Curb extensions at intersections and at mid-block pedestrian crossings.  

New development exempt from off-street parking standard; pay in lieu fee to go toward 
public parking reserve.  

Historically appropriate color palette. 

Page 155



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 38 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

11. No pole signs or internally-lit signs; allow historically appropriate wall mounted light fixtures; 
building-mounted metal or blade signs.  

12. Allow historically appropriate wall mounted light fixtures. 

Allow flexibility for special opportunity sites through Design Review (e.g., performance 
standards or adjustments).  

 

Page 156



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 39 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Page 157



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 40 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Page 158



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 41 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Page 159



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 42 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

 
 

Page 160



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 43 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Main Street Guidelines - Figure 7 (Corner Building Example) 
 

 
 

Main Street Guidelines - Figure 8 
 

 
 

Page 161



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 44 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Main Street Guidelines - Figure 9 (Corner Gateway/Height Bonus Example) 
 

 

 
 

B. Winery-Gallery Sub-District Guidelines 

Page 162



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 45 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Balances "public/tourism" exposure with "production" exposure needs.  

2. Larger, simpler building forms; predominately agricultural building materials (no vinyl); uses 
artistic building elements as accents, "iconic" forms.  

 (Delete) 

3. Buildings orient to plaza; buildings fronting Kutch Street or Pine Street should also orient to 
respective street with entrance or detailing and connecting pathway.  

4. Repeat forms found on existing buildings in the district; includes flat roof, gable roof and shed 
roof buildings; does not include mansard or Quonset building forms in this district.  

5. Roof materials to include selected metal colors, composition (dark), flat roof materials; do not 
include tile or wood shake or shingle roofs.  

6. Windows: At least two wall elevations contain % windows; windows may include storefronts 
(vertical or square); garage doors with glass on at least % of doors; fixed windows; single or 
double hung windows.  

7. Materials: Minimum of at least two materials permitted in subsection 17.30.060(F)(1)(b) 
each covering a minimum of 30 percent % of exterior: metal siding, wood board-batten, 
wood shingle siding; stucco, masonry; concrete block (split-faced or stone ground), 
cementitious siding. No vinyl siding. No chain link fences abutting streets or plazas.  

Landscaping required as nominal % of site; allow planters, beds, climbing gardens/green 
fences, water gardens (e.g., drain roof water into planters).  

Page 163



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 46 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Off-street parking may be met on-site, or by a combination of on- and off-site lots (e.g., 
employee parking), or pay in lieu fee to go toward public parking reserves.  

Colors should be based on existing/historic palette or natural materials.  

Allow flexibility for special opportunity sites through Design Review (e.g., performance 
standards or adjustments).  

 

Page 164



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 47 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Page 165



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 48 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
 

Page 166



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 49 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Winery-Gallery District Guidelines - Figure 4 
 

 
Winery-Gallery Guidelines - Figure 5 

Special Events Plaza-Convertible Parking Area Framework 

Page 167



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 50 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
C. Railroad Sub-District Guidelines 

1. Iconic forms (grain elevator, depot, Quonset, grain silos); asymmetrical, agricultural.  

2. Repeat or adapt forms found on existing buildings from railroad era.  

Page 168



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 51 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 (Delete) 

3. Repeat building materials found on existing RR district buildings: Metal siding, brick, wood 
and composite siding. No vinyl siding, cultured stone or wood panel siding except board-
batten using materials permitted in subsection 17.30.060(F)(1)(c). No chain link fences 
abutting streets.  

4. Roof materials: Historic metal finish or painted metal, composition (dark). No wood shakes or 
shingle roofs. No tile roofs.  

5. Windows: Ground floor min % windows; Windows may vertical or square proportions; fixed 
windows; single or double hung windows.  

Awnings or Canopies: Over primary entrance and min % of building frontage at street or 
plaza; may be canvas, metal (flat and shed).  

Height: 21' minimum and 35' maximum, except existing grain elevator.  

6. Sidewalks scored concrete (6'—8').  

Landscaping required as nominal % of site; allow planters, beds, climbing gardens/green 
fences, water gardens (e.g., drain roof water into planters).  

Off-street parking may be met on-site, or by a combination of on- and off-site lots (e.g., 
employee parking), or pay in lieu fee to go toward public parking reserves.  

Colors shall be based on existing/historic palette.  

Allow flexibility for special opportunity sites through Design Review (e.g., performance 
standards or adjustments).  

Page 169



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 52 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Page 170



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 53 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

  

Page 171



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 54 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.32 COMMERCIAL BUSINESS (CB) DISTRICT 

17.32.010 Purpose. 

The commercial business (CB) district provides an area for commercial uses outside Downtown 
Carlton. It provides a broad range of commercial uses appropriate within a shopping district, and a visual 
attraction for visitors.  

17.32.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted outright in the commercial business district, subject to the Site 
Design Review in accordance with Chapter 17.156:  

A. Residences that are located on the second story above a permitted use commercial building.  

B. Business offices including, but not limited to, insurance, real estate and title insurance; credit 
agencies, brokerages, loan companies, and investment companies; and, miscellaneous offices 
such as detective agencies, drafting services or contractors offices.  

C. Professional offices including, but not limited to, medical, dental, engineering and legal 
services.  

D. Art gallery, artisan's or craftsperson's studio, photographic studio, picture framing.  

E. Banks and other financial institutions.  

F. Retail sales outlet including, but not limited to, food stores, pharmacy, furniture store, hobby 
or photography store, florist, liquor store, hardware store, appliance or stereo equipment 
store, pet shop, sporting goods, department store, jewelry, gift, and other types retail 
activities.  

G. Eating and drinking establishment, such as a restaurant, delicatessen, tavern, or snack shop, 
but not including drive-through facility or food cart.  

H. Bakery, butcher shop, candy manufacturing when retail sales are provided on the premises.  

I. Retail and service related stores such as TV and radio sales and service, bicycle shop, 
gunsmith, equipment rental, upholstery shop or other similar activities where a service 
department is customarily a secondary activity to the retail use.  

J. Service related businesses such as barber shops, beauty shops, advertising agencies, printing 
or photocopying, dancing or music school, health and fitness club, or other activities where 
the primary activity is the providing of a service to retail customers.  

K. Bed and breakfast.  

L. Place of worship, club lodge, or fraternal organizations.  

M. A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling is a legal nonconforming use 
and obtains a vacation rental dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling 
conditional use standards and procedures set forth in , subject to the provisions of Chapter 
17.125.  

N. Child care centers.  

O. Family child care homes in a dwelling that is a legal nonconforming use. 

Page 172



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 55 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.32.030 Conditional uses. 

The following conditional uses are allowed in the commercial business district subject to obtaining 
a conditional use permit per Chapter 17.152 and completing a Site Design Review in accordance with 
Chapter 17.156:  

A. Automobile, truck, motorcycle, trailer, recreational vehicle and boat sales or repair, except 
retail and service uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one hundred (100) feet or 
more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020 

B. Retail tire sales, service and repair; tire recapping, service and repair, paint and body shop.  

C. Automobile service station, including towing services and vehicle washing and polishing 
facilities, and services.  

D. Parts and accessory sales for automobiles, trucks, motorcycles, trailers, recreational vehicles 
and boats, except retail and service uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one 
hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

E. Lumberyard and contracting supplies for lumber, stone, masonry or metal (sales only).  

F. Special trade contracting facilities such as floor laying, building equipment, masonry and 
stone, plumbing, electrical, metal work or painting, except showrooms and similar office or 
retail uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one hundred (100) feet or more from a 
residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

G. Welding shop and blacksmith where activities are conducted wholly within a building.  

H. Newspaper, periodical, publishing and printing, except such uses entirely enclosed in a 
building and setback one hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted 
under Section 17.32.020.  

I. Tractor and farm equipment, logging equipment sales and service.  

J. Veterinary clinics, except such uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one hundred 
(100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

K. Drive-through facility.  

L. Cabinet manufacturing shop, except such uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one 
hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

M. Tent and awning shop, except such uses entirely enclosed in a building and setback one 
hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

N. Public utility buildings and structures, including community centers, except such uses entirely 
enclosed in a building and setback one hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are 
permitted under Section 17.32.020.  

O. Theaters, including movie theaters, except such uses entirely enclosed in a building and 
setback one hundred (100) feet or more from a residential zone are permitted under Section 
17.32.020.  

P. Commercial (private) automobile parking facilities, except as accessory to a primary 
permitted use, as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

Q. Wineries, and wine sales and tasting rooms operated in conjunction with a winery.  

Page 173



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 56 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

R. Food carts, subject to the provisions in Chapter 17.126.  

S. Medical marijuana dispensary subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

R. Commercial retail marijuana facility subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

17.32.040 Limitations on use. 

A. All business, services, processing, or merchandise displays shall be conducted wholly within an 
enclosed building except for the following:  

1. Off-street parking or loading;  

2. Drive-through facility;  

3. Temporary display and sales of merchandise, not exceeding three (3) days in any seven (7) 
day period, provided it is under cover of a projecting roof and does not interfere with 
pedestrian, bicycle, or automobile circulation;  

4. Businesses, which, in all cases, require outdoor storage of merchandise, e.g., automobile, RV 
sales lots, or gas stations.  

5. Outdoor entertainment and outdoor events, such as weddings, music concerts, religious 
gatherings, public gatherings, sporting events, and similar uses and activities, when not 
accessory to a permitted use, require approval of a special event permit. Special event 
permits are staff-level approvals; except that use of a public right-of-way requires City Council 
approval.  

B. Not more than fifty (50) percent of the floor area of the building and not more than twenty-five 
(25) percent of the lot area of the commercial enterprise shall be used in the manufacturing, 
processing, or compounding of products.  

17.32.050 Dimensional standards. 

The following minimum dimensional standards apply to development in the CB district, with the 
exception of modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

Minimum Lot Area  None  
Minimum Yard Setbacks, except as provided for 
Accessory Structures under Chapter 17.96 

 

Front yard  No front yard setback permitted except: A 
setback from the street front lot line may be 
permitted subject to design review for a 
pedestrian plaza, landscaping, or similar purpose. 
No outside storage, driveways, loading or parking 
shall be allowed within the front yard setback. 

Rear yard   
Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  15 feet  
Side yard   

Page 174



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 57 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Adjoining a street  No side yard setback permitted except: A setback 
from the street front lot line may be permitted 
subject to design review for a pedestrian plaza, 
landscaping, or similar purpose. No outside 
storage, driveways, loading or parking shall be 
allowed within the side yard setback 

Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  10 feet  
Maximum structure height  35 feet  

 

17.32.060 Development standards. 

All developments in the CB district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking, if provided, shall be located at the rear of the property 
in accordance with Chapter 17.68.  

B. Signs. Signs in the CB district shall be subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.80.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. All land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

D. Site Design Review. New development and expansion of existing structures or uses may be 
subject to Site Design Review. See Chapter 17.156 for requirements.  

E. Landscaping. Landscaping improvements shall be installed and maintained in all yard areas 
accordance with Chapter 17.84. Additionally, screening shall be required for the following:  

1. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened by a six-foot (6 ft.) sight-obscuring fence or 
wall;  

2. Where a commercial use abuts a residential zone, a six-foot (6 ft.) sight-obscuring fence 
or wall shall be installed along the full length of the property line. This requirement shall 
not cause the placement of a fence or wall in the vision clearance area required by 
Section 17.92.070.  

Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required pursuant to site design review 
approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall be installed in accordance with 
Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building occupancy permits.  

F. Standards for Wineries, Outdoor Entertainment, and Outdoor Events Gatherings. In addition 
to the requirements set forth in Chapter 17.152 Conditional Use Permits, an application for a 
winery, winery-related use, or outdoor event entertainment/outdoor gathering shall include 
an analysis of projected attendance or occupancy of the venue/site, access and egress in 
compliance with applicable fire code requirements, projected parking demand during peak 
periods of use, sanitary facilities, evidence of compliance with Oregon Health Department 
requirements, as applicable, and information on existing and projected noise levels above 
ambient noise levels. The above information shall be provided at a sufficient level of detail so 
that the Planning Commission can make findings of compliance with Chapter 17.152. At a 
minimum, the following standards shall apply:  

Page 175



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 58 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Off-street parking shall be sufficient so that public ways are not obstructed and vehicles 
are not required to back onto a public way. Off-street parking facilities need not be 
paved or striped, but at a minimum shall have a gravel or crushed rock surface 
conforming to the city's public works design standards.  

2. A minimum buffer yard of twenty (20) feet shall be provided between all parking areas 
and adjacent residential districts. The buffer yard shall provide a partially sight-obscuring 
screen of shrubs, trees, and ground cover plantings. The buffer yard may be reduced to 
ten (10) feet where a fully sight-obscuring fence is also provided around the perimeter 
of the parking area.  

3. A minimum buffer yard of twenty (20) feet shall be provided between all outdoor 
entertainment/gathering areas and adjacent residential districts. The buffer yard shall 
provide a partially sight-obscuring screen of shrubs, trees, and ground cover plantings. 
The buffer yard may be reduced to ten (10) feet where a fully sight-obscuring fence is 
also provided around the perimeter of the parking area.  

4. Uses that are expected to sustain noise levels exceeds 60 dBA beyond the subject 
property for more than three (3) hours cumulatively in any twenty-four (24) hour period 
may be limited to specific daytime hours. The Planning Commission shall consider the 
proximity of residential districts and public testimony in establishing conditions, which 
may include monitoring of noise levels.  

5. Sanitary facilities shall be sufficient for projected usage and all State licensing 
requirements shall be met.  

6. The Planning Commission may modify the off-street parking and/or buffer yard 
requirements in subsections F.1.—3., above, where it finds that additional or less 
mitigation is required for the use to comply with the conditional use criteria of Chapter 
17.152.  

 

  

Page 176



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 59 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.36 COMMERCIAL INDUSTRIAL (CI) DISTRICT 

17.36.010 Purpose. 

The commercial industrial (CI) district provides areas for a range of commercial light 
manufacturing, wholesale, transportation, and service uses. To assure compatibility between these uses 
and adjacent residential and industrial uses, special design standards are specified.  

17.36.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the CI district, subject to a Site Design Review in accordance 
with Chapter 17.156:  

A. All uses permitted in the CB district, Section 17.32.020.  

B. All conditional uses in the CB district (except food carts) and without the CB district standards 
for residential district setbacks or building enclosure, Section 17.32.030.  

C. Warehouses including mini-warehouse storage; assembly, including light manufacturing, 
processing, packaging, treatment, fabrication of goods or merchandise; laboratories, offices, 
bottling and distribution centers, light repair facilities, wholesale businesses, and similar uses. 
These uses must be located and arranged according to a plan providing for aesthetic and 
other conditions in harmony with the neighborhood, and not be offensive or obnoxious by 
reason of emission of odor, dust, smoke, gas, light, noise or vibration. All such uses must first 
be approved by the Planning Commission.  

D. Commercial retail marijuana facility subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

17.36.030 Conditional uses. 

The following conditional uses are allowed in the Commercial Industrial district subject to obtaining 
a conditional use permit per Chapter 17.152 and completing a Site Design Review in accordance with 
Chapter 17.156:  

A. Public utility structures, such as pump stations, reservoirs, and electric substations.  

B. Food carts, subject to the provisions in Chapter 17.126.  

C. Medical marijuana dispensary subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

17.36.040 Limitations on use. 

All business, services, processing, or merchandise displays shall be conducted wholly within an 
enclosed building except for the following:  

A. Off-street parking or loading;  

B. Drive-through windows or service stations;  

C. Temporary display and sales of merchandise provided it is under cover of a projecting roof 
and does not interfere with pedestrian, bicycle, or automobile circulation;  

Page 177



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 60 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

D. Businesses, which, in all cases, require outdoor storage of merchandise, e.g., automobile, RV 
sales lots, or gas stations.  

17.36.050 Dimensional standards. 

The following minimum dimensional standards apply to development in the CI district, with the 
exception of modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132.  

 Minimum Lot Area  None  
Minimum Yard Setbacks, except as provided for 
Accessory Structures under Chapter 17.96 

 

 Front yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Rear yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Side yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Maximum structure height  45 feet  

 

17.36.060 Development standards. 

All developments in the CI district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

B. Signs. Signs shall be subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.80.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. All land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

D. Site Design Review. New development and expansion of an existing structures or uses may be 
subject to Site Design Review. See Chapter 17.156 for requirements.  

E. Landscaping. Landscaping improvements shall be installed and maintained in all yard areas 
accordance with Chapter 17.84. Additionally, screening shall be required for the following:  

1. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened by a six-foot (6 ft.) sight-obscuring fence or 
wall;  

2. Where a commercial use abuts a residential zone, a six-foot (6 ft.) sight-obscuring fence 
or wall shall be installed along the full length of the property line. This requirement shall 
not cause the placement of a fence or wall in the vision clearance area.  

Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required pursuant to Site Design Review 
approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall be installed in accordance with 
Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building occupancy permits.  

Page 178



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 61 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. Standards for Wineries, Outdoor Entertainment, and Outdoor Events Gatherings. In addition 
to the requirements set forth in Chapter 17.152 Conditional Use Permits, an application for a 
winery, winery-related use, or outdoor event entertainment/outdoor gathering shall include 
an analysis of projected attendance or occupancy of the venue/site, access and egress in 
compliance with applicable fire code requirements, projected parking demand during peak 
periods of use, need for sanitary facilities, evidence of compliance with Oregon Health 
Department requirements, as applicable, and information on existing and projected noise 
levels above ambient noise levels. The above information shall be provided at a sufficient 
level of detail so that the Planning Commission can make findings of compliance with Chapter 
17.152. At a minimum, the following standards shall apply:  

1. Off-street parking shall be sufficient so that public ways are not obstructed and vehicles 
are not required to back onto a public way. Off-street parking facilities need not be 
paved or striped, but at a minimum shall have a gravel or crushed rock surface 
conforming to the city's public works design standards.  

2. A minimum buffer yard of twenty (20) feet shall be provided between all parking areas 
and adjacent residential districts. The buffer yard shall provide a partially sight-obscuring 
screen of shrubs, trees, and ground cover plantings. The buffer yard may be reduced to 
ten (10) feet where a fully sight-obscuring fence is also provided around the perimeter 
of the parking area.  

3. A minimum buffer yard of twenty (20) feet shall be provided between all outdoor 
entertainment/gathering areas and adjacent residential districts. The buffer yard shall 
provide a partially sight-obscuring screen of shrubs, trees, and ground cover plantings. 
The buffer yard may be reduced to ten (10) feet where a fully sight-obscuring fence is 
also provided around the perimeter of the parking area.  

4. Uses that are expected to sustain noise levels exceeds 60 dBA beyond the subject 
property for more than three (3) hours cumulatively in any twenty-four (24) hour period 
may be limited to specific daytime hours. The planning commission shall consider the 
proximity of residential districts and public testimony in establishing conditions, which 
may include monitoring of noise levels.  

5. Sanitary facilities shall be sufficient for projected usage and all State licensing 
requirements shall be met.  

6. The Planning Commission may modify the off-street parking and/or buffer yard 
requirements in subsections F.1.—3., above, where it finds that additional or less 
mitigation is required for the use to comply with the conditional use criteria of Chapter 
17.152.  

 

  

Page 179



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 62 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.40 GENERAL INDUSTRIAL (IG GI) DISTRICT 

17.40.010 Purpose. 

The General Industrial (IG GI) district provides land for and to encourage the grouping together of 
warehousing, manufacturing, and other industrial uses which, because of their normal characteristics, 
would be relatively objectionable when operated in close proximity to business commercial and 
residential uses.  

17.40.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the GI district, subject to Site Design Review in accordance 
with Chapter 17.156:  

A. Public utility and public service installations, including repair and storage facilities and personal 
wireless service facilities.  

B. Warehouses including mini-warehouse storage; assembly, including light manufacturing, 
processing, packaging, treatment, fabrication of goods or merchandise; laboratories, offices, 
bottling and distribution centers, light repair facilities, wholesale businesses, and similar uses. 
These uses must be located and arranged according to a plan providing for aesthetic and other 
conditions in harmony with the neighborhood, and not be offensive or obnoxious by reason of 
emission of odor, dust, smoke, gas, light, noise or vibration. All such uses must first be approved by 
the Planning Commission.  

17.40.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses may be allowed in an IG the GI district subject to obtaining a conditional use 
permit per Chapter 17.152:  

A. Junk yard.  

B. Bulk storage of flammable liquids or gases.  

C. Concrete or asphalt batch plants.  

D. Chemical, fertilizer, insecticide, or paint product manufacturing.  

E. Extraction and processing of minerals, rocks, sand, gravel, or other earth products.  

F. Food carts, subject to the provisions in Chapter 17.126.  

G. Medical marijuana dispensary subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

H. Commercial retail marijuana facility subject to the conditional use criteria listed in Section 
17.152.035.  

17.40.040 Prohibited uses. 

A. Rendering plants.  

B. Any other use which is or can be operated in such a manner as to create a dangerous, injurious, 
noxious or otherwise objectionable fire, explosive or other hazard; noise or vibration, smoke, dust, 

Page 180



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 63 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

dirt, or other forms of air pollution; electrical or other disturbance; glare; or other substance, 
condition or element in such amount as to adversely affect the surrounding area or premises.  

17.40.050 Limitations on use. 

The following special development limitations shall apply:  

A. Outside storage abutting or facing a residential or commercial zone shall be enclosed by a 
fully sight-obscuring fence or wall.  

B. Requirements.  

1. The fence or wall shall fully obstruct the storage from view on the sides of the property 
abutting or facing these zones and shall be at least six (6) feet in height or the maximum 
height of the stored materials, whichever is greater;  

2. The fence or wall shall be of such material and design that it will reduce noise emanating 
from the site; and have an appearance and be maintained so as not to detract from the 
adjacent residences or commercial activities;  

3. The fence or wall shall be free of advertising, graffiti or extraneous markings.  

C. Outside storage in a required yard shall not exceed eight (8) feet in height.  

17.40.060 Dimensional standards. 

The following are minimum dimensional standards apply to development in the General Industrial 
district, with the exception of modifications permitted under Chapter 17.132:  

 Minimum Lot Size  None  
Setback Requirements, except as provided for 
Accessory Structures under Chapter 17.96 

 

 Front yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Side yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Rear yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Maximum building height  Shall not exceed 45 feet except a greater height 

may be approved as part of a conditional use 
permit  

 

17.40.070 Development standards. 

All development in the General Industrial district shall comply with the applicable provisions of 
Chapters 17.128 through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking shall conform to the standards of Chapter 17.68.  

Page 181



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 64 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Signs. Signs shall conform to the provisions of Chapter 17.80.  

C. Site Design Review. New development or expansion of existing structures or uses may be 
subject to Site Design Review. See Chapter 17.156 for requirements.  

D. Subdivisions and Partitions. All land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

E. Landscaping. Landscaping improvements shall be installed and maintained in all yard areas 
accordance with Chapter 17.84. Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required 
pursuant to site design review approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall 
be installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of 
building occupancy permits.  

 

  

Page 182



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 65 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.44 PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) DISTRICT 

17.44.010 Purpose. 

The Public Facility (PF) district provides for the location of large public and semi-public lands, 
buildings, facilities and uses in a manner that will not unreasonably disrupt or alter areas of the 
community.  

17.44.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the PF district and subject to a Site Design Review, in 
accordance with Chapter 17.156:  

A. Publicly owned buildings and facilities such as city halls, community centers, libraries, schools, 
fire stations and police stations.  

B. Public outdoor recreation facilities such as parks, swimming pools, golf courses and 
playgrounds.  

C. Public utility structures and buildings, such as pump stations, communication or transmission 
towers, reservoirs, electric substations, water and sewage treatment facilities and necessary 
right-of-way for identified public utilities; including office or administrative buildings.  

D. Lands designated for public open space such as nature preserves or scenic areas.  

E. Uses clearly accessory and subordinate to the above.  

17.44.030 Reserved. 

17.44.040 Reserved. 

17.44.050 Dimensional standards. 

The following dimensional standards, with the exception of modifications allowed under Chapter 
17.132, shall be required for all development in the Public Facility district:  

 Minimum Lot Area  None  
Minimum Yard Setbacks, except as provided for 
Accessory Structures under Chapter 17.96 

 

 Front yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Side yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Rear yard   
 Adjoining a nonresidential district  None  
Adjoining a residential district  20 feet  
Maximum building height  45 feet  

 

Page 183



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 66 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.44.060 Development standards. 

All development in the Public Facility district shall comply with the applicable provisions of 
Chapters 17.128 through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Off-street Parking. Off-street parking shall conform to the standards of Chapter 17.68.  

B. Signs. Signs shall conform to the provisions of Chapter 17.80.  

C. Site Design Review. All new development or expansion of existing structure or use shall be 
subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156.  

D. Subdivisions and Partitions. All land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

E. Landscaping. Landscaping improvements shall be installed and maintained in all yard areas 
accordance with Chapter 17.84. Where landscaping, fencing or other screening is required 
pursuant to site design review approval or other land use approval, all such landscaping shall 
be installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of 
building occupancy permits.  

 

  

Page 184



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 67 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.48 AGRICULTURAL HOLDING (AH) DISTRICT 

17.48.010 Purpose. 

The Agricultural Holding (AH) district allows an orderly phasing of urban development of land. It is 
a holding district that allows agricultural uses to continue until such time that the agricultural lands are 
needed for urban uses and public facilities and services are available. Conversion of AH property to a 
non-agricultural use requires a zone change in accordance with Chapter 17.180.  

17.48.020 Permitted uses. 

No building, structure, or land shall be used and no building or structure shall be hereafter erected, 
altered, or enlarged in this district except for the following uses:  

A. Raising or harvesting crops; for the feeding, breeding, and management of livestock; for dairy; 
or for any other agricultural or horticultural use or any combination thereof. Includes the 
preparation of the products raised thereon for man's use and disposal by marketing or 
otherwise.  

B. Wineries, and wine sales and tasting rooms when operated in conjunction with a winery.  

C. One single-family dwelling, a prefabricated structure, or a single-family manufactured home 
subject to Chapter 17.116 for owners, operators, or help required to carry out a use specified 
in subsection A of this section, on a lot lawfully created prior to (effective date of 
Ordinance), contingent upon the availability of public sewer and water services.  

D. Accessory buildings as are needed and normally required in connections with a use specified 
in subsection A of this section.  

17.48.030 Conditional uses. 

The following uses are permitted as conditional uses, provided that such uses are approved in 
accordance with Chapter 17.152:  

A. The establishment of more than one dwelling in conjunction with farm use.  

B. Utility facility including utility rights-of-way.  

17.48.040 Limitations on use. 

A. The term "livestock", as used in this district, shall not include swine.  

B. No livestock shall be kept on parcels of less than three (3) acres.  

C. Poultry or bees shall not be kept on parcels of less than one acre.  

D. The total livestock permitted per parcel shall be limited to the square footage of the parcel divided 
by the minimum area required for each animal listed as follows:  

1. Livestock: twenty-five thousand (25,000) square feet per animal over six (6) months of age;  

2. Poultry: five hundred (500) square feet per animal;  

3. Bees: one thousand (1,000) square feet per colony.  

Page 185



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 68 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

E. If a residence is located on a parcel described in subsection D of this section, the lot area per 
animal shall be in addition to a seven thousand five hundred (7,500) square foot per residence 
requirement.  

F. Animal shelters shall not be located closer than seventy (70) feet to an abutting street or non-
agricultural district.  

17.48.050 Dimensional standards. 

The following minimum dimensional standards, with the exception of modifications permitted 
under Chapter 17.132, shall be required for all development in the agricultural holding district:  

 Minimum Lot Area  7,500 square feet 3 acres 
Minimum Yard Setbacks, except as provided for 
Accessory Structures under Chapter 17.96 

 

 Front yard  20 feet  
Rear yard  15 feet  
Side yard (interior)  5 feet  
Side yard (adjacent to street)  20 feet  
Maximum structure height  45 feet  

 

17.48.060 Development standards. 

All developments in the AH district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 
through 17.140. In addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking, as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Signs. Signs shall be subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.80.  

D. Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 
17.172. Land divisions shall be prohibited in the AH district. 

E. Rezone. A zone change in accordance with Chapter 17.180 shall be required prior to land 
division or conversion of AH property to non-agricultural use. 

 

  

Page 186



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 69 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.52 MIXED DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (MX) DISTRICT 

17.52.010 Purpose. 

A. The City of Carlton recognizes that land is a precious, non-renewable resource, and that 
conventional zoning tends to foster a pattern of development that excessively separates land uses 
and results in the requirement of extensive vehicular travel. The Mixed Density Residential (MX) 
zone is intended primarily as residential area with supporting and complementary commercial and 
public uses to support a mix of residential uses. The purpose of the Mixed Density Residential 
(MX) zone is to provide the development option of a subdivision that will promote:  

1. The physical and social integration of citizens diverse in age, lifestyle and economic status;  

2. An adequate supply of housing that is affordable by households at all income levels;  

3. A greater diversity than found in other Carlton neighborhoods of Diverse types of housing;  

4. An alternative means of developing land and otherwise promote public health, safety and 
welfare that fosters a strong sense of neighborhood identity based on a shared, coherent, 
functionally efficient physical environment; and  

5. The distinctive, small-town character of Carlton.  

B. The MX zone is designed to provide a coordinated and attractive living environment that responds 
to local conditions and emphasizes a range of good circulation opportunities for walking, bicycling, 
and driving personal vehicles. Essential development characteristics within the MX zone are:  

1. A mixing of residential housing types including detached single-family dwellings, apartments, 
and townhouses and multi-family options, in both attached and detached configurations;  

2. Studio apartment units in the same structure with single-family dwellings or their detached 
garage;  

3. Generally regular geometric network of streets, alleys and blocks arranged to provide easy 
orientation and alternative routes for each destination;  

4. A hierarchy of streets, including narrow streets convenient for a balanced mix of pedestrians 
and automobiles, and wider streets to carry greater traffic;  

5 4. Well-configured squares, gardens, and Common and private open spaces woven into street 
and block patterns and dedicated to collective social activity, recreation and visual 
enjoyment.  

17.52.020 Residential density and variety. 

To achieve balance and integration of a range of housing types, sizes, and densities, the mixed 
density residential (MX) zone relies on three (3) criteria the following standards apply.  

A. The intent of the MX zone is to achieve an overall density of nine (9) dwelling units per net 
acre of residential land. The minimum net density shall be 8 dwelling units per net acre. 

B. The maximum net density shall be 20 dwelling units per net acre. 

B C. To reflect the demand for rental and higher-density housing within the region, at least 
twenty-five (25) percent of the units must be either in multi-family or attached single-family 

Page 187



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 70 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

structures, e.g., townhomes or duplexes. No single residential dwelling type may account for 
more than 75 percent of the units in a proposed development. 

C. To meet the continuing demand for single-family housing while reducing land costs, the 
majority of residential land in each neighborhood should be for higher-density single-family 
housing, either detached (generally between six (6) to nine (9) dwellings per net acre) or 
attached (generally between nine (9) to twelve (12) dwellings per net acre).  

17.52.030 Permitted uses. 

Within any MX zone, no structure shall be used, constructed, erected, or altered, and no lot shall 
be used or occupied for any purposes except the following: The following uses are permitted in the 
Mixed Density Residential District: 

A. Residential dwellings, including single-family, manufactured homes, and multifamily 
structures. Single-family dwelling, including a manufactured home or a prefabricated 
structure. 

B. Accessory dwelling, subject to Section 17.20.070. 

C. Duplex dwelling. 

D. Townhouse dwelling. 

E. Multi-family dwelling. 

F. Cottage cluster subject to the provisions of Section 17.106.040. 

B G. Open space uses.  

C H. Licensed residential care homes and facilities as defined by ORS 197.660. All residential care 
homes and residential care facilities shall be duly licensed by the State of Oregon prior to 
occupancy. Residential homes and residential care facilities. 

D I. Child care facilities, as defined by this title, with ORS 657A.030 and 657A.250 to 657A.450. 
Family child care homes. 

J. Home occupation, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.124.  

E K. A single-family Vacation rental dwelling unit, when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental 
dwelling permit in accordance with the vacation rental dwelling conditional use standards and 
procedures set forth in subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.125.  

17.52.040 Conditional uses. 

If authorized under the procedures provided for conditional uses in this title, the following uses will 
be permitted in the MX zone:  

A. Manufactured dwelling park, in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17.120.  

B. A two-family vacation rental dwelling when such dwelling obtains a vacation rental permit for 
both units, unless one of the units is owner-occupied, in accordance with the vacation rental 
dwelling standards set forth in Section 17.125.010.  

Page 188



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 71 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.52.050 Building setbacks. 

A minimum of five (5) foot setback is required from all alleys. For residential uses, a minimum of 
ten (10) foot setback is required for a front yard (street side) setback, except 20 feet for a garage or 
carport opening when facing street. Open covered and uncovered porches may extend within the front 
setback to within five (5) feet of the front property line. Except as may otherwise be required with the 
MX zone, there shall be no other minimum building setbacks.  

17.52.060 Lot requirements. 

A. There are no minimum lot size requirements, except as lot size is controlled by overall MX zone 
density and lot coverage requirements. Minimum lot size requirements for the MX District are: 

1. Single-family and duplex dwelling: 4,000 square feet. 

2. Townhouse dwelling: 2,000 square feet and 2,400 square feet for corner lots. 

3. Cottage cluster: 8,000 square feet. 

3.  All other lots: 5,000 square feet. 

The minimum lot size requirements shall apply in conjunction with the maximum density 
standard; the more restrictive standard shall control. 

B. Lot Frontage. Lots within the MX zone shall have the following street frontage requirements:  

 Maximum  Minimum  
Single-Family Residential, 
Duplex, Cottage Cluster 

100 feet  25 24 feet  

Townhouse 40 feet 20 feet except 24 feet for 
corner lots 

Multi-family Residential  30 feet/unit  6 feet/unit, min. 24 40 feet  
 

C. Lot Coverage in the MX Zone. The total lot coverage including area covered by buildings, roofed 
structures, and impervious paved surfaces, shall not exceed seventy-five (75) percent.  

17.52.070 Building height. 

No building height shall exceed three (3) stories or thirty-five (35) feet in height.  

17.52.080 Building and site design Development standards. 

All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of Chapter 17.106. All development 
in the MX district shall comply with the applicable provisions of Chapters 17.128 through 17.140. In 
addition, the following specific standards shall apply:  

A. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures as provided for in Chapter 17.96.  

B. Off-street Parking. Parking shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68.  

C. Subdivisions and Partitions. Land divisions shall be reviewed in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapters 17.172 through 17.176, as applicable.  

D. Multi-family and townhouse dwellings (three or more units) and cottage clusters shall be 
subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156.  

Page 189



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 72 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

E. Signs. Signs shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.80.  

F. Driveways. Driveways shall conform to the standards 17.68.060.  

G. Landscaping and Screening. Minimum landscaped area requirements of Section 17.84.050 
shall be met, including landscaping requirements for all front and street side yards. Other 
landscaping, fencing or other screening may be required pursuant to land division approval 
or other land use approval. All landscaping shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 
17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building occupancy permits.  

H. Building and Site Design. All residential structures shall conform to the design standards of 
Chapter 17.106.  

1. Single-family dwellings shall comply with the garage or carport standards in Section 
17.106.025.  

17.52.090 Reserved. 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 693, § 1(Exh. A), adopted Dec. 12, 2011, repealed § 17.52.090, which 
pertained to architectural guidelines and standards and derived from Ord. No. 642, § 1, adopted 
2005.  

17.52.100 Reserved. 

Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 693, § 1(Exh. A), adopted Dec. 12, 2011, repealed § 17.52.100, which 
pertained to special standards for certain uses and derived from Ord. No. 642, § 1, adopted 2005.  

 

 

  

Page 190



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 73 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.56 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT (FP) OVERLAY ZONE 

17.56.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of the floodplain management overlay zone is to:  

A. Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, and property due to water or 
erosion hazards or which result in damaging increases in erosion or in flood heights or 
velocities.  

B. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities that serve such uses, be protected 
against flood damage at the time of initial construction.  

C. Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels and natural protective barriers, 
which help accommodate or channel flood waters.  

D. Control filling, grading, dredging and other development that may be subject to or increase 
flood damage.  

E. Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert 
floodwaters or which may increase flood hazards in other areas.  

17.56.015 Definitions. 

For the purpose of this overlay zone, the following terms shall mean:  

A. "Appeal" means a request for a review of the interpretation of any provision of this chapter 
or a request for a variance.  

B. "Area of Shallow Flooding" means a designated AO, or AH Zone on the flood insurance rate 
map (FIRM). The base flood depths range from one (1) to three (3) feet; a clearly defined 
channel does not exist; the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate; and, velocity 
flow may be evident. AO is characterized as sheet flow and AH indicates ponding.  

C. "Area of Special Flood Hazard" means the land in the flood plain within a community subject 
to a one (1) percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year. Designation on maps 
always includes the letters A or V.  

D. "Base Flood" means the flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or exceeded 
in any given year. Also referred to as the "100-year flood." Designation on maps always 
includes the letters A or V.  

E. "Basement" means any area of the building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on 
all sides.  

F. "Below-Grade Crawl Space" means an enclosed area below the base flood elevation in which 
the interior grade is not more than two (2) feet below the lowest adjacent exterior grade and 
the height, measured from the interior grade of the crawlspace to the top of the crawlspace 
foundation, does not exceed four (4) feet at any point.  

G. "Critical Facility" means a facility for which even a slight chance of flooding might be too 
great. Critical facilities include, but are not limited to schools, nursing homes, hospitals police, 
fire and emergency response installations, installations which produce, use or store 
hazardous materials or hazardous waste.  

Page 191



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 74 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

H. "Development" means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, 
including but not limited to buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, 
paving, excavation or drilling operations or storage of equipment or materials located within 
the area of special flood hazard.  

I. "Elevated Building" means for insurance purposes, a nonbasement building that has its lowest 
elevated floor raised above ground level by foundation walls, shear walls, post, piers, pilings, 
or columns.  

J. "Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park 
subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, 
the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is 
completed before the effective date of the adopted floodplain management regulations.  

K. "Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means the preparation of 
additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction 
of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads).  

L. "Flood" or "Flooding" means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete 
inundation of normally dry land areas from:  

1. The overflow of inland or tidal waters, and/or  

2. The unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source.  

M. "Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)" means the official map on which the Federal Insurance 
Administration has delineated both the areas of special flood hazards and the risk premium 
zones applicable to the community.  

N. "Flood Insurance Study" means the official report provided by the Federal Insurance 
Administration that includes flood profiles, the flood boundary-floodway map, and the water 
surface elevation of the base flood.  

O. "Floodway" means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas 
that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing 
the water surface elevation more than one (1) foot.  

P. "Lowest Floor" means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An 
unfinished or flood resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or 
storage, in an area other than a basement area, is not considered a building's lowest floor, 
provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the 
applicable non-elevation design requirements of this chapter found at Subsection 17.56.060 
A.2.  

Q. "Manufactured Home" means a structure, transportable in one (1) or more sections, which is 
built on a permanent chassis and is designed for use with or without a permanent foundation 
when attached to the required utilities. The term "manufactured home" does not include a 
"recreational vehicle."  

R. "Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land 
divided into two (2) or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.  

Page 192



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 75 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

S. "Mean Sea Level (MSL)" means, for purposes of the National Flood Insurance Program, the 
North American Vertical Datum of 1988 or other datum, to which base flood elevations 
shown on a community's flood insurance rate map are referenced.  

T. "New Construction" means structures for which the "start of construction" commenced on or 
after the effective date of this chapter.  

U. "New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision" means a manufactured home park or 
subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, 
the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is 
completed on or after the effective date of adopted floodplain management regulations.  

V. "Recreational Vehicle" means a vehicle which is:  

1. Built on a single chassis;  

2. Four hundred (400) square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal 
projection;  

3. Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and  

4. Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters 
for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use.  

W. "Start of Construction" includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building 
permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, 
placement or other improvement was within one hundred eighty (180) days of the permit 
date. The actual start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a 
structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the 
construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a 
manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land 
preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it include the installation of streets 
and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or 
foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the 
property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or 
not part of the main structure. For a substantial improvement, the actual start of construction 
means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, 
whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.  

X. "State Building Code" means the combined specialty codes adopted by the State of Oregon.  

Y. "Structure" means a walled and roofed building including a gas or liquid storage tank that is 
principally above ground.  

Z. "Substantial Damage" means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost 
of restoring the structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed fifty (50) 
percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.  

AA. "Substantial Improvement" means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a structure, 
the cost of which equals or exceeds fifty (50) percent of the market value of the structure 
either:  

1. Before the improvement or repair is started; or  

Page 193



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 76 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. If the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before the damage occurred. 
For the purposes of this definition, "substantial improvement" is considered to occur 
when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building 
commences, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the 
structure.  

The term does not, however, include either:  

1. Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local 
health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local 
code enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living 
conditions, or  

2. Any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or a State 
Inventory of Historic Places.  

AB. "Water Dependent" means a structure for commerce or industry, which cannot exist in any 
other location and is dependent on the water by reason of the intrinsic nature of its 
operations.  

17.56.020 Applicability. 

A. Lands To Which This Chapter Applies. This chapter shall apply to all areas of special flood hazards 
within the jurisdiction of the City of Carlton, Yamhill County, Oregon.  

B. Basis for Establishing the Areas of Special Flood Hazard. The areas of special flood hazard identified 
by the Federal Insurance Administration in a scientific and engineering report entitled "The Flood 
Insurance Study for Yamhill County, Oregon and Incorporated Areas, dated March 2, 2010," with 
accompanying flood insurance map (FIRM) is hereby adopted by reference and declared to be part 
of this chapter. The flood insurance study and the FIRM are on file at the City Hall. The best 
available information for flood hazard area identification as outlined in Subsection 17.56.070 A. 
shall be the basis for regulation until a new FIRM is issued which incorporates the data utilized 
under Subsection 17.56.070 A.  

17.56.030 Warning and disclaimer. 

The degree of flood protection required by this chapter is considered reasonable for regulatory 
purposes and is based on scientific and engineering considerations. Larger floods can and will occur on 
rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. This chapter does not 
imply that land outside the areas of special flood hazards or uses permitted within such areas will be 
free from flooding or flood damages. This chapter shall not create liability on the part of the City of 
Carlton, any officer or employee thereof, or the Federal Insurance Administration, for any flood 
damages that result from reliance on this chapter or any administrative decision lawfully made 
thereunder.  

17.56.040 Development procedures. 

A. Floodplain Development Permit Required. A development permit shall be obtained before 
construction or development begins within any area of special flood hazard established in 
Subsection 17.56.020 B.  

B. Review Procedure. A floodplain development permit required by this chapter shall be reviewed as 
a Type I II action in accordance with the application procedures found in Section 17.188.010 

Page 194



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 77 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.188.020. If staff finds that the facts of the particular application require interpretation, then a 
public hearing before the Planning Commission shall be scheduled and notice given in accordance 
with the procedures for Type II actions.  

C. Application for Floodplain Development Permit. Application for a floodplain development permit 
shall be made on forms furnished by the city manager and may include but not be limited to plans 
in duplicate drawn to scale showing the nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area in 
question; existing or proposed structures, fill, storage of materials, drainage facilities, and the 
location of the foregoing. Specifically, the following information is required:  

1. Elevation in relation to mean sea level, of the lowest floor (including basement) of all 
structures;  

2. Elevation in relation to mean sea level of floodproofing in any structure;  

3. Certification by a registered professional engineer or architect that the floodproofing 
methods for any nonresidential structure meet the floodproofing criteria in Subsection 
17.56.060 B.; and  

4. Description of the extent to which a watercourse will be altered or relocated as a result of 
proposed development.  

5. Calculations showing that there will be no net cut or fill in the area of special flood hazard. 

6. Site plan showing: the location and elevation of the area of special flood hazard, existing 
site contours, proposed site contours, location of proposed improvements, existing site 
features. 

7. FIRM map of the area of the proposed development. 

8. Written document addressing the standards as set forth in 17.56.050 and 17.56.060. 

17.56.045 Local administrator. 

The City Manager or designee is hereby appointed to administer and implement this chapter by 
granting or denying development permit applications in accordance with its provisions.  

A. Duties and responsibilities of the local administrator shall include, but not be limited to:  

1. Review all floodplain development permits to determine that the permit requirements 
and conditions of this chapter have been satisfied.  

2. Review all floodplain development permits to determine that all necessary permits have 
been obtained from those federal, state, or local governmental agencies from which 
prior approval is required.  

3. Review all floodplain development permits to determine if the proposed development is 
located in the floodway. If located in the floodway, assure that the encroachment 
provisions of Subsection 17.56.060 E.1. are met.  

B. Information to be Obtained and Maintained.  

1. From the developer of the property, obtain and record the actual (as-built) elevation (in 
relation to mean sea level) of the lowest floor (including basements and below-grade 
crawlspaces) of all new or substantially improved structures, and whether or not the 
structure contains a basement.  

Page 195



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 78 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. For all new or substantially improved floodproofed structures where elevation data is 
provided through the flood insurance study, FIRM, or as required in Subsection 
17.56.070 A.:  

a. Verify and record the actual elevation as furnished by the developer (in relation to 
mean sea level) to which the structure was floodproofed, and  

b. Maintain the floodproofing certifications required in Subsection 17.56.040 C.3.  

3. Maintain for public inspection all records pertaining to the provision of this chapter.  

17.56.050 General standards. 

In all areas of special flood hazards, the following standards are required:  

A. Anchoring. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be anchored to prevent 
flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the structure, and shall be installed using methods 
and practices that minimize flood damage. Anchoring methods may include, but are not 
limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.  

B. Construction Materials and Methods.  

1. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed with materials 
and utility equipment resistant to flood damage;  

2. All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed using methods 
and practices that minimize flood damage;  

3. Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing and air conditioning equipment and other 
service facilities shall be designed and/or otherwise elevated or located so as to prevent 
water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of 
flooding.  

C. Utilities.  

1. All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or 
eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system;  

2. New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or 
eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharge from the systems 
into floodwaters; and  

3. On-site waste disposal systems shall be located to avoid impairment to them or 
contamination from them during flooding.  

D. Grading. 

 1. Grading shall be accomplished such that there is no net cut or fill within the area of 
special flood hazard. 

 2. Grading shall be accomplished such that flow paths are not interrupted. 

3. Grading and improvements shall be accomplished such that the floodplain elevation is 
not impacted. 

D E. Subdivision Proposals.  

1. All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage;  

Page 196



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 79 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage;  

3. All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to 
flood damage; and  

4. Base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivision and planned unit 
development proposals.  

E F. Review of Building Permits. Where elevation data is not available, applications for building 
permits shall be reviewed to assure that proposed construction will be reasonably safe from 
flooding. The test of reasonableness is a local judgment and includes use of historical data, 
high water marks, photographs of past flooding, etc., where available.  

17.56.060 Specific standards. 

In all areas of special flood hazards where base flood elevation data has been provided the 
following provisions are required:  

A. Residential Construction.  

1. New construction and substantial improvement of any residential structure shall have 
the lowest floor, including basement, elevated a minimum of one (1) foot above the 
base flood elevation.  

2. Fully enclosed areas below the lowest floor that are subject to flooding are prohibited, 
or shall be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls 
by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this requirement 
must either be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect or must meet 
or exceed the following minimum criteria:  

a. A minimum of two (2) openings having a total net area of not less than one (1) 
square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be 
provided.  

b. The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one (1) foot above grade.  

c. Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, or other coverings or devices 
provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters.  

B. Nonresidential Construction. New construction and substantial improvement of any 
commercial, industrial or other nonresidential structure shall either have the lowest floor 
including basement, elevated to the level of the base flood elevation; or, together with 
attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall:  

1. Be floodproofed so that below the base flood level the structure walls shall be 
substantially impermeable to the passage of water;  

2. Have structural components capable of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads 
and effects of buoyancy;  

3. Be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that the design and 
methods of construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for 
meeting provisions of this chapter based on their development and/or review of the 

Page 197



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 80 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

structural design, specifications and plans. Such certification shall be provided to the 
official as set forth in Subsection 17.56.045 B.  

4. Nonresidential structures that are elevated, not floodproofed, must meet the same 
standards for space below the lowest floor as described in Subsection A.2.  

5. Applicants floodproofing nonresidential buildings shall be notified that flood insurance 
premiums will be based on rates that are one (1) foot below the floodproofed level (e.g. 
a building floodproofed to the base flood level will be rated as one (1) foot below the 
base flood level).  

C. Manufactured Homes.  

1. All manufactured homes to be placed or substantially improved on sites:  

a. Outside of a manufactured home park or subdivision;  

b. In a new manufactured home park or subdivision;  

c. In an expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision; or  

d. In an existing manufactured home park or subdivision on which a manufactured 
home has incurred "substantial damage" as the result of a flood;  

shall be elevated on a permanent foundation such that the finished floor of the manufactured 
home is elevated a minimum of eighteen (18) inches (forty-six (46) cm) above the base flood elevation 
and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and 
lateral movement.  

2. Manufactured homes to be placed or substantially improved on sites in an existing 
manufactured home park or subdivision that are not subject to the provisions of 
subsection 1. above, be elevated so that either:  

a. The finished floor of the manufactured home is eighteen (18) inches (forty-six (46) 
cm) above the base flood elevation, or  

b. The manufactured home chassis is supported by reinforced piers or other 
foundation elements of at least equivalent strength that are no less than thirty-six 
(36) inches in height above grade and be securely anchored to an adequately 
anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  

D. Recreational Vehicles. Recreational vehicles placed on sites are required to either:  

1. Be on the site for fewer than one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days;  

2. Be fully licensed and ready for highway use, on its wheels or jacking system, is attached 
to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no 
permanently attached additions; or  

3. Meet the requirements of Subsection C. above and the elevation and anchoring 
requirements for manufactured homes.  

E. Floodways. Located within areas of special flood hazard are areas designated as floodways. 
Since the floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the velocity of floodwaters that 
carry debris, potential projectiles and erosion potential, the following provisions apply:  

Page 198



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 81 of 81 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Prohibit encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements, and 
other development. unless certification by a registered professional engineer or 
architect is provided demonstrating that encroachments shall not result in any increase 
in flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood discharge;  

2. If Subsection E.1. of this section is satisfied, all new construction and substantial 
improvements shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of this 
section and Section 17.56.050;  

3. Prohibit the placement of any manufactured housing, except in an existing mobile home 
park or existing mobile home subdivision.  

17.56.070 Other considerations. 

A. Use of Other Base Flood Data. When base flood elevation data has not been provided in 
accordance with Section 17.56.020, the local administrator shall obtain, review and reasonably 
utilize any base flood elevation and floodway data available from a federal, state or other source, 
in order to administer this chapter.  

B. Alteration of Watercourses.  

1. Adjacent affected communities, the State Department of Land Conservation and 
Development and other appropriate state and federal agencies shall be notified prior to any 
alteration or relocation of a watercourse, and evidence of such notification shall be submitted 
to the Federal Insurance Administration.  

2. Maintenance shall be required within the altered or relocated portion of said watercourse so 
that the flood carrying capacity is not diminished.  

C. Interpretation of FIRM Boundaries. Interpretations where needed, as to exact location of the 
boundaries of the areas of special flood hazards (for example, where there appears to be a conflict 
between a mapped boundary and actual field conditions). The person contesting the location of 
the boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretation. Such appeals 
shall be granted consistent with the standards of Section 60.6 of the Rules and Regulations of the 
National Flood Insurance Program (44 CFR).  

 

Page 199



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division III. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Chapter 17.60 GENERAL PROVISIONS  

17.60.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to:  

A. Carry out the comprehensive plan with respect to development standards and policies.  

B. Insure Ensure that natural features of the landscape, such as landforms, natural drainage-
ways, trees and wooded areas, are preserved as much as possible and protected during 
construction.  

C. Promote energy conservation and efficiency in development through site planning and 
landscaping.  

D. Promote and maintain healthy environments and minimize development impacts upon 
surrounding properties and neighborhoods.  

E. Provide an economical, safe, accessible, and multi-modal transportation system for the 
community.  

17.60.020 Application of standards. 

A. The standards set forth in this chapter shall apply to partitions; subdivisions; planned unit 
developments; commercial, institutional and industrial projects; single-family dwellings, duplexes, 
and multi-family residential structures. Developments outside the city which will tie into or take 
access from city streets, or increase the flow or change the point of discharge to the city storm 
drainage system shall be subject to the improvement standards set forth in this title to the extent 
necessary to mitigate the impacts to these systems. 

B. The application of these standards to a particular development shall be modified as follows:  

1. Development standards that are unique to a particular use, or special use, shall be set forth 
within the district;  

2. Those development standards which are unique to a particular district shall be set forth in the 
section governing that district.  

C. No public works construction shall be undertaken until an agreement is executed between the 
developer and the city specifying the period within which required improvements and repairs shall 
be completed, as well as referencing the terms and conditions under which the city has approved 
the development. The agreement shall be in the form acceptable to the city attorney.  

17.60.030 Application of public facility standards. 

A. Standards for the provision and utilization of public facilities or services available within the City of 
Carlton shall apply to all land developments in accordance with the following table of reference. 
No development permit shall be approved unless the following improvements are provided for 
prior to occupancy or operation, or unless future provision is assured in accordance with Chapter 
17.216. 

Page 200



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Public Facilities Improvement Requirements Table 

  Fire  
Hydrant  

Streets  Water  
Hookup  

Sewer  
Hookup  

Storm  
Drainage  

Street  
Lights  

Single-family Dwelling, 
Townhouse (2 units) and  
Duplex  

No  C-2  Yes  Yes  Yes  No  

Accessory Dwelling Unit No No No No No No 
Multifamily Dwelling, 
Cottage Cluster and 
Townhouse (3 or more 
units)  

C-1  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  

New Commercial, 
Institutional or Industrial 
Development Building  

C-1  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  

Commercial, Institutional 
or Industrial Change of 
Use or Expansion  

C-1  C-3  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  

New Industrial Building  C-1  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  
Industrial Change of Use 
or Expansion  

C-1  C-3  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  

Partition, Subdivisions, 
PUD, or Manufactured 
Home Park  

C-1  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  Yes  

 

Legend:  
 

C-1  Fire Hydrants for Commercial, Industrial Expansions, or Residential Uses: One or more fire 
hydrants are required as per the Uniform Building Code and Uniform Oregon Fire Code or if adequate 
fire flows are not available to the site. If the existing water lines are insufficient to provide adequate fire 
flows, water lines shall be upgraded to provide sufficient capacity at the developer's expense.  

C-2  New Single-Family Dwellings, Townhouses (2 units) or Duplexes: New dwellings are responsible 
for sidewalk construction across all property frontages including curb and gutter where necessary. In 
addition, if so required by the city engineer, a three-quarter street improvement to city street standards 
for all boundary streets (See Section 17.128.050).   

a. Demolition of an existing dwelling, and construction of a replacement dwelling is considered a 
new dwelling with regard to improvements.  

b. Improvements are required for additions which exceed fifty percent of the existing square 
footage of dwellings or remodels where the value of the alterations and improvements 
exceeds fifty percent of the current home value, as measured by the County Assessor. 
Garages, carports, sheds, and porches may not be included in the calculation of square 
footage if these spaces are not living spaces. 

Page 201



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C-3  Street Improvements for Commercial, Institutional or Industrial Change of Use or Expansions: The 
city will require improvement to full city standards when the use meets any of the following criteria:  

 a.  The expanded use generates an average of 100+ trips per day as documented in the Trip 
Generation Manual of the Institute of Transportation engineers or other qualified source; or  

 b.  The expanded use includes at least weekly shipping and delivery trips by vehicles over twenty 
thousand (20,000) pounds gross vehicle weight; or  

 c.  The subject use expands by at least twenty-five (25) percent based upon volume of business or 
footprint of facilities.  

Lots fronting on Highway 47 must obtain access permits from the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT).  

 

17.60.040 Design standards. 

The design of all improvements within existing and proposed rights-of-way and easements, all 
improvements to be maintained by the city, and all improvements for which city approval is required, 
shall comply with the requirements of the most recently adopted Standard Specifications for Public 
Works Design Standards Construction in the City of Carlton.  

  

Page 202



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.64 STREET STANDARDS 

17.64.010 Purpose. 

A. To provide for safe, efficient, and convenient vehicular movement in the city.  

B. To provide adequate access to all proposed and anticipated developments in the city.  

C. To provide adequate area in all public rights-of-way for sidewalks, bikeways, landscape strips, 
sanitary sewers, storm sewers, water lines, natural gas lines, power lines, and other utilities 
commonly and appropriately placed in such rights-of-way.  

D. Preserve and protect the existing and intended function of the road and other transportation 
facilities.  

E. Ensure that land uses authorized under Comprehensive Plan Map and Zoning Map 
amendments are consistent with the identified function, capacity, and level of service of 
transportation facilities.  

17.64.020 Scope. 

The provisions of this chapter shall be applicable to:  

A. The creation, dedication, or construction of all new public or private streets, pedestrian 
facilities, and bikeways in all subdivisions, partitions, or other developments in the city.  

B. The extension or widening of existing public or private street rights-of-way, easements, or 
street improvements including those which may be proposed by an individual or the city, or 
which may be required by the city in association with other development approvals.  

C. The construction or modification of any utilities, bikeways, or sidewalks in public rights-of-
way or private street easements.  

D. The planting of street trees or other landscape materials in public rights-of-way (landscape 
strip).  

17.64.030 General provisions. 

The following provisions shall apply to the dedication, construction, improvement, or other 
development of all public streets in the city, and are intended to provide a general overview of typical 
minimum design standards. All streets shall be designed in conformance with the specific requirements 
of the most recently adopted Standard Specifications for Public Works Design Standards Construction in 
the City of Carlton and the Transportation System Plan.  

The standard sections contained in Standard Specifications for Public Works Design Standards 
Construction in the City of Carlton and the Transportation System Plan are minimum requirements only 
and shall not be construed as prohibiting the city engineer from requiring thicker sections or engineer 
designed pavement sections in lieu of standard sections where conditions warrant.  

A. The location, width, and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to existing and 
planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, and to the 
proposed use of the land to be served by the streets.  

Page 203



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Development proposals shall provide for the continuation, and connection to, all streets, 
bikeways and pedestrian facilities within the development and to existing streets, bikeways 
and pedestrian facilities outside the development.  

C. Alignment. All streets other than minor streets or culs-de-sac, as far as practical, shall be in 
alignment with existing streets by continuation of the centerline thereof. The staggering of 
street alignments resulting in "T" intersections shall leave a minimum distance recommended 
by the city engineer.  

D. Future Extension of Streets. In order to promote the development of an efficient network of 
city streets and connections to state and county roads, development shall provide future 
street extensions as shown on the Future Street Plan found in the Carlton Transportation 
System Plan.  

In addition to providing for future street extensions shown on the Future Street Plan, streets, 
bikeways and pedestrian facilities, shall also be extended to the boundary of a tract being developed, 
where necessary to give access to or permit a satisfactory future development of adjoining land. Reserve 
strips and street plugs may be required to preserve the objectives of street extensions.  

E. Existing Streets.  

1. Three-quarter street improvements to all existing streets adjacent to, within or 
necessary to serve the property, as outlined in Section 17.128.050, shall be required at 
the time of partitioning or subdivision., unless the applicant demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of the city engineer that the condition and sections of the existing streets 
meet city standards and are in satisfactory condition to handle projected traffic loads.  

Full street improvements to all existing streets adjacent to, within or necessary to serve 
the property, shall be required when it is determined that the vehicular and/or pedestrian 
impacts from the proposed development necessitate such improvements.  

2. For infill development that does not include partitioning or subdivision, construction of 
sidewalks, including curb and gutter where necessary, along all property frontages shall 
be the minimum requirement of development. A three-quarter street improvement (see 
Section 17.128.050) shall be required if the city engineer determines that the existing 
streets are not in condition to handle projected traffic loads.  

3. The city shall require the applicant to record an approved improvement deferral 
agreement or non-remonstrance agreement, see Section 17.216.030, in lieu of street 
improvements, where the following criteria are met:  

a. The existing roadway condition and sections are adequate to handle existing and 
projected traffic loads; and  

b. Existing public utilities (water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer) located within the 
existing roadway are adequate, or can be improved without damaging the existing 
roadway surface.  

F. New Streets. Where new streets are created, full street improvements shall be required. 
Three-quarter streets (see Section 17.128.050) may be approved in lieu of full street 
improvements on boundary streets when the city finds it to be practical to require the 
completion of the other one-quarter street improvement when the adjoining property is 

Page 204



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

developed. The city may allow three-quarter street improvements if all of the following 
criteria are met:  

1. The adjoining land abutting the opposite side of the street is undeveloped; and  

2. Storm water drainage is provided for on the non-curbed side of three-quarter street 
improvements in areas judged by the city engineer to have drainage concerns.  

One-foot wide reserve strips and street plugs may be required to preserve the 
objectives of three-quarter streets.  

G. Culs-de-Sac. Culs-de-sac shall have maximum lengths of four hundred (400) feet and serve no 
more than eighteen (18) dwelling units. All culs-de-sac shall terminate with circular turn-a-
rounds.  

H. Dead-End Streets. When it appears necessary to continue a street or public access way into a 
future subdivision or adjacent acreage, streets, or public access way shall be platted to a 
boundary of a subdivision or partition. The street may be platted without a turnaround unless 
the Planning Commission finds that a turnaround is necessary.  

I. Street Names. Street names and numbers shall conform to the established pattern in the city 
and shall be subject to the approval of the city. Street names shall be required for all new 
publicly dedicated streets and private streets.  

J. Grades and Curves.  Grades and curves shall meet the standards defined in the current 
Public Works Design Standards. Grades shall not exceed six percent on arterials, ten (10) 
percent on collectors, or twelve (12) percent on any other public or private street. To provide 
for adequate drainage, all streets shall have a minimum slope of 0.5 percent. Center line radii 
of curves shall not be less than three hundred (300) feet on major arterials, two hundred 
(200) feet on minor arterials, or one hundred (100) feet on other streets, and shall be to an 
even ten (10) feet. On arterials there shall be a tangent of not less than one hundred (100) 
feet between reversed curves. Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make it 
otherwise impractical to provide buildable lots, the Planning Commission may accept steeper 
grades and sharper curves.  

K. Marginal Access Frontage Streets. If a development abuts or contains an existing or proposed 
arterial street or railroad right-of-way, the city may require marginal access frontage streets, 
reverse frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a non-access 
reservation along the rear or side property line, or such other treatment as may be necessary 
for adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and 
local traffic.  

L. Vision Clearance Area. Vision clearance areas shall be maintained on corner lots at the 
intersection of all public streets and at the intersections of a public street with a private street 
as outlined in Section 17.92.080.  

M. Spacing Between Public Road Intersections. Spacing between public road intersections for 
each functional class of road shall conform to access spacing standards found in Section 
17.100.030.  

N. Landscape Strip. The landscape strip includes the area located between a sidewalk and the 
curb. (see figure below). This area serves many important functions including creating space 
for a variety of underground utilities such as telephone, cable television, fiber optic cables, 

Page 205



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

etc. The landscape strip is also beneficial for locating utility poles, fire hydrants, benches, bus 
shelters and other features that might otherwise block or obstruct pedestrian travel along 
sidewalks. Landscaping helps to soften the hard edge created by pavement and curbs. Large 
trees can also provide cooling summer shade for parked cars and pedestrians. A canopy of 
street trees can help to slow traffic and enhance the beauty of the community. The physical 
separation from the street also improves the design of sidewalks by maintaining a constant 
grade without dipping at driveways, and makes American with Disabilities Act compliance 
easier. During winter months, snow can be plowed into these areas from the street and not 
block sidewalks. The landscape strip provides a physical separation from the adjacent 
roadway, providing enhanced pedestrian comfort and improved walking experience.  

 (Delete) 

Landscaping and plant materials used in the landscape strip are subject to the provisions of 
Chapter 17.84. Maintenance of landscape strips in the right-of-way is the continuing obligation of the 
adjacent property owner.  

17.64.040 Right-of-way and improvement widths. 

The following standards are general criteria for all types of public streets, bikeways, landscape 
strips and sidewalks in the city. These standards shall be the minimum requirements for all streets, 
except where modifications are permitted under Section 17.64.050.  

Street Classification  ROW  
Width  

(ft.)  

Pavement  
Width  

(ft.)  

Sidewalk  
Width  

(ft.)  

Landscape  
Strip  
(ft.)  

Bikeway  
Width  

(ft.)  

Parking  

Local  Typical Residential 47-57 
50 

34  51  5 (optional)  N/R  2 sides  

Commercial/  
Industrial  
Districts  

60  36  51  5 (optional)  N/R  2 sides  

Local Narrow  
Option2  

39-49  26  5  5 (optional)  N/R  1 side  

Collector  Existing Street  55  40  61  N/R  None4  2 sides  
New Street  71  46  61  5  5  2 sides  
School Zone3  49  34  6  N/R  5  None5  

Page 206



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Arterials  Highway 47 (N. 
and S. of Main St.)  

65  50  61  N/R  6  None  

Highway 47 (Main 
Street - STA)  

60  40  10  N/R  None  2 sides  

Main Street (E. 
and W. of Highway 
47)  

65  50  61  N/R  5  2 sides  

Alley   20  12 feet  N/R  N/R  N/R  N/R  
Cul-de-
sac bulb  

 45 
foot  
radius  

38 foot  
radius  

5  N/R  N/R  N/R  

 
1  Ten-foot sidewalks required along commercially zoned property.  
2  Local narrow option may be requested allowed in residential areas only that provide access to nineteen (19) or fewer 

dwelling units.  May only be used with approval of the City.  
3  Applies to 3rd Street from Main Street to Polk Street and Polk Street from Pine Street to 3rd Street.  
4  Bicycle lanes required on Grant Street from Yamhill Street to Pine Street and Yamhill Street from Main Street to Grant 

Street.  
5  On-street parking permitted to be included during design phase where ROW available.  

The property line radius at intersections of local streets shall be twenty (20) feet. All other 
intersection property line radii shall be according to the specifications of the city engineer.  

17.64.050 Modification of right-of-way and improvement width. 

The city, pursuant to the review procedures of Chapter 17.196, may allow modification to the 
public street standards of Section 17.64.040 may be modified through either a major modification or a 
minor modification., when both of the following criteria are satisfied: Consideration shall be given to 
public safety, durability, cost of maintenance, function, appearance, and other appropriate factors to 
advance the goals of the adopted Carlton Comprehensive Plan and Transportation System Plan as a 
whole. 

A. Major Modification. When a major modification is desired as part of a development 
application, the modifications shall be processed as a Type III modification and shall meet 
the following criteria:  

A1. The modification is necessary to provide design flexibility in instances where:  

1a. Unusual topographic, geographic or physical conditions require a reduced width or 
grade separation of improved surfaces impose an unusual hardship on the 
applicant, and an equivalent alternative which can accomplish the same design 
purpose is available; or  

2b. Parcel shape or configuration precludes accessing a proposed development with a 
street which meets the full standards of Section 17.64.040; or  

3c. A modification is necessary to preserve trees or other natural features determined 
by the city to be significant to the aesthetic character of the area; or  

Page 207



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

4d. A planned unit development is proposed and the modification of street standards 
is necessary to provide greater privacy or aesthetic quality to the development. ; or 

e. A minor change to a specification or standard is required to address a specific 
design or construction problem which, if not enacted, will result in an unusual 
hardship. Self-imposed hardships shall not be used as a reason to grant a 
modification request; or  

f. Application of the standards of this chapter to the development would be grossly 
disproportional to the impacts created.  

B2. Modification of the standards of Section 17.64.040 shall only be approved if the city finds 
that the specific design proposed provides adequate vehicular access based on 
anticipated traffic volumes.  

B. Minor Modification. When a minor change to an approved development application is 
required to address a specific design or construction problem the modifications shall be 
processed as a Type I modification by the city engineer using the criteria:  

1. Modifications to driveway location, size, and sharing standards;  

2. Modifications to sidewalk and planter strips widths and location that preserve existing 
street trees, trees on private property, or to ensure compliance with ADA standards.  

3. Other modifications that do not expand or reduce a quantifiable standard by more 
than twenty (20) percent.  This may include sight distance, vertical alignment, 
horizontal alignment, geometric design, access spacing, and grades. 

4. The modification is the minimum necessary to achieve the purpose. 

17.64.060 Private streets. 

A. Streets and other rights-of-way serving a planned unit development that are not dedicated for 
public use shall comply with the following:  

1. Private streets shall only be allowed where the applicable criteria of Section 17.88.030(DC) 
are satisfied. Private streets shall have a minimum easement width of twenty (20) feet and a 
minimum paved or curbed width of eighteen (18 20) feet.  Private streets shall serve a 
maximum of ten (10) dwelling units.  

2. Unless otherwise specified in the Standard Specifications for Public Works Design Standards 
Construction in the City of Carlton, all private streets serving more than two dwelling units 
shall be constructed to the same pavement structural section specifications required for 
public streets. Provision for the maintenance of the street shall be provided in the form of a 
maintenance agreement, homeowners association, or other instrument acceptable to the city 
attorney.  

3. A turn-around shall be required for any private street which has only one outlet and which is 
in excess of two hundred (200) feet long or which serves more than two residences. Turn-
arounds for private streets shall be either a circular turn-around with a minimum paved 
radius of thirty-five (35) feet, or a "tee" or "hammerhead" turn-around with a minimum 
paved dimension across the "tee" of seventy (70) feet and a twenty (20) foot width with 
appropriate radius at the corners.  

Page 208



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Any grant of a private street or land functioning as an easement shall not be accepted by the city 
and dedicated for public use except upon approval of the council and upon meeting the 
specifications of Sections 17.64.020 and 17.64.040.  

17.64.070 Access easements. 

A private access easement created as the result of an approved partitioning shall conform to the 
following:  

A. Partition access easements shall only be allowed where the applicable criteria of Section 
17.88.030(D) are satisfied. The easement shall comply with the following standards:  

1. Minimum width: twenty (20) feet;  

2. Minimum paved or curb to curb width: twenty (20) feet;  

3. Maximum length: two hundred fifty (250) feet;  

4. No more than three dwelling units shall have sole access to the easement.  

B. Unless otherwise specified in the Standard Specifications for Public Works Design Standards 
Construction in the City of Carlton, all private streets serving more than two dwelling units 
shall be constructed to the same pavement structural section specifications required for 
public streets. Provision for the maintenance of the street shall be provided in the form of a 
maintenance agreement, homeowners association, or other instrument acceptable to the city 
attorney.  

C. A turn-around shall be required for any access easement which has only one outlet and which 
is in excess of two hundred (200) feet long or which serves more than two residences. Turn-
arounds shall be either a circular turn-around with a minimum paved radius of thirty-five (35) 
feet, or a "tee" or "hammerhead" turn-around with a minimum paved dimension across the 
"tee" of seventy (70) feet and a twenty (20) foot width with appropriate radius at the corners.  

D. All private access easements serving more than two residences shall be designated as fire 
lanes and signed for no parking.   

Page 209



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.68 OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

17.68.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to provide adequate areas for the parking, maneuvering, loading and 
unloading of vehicles for all land uses in the city.  

17.68.020 Scope. 

Development of off-street parking and loading areas for commercial, industrial, or multi-family 
development shall be subject to the Site Design Review procedures of Chapter 17.156. The provisions of 
this chapter shall apply to the following types of development:  

A. Any new building or structure erected after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this 
title, except as provided in subsection E of this section.  

B. The construction or provision of additional floor area, seating capacity, or other expansion of 
an existing building or structure.  

C. A change in the use of a building or structure that would require additional parking spaces or 
off-street loading areas under the provisions of this chapter.  

D. As a condition of approval in a land use decision.  

E. Off-street parking and off-street loading areas requirements for a particular use as 
enumerated in this chapter are not required for a new or expanding use when located within 
the Downtown Parking District delineated in this chapter per Section 17.68.120. See also, the 
requirements of Chapter 17.30 Downtown (D) District.  

17.68.030 Location. 

Off-street parking and loading areas shall be provided on the same lot with the main building or 
structure or use except that:  

A. In any residential zone or for any residential use permitted in a nonresidential zone, 
automobile parking areas may be located on another lot if such lot is within two hundred 
(200) feet of the lot containing the main building, structure or use.  

B. In any nonresidential zone, the parking area may be located off the site of the main building, 
structure or use if it is within five hundred (500) feet of such site.  

17.68.040 Joint use. 

Parking area may be used for a loading area during those times when the parking area is not 
needed or used. Parking areas may be shared subject to city approval for nonresidential uses where 
hours of operation or use are staggered such that peak demand periods do not occur simultaneously. 
The requirements of Section 17.68.050 may be reduced accordingly. Such joint use shall not be 
approved unless satisfactory legal evidence is presented which demonstrates the access and parking 
rights of parties.  

17.68.050 Off-street parking requirements. 

Except where other city code provisions waive off-street parking requirements or allow credit for 
on-street parking in lieu of off-street parking, developments and changes in use that are subject to site 

Page 210



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

design review shall provide off-street parking as required by Section 17.68.080 and approved by the city 
in the amount not less than listed below. The Planning Commission may reduce the off-street parking 
requirements contained herein without the need for a variance upon finding that the specific 
characteristics of a proposed use are different than a typical use regulated by this section and the 
proposed use warrants less parking, as demonstrated by evidence in the record.  

Residential 

A. 1 and 2 family dwellings Single family dwelling 
and townhouse 

2 spaces/dwelling unit  

B. Accessory dwelling unit 0 spaces 
C. Duplex 1 space/dwelling unit (2 total) 
D. Cottage cluster 1 space/dwelling unit 
B E. Multi-family dwellings  1 space/dwelling unit  
C. Boarding house, lodging house, or rooming 
house  

1 space/guest accommodation  

 

Public Uses 

A. Hospitals, nursing home, sanitarium, rest 
home, home for the aged, assisted living facility  

1 space per 2 beds plus 1 space/2 employees  

B. Library, reading room  1 space per 400 s.f.  
C. Day care facility Child Care Center  2 spaces/classroom  
D. Elementary or junior high school  2 spaces/classroom  
E. High school  5 spaces/classroom  
F. Other places of public assembly, including 
places of worship  

1 space/4 seats or 8 feet of bench length  

G. Government buildings  1 spaces/300 s.f. plus one space /2 employees  
 

Commercial Uses 

A. Movie theater, theater  1 space per 4 seats  
B. Amusement and recreational services  1 space/200 s.f. of gross floor area  
C. Retail store  1 space/400 s.f. of gross floor area plus one-

space/2 employees.  
D. Service or repair shop, retail store handling 
exclusively bulky merchandise such as 
automobiles and furniture  

1 space/600 s.f. of gross floor area plus one-
space/2 employees.  

E. Banks, financial institutions, professional 
offices  

1 space/200 s.f. of gross floor area plus one-
space/2 employees.  

F. Motel or hotel  1 space/guest room  
G. Eating and drinking establishment, for 
consumption on the premises or drive-through 
facility  

1 space/4 seats or 8 feet of bench length  
OR  
1 space/4 seats or 1 space/200 s.f. of floor area, 
whichever is greater  

H. Food cart  1 space/200 s.f. of gross outdoor seating area 
plus one-space/2 employees.  

Page 211



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 

Industrial Uses 

Manufacturing establishment  1 space/employee or 1 space per 5,000 s.f. of 
gross floor area, which ever is greater  

Wholesale establishment, warehouse, rail or 
truck freight terminal  

1 space/employee.  

 

17.68.055 Adjustment of parking standards. 

A. An applicant may apply for an up to a twenty (20) percent reduction to the off-street 
parking requirements as a minor variance as set forth in Section 17.148.040.  

B. An applicant may apply for a reduction to the off-street parking requirements greater than 
twenty (20) percent as a major variance as set forth in Section 17.148.050.  The applicant 
shall demonstrate compliance with the following standards in lieu of the approval criteria in 
Section 17.148.050: 

1. The application shall be accompanied by a site plan, drawn to scale, showing the 
dimensions and arrangement of the proposed development and parking plan, the extent 
of the adjustment requested along with findings for each applicable approval criteria.  

2. Approval criteria for the adjustment are as follows: 

a.  Documentation. The applicant shall document that the individual project can be 
served by the proposed amount of parking and available on-street parking by 
completing a parking analysis for surrounding uses and on-street parking 
availability. The applicant shall show that there is a continued fifteen (15) percent 
on-street parking vacancy in the area adjacent to the use during peak parking 
periods. 

i.  For the purposes of demonstrating the availability of on street parking, the 
applicant shall undertake a parking study during time periods specified by the 
community development director. The time periods shall include those during 
which the highest parking demand is anticipated by the proposed use. Multiple 
observations during multiple days shall be required. Distances are to be 
calculated as traversed by a pedestrian that utilizes sidewalks and legal 
crosswalks or an alternative manner as accepted by the community 
development director. 

ii.  The on-site parking requirements may be reduced based on the parking vacancy 
identified in the parking study. The amount of the reduction in on-site parking 
shall be calculated as follows: 

(a) Vacant on-street parking spaces within three hundred feet of the site will 
reduce on-site parking requirements by 0.5 parking spaces; and 

(b) Vacant on-street parking spaces between three hundred and six hundred 
feet of the site will reduce on-site parking requirements by 0.2 parking 
spaces. 

Page 212



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

b. Function and Use of Site. The applicant shall demonstrate that modifying the 
amount of required parking spaces will not significantly impact the use or function 
of the site and/or adjacent sites. 

c. Compatibility. The proposal is compatible with the character, scale and existing or 
planned uses of the surrounding neighborhood. 

d. Safety. The proposal does not significantly impact the safety of adjacent properties 
and rights-of-way. 

e. Services. The proposal will not create a significant impact to public services, 
including fire and emergency services. 

17.68.060 Residential driveways. 

All single and joint use residential driveways shall be paved and have a minimum of twelve (12) 
foot and maximum twenty-four (20 24) foot approach width from the curb line.  

17.68.070 Off-street loading requirements. 

Buildings or structures to be built or substantially altered which receive and distribute materials 
and merchandise by trucks shall provide and maintain off-street loading berths in sufficient number and 
size to adequately handle the needs of the particular use.  

A. The following standards shall be used in establishing the minimum number of berths 
required:  

 Gross Floor Area  Number of Berths  
Up to 10,000 s.f. square feet  1  

10,000 s.f. square feet and over  2  
 

Note: For buildings or structures up to six thousand (6,000) s.f. square feet regular off-street parking 
areas may be used to meet the off-street loading requirements.  

B. A loading berth shall contain a space a minimum of twelve (12) feet wide and thirty-five (35) 
feet long and have a vertical clearance of fourteen (14) feet. Where the vehicles generally 
used for loading and unloading exceed these dimensions, the required size of these berths 
shall be increased.  

17.68.080 Parking and loading area requirements. 

All parking and loading areas, except those for single-family dwellings, townhouses and duplexes, 
shall be developed and maintained as follows:  

A. Surfacing: all driveways, parking, and loading areas shall have a durable, hard surface.  

B. Parking spaces: parking spaces shall be a minimum nine feet wide and eighteen (18) feet in 
length.  

C. Driveways Drive Aisles. The following driveway drive aisle dimensions shall apply:  

1. Without adjacent parking, driveway drive aisle width:  

a. One-way: ten (10) feet;  

Page 213



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

b. Two-way: sixteen (16) feet.  

2. With adjacent parking:  

 Parking Angle  Driveway Drive Aisle Width  
0 to 40°  12 feet  

41 to 45°  13 feet  
46 to 55°  15 feet  
56 to 70°  18 feet  
71 to 90°  24 feet  

 

D. Areas used for parking and maneuvering of vehicles shall be drained as to avoid flow of water 
across sidewalks.  

E. Except for parking to serve residential uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to residential 
zones or adjacent to residential uses shall be designed to minimize disturbance of residents.  

F. Groups of more than four parking spaces shall be so located and served by a driveway that 
their use will require no backing movements or other maneuvering within a street right-of-
way other than an alley.  

G. Service drives to off-street parking areas shall be designed and constructed to facilitate the 
flow of traffic, provide maximum safety of traffic access and egress and the maximum safety 
of pedestrians and vehicular traffic on the site.  

H. Service drive exits shall have a minimum triangular vision clearance area two (2) sides of 
which are formed by the intersection of the driveway centerline and the street right-of-way 
line, which shall be fifteen (15) feet.  

I. Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a parking area shall be contained by a curb or a 
bumper rail at least four (4) inches high, located a minimum of three (3) feet from the 
property line, to prevent a motor vehicle from extending over an adjacent property or a 
street.  

J. Where a street(s) abutting a proposed development does not contain on-street parking and 
the classification of the subject street includes on-street parking, where practicable, the 
Planning Commission may require the developer to provide on-street parking as a condition 
of site design review or land division (subdivision or partition) approval. Where a developer is 
required to create on-street parking spaces, the Planning Commission may reduce off-street 
parking requirements for the subject development by up to an equal number of spaces.  

17.68.090 General provisions—Off-street parking and loading. 

A. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking and loading space is a continuing obligation of 
the property owner. No building permit shall be issued until plans are presented that show an area 
that is and will remain available for exclusive use as off-street parking and loading space. The 
subsequent use of property for which the building permit is issued shall be conditional upon the 
unqualified continuance and availability of the amount of parking and loading space required by 
this title. Should the owner or occupant of any lot or building change the use to which the lot or 
building is put, thereby increasing off-street parking and loading requirements, it shall be unlawful 

Page 214



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

and a violation of this title to begin or maintain such altered use until such time as the increased 
off-street parking and loading requirements are observed.  

B. Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by 
the Planning Commission based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed and expectations 
of parking and loading need.  

C. In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements for off-
street parking shall be the sum of the requirements of the several uses computed separately, 
unless a reduction is approved for shared parking pursuant to Section 17.68.040.  

D. Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of 
residents, customers, patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or 
materials or for the parking of trucks used in conducting the business or use.  

17.68.100 Parking lot landscaping and screening standards. 

All parking lots, which for purposes of this section include areas of vehicle maneuvering, parking, 
and loading, shall be landscaped and screened as follows:  

A. Lighting. Any light used to illuminate parking or loading area shall be arranged to be directed 
entirely onto the loading or parking area, shall be deflected away from any residential use 
and shall not cast a glare or reflection onto moving vehicles on the public rights-of-way.  

B. Screening Abutting Property Lines. Parking for commercial, industrial and multifamily uses 
which abut a residential use or zone property line shall be screened by a five-foot landscaped 
strip. Where a buffer between zones is required, the screening should be incorporated into 
the required buffer strip, and will not be an additional requirement. The screen shall grow to 
be at least thirty-six (36) inches higher than the finished grade of the parking areas, except for 
required vision clearance areas.  

C. Landscape Standards. Landscaping within or adjacent to a parking lot shall consist of a 
minimum of ten (10) percent of the total parking area plus a ratio of one tree per ten (10) 
parking spaces. Trees and landscaping shall be installed as follows:  

1. The tree species shall be an appropriate large canopied shade tree and shall be selected 
from the street tree list to avoid root damage to pavement and utilities, and damage 
from droppings to parked cars and pedestrians;  

2. The tree shall be planted in a landscaped area such that the tree bole is at least three (3) 
feet from any curb or paved area;  

3. The landscaped area shall be planted with shrubs, grass, or living groundcover to assure 
ninety (90) percent coverage within two years;  

4. That portion of a required landscaped yard, buffer strip or screening strip abutting 
parking stalls may be counted toward required parking lot landscaping as long as the 
tree species, living plant material coverage and placement distribution criteria are also 
met;  

5. Landscaping should be evenly distributed throughout the parking area and perimeter A 
parking or loading area or drive aisle which runs adjacent to a property line shall be 
separated from an adjacent public or private street by a landscaped area a minimum 

Page 215



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

of 10 feet in width and shall be separated from an adjacent property by a landscaped 
area a minimum of five feet in width; 

6. Landscaped areas in parking lots, service drives or loading areas shall have an interior 
width of not less than five feet; 

7. A landscaped area shall be located to separate blocks of parking spaces at a minimum 
of one landscaped area per 10 parking spaces. 

D. Wheel Guards. Parking lot landscaping shall be protected from damage by a secured wheel 
guards to prevent vehicles entering into landscaped areas.  

E. Hedge Screening. The required hedge screen shall be installed as follows:  

1. Evergreen shrubs shall be planted so that eighty (80) percent of the desired screening is 
achieved within two (2) years, one hundred (100) percent within four (4) years;  

2. Living ground cover in the screen strip such that ninety (90) percent coverage is 
achieved within two (2) years.  

17.68.110 Bicycle parking. 

[A.] The following minimum number of bicycle parking spaces shall be provided:  

Type of Use  Minimum Number  
Single-Family Residential Dwelling, Townhouse, 
Duplex 

-0-  

Duplex, Triplex and Multi-Family and Cottage 
Cluster 

Minimum two or one per every two dwelling 
units, whichever is greater.  

Retail, Office and Institutional  Minimum of two or one per every 20 vehicle 
parking spaces, whichever is greater.  

Industrial  Minimum of two or one per every 40 vehicle 
parking spaces, whichever is greater.  

Schools and Parks  Minimum of two or one per every 10 vehicle 
parking spaces, whichever is greater.  

 

Bicycle parking shall also be required for expansions and other remodeling that increases the 
required level of automobile parking.  

B. At a minimum bicycle parking facilities shall be consistent with the following design guidelines:  

1. All bicycle parking shall be within one hundred (100) feet from a building entrance and 
located within a well-lit and clearly visible area;  

2. Bicycle parking shall be convenient and easy to find. Where necessary, a sign shall be used to 
direct users to the parking facility;  

3. Each bicycle parking space shall be at least two (2) feet by six (6) feet with a vertical clearance 
of six (6) feet;  

4. An access aisle of at least five (5) feet shall be provided in each bicycle parking facility;  

5. Bicycle parking facilities shall offer security in the form of either a lockable enclosure in which 
the bicycle can be stored or a stationary object, i.e., a "rack," upon which the bicycle can be 

Page 216



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

locked. Structures that require a user-supplied lock shall accommodate both cables and U-
shaped locks and shall permit the frame and both wheels to be secured (removing the front 
wheel may be necessary.) Note: businesses may provide long-term, employee parking by 
allowing access to a secure room within a building.  

17.68.120 Downtown Parking District. 

A. New or expanded development within the Downtown Parking District as established in 
Figure 17.68.120-1 are exempt from the minimum off-street parking requirements of 
Section 17.68.050 and the off-street loading requirements of Section 17.68.070. 

B. If off-street parking or loading is provided, the development standards of Section 17.68.080 
and parking lot landscaping and screening standards of Section 17.68.100 shall apply. 

Figure 17.68.120-1 

 

 

Page 217



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.72 STORM DRAINAGE 

17.72.010 Purpose. 

To provide for the drainage of surface water from all residential, commercial and industrial 
development; to minimize erosion; to reduce degradation of water quality due to sediments and 
pollutants in storm water runoff.  

17.72.020 Scope. 

A. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all new residential land partitions and subdivisions, 
planned unit developments, multi-family developments, commercial developments, institutional 
developments and industrial developments; and to the reconstruction or expansion of such 
developments.  

B. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all drainage facilities that impact any public storm drain 
system, public right-of-way or easement dedicated to or located within all off-street parking and 
loading areas.  

C. All storm water runoff shall be conveyed to a public storm sewer or natural drainage channel 
having adequate capacity to carry the flow without overflowing or otherwise causing damage to 
public and/or private property. In the case of private development, the developer shall pay all costs 
associated with designing and constructing the facilities necessary to meet this requirement.  

D. The storm drainage facilities for new developments and redevelopment with over five-thousand 
(5,000) square feet of impervious surface shall include both detention and treatment.  

17.72.030 Plan for storm drainage and erosion control. 

No construction of any facilities in a development included in Section 17.72.020 shall be permitted 
until a storm drainage and erosion control plan for the project is prepared by an engineer registered in 
the State of Oregon and approved by the city. This plan shall contain at a minimum:  

A. The methods to be used to minimize the amount of runoff, siltation, and pollution created 
from the development both during and after construction.  

B. Plans for the construction of storm sewers, open drainage channels, and other facilities that 
depict line sizes, profiles, construction specifications, and other such information as is 
necessary for the city to review the adequacy of the storm drainage plans.  

C. A storm drainage report shall be submitted with the land use application. It shall include at 
a minimum: upstream basins, on-site basins, topography, soils, land use, existing systems 
and discharges, existing capacity, design storm, existing conditions and post development 
conditions.  The report shall be done in compliance with the current city Design Standards.  
The report shall be stamped by a registered professional engineer in Oregon.  Design 
calculations shall be submitted for all drainage facilities. These drainage calculations shall be 
included on the site plan drawings and shall be stamped by a licensed professional engineer 
in the State of Oregon. Peak design discharges shall be computed using the rational formula 
and based upon the design criteria outlined in the Standard Specifications for Public Works 
Construction in the City of Carlton and the most current adopted storm drainage master plan.  

Page 218



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

D. The erosion control plan shall be in accordance with the requirements of the 1200-C or 
1200-Z permits.  These permits shall be acquired by the developer prior to construction and 
copies sent to the City. 

17.72.040 General standards. 

A. All development shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained to:  

1. Protect and preserve existing natural drainage channels to the maximum practicable extent;  

2. Protect development from flood hazards;  

3. Provide a system by which water within the development will be controlled without causing 
damage or harm to the natural environment, or to property or persons within the drainage 
basin;  

4. Assure that waters drained from the development are substantially free of pollutants, 
through such construction and drainage techniques as sedimentation ponds, reseeding, 
phasing or grading treated to industry standard using industry accepted stormwater 
treatment techniques and as shown in the Public Works Design Standards.  This may 
include standard treatment facilities as well as low impact development (LID) facilities.  
Hard filters are considered the last option for public facilities;  

5. Assure that waters are drained from the development in such a manner that will not cause 
erosion to any greater extent than would occur in the absence of development;  

6. Provide dry wells; French drains, or similar methods, as necessary to supplement storm 
drainage systems;  

7.6 Avoid placement of surface detention or retention facilities in road rights-of-way.  Public 
underground detention or retention facilities are considered a last option.   

7. Where downstream system capacity is insufficient, additional detention or system 
improvements are required. 

B. Where culverts cannot provide sufficient capacity without significant environmental degradation, 
the city may require the watercourse to be bridged or spanned.  

C. In the event a development or any part thereof is traversed by any watercourse, channel, stream 
or creek, gulch, or other natural drainage channel, adequate easements for storm drainage 
purposes shall be provided to the city. This does not imply maintenance by the city.  

D. Channel obstructions are not allowed except as approved for the creation of detention or retention 
facilities approved under the provisions of this title. Fences with swing gates may be utilized.  

E. Prior to acceptance of a storm sewer system by the city, the storm sewers shall be flushed and 
inspected by the city. All costs shall be borne by the developer.  

F. Easements for creeks and other watercourses shall be provided and shall extend fifteen (15) feet in 
each direction from the waterway centerline, ten (10) feet from the top of a recognizable bank, or 
sufficient width to pass 10-year flood flows or 100-year floodway on FEMA regulated stream, 
whichever is greater. The easements required by this chapter shall be held to prohibit the 
placement of any building on or over the easement, but shall not preclude landscaping, and shall 
be held to require restoration of the site following any excavation or other disturbance permitted 
by the easement.  

Page 219



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

G. All storm drainage facilities shall be sized to provide adequate capacity during peak flows from 
the entire area potentially served by such facilities. The city will not expect the developer to pay 
for the extra pipe size required to accommodate future upstream development. Excavation and 
installation costs shall remain entirely the developer's responsibility. The specific location, size 
and capacity of storm drain facilities will be subject to the approval of the city engineer with 
reference to the applicable Public Works Design Standards and storm drainage master plan. In 
the absence of an adopted plan, the location, size and capacity will be subject to the hydrologic 
and hydraulic analysis by the developer's engineer and approved by the city engineer. 

 

  

Page 220



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 22 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.76 UTILITY LINES AND FACILITIES 

17.76.010 Purpose. 

To provide adequate services and facilities appropriate to the scale and type of development.  

17.76.020 Standards. 

A. The design of all improvements within existing and proposed rights-of-way and easements, all 
improvements to be maintained by the city, and all improvements for which city approval is 
required, shall comply with the requirements of the most current adopted Standard Specifications 
for Public Works Construction in the City of Carlton.  

B. The location, design, installation and maintenance of all utility lines and facilities shall be carried 
out with minimum feasible disturbance of soil and site.  

C. Standards for Water Improvements.  

1. All developments shall be required to be linked to existing water facilities adequately sized to 
serve their intended area by the construction of water distribution lines, reservoirs and 
pumping station which connect to such water service facilities. All necessary easements 
required for the construction of these facilities shall be obtained by the developer and 
granted to the city pursuant to the requirements of the city.  

2. Specific location, size and capacity of such facilities will be subject to the approval of the city 
engineer with reference to the most current adopted City of Carlton water master plan. All 
water facilities shall conform with existing city pressure zones and shall be looped where 
possible and necessary to provide adequate pressure capacity and fire flows during peak 
demand at every point within the system in the development to which the water facilities will 
be connected. The city will not expect the developer to pay for the extra pipe material cost 
for waterlines exceeding eight inches in size. Installation costs shall remain entirely the 
developer's responsibility.  

3. The design of the water facilities shall take into account provisions for the future extension 
beyond the development to serve adjacent properties that, in the judgment of the city, 
cannot be feasibly served otherwise.  

4. Design, construction and material standards shall be as specified in the Public Works Design 
Standards and by the city engineer for the construction of such public water facilities in the 
city.  

5. The developer shall provide evidence of fire flow capability through fire hydrant tests 
and/or a hydraulic model. 

D. Standards for Sanitary Sewer Improvements.  

1. All developments shall be required to be linked to existing sanitary sewer collection facilities 
adequately sized to serve their intended area by the construction of sewer lines which 
connect to existing adequately sized sewer facilities. All necessary easements required for the 
construction of these facilities shall be obtained by the developer and granted to the city 
pursuant to the requirements of the city.  

2. Specific location, size and capacity of such facilities will be subject to the approval of the city 
engineer with reference to the most current adopted wastewater facilities plan. All sewer 

Page 221



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 23 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

facilities shall be sized to provide adequate capacity during peak flows from the entire area 
potentially served by such facilities. The city will not expect the developer to pay for the extra 
pipe material cost for sanitary sewer lines exceeding twelve (12) inches in size. Installation 
costs shall remain entirely the developer's responsibility.  

3. All properties shall be provided with gravity sanitary sewer service to a public sanitary sewer 
system except for parcels that have unique topographic or other natural features that make 
gravity sewer extension impractical as determined by the city engineer. Pumping stations will 
be allowed only when it has been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the city engineer that 
the development cannot be served by gravity. Maintenance of residential pumping station 
(serving a single dwelling, multi-family unit or facility) is the responsibility of the property 
owner.  

4. Temporary sewer service facilities, including pumping stations, will be permitted only if the 
city engineer approves the temporary facilities, including all facilities necessary for transition 
to permanent facilities.  

5. The design of the sewer facilities shall take into account provisions for the future extension 
beyond the development to serve upstream properties that, in the judgment of the city, 
cannot be feasibly served otherwise.  

6. All land divisions or other developments requiring subsurface sanitary sewer disposal systems 
shall be prohibited.  

7. Design, construction and material standards shall be as specified by the city engineer for the 
construction of such sewer facilities in the city.  

8. Prior to acceptance of the sanitary sewer system by the city, the sewers shall be flushed and 
inspected by the city as required by the Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction 
in the City of Carlton. All costs shall be borne by the developer.  

9. Industrial facilities that produce wastewater in greater capacity or stronger than standard 
residential wastewater shall provide a pretreatment system per the requirements of 
Chapter 13.08 of this code. 

E. Street Lights. All developments shall include underground electric service, light standards, wiring 
and lamps for street lights according to the specifications and standards of the city engineer. The 
developer shall install all such facilities and make the necessary arrangements with the serving 
electric utility for the street lighting system.  

F. Private Utilities. All development which has a need for private utilities, including but not limited to 
electricity, gas, and communications services shall install them pursuant to the requirements of the 
district or company serving the development.  

1. Except as otherwise provided herein, all utility lines, cables or wires, including but not limited 
to those used for electricity, communications services and street lighting which are on or 
adjacent to land partitioned, subdivided or developed within the City of Carlton after the 
effective date of the ordinance codified in this title, shall be required to be placed 
underground. The intent of the city is that no poles, towers, or other structures associated 
with utility facilities shall be permitted on any street or lot within or adjacent to such 
partition, subdivision or development.  

Page 222



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 24 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. Exceptions. Above ground facilities shall be permitted for the following in which case the 
above provisions shall not apply:  

a. Emergency installations or electric transmission lines or to through feeders operating at 
distribution voltages which act as a main source of supply to primary lateral and to 
direct connected distribution transformers and primary loads. Should it be necessary to 
increase the capacity of major power transmission facilities for service to the area, such 
new or revised installations shall be made only on rights-of-way or easements on which 
existing overhead facilities exist at the time of such capacity increase;  

b. Appurtenances and associated equipment such as surface-mounted transformers, 
pedestal-mounted terminal boxes, meter cabinets, telephone cable closures, connection 
boxes and the like;  

c. Structures without overhead wires, used exclusively for fire alarm boxes, streetlights, or 
municipal equipment installed under the supervision and with the approval of the city 
engineer;  

d. Power substations, pumping plants, and similar facilities necessary for transmission or 
distribution of utility services shall be permitted subject to compliance with all zoning 
regulations and other applicable land use regulations. The engineer for all such facilities, 
prior to any construction being started, shall approve plans showing landscaping and 
screening;  

e. Certain industries requiring exceptionally large power supplies may request direct 
overhead power as a condition;  

f. If existing overhead utilities within or adjacent to the development total less than one 
hundred fifty (150) linear feet, the city may allow the applicant to record an approved 
improvement deferral agreement, see Section 17.216.030, in lieu of relocating existing 
private utilities underground at the time of development.  

3. Information on Development Plans. The developer or subdivider shall show on the 
development plan or in his or her explanatory information, easements for all underground 
utility facilities. Plans showing the location of all underground facilities as described herein 
shall be submitted to the city engineer for review and approval. Care shall be taken in all 
cases to ensure that aboveground equipment does not obstruct vision clearance areas for 
vehicular traffic.  

4. Future Installations. The owner(s) or contract purchaser(s) of subdivided real property within 
a subdivision shall, upon conveyance or transfer of any interest including a leasehold interest 
in or to any lot or parcel of land, provide in the instrument conveying such interest a covenant 
running with and appurtenant to the land transferred under which grantee(s) or lessee(s), 
their heirs, successors, or assigns mutually covenant not to erect or allow to be erected upon 
the property conveyed any overhead utility facilities, including electric, communication, and 
cable television lines, poles, guys, or related facilities, except such facilities as are exempt 
from underground installation under this title or are owned or operated by the city. Such 
covenant shall require grantees to install, maintain, and use underground electric, telephone, 
cable television, or other utility services used or to be used to serve the premises. A copy of 
the covenant shall be submitted with the final plats.  

Page 223



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 25 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

K.G. Easements for public and private utilities shall be provided as deemed necessary by the city, special 
districts, and utility companies. Easements for special purpose uses shall be of a width deemed 
appropriate by the responsible agency. Such easements shall be recorded on easement forms 
approved by the city attorney and designated on the final plat of all subdivisions and partitions. 
Minimum required easement width and locations are as follows:  

Easement Type  Minimum Width  Location  
Water  10 15 feet  (1)(2)  
Sewer  10 15 feet  (1)(2) (6) 
Storm (piped)  10 15 feet  (1)(2)  
Storm (other)  (5 as required)  (5)  
Private Utility  5 feet (parallel to ROW)  (3)(4)  

10 15 feet (other)  (1)  
 

(1) Centered on utility line.  

(2) Centered on property line, where possible.  

(3) All property lines fronting existing or proposed street rights-of-way.  

(4) Measured from edge of right-of-way.  

(5) Determined on a case-by-case basis. 

(6) Sanitary sewers over ten (10) feet deep shall have wider easements as needed per depth. 

  

Page 224



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 26 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.78 GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL 

17.78.010 Purpose 

A. The purpose of this chapter is to mitigate, minimize or eliminate the adverse impacts caused by 
grading, fill and excavation activities on public or private property. It establishes policies, 
procedures and minimum requirements for grading and earthwork construction. It is intended to 
promote the general health, safety and welfare of the public and requires the applicant to follow 
sound land development practices.  

17.78.020 Grading Permit 

A. Permit Required. A city-issued grading permit shall be required before the commencement of 
any of the following filling or grading activities:  

1. Grading activities in excess of fifty (50) cubic yards of earth;  

2. Grading activities which may result in the diversion of existing drainage courses, both 
natural and human-made, from their natural point of entry or exit from the grading 
site;  

3. Grading and paving activities resulting in the creation of impervious surfaces greater 
than two thousand (2,000) square feet or more in area;  

4. Any excavation beyond the limits of a basement or footing excavation, having an 
unsupported soil height greater than five (5) feet after the completion of such a 
structure; or  

5. Grading activities involving the clearing or disturbance of one-half acres (twenty-one 
thousand seven hundred eighty (21,780) square feet) or more of land.  

B. Applicability. Those fill, excavation and grading activities proposed to be undertaken in 
conjunction with a land use application, including but not limited to subdivisions, planned unit 
developments, partitions and site plan reviews, are subject to the standards of this chapter. 
However, a separate grading permit is not required. Approval of the construction plans 
submitted through the land use application process shall constitute the grading plan. 

C. Grading permit exemptions. The following filling, excavation and grading activities shall not 
require the issuance of a grading permit:  

1. Excavation for utilities, or for wells or tunnels allowed under separate permit by other 
governmental agencies;  

2. An excavation below finished grade for basements and footings of a building, retaining 
wall or other structure authorized by a valid building permit. The placement of any fill 
material removed from such an excavation requires a grading permit if:  

a. It exceeds fifty (50) cubic yards,  

b. More than fifty (50) cubic yards are removed from the site, or  

c. The fill is placed on the site to a depth greater than one (1) foot;  

Page 225



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 27 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. Farming practices as defined in ORS 30.930 and farm uses as defined in ORS 215.203, 
except that buildings associated with farm practices and farm uses are subject to the 
requirements of this chapter;  

4. Excavation for cemetery graves;  

5. Sandbagging, diking, ditching, filling or similar work when done to protect life or 
property during an emergency;  

6. Repaving of existing paved surfaces that does not alter existing drainage patterns; or 

7. Maintenance work on public roads performed under the direction of the City, County 
or Oregon State Department of Transportation personnel.  

17.78.030 Excavations 

A. Maximum Slope. The slope of cut surfaces shall not be steeper than is safe for the intended use, 
and shall not be more than one unit vertical in two units horizontal unless the owner or owner’s 
authorized agent furnishes a geotechnical report justifying a steeper slope, with the following 
exceptions: 

1. A cut surface shall be permitted to be at a slope of 1.5 units horizontal to one unit 
vertical provided that the geotechnical report supports this slope and all of following 
are met:  

a. It is not intended to support structure of surcharges.  

b. It is adequately protected against erosion. 

c. It is not more than five (5) feet in height. 

d. It is approved by the building code official. 

e. Ground water is not encountered.  

2. A cut surface in bedrock stall be permitted to be at a slope if one horizontal unit to 
one vertical unit provided that the geotechnical report supports this slope. 

17.78.040 Fills 

A. Maximum Slope. The slope of fill surfaces shall not be steeper than the natural repose of the 
material and it shall be safe for the intended use.  The slope shall not be more than one unit 
vertical in two units horizontal unless the owner or owner’s authorized agent furnishes a 
geotechnical report justifying a steeper slope, with the following exceptions: 

1. A fill surface shall be permitted to be at a slope of 1.5 units horizontal to one unit 
vertical provided that the geotechnical report supports this slope and all of following 
are met:  

a. It is not intended to support structure of surcharges.  

b. It is adequately protected against erosion. 

c. It is not more than five (5) feet in height. 

d. It is approved by the building code official. 

e. Ground water is diverted.  

Page 226



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 28 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Benching. Where existing grade is at a slope steeper that one unit vertical in five unites 
horizontal, and the depth of the fill exceeds five (5) feet, benching shall be provided in 
accordance with the design standards and be not less than ten (10) feet in width and two (2) feet 
in depth.  

17.78.050 Setbacks 

A. Cut and fill slopes shall be set back from the property lines in accordance with this section. 
Setback dimensions shall be measured perpendicular to the property line and shall be: 

Minimum of 2-feet 

Maximum of 10-feet 

Distance equals H/5, where H = height of slope 

Distance required for an interceptor drain or ditch  

B. Slope Protection. Where required to protect adjacent properties at the toe of a slope from 
adverse effects of the grading, additional protection, approved by the building official and/or 
City Engineer, shall be included. Examples of such protection include, but are not limited to: 

1. Setbacks greater than those required by subsection (A) of this Section; 

2. Provisions for retaining walls of similar construction; 

3. Erosion protection of the fill slopes; or 

4. Provision for the control of surface waters. 

17.78.060 Conflicts and Greater Restrictions.  

A. Where the provisions of this chapter are less restrictive or conflict with comparable provisions of 
this code, regional, state or federal law, the provisions that are more restrictive shall govern. 
Where this chapter imposes restrictions that are more stringent than regional, state and federal 
law, the provisions of this chapter shall govern. However, nothing in this chapter shall relieve 
any party from the obligation to comply with any applicable federal, state or local regulations or 
permit requirements.  

B. Compliance with this chapter and the minimum requirements, minimum standards, and design 
procedures as set forth in the city's adopted Public Works Design Standards does not relieve the 
designer, owner, or developer of the responsibility to apply conservative and sound professional 
judgement to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public. It is not the intent of this 
chapter to make the city a guarantor or protector of public or private property in regard to land 
development activity.  

17.78.070 Submittal Requirements. 

A. An engineered grading plan or an abbreviated grading plan shall be prepared in compliance with 
the submittal requirements of the Public Works Design Standards and the Grading Permit 
whenever a city-approved grading permit is required. In addition, a geotechnical engineering 
report and/or residential lot grading plan may be required pursuant to the criteria listed below.  

Page 227



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 29 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Abbreviated Grading Plan. The city shall allow the applicant to submit an abbreviated grading 
plan in compliance with the submittal requirements of the Public Works Design Standards if the 
following criteria are met:  

1. No portion of the proposed site is within Sensitive Lands including but not limited to:  
unstable conditions, 100-year flood plain, steep slopes, uncontrolled fill has been 
placed, or poor soils. 

2. The proposed filling or grading activity does not involve more than fifty (50) cubic 
yards of earth.  

C. Engineered Grading Plan. The city shall require an engineered grading plan in compliance with 
the submittal requirements of the Public Works Design Standards to be prepared by a 
professional engineer if the proposed activities do not qualify for abbreviated grading plan.  

D. Geotechnical Engineering Report. The city shall require a geotechnical engineering report in 
compliance with the minimum report requirements of the Public Works Design Standards to be 
prepared by a professional engineer who specializes in geotechnical work when any of the 
following site conditions may exist in the development area:  

1. When any publicly maintained facility (structure, street, pond, utility, park, etc.) will 
be supported by any engineered fill;  

2. When an embankment for a stormwater pond is created by the placement of fill;  

3. When, by excavation or fill, the soils remaining in place are greater than three (3) feet 
high.  

E. Residential Lot Grading Plan. The city shall require a residential lot grading plan in compliance 
with the minimum report requirements of the Public Works Design Standards to be prepared by 
a professional engineer for all land divisions creating new residential building lots or where a 
public improvement project is required to provide access to an existing residential lot.  

  

Page 228



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 30 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.80 SIGNS 

17.80.010 Purpose. 

A. The purpose of these sign regulations is to provide equitable signage rights, promote traffic and 
pedestrian safety, and increase the economic viability of the city, by classifying and regulating the 
location, size, type and number of signs, in a content-neutral manner.  

B. Within the commercial areas, the city recognizes the need for businesses and organizations to 
inform the public about their location and their services. It also recognizes that a sign is a relative 
low cost form of business advertising.  

C. The city recognizes that the citizens of Carlton want to retain their unique small-town quality. One 
method of preserving the look of a small town is by controlling the number, size and type of signs 
allowed within the commercial district and to provide design guidelines that benefit the citizens 
and the businesses in improving the visual quality of the community.  

17.80.020 Definitions. 

See Signs, Section 17.12.020.  

17.80.030 General provisions. 

A. Conflicting Standards. Signs shall be allowed subject to the provisions of this chapter, except when 
these provisions conflict with the specific standards for signs in the subject district.  

B. Signs Subject to State Approval. Off-premise advertising signs visible to the traveling public from 
state highways are further subject to the regulations and permit requirements of the State of 
Oregon, Department of Transportation.  

C. Uniform Sign Code. All signs shall comply with the provisions of the Uniform Sign Code of the 
Uniform Building Code.  

D. Sign Clearances. A minimum of eight (8) feet above sidewalks and fifteen (15) feet above driveways 
shall be provided under all free standing or wall mounted signs.  

17.80.040 Signs allowed. 

The following signs and sign work are allowed outright in all zones. These signs shall not require a 
permit, and shall not be included when determining compliance with total allowed area:  

A. Re-painting, changes to the sign face or copy and maintenance of signs legally existing on the 
effective date of the ordinance codified in this chapter.  

B. Temporary Signs.  

1. Real estate signs not exceeding six (6) square feet that advertise the sale, rental, or lease 
of premises upon which the sign is located. Real estate signs may be used up to two (2) 
years without a permit. Only one (1) real estate sign per lot may be displayed at any 
time, except on corner lots. Two (2) signs are permitted on corner lots; however only 
one (1) sign per street frontage is permitted.  

Page 229



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 31 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. Political signs shall not exceed six (6) square feet. Political signs may be used up to sixty 
(60) days prior to an election but shall be removed not later than seven (7) days 
following the date of the election.  

3. Portable signs and other temporary signs that do not exceed six (6) square feet in area.  

4. Balloons that do not exceed a total cumulative diameter of twenty-four (24) inches.  

C. Signs posted by or under governmental authority including legal notices, traffic, danger, no 
trespassing, emergency and signs related to public services or safety.  

D. Directional or informational signs bearing no advertising message and not exceeding four (4) 
square feet in area erected for the convenience of the public such as signs identifying 
restrooms, public telephones, walkways and similar features or facilities.  

E. Flags with a total cumulative area not to exceed seventy-five (75) square feet per lot.  

F. Signs within a building.  

G. In a commercial or industrial zone, signs painted or hung on the inside of windows.  

H. Reserved.  

I. Memorial signs or tablets and names of buildings and dates of erection when cut into or 
attached to the surface or facade of the building.  

J. Signs placed by a public utility showing the location of underground facilities.  

K. Government Signs. Signs posted by or under governmental authority including legal notices, 
traffic, danger, no trespassing, emergency and signs related to public services or safety.  

L. Building or freestanding signs that display or reflect the history or character of Carlton, as 
approved by the City Council, after recommendation by the Planning Commission.  

17.80.050 Signs prohibited. 

The following signs are prohibited in all zones:  

A. Portable signs within the public right-of-way, except for sidewalk or sandwich board signs that 
comply with Section 17.80.080(D).  

B. Signs that emit odor, visible matter, or sound, however an intercom system for customers 
remaining in their vehicles, such as used in banks and "drive thru" restaurants, shall be 
allowed.  

C. Signs that use or employ side guy lines of any type.  

D. Signs that obstruct any fire escape, required exit, window or door opening used as a means of 
egress.  

E. Signs closer than twenty-four (24) inches horizontally or vertically from any overhead power 
line or public utility guy wire.  

F. No vehicle or trailer shall be parked on a public right-of-way or public property, or on private 
property so as to be visible from a public right-of-way which has attached thereto or located 
thereon any sign or advertising device for the basic purpose of providing advertisement of 
products or directing people to a business or activity located on the same or nearby premises. 
This provision applies where the primary purpose of a vehicle is for advertising purposes and 

Page 230



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 32 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

is not intended to prohibit any form of vehicular sign, such as a sign attached to a motor 
vehicle which is primarily used for business purposes, other than advertising.  

G. Rotating/revolving signs, except by conditional use permit.  

H. Flashing signs.  

I. Private signs that project into public rights-of-way, except signs under a canopy that project 
over a public sidewalk where the sign is not less than eight (8) feet above the sidewalk.  

J. Signs that obstruct required vision clearance area as defined in Section 17.92.080 or obstruct 
a vehicle driver's view of official traffic control signs and approaching or merging traffic, or 
which present a traffic hazard.  

K. Signs that interfere with, imitate, or resemble any official traffic control sign, signal or device, 
emergency lights, or appears to direct traffic, such as a beacon light.  

L. Signs attached to any pole, post, utility pole, or otherwise placed in the public right-of-way.  

M. Signs or sign structures placed on or over private property without the written consent of the 
owner or agent thereof.  

N. Pennants, banner signs and streamers except in nonresidential zones, which do not exceed a 
total cumulative area of twelve (12) square feet.  

O. Billboard signs.  

P. Roof signs, except by variance.  

Q. Signs attached to trees, shrubs, stones or fences.  

R. Bench signs, except as a conditional use, or those designating donor(s).  

S. Any sign on unimproved property unless allowed as a real estate or temporary sign.  

T. Any illegible sign or sign that has twenty-five (25) percent or more of its surface destroyed, 
defaced or missing.  

U. Message signs, except by conditional use permit.  

17.80.060 Signs in noncommercial zones. 

The following regulations apply to signs in the AH, R-1, R-2, PF, MH, MX, and R-3 zones:  

A. Maximum Number. Any combination of signs not exceeding the sign area and height 
limitations of this section; plus signs allowed in Section 17.80.040.  

B. Maximum total sign area for property on which the building or buildings are located:  

1. Single-family and two-family (duplex) dwelling: six (6) square feet;  

2. Multiple family dwelling: twenty-four (24) square feet;  

3. Public and semi-public: thirty-two (32) square feet.  

C. Maximum sign height of freestanding signs: six (6) feet.  

D. Location of freestanding signs: where fences are allowed.  

E. Illumination. Signs may only be indirectly illuminated by a concealed light source, and shall 
not flash, blink, fluctuate or produce glare.  

Page 231



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 33 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.80.070 Review procedures in noncommercial zones. 

A. Permit Required. No property owner, lessee or contractor shall construct or alter any sign without 
first obtaining a valid sign permit.  

B. Current Signs. Owners of conforming or nonconforming signs existing as of the date of adoption of 
this title are not required to obtain a permit.  

C. Permit Fees. Permit fees may be established by City Council resolution.  

D. Application Requirements.  

1. An application for a sign permit shall be made on a form prescribed by the City Manager. The 
application shall include, at a minimum, a sketch drawn to scale indicating the proposed sign 
and identifying existing signs on the premises, the sign's location, graphic design, structural 
and mechanical design and engineering data which ensures its structural stability. The 
application shall also contain the names and address of the sign company, person authorizing 
erection of the sign and the owner of the subject property.  

2. The City Manager shall issue a permit for a sign unless the sign does not comply with the 
provisions of these regulations or other provisions of this title. Sign permits mistakenly issued 
in violation of these regulations or other provisions of this title are void. The City Manager 
may revoke a sign permit if he or she finds that there was a material and misleading false 
statement of fact in the application for the permit.  

E. Design, Construction, and Maintenance. All signs shall be designed, constructed, and maintained 
according to the following standards:  

1. All signs shall comply with the applicable provisions of Uniform Building Code in effect at the 
time of the sign permit application and all other applicable structural, electrical and other 
regulations. The issuance of a sign permit under these regulations does not relieve the 
applicant of complying with all other permit requirements;  

2. All signs shall be maintained in a good structural condition at all times;  

3. The owner shall be responsible for its erection and maintenance and its compliance with the 
provisions of these regulations or other laws or ordinances regulating signs.  

17.80.080 Signs in commercial and industrial zones. 

All signs in the Commercial Business, Commercial Industrial, Downtown and General Industrial 
zones shall conform to Sections 17.80.020 through 17.80.050 and the following standards:  

A. Signs or sign structures located in commercial and industrial zones which are within seventy-
five (75) feet of a residentially zone property shall be set back so as to meet the side and front 
yard setback requirements of the adjoining residential district.  

B. Accessory temporary signs are permitted provided such signs are securely affixed to the 
surface of a building wall or window, and must have the date of initial posting clearly written 
on the face of the sign. Such signs, including but not limited to sale signs and special product 
announcements, must be removed not later than ten (10) days after initial posting. Such signs 
shall not exceed the permitted ratio of sign area, including temporary signs, to building face 
area.  

Page 232



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 34 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C. Historical signs that are an integral part of a building design, or signs with a cultural 
significance to the community, as determined by the Planning Commission, may be exempted 
from the standards for signs.  

D. Sidewalk signs or sandwich boards are permitted provided:  

1. There is only one (1) sidewalk or sandwich board sign per business entrance. Vacant lots 
may have one (1) sandwich board sign per lot.  

2. The sign is professional in appearance with a maximum height of three (3) feet and a 
maximum width of two (2) feet in width. The height of the sign is measured from the 
grade of the curb line lowest to the base of the sign, to the highest point of the sign, sign 
structure or frame; whichever is greater.  

3. The total sign area does not exceed six (6) square feet per side. The base material used 
to support a sign shall be included in the dimensions used to calculate the sign area.  

4. The sign is removed at the close of each business day.  

5. Reserved.  

6. Sidewalk or sandwich board signs shall only be allowed within an adjacent public right-
of-way along the frontage of the business displaying the sign, when they can be placed 
so that a minimum clear width of three (3) feet within the right-of-way is available for 
pedestrians immediately adjacent to the sign. Adjacent private property may be used to 
provide the three (3) foot clear width area when approved by the City Manager.  

7. The sign is not to be located within a sidewalk bulb-out area or a location that interferes 
with traffic visibility.  

E. Reserved.  

F. Suspended signs that are suspended from the underside of a horizontal plane surface and is 
supported by that surface, shall have a maximum area of three (3) square feet and shall not 
project more than thirty (30) inches from the face of the building.  

17.80.090 Signs in commercial and industrial zones—Appearance. 

Signs shall be constructed of wood, brick, tile, masonry, synthetic materials, canvas, vinyl, glass, 
wrought iron, or metal. Signs shall be constructed of materials consistent with the age, appearance and 
purpose of the buildings adjacent to the sign. The design shall reflect and be consistent with the 
appearance, design, architecture and historical character of adjacent buildings and uses. Fluorescent or 
unusually bright colors shall not be permitted.  

17.80.100 Signs in commercial and industrial zones—Size. 

A. Businesses with Two or More Street Frontages.  

1. Land abutting more than one street shall be allowed its quota of signs on each of the streets, 
and up to ten (10) percent of the permitted quota on any street may be deducted there from 
and added to the other street frontage.  

2. Where a business located on a corner erects an attached sign designated to be read from 
both intersecting public streets, the total aggregate area of such sign shall not exceed one-

Page 233



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 35 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

half that which would be allowed for separate signs fronting on the intersecting public 
streets.  

3. Where a business located on a corner is allowed a monument sign, it may have one such sign 
designed to be read from both intersecting public streets, or two such freestanding signs, 
provided that each sign is designed to be read from only one of the intersecting streets.  

B. Area.  

1. Wall signs shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the building face facing a street. For purposes 
of the area, the height of the lower level or story or twenty (20) feet, whichever is larger, shall 
be multiplied by the building frontage. Height of lettering cannot exceed twenty-four (24) 
inches.  

2. Awning signs shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the awning area. For purposes of calculating 
the awning area, the height shall be multiplied by the width of the awning.  

3. Projecting signs shall not exceed five (5) percent of the building face facing a street. For 
purposes of calculating the area, the height of the lower level or story, or twenty (20) feet, 
whichever is less, shall be multiplied by the building frontage. Height of lettering cannot 
exceed eight inches.  

4. Roof signs are not permitted except by variance.  

5. Freestanding signs: one square foot of sign area for each linear foot of property frontage 
upon a city street or a total of fifty (50) square feet for each street frontage, whichever is 
lesser.  

C. Height. Not more than four (4) feet above the eave line provided the maximum height above the 
ground line shall not exceed twenty (20) feet.  

D. Location. Attached to the building, except such signs shall not be roof signs.  

17.80.110 Signs in commercial and industrial zones—Design review requirements. 

All signs permitted within the commercial or industrial zones of the city shall conform with the 
following design review criteria, unless otherwise provided for in this title:  

A. Signs must be compatible in design and color with the architectural and historical qualities of 
Carlton and with the buildings with which they are associated.  

B. Signs illuminated by spotlights or indirect lighting shall be lighted so that glare from the light 
source is not visible to pedestrian or vehicle traffic.  

C. Directory signs (wall, projecting, and freestanding), and the individual signs comprising a 
directory sign shall be uniform or consistent in size, shape, and design. Individual signs in a 
directory sign may be added, moved, or substituted with signs for new businesses or uses 
without going through the design review process, provided that the design is consistent and 
the provisions of the original permit are met.  

17.80.120 Signs in commercial and industrial zones—Permit application. 

A. Permit Required. No property owner, lessee or contractor shall construct, alter or relocate any sign 
without first obtaining a valid sign permit.  

Page 234



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 36 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. Current Signs. Owners of conforming or nonconforming signs existing as of the date of adoption of 
this title are not required to obtain a permit.  

C. Permit Fees. Permit fees may be established from time to time by City Council resolution.  

D. Application Requirements. An application for a sign permit shall be made on a form prescribed by 
the City Manager. The application shall include the following information:  

1. The names and addresses of the sign company, person authorizing erection of the sign and 
the owner of the subject property;  

2. The location by street address of the proposed sign;  

3. A drawing suitable for folding for file storage, accurately colored and to scale showing the 
details of the sign, including all mounting structures and devices, materials from which 
constructed, lighting, and the name of the proposed lettering style, along with detailed 
illustration of the sign face;  

4. An accurate scaled site plan, showing the location of building(s), street(s) and other existing 
sign(s);  

5. In the case of wall and projecting signs, an accurate scaled drawing of all building faces to be 
signed, including the scaled outlines of all existing a proposed signs.  

E. Design, Construction, and Maintenance. All signs shall be designed, constructed, and maintained 
according to the following standards:  

1. All signs shall comply with the applicable provisions of Uniform Building Code in effect at the 
time of the sign permit application and all other applicable structural, electrical and other 
regulations. The issuance of a sign permit under these regulations does not relieve the 
applicant of complying with all other permit requirements;  

2. All signs shall be maintained in a good structural condition at all times;  

3. The owner shall be responsible for its erection and maintenance and its compliance with the 
provisions of these regulations or other laws regulating signs.  

17.80.130 Sign in commercial and industrial zones—Review procedure. 

A. All signs requiring a permit shall be reviewed by the City staff. Staff shall consider the design, 
lettering, arrangement, size, texture, materials, colors, lighting, placement, and appropriateness of 
the proposed sign in relation to other signs and other structures on the premises and contiguous 
area in keeping with the intent of this title. City staff shall approve, modify or deny the permit.  

B. In the event the permit is modified or denied by the City staff, the applicant may appeal to the 
Planning Commission by giving written notice of the appeal to the City Recorder no later than ten 
(10) days following the modification or denial of the sign permit application by the City staff. The 
Planning Commission shall hear the matter at its next regularly scheduled meeting. The City staff 
shall furnish to the Planning Commission its findings and conclusions with respect to the permit. 
The Planning Commission may modify or deny the permit.  

Page 235



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 37 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.80.140 Nonconforming signs. 

Signs that were legally established prior to the adoption of this Code on October 8, 2003, and no 
longer meet the sign code standards are considered nonconforming signs. Nonconforming signs may 
continue to be in use, subject to the restrictions in this section:  

A. General Requirements for Nonconforming Signs.  

1. A nonconforming sign shall not be:  

a. Modified, unless the modification brings the sign into compliance with this 
chapter. A change of copy is allowed, except that any change in a wall sign that is 
painted on a structure shall comply with the requirements of this chapter.  

b. Expanded.  

c. Relocated.  

2. A nonconforming sign may undergo normal maintenance, except:  

a. "Normal maintenance" excludes major structure repairs designed to extend the 
useful life of the nonconforming sign.  

b. If a nonconforming sign is damaged by wind, fire, neglect or by any other cause, 
and such damage exceeds sixty (60) percent of its replacement value, the 
nonconforming sign shall not be repaired and shall be removed.  

3. Upon change of use of a business or premises, a nonconforming sign shall be brought 
into compliance with this Code within one hundred eighty (180) days.  

B. Abandoned Signs. All signs and sign structures for a business shall be removed within thirty 
(30) days after that business ceases to operate on a regular basis. Abandoned signs that are 
not removed may be removed by the city following notice to the property owner. The 
property owner will be assessed the cost of sign removal if the owner fails to remove the 
abandoned sign and the city exercises its authority under this provision.  

17.80.150 Variances—Signs. 

Any allowance for signs not complying with the standards set forth in these regulations shall be by 
variance. Variances to this chapter will be processed according to the procedures in Chapter 17.148; 
however, the criteria in Chapter 17.148 shall not be used, but instead the following criteria shall be used 
to review and decide sign variance applications:  

A. There are unique circumstances or conditions of the lot, building or traffic pattern such that 
the existing sign regulations create an undue hardship;  

B. The requested variance is consistent with the purpose of this chapter as stated in Section 
17.80.010;  

C. The granting of the variance compensates for those circumstances in a manner equitable with 
other property owners and is thus not a special privilege to any other business. The variance 
requested shall be the minimum necessary to compensate for those conditions and achieve 
the purpose of this chapter;  

D. The granting of the variance shall not decrease pedestrian or traffic safety; and  

E. The variance request shall not be the result of a self-imposed condition or hardship.  

Page 236



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 38 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.80.160 Unlawful sign removal. 

A. Any unlawful sign that has not been removed within thirty (30) days after notification of the 
property owner may be removed by the city and the costs charged to the property owner. If 
removal costs have not been paid and the sign reclaimed within thirty (30) days of its removal by 
the city, the city is entitled to file a lien against the property on which the sign was located to 
secure payment of such costs and expenses of removal by the city. The city may sell or otherwise 
dispose of the sign so removed and apply the proceeds towards the cost of removal.  

B. Signs which are found upon public streets, sidewalks, rights-of-way, or other public property, or 
which present an immediate and serious danger to the public may be removed without prior 
notice.  

17.80.170 Conditional uses. 

A. Procedures. Applications for conditional use permits for rotating/revolving signs or message signs 
shall be processed according to the procedure set forth in Chapter 17.156 of this title. The criteria 
to be reviewed and applied in conditional use permit proceedings are set forth in this section, and 
the criteria of Chapter 17.152 shall not be applied.  

B. Decision Criteria. The following criteria shall be used to review and decide conditional use permit 
applications for rotating/revolving, and message signs:  

1. The proposed sign is located in the CB, CI, or IG zones;  

2. The proposed sign, when conditioned, will not significantly increase or lead to street level sign 
clutter, or to signs adversely dominating the visual image of the area;  

3. The proposed sign, as conditioned, will not adversely impact the surrounding area to a 
significant degree;  

4. The proposed sign will not present a traffic or safety hazard;  

5. If the application is for a message sign, no rotary beacon lights, zip lights, strobe lights, or 
similar devices shall be allowed. No chaser effect or other flashing effect consisting of 
external lights, lamps, bulbs or neon tubes are allowed;  

6. If the application is for a rotating/revolving sign, such sign cannot flash or be illuminated by 
intermittent light. Rotating/revolving signs shall revolve at a speed no greater than five (5) 
revolutions per minute;  

7. The total allowed sign area for a business shall be reduced by twenty-five (25) percent if the 
business has a rotating/revolving or message sign;  

8. The proposed sign will comply with all other regulations, including, but not limited to height 
and placement restrictions.  

  

Page 237



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 39 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.84 SITE AND LANDSCAPING DESIGN 

17.84.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to establish standards to encourage quality landscaping that will 
contribute to the appearance and aesthetic appeal of the City of Carlton.  

17.84.020 Scope. 

All construction, expansion, or redevelopment of structures or parking lots for commercial, multi-
family, or industrial uses shall be subject to the landscaping requirements of this chapter. The 
construction of new streets containing landscape strips shall also be subject to the landscaping 
requirements of this chapter.  

Properties within the Downtown Parking District (Exhibit A of Chapter 17.68 Figure 17.68.120-1) 
are exempt from landscaping requirements, except as specifically required by Chapter 17.30 Downtown 
(D) District design standards and guidelines.  

17.84.030 Approval process. 

A. Landscaping plans shall be submitted as required by the Site Design Review of Chapter 17.156.  

B. Submittal Requirements. The applicant shall submit a landscape plan for approval that includes:  

1. The percentage of the gross lot area to be landscaped;  

2. The location, type, size, and species of existing and proposed plant materials;  

3. All existing and proposed site features including walkways, graveled areas, mailboxes, street 
lamps, patios, terraces, courts, fences, decks, foundations, potted trees and potted plants, 
and other open spaces;  

4. The location and height of fences, buffers, and screening;  

5. The location of underground irrigation system sprinkler heads where applicable;  

6. A narrative that addresses soil conditions and erosion control measures that will be used.  

17.84.040 Landscaping installation and compliance. 

All landscaping required by this title and approved by the Planning Commission shall be installed 
prior to issuance of a final occupancy permit unless security equal to one hundred twenty (120) percent 
of the cost of the landscaping is filed with the city assuring such installation within six (6) months of 
occupancy. The applicant will obtain cost estimates for landscape materials and installation to the 
satisfaction of the city prior to approval of the security. "Security" may consist of a faithful performance 
bond payable to the city, cash, certified checks, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings 
account or other such assurance of completion as shall meet with the approval of the city attorney. The 
city staff prior to any security being returned shall make the final landscape inspection. Any portions of 
the plan not installed, not installed properly, or not properly maintained shall cause the inspection to be 
postponed until the project is completed. If the installation of the landscaping is not completed within 
the six (6) month time period or within an extension of time authorized by the city, the security may be 
used by the city to complete the installation. Any portion of the security that remains after installation 
of the landscaping shall be returned to the applicant.  

Page 238



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 40 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.84.050 Minimum landscaped area requirements. 

Except as modified by the development standards of the underlying zoning district, the following 
area requirements shall be the minimum areas devoted to landscaping:  

A. Multi-Family Developments: A minimum of twenty-five (25) percent of the gross land lot area 
shall be devoted to landscaping in multi-family developments.  The minimum landscaped 
area may be reduced to ten (10) percent where the development dedicates one-quarter 
acre or more land for a neighborhood park, consistent with the adopted Parks 
Development Plan.  

B. Commercial Developments: A minimum of ten (10) percent of the gross land lot area shall be 
devoted to landscaping in commercial developments.  

C. Industrial Developments: A minimum of ten (10) percent of the gross land lot area shall be 
devoted to landscaping in industrial developments.  

D. Developments within Public Zones: A minimum of ten (10) percent of the gross land lot area 
shall be devoted to landscaping in pubic zones.  

E. Single-Family, Townhouse and Duplex Dwellings: All yard areas not otherwise improved with 
structures, parking, and circulation (driveways, walkways, etc.) shall be landscaped. At least 
fifty (50) percent of front yard areas not covered with driveways, patios, or paths shall 
contain planted areas (includes any trees retained in the development).  

F. Construction Clean-up: Contractors shall remove all equipment, signage, and debris, including 
excess soil, rock, building materials, and planting materials and containers, from the premises 
within seven (7) days of completing construction/landscape installation.  

For expansions of existing developments and parking lots, the minimum new landscaped area shall 
be determined by: First calculating the percentage of the increase of total floor area or parking area; 
multiplying the gross site lot area by this percentage of increase; multiplying the resulting area by the 
minimum percentage for the type of development.  

17.84.060 General provisions. 

A. For purposes of satisfying the minimum requirements of this title, a "landscaped area" must at a 
minimum be fifty (50) percent comprised of plant canopy area (at maturity); drought-tolerant 
plants (e.g., grasses, ground cover plants, shrubs, annuals, perennials or trees, or desirable native 
vegetation) are recommended. Landscaping materials should be selected and sited to produce a 
hardy and drought-resistant landscaped area. Selection should include consideration of soil type 
and depth, the amount of maintenance required, spacing, exposure to sun and wind, the slope 
and contours of the site, and compatibility with existing native vegetation preserved on the site. 
Within the minimum plant canopy area, the following plant start size and variety standards shall 
apply. 

1. For all new residential development, and for every 50 feet of linear street frontage: 

a. One tree.  

b. Four one-gallon shrubs or accent plants.  

c. The remaining area shall consist of grasses, ground cover plants, shrubs, bark, rock, 
annuals or perennials. 

Page 239



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 41 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. For all new non-residential development, and for every 30 feet of linear street frontage: 

a. One tree.  

b. Five five-gallon or eight one-gallon shrubs or accent plants.  

c. The remaining area shall consist of grasses, ground cover plants, shrubs, bark, rock, 
annuals or perennials. 

3. For all landscaped areas, a minimum of fifty (50) percent of plant materials shall be native 
species selected from the Native Plant List, as adopted by City Council. 

B. Required landscape areas not otherwise planted, per subsection 17.84.060(A), shall consist of one 
or more of the following: outdoor recreation area, islands and perimeter planting areas in parking 
and loading areas, screening walls or fences as required in this Section and elsewhere in this title, 
interior courtyards, solariums, greenhouses, and/or outdoor recreation facilities.  

C. Landscaping shall be designed, developed, and maintained to satisfy the specific functional and 
aesthetic objectives appropriate to the development and the district, considering the following:  

1. Type, variety, scale and number of plants used;  

2. Placement and spacing of plants;  

3. Size and location of landscaped areas;  

4. Contouring, shaping and preparation of landscaped areas;  

5. Use and placement of non-plant elements within the landscaping.  

D C. The city may grant the applicant credit for Landscaping to be done in the adjacent landscape strips 
within the public right-of-way shall be counted toward the required on-site landscaping for non-
residential development provided the applicant meets the elements set forth for the granting of a 
variance the landscaping meets the standards of this section. It shall not be necessary to hold a 
public hearing to grant this credit. The city shall consider the need for future use of the right-of-
way for street purposes when granting approval for credit under this chapter.  

D. Nuisance plants. Plants listed on the Nuisance Plant List, as adopted by City Council, are 
prohibited from being planted in landscaping areas.  All new landscaping areas must be cleared 
of groundcovers and shrubs on the Nuisance Plant List. Trees listed on the Nuisance Plant List are 
not required to be removed.  

E. The landscape design shall incorporate existing significant trees and vegetation preserved on the 
site.  

F. Landscaping shall be used to create an attractive streetscape along property frontage, particularly 
for commercial and industrial developments located along arterial or collector streets.  

17.84.070 Screening and buffering. 

Where required by ordinance, or where placed as a condition of approval, screening and buffering 
shall meet the following minimum requirements:  

A. Screening shall be used to eliminate or reduce the visual and noise impacts of the following 
uses:  

1. Commercial and industrial uses when abutting residential uses;  

Page 240



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 42 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. Industrial uses when abutting commercial uses;  

3. Service areas and facilities, including garbage and waste disposal containers, recycling 
bins, and loading areas;  

4. Outdoor storage areas;  

5. Parking areas for ten (10) or more vehicles for multi-family developments, or twenty 
(20) or more vehicles for commercial or industrial uses;  

6. At and above-grade electrical and mechanical equipment, such as transformers, heat 
pumps, and air conditioners;  

7. Any other area or use as required by this title.  

B. Screening may be accomplished by the use of sight-obscuring plant materials (generally 
evergreens), earth berms, walls, fences, building parapets, building placement, or other 
design techniques.  

C. Buffering shall be used to mitigate adverse visual impacts, dust, noise or pollution, and to 
provide for compatibility between dissimilar adjoining uses. Where buffering is determined to 
be necessary required in subsection 17.84.070(A), one of the following buffering alternatives 
shall be employed:  

1. Planting area: width not less than twenty (20) feet, planted with the following materials:  

a. At least two (2) rows of deciduous or evergreen trees staggered and spaced not 
more than ten (10) feet apart; and  

b. At least one (1) row of evergreen shrubs which will grow to form a continuous 
hedge at least five (5) feet in height within one (1) year of planting; and  

c. Lawn, low-growing evergreen shrubs or evergreen ground cover covering the 
balance of the area.  

2. Berm plus planting area: width not less than fifteen (15) feet, developed in accordance 
with the following standards:  

a. Berm form shall not slope more than forty (40) percent (2.5 Horizontal Run : 1 
Vertical Run) on the side away from the area screened from view, and  

b. A dense evergreen hedge shall be located so as to most effectively buffer the 
proposed use; and  

c. Combined total height of the berm plus the hedge shall be at least five (5) feet 
within one year of planting.  

3. Wall plus planting area: width must not be less than five (5) feet developed in 
accordance with the following standards:  

a. A masonry wall or fence not less than six (6) feet in height; and  

b. Lawn, low-growing evergreen shrubs, and evergreen ground cover covering the 
balance of the area.  

4. Other methods that produce an adequate buffer considering the nature of the impacts 
to be mitigated, as approved by the city.  

Page 241



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 43 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.84.080 Planting and maintenance. 

All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, weeding, pruning, 
mowing, and replacement, in a substantially similar manner as found on the landscape plan that was 
approved by the City staff. In addition, the following shall apply:  

A. No sight-obscuring plantings exceeding twenty-four (24) inches in height shall be located 
within any required vision clearance area as defined in Subsection 17.92.080.  

B. Plant materials shall not cause a hazard. Landscape plant materials over walks, pedestrian 
paths, and seating areas shall be pruned to a minimum height of eight (8) feet and to a 
minimum height of fifteen (15) feet over streets and vehicular traffic areas.  

C. Landscape plant materials shall be selected which does not generally interfere with utilities 
above or below ground.  

D. Landscape plant material shall be installed to current nursery industry standards.  

E. Landscape plant materials shall be properly guyed and staked to current industry standards as 
necessary. Stakes and guy wires shall not interfere with vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  

F. All landscape material shall be guaranteed by the developer for a period of one year from the 
date of installation. A copy of the guarantee shall be furnished to the city by the developer.  

G. Plant materials shall be suited to the conditions under which they will be growing. As an 
example, plants to be grown in exposed, windy areas that will not be irrigated should be 
sufficiently hardy to thrive under these conditions. Plants should have vigorous root systems 
and be sound, healthy, and free from defects, diseases, and infections.  

H. Deciduous trees should shall be fully branched, have a minimum caliper of one and one-
quarter half inches, and a minimum height of eight (8) feet at the time of planting.  

I. Evergreen trees shall be a minimum of six (6) feet in height, fully branched.  

J. Shrubs shall be supplied in minimum one (1) gallon containers or eight-inch burlap balls with 
a minimum spread of fifteen (15) inches and a minimum height of eighteen (18) inches.  

K. Ground cover plants shall be spaced in accordance with current nursery industry standards to 
achieve covering of the planting area. Rows of plants are to be staggered for a more effective 
covering. Ground cover shall be supplied in a minimum four-inch size container or equivalent 
if planted eighteen (18) inches on center.  

L. All developments are required to provide appropriate methods of irrigation for the 
landscaping. Sites with over one thousand (1,000) square feet of total landscaped area shall 
be irrigated with automatic sprinkler systems to insure the continued health and 
attractiveness of the plant materials. Hose bibs and manually operated methods of irrigation 
may be used for landscaped areas totaling less than one thousand (1,000) square feet. 
Irrigation shall not be required in wooded areas, wetlands, floodplains, or along natural 
drainage channels or stream banks. Sprinkler heads shall not be a hazard to the public.  

M. Appropriate methods of care and maintenance of landscaped plant material shall be provided 
by the owner of the property.  

N. Landscape plant material shall be protected from damage due to heavy foot traffic or 
vehicular traffic by protective tree grates, pavers or other suitable methods.  

Page 242



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 44 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

A. All new residential developments shall install a minimum of one street tree per thirty-five 
(35) feet of street frontage, or fraction thereof. 

B. Street trees shall be planted within the landscape strip, if present, or within the front yard. 

C. All street trees must be a species listed in the adopted approved street tree list.  A list of 
recommended and prohibited street trees will be provided by the City of Carlton.  

D. To create a variety of street trees, no more than forty (40) percent of new street trees on a 
single block can be of one species. 

 

  

Page 243



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 45 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.88 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR LAND DIVISIONS 

17.88.010 Purpose. 

To provide for the orderly, safe, efficient and livable development of land within the City of 
Carlton.  

17.88.020 Scope. 

The provisions of this chapter shall apply to all subdivisions, planned unit developments and 
partitions within the City of Carlton.  

17.88.030 Standards for lots or parcels. 

A. Minimum Lot Area. Minimum lot area shall conform to the requirements of the zoning district in 
which the parcel is located unless lot size averaging is approved according to the provisions of 
subsection 17.176.030(A)(12). 

B. Maximum Lot Area Oversized Lots. When single-family residential use is proposed for a lot with an 
area double or greater than the minimum density of the underlying zone the applicant shall 
provide a shadow plat Master Plan demonstrating Planning Commission may take into 
consideration the potential for further division of the lot at a future date.  

C. Lot Width and Depth. The depth of a lot or parcel shall not be more than three times the width of 
the parcel, with the following exceptions:  

1. Parcels created for public utility uses or in zones where there is no minimum lot area 
requirement shall be exempt from width to depth ratio provisions.  

2. Lots within residential zones where the permitted minimum lot width is less than forty (40) 
feet may be permitted to have a width-depth ratio of no greater than 5:1.  

D. Access. All lots and parcels created after the effective date of the ordinance codified in this title 
shall provide a minimum frontage, on an existing or proposed public street, equal to twenty (20) 
feet, or as required by the underlying zone, whichever is greater. An The city may approve an 
exception shall apply when residential lots or parcels and planned unit developments, may be are 
accessed via a private street or easement developed in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 
17.64.060 or when the City finds that public street access is:  

1. Infeasible due to parcel shape, terrain, or location of existing structures; and  

2. Not necessary to provide for the future development of adjoining property.  

E. Flag Lots. If a flag lot is permitted Where flag lots are proposed consistent with subsection 
17.176.030(A)(10), the following standards shall be met:  

1. The access strip shall not be less than twenty (20) feet wide. The access strip shall be 
improved with minimum twelve (12) foot wide paved driveways that meet applicable City 
standards. If said access strip is over two hundred one hundred fifty (200 150) feet in length, 
the driveway shall terminate in a turn-around capable of accommodating emergency fire 
vehicles consistent with Oregon Fire Code standards;  

2. The access strip shall not be included in the calculation of lot area for purposes of 
determining compliance with any minimum lot size provision of this title.  

Page 244



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 46 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. Through Lots. Through lots are prohibited. shall be avoided except The City may approve an 
exception where essential to provide separation of residential development from major traffic 
arteries, adjacent nonresidential activities, or to overcome specific disadvantages of topography 
and orientation. A ten (10) foot wide screening or buffering easement, pursuant to the provision of 
Chapter 17.84, may be required by the city during the review of the land division request.  

G. Lot Side Lines. The side lines of lots, as far as practicable, shall run at right angles to the right-of-
way line of the street upon which the lots face.  

H. Lot Grading. The minimum elevation at which a structure may be erected, taking into consideration 
the topography of the lot, the surrounding area, drainage patterns and other pertinent data, shall 
be established by the building inspector.  

I. Utility Easements. Utility easements shall be provided on lot areas where necessary to 
accommodate public utilities. Such easements shall have a minimum total width as specified in 
Section 17.76.020.  

17.88.040 Standards for blocks. 

A. General. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with regard to providing 
adequate building sites for the use contemplated; consideration of needs for convenient access, 
circulation, control, and safety of street traffic; and recognition of limitations and opportunities of 
topography.  

B. Sizes.  

1. Block Length. Except as provided in Section 17.100.030 for the Main Street Special 
Transportation Area (STA), blocks in residential and commercial districts shall be a minimum 
of one hundred (100) feet long and shall not exceed six hundred (600) feet in length between 
street right-of-way lines, unless the previous adjacent development pattern or topographical 
conditions justify a variation. Blocks that exceed six hundred (600) feet in length shall provide 
additional a pedestrian/ and bicycle accessways located within one hundred (100) feet of the 
midpoint of the block and designed to meet the standards of section 17.88.050.I.  

2. Block Perimeter. Block perimeters in residential and commercial districts shall not exceed one 
thousand four hundred (1,400) feet.  

C. Alleys. Alleys may be provided in all districts, however, alleys shall be provided in commercial and 
industrial areas, unless other permanent provisions for access to off-street parking and loading 
facilities are provided.  

17.88.050 Improvement requirements. 

All improvements required by this title or as conditions of approval of any subdivision or partition 
shall be completed prior to the issuance of any building permits for any structures within the subject 
development. If the developer requests approval to record the final plat before all required 
improvements have been constructed and all conditions of approval have been met by the developer 
and accepted by the city, the developer shall provide a security guarantee satisfactory to the city that all 
improvements will be constructed in conformance with all city standards and ordinances and all 
conditions of approval will be satisfied in compliance with Section 17.216.030. If the total street 
frontage of the development is less than or equal to two hundred fifty (250) feet, the applicant may 

Page 245



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 47 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

request to sign and the city may grant an improvement deferral agreement or non-remonstrance 
agreement.  

A. Frontage Improvements. Street improvements shall be required for all public streets on which 
a proposed land division fronts in accordance with Chapter 17.64. Such improvements shall 
be designed to match with existing improved surfaces for a reasonable distance beyond the 
frontage of the property. Frontage improvements shall include: sidewalks, curbing, 
pavement, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, water lines, other public utilities as necessary, and 
such other improvements as the city shall determine to be reasonably necessary to serve the 
development or the immediate neighborhood.  

B. Street Improvements.  

1. Internal Streets. All public or private streets within the land division shall be constructed 
as required by the provisions of Chapter 17.64. Private driveways serving flag lots or 
private streets shall be surfaced as per the requirements of this title.  

2. Boundary Streets. All public or private streets along the boundary of the land division 
shall be constructed as required by the provisions of Chapter 17.64.  The pavement 
and sidewalk shall be extended beyond the frontage of the development sufficiently 
to transition the width.  At a minimum this shall be a three (parallel) to one 
(perpendicular) slope. 

C. Monuments. Upon completion of street improvements, centerline monuments shall be 
established and protected in monument boxes at every street intersection at all points of 
curvature, points of tangency of street center lines, and other points required by state law.  

D. Bench Marks. Elevation benchmarks shall be set at intervals established by the city engineer. 
The benchmarks shall consist of a brass cap set in a curb or other immovable structure.  

E. Surface Drainage and Storm Sewer System. Drainage facilities shall be provided within the 
land division and to connect the land division drainage to drainage-ways or to storm sewers 
outside the land division and shall be consistent with the most current adopted storm water 
master plan, Public Works Design Standards and Chapter 17.72. Design of drainage within 
the land division shall take into account the capacity and grade necessary to maintain 
unrestricted flow from areas draining through the land division and to provide extension of 
the system to serve such areas. The design shall take into account provisions for the future 
extension beyond the land division to serve upstream properties that, in the judgment of the 
city, cannot be served otherwise.  

F. Sanitary Sewers. Sanitary sewer shall be installed to serve the land division and to connect the 
land division to existing mains both on and off the property being divided, and shall be 
consistent with the most current adopted wastewater facilities plan, Public Works Design 
Standards and Chapter 17.76. The design shall take into account provisions for the future 
extension beyond the land division to serve upstream properties that, in the judgment of the 
city, cannot be served otherwise. The city may require that the construction of sewage lines 
of a size in excess of that necessary to adequately service the development in question, 
where such facilities are or will be necessary to serve the entire area within which the 
development is located when the area is ultimately developed.  

G. Water System. Water lines with valves and fire hydrants serving the land division and 
connecting the land division to the city mains shall be installed, and shall be consistent with 

Page 246



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 48 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

the most current adopted water master plan, Public Works Design Standards and Chapter 
17.76. The design shall take into account provisions for extension beyond the land division to 
adequately loop grid the city system and to serve the area within which the development is 
located when the area is ultimately developed. However, the city will not expect the 
developer to pay for the extra pipe material cost of mains exceeding eight inches in size. 
Installation costs shall remain entirely the developer's responsibility.  

H. Pedestrian Facilities and Bicycle Ways Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides 
of each public street and in any pedestrian or bicycle ways within the land division as well as 
along all frontages to existing streets. Sidewalks shall be extended as required to connect to 
other sidewalk systems. The city may defer sidewalk construction until the dwellings or 
structures fronting the sidewalk are constructed. Any required off-site sidewalks, sidewalks 
fronting public property, or sidewalks adjacent to existing structures shall not be deferred.  

I. Pedestrian/Bicycle Access Way Design Standards. Pedestrian/bicycle access ways shall be 
installed where required based on block length or other locations elected by the applicant 
and shall meet the following design standards:  

1. Minimum dedicated width: ten twenty (10 20) feet;  

2. Minimum improved paved width: five (5) to ten (10) feet;  

3. Minimum landscape strip: five (5) feet on either side of pavement or one ten (10) foot 
wide landscape strip, planted with a minimum of one tree and five shrubs per 35 
linear feet meeting the minimum standards of Section 17.84.080. 

3 4. Vision clearance: a clear line of visions for the entire length of the access way shall be 
required;  

4 5. Pedestrian scale lighting fixtures shall be provided along the walkway and lighted to a 
level where the system can be used at night;  

5 6. The access way shall be designed to prohibit vehicle traffic.  

J. Other.  

1. Curb cuts and driveway installations, excluding common drives, are not required of the 
land divider but, if installed, shall be according to the city standards;.   

2. Street trees planting is not required of the land divider but, if planted, shall be in 
accordance with city requirements and of a species compatible with the width of the 
planting strip; shall be planted in accordance with Section 17.84.090. The city may 
defer street tree planting until the dwellings or structures fronting the street are 
constructed. 

3. Streetlights. The installation of underground electric service, light standards, wiring, and 
lamps for streetlights of a type required by city standards following the making of 
necessary arrangements with the serving electric;.  

4. Street Signs. The installation of street name signs and traffic control signs is required at 
locations determined to be appropriate by the city and shall be of a type required by city 
standards.  

5. Utility lines and facilities shall be installed in accordance with Chapter 17.76. 

Page 247



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 49 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.88.060 Improvement procedures. 

In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by a developer for any land division, 
either as a requirement of these regulations or at his or her own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of this title and improvement standards and specifications adopted by the city, and shall 
be installed in accordance with the following procedure:  

A. Improvement work shall not commence until plans have been checked for adequacy and 
approved by the city engineer. Plans shall be prepared in accordance with requirements of 
the city.  Other agency approvals shall be obtained as required which may include ODOT, 
Yamhill County, DEQ and OHA.  

Improvement work shall not commence until all permits have been obtained, fees been 
paid and a preconstruction meeting held with the City. 

B. Improvement work shall not commence until the city has been notified in advance; and, if 
work has been discontinued for any reason, it shall not be resumed until the city has been 
notified.  

C. Improvements shall be constructed under the inspection and to the satisfaction of the city 
engineer, and other agencies as required. The city may require changes in typical sections 
and details in the public interest, if unusual conditions arise during construction to warrant 
the change.  

D. All underground utilities, sanitary sewers, and storm drains installed in streets by the 
developer shall be constructed prior to the surfacing of the streets. Stubs for service 
connections for underground utilities and sanitary sewers shall be placed to a length 
eliminating the necessity for disturbing the street improvements when service connections 
are made. Unless otherwise approved by the city, this shall be interpreted as extending to the 
right-of-way or easement line.  

E. Upon completion of the public improvements and prior to final acceptance of the 
improvements by the city, the developer shall provide two certified as-built drawings of all 
public utility improvements to the city. As-built conditions and information shall be reflected 
on one set of Mylar base as-built drawings. The developer's engineer shall submit the as-built 
drawings to the city.  

  

Page 248



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 50 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.92 YARD, FENCE AND LOT STANDARDS 

17.92.010 New buildings—Required to be located on a lot. 

Every building erected shall be located on a lot as herein defined.  

17.92.020 Yards apply only to one building. 

No required yard or other open space or required driveway provided around or for any building or 
structure for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this title shall be considered as providing a 
yard or open space for any other building, nor shall any yard or other required space on an adjoining lot 
be considered as providing a yard or open space on the lot whereon the building is to be erected.  

17.92.030 No parking in yard areas. 

Exclusive of city-approved paved or gravel driveways, no parking shall be allowed within the 
required front yard area or yards located adjacent to a street. The side yard and rear yard areas may not 
be used for parking of vehicles, except in city-approved parking areas. The yard areas adjacent to a 
street shall not be used for the permanent storage of utility trailers, house or vacation trailers, boats, or 
other similar vehicles.  

17.92.040 Front yard projections. 

Planter boxes, chimneys and flues, steps, cornices, eaves, gutters, belt courses, leaders, sills, 
pilasters, lintels, and other ornamental features which extend not more than eighteen (18) inches from 
main buildings are exempt from the front yard setback provisions and need not be included when 
determining the setback.  

17.92.050 Side yard projections. 

A. Cornices, eaves, gutters, and fire escapes, when not prohibited by any other code or ordinance, 
may project into a required side yard not more than one-third (⅓) of the width of the side yard 
provided a minimum setback of thirty-six (36) inches is maintained.  

B. Chimneys, flues, belt courses, leaders, sills, pilasters, lintels, and ornamental features may project 
not more than eighteen (18) inches into a required side yard, provided, however, chimneys and 
flues shall not exceed six (6) feet in width.  

C. Uncovered decks and patios attached to the main building when measured directly beneath the 
outside edge of the deck or patio may be extended to the side yard property line when they are 
thirty-six (36) inches or less in height from ground level.  

17.92.060 Rear yard projections. 

A. Chimneys, flues, belt courses, leaders, sills, pilasters, lintels, gutters and other ornamental 
features, may project not more than eighteen (18) inches into a required rear yard, provided, 
however, chimneys and flues shall not exceed six (6) feet in width.  

B. A fire escape, balcony, outside stairway, cornice or other unenclosed, unroofed projections may 
project not more than five (5) feet into a required rear yard and set back at least six (6) feet from 
any property line.  

Page 249



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 51 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C. Planter boxes, steps, uncovered porches when not more thirty-six (36) inches above grade are 
exempt from the minimum rear yard depth requirements.  

D. Uncovered decks and patios attached to the main building when measured directly beneath the 
outside edge of the deck or patio may be extended to the rear yard property line when they are 
thirty-six (36) inches or less in height from ground level.  

17.92.070 Vision clearance. 

A. A vision clearance area shall be maintained at each access to a public street and on each corner of 
property at the intersection of two streets or a street and a railroad. A vision clearance area shall 
contain no planting, sight-obscuring fence (open chain link excluded), wall, structure, or temporary 
or permanent obstruction exceeding three (3) feet in height, measured from the ground. The 
preceding provisions shall not apply to the following:  

1. Public utility poles;  

2. A tree trimmed (to the trunk) to a line at least eight (8) feet above the level of the 
intersection;  

3. Another plant species of open growth habit that is not planted in the form of a hedge and 
which is so planted and trimmed as to leave at all seasons a clear and unobstructed cross-
view;  

4. A supporting member or appurtenance to a permanent building lawfully existing on the date 
this standard becomes effective;  

5. An official warning sign or signal;  

6. A place where the natural contour of the ground is such that there can be no cross-visibility at 
the intersection;  

7. The post section of a pole sign when there are no more than two posts and any post is less 
than eight inches in diameter;  

8. Telephone switch boxes provided they are less than ten (10) inches wide at the widest 
dimension.  

B. For single use residential driveways, the vision clearance area shall consist of a triangular area, two 
sides of which are the curb line and the edge of the driveway. Where no curbs exist, the future 
location of the curb, based on future full street improvements shall be used.  

C. The following measurements shall establish the vision clearance areas:  

Type of Intersection  Measurement Along Each Lot Line or Drive Edge*  
Controlled intersection (stop sign or signal)  15 feet  
Uncontrolled intersection  40 feet  
Commercial and industrial driveways  20 feet  
Shared residential driveway (2+ units) 20 feet 
Residential driveways  10 feet  
Alley  15 feet  

 

Page 250



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 52 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

*When there is an intersection of two or more streets of different right-of-way width, the distance to be 
measured along the lot lines shall be the distance specified for each type street.  

17.92.080 Fences, walls and hedges. 

A. Materials.  

1. Fences and walls shall not be constructed of nor contain any material that could cause bodily 
harm, such as barbed wire, broken glass, spikes, or any other hazardous or dangerous 
materials. Electric fences are not permitted;  

2. Electric or barbed wire fences intended to contain or restrict cattle, sheep, horses or other 
livestock, and existing prior to annexation to the city, may remain;  

3. All required swimming pool and hot tub fencing shall be a minimum of four (4) feet in height 
and be equipped with a self-locking gate that closes automatically.  

B. Standards.  

1. Every fence shall be maintained in a condition of reasonable repair and shall not be allowed 
to become and remain in a condition of disrepair including noticeable leaning, missing 
sections, broken supports, non-uniform height, and uncontrolled growth of vegetation;  

2. Fences shall not exceed four (4) feet in height in any front yard;  

3. The maximum fence height in a street side yard shall not exceed six (6) feet;  

4. Fences within a front or street side yard shall also conform to the clear vision requirements at 
intersections, which further restrict the use or height of sight-obscuring fences;  

5. In no instance shall a fence extend beyond the property line including into a public right-of-
way. It is the responsibility of the property owner to determine the property line.  

6. Fences shall not exceed seven (7) feet in height.  

  

Page 251



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 53 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.96 ACCESSORY STRUCTURES 

17.96.010 Generally. 

Accessory structures shall comply with the requirements of this chapter.  

17.96.020 R-1 district. 

A. Location and Number. Except as provided in Section 17.96.040, accessory structures shall not be 
located within a front or street side yard. A maximum of one accessory structure providing 
enclosed or partially enclosed space (e.g., garage, carport, shed, workshop, or similar structure) is 
permitted for every three thousand seven hundred fifty (3,750) square feet of lot area.  

B. Height. The maximum allowable height is twenty (20) feet, except that no accessory structure shall 
exceed the height of the primary building.  

C. Property Setbacks. For structures ten (10) feet or less in height there shall be a minimum five-foot 
setback from the nearest property line. For buildings greater than ten (10) feet in height there shall 
be a setback of five (5) feet along each side property line and ten (10) feet along the rear property 
line.  

D. Building Separation. Accessory structure shall be separated from the primary buildings by a 
minimum of six (6) feet.  

E. Building Size. The accessory structure(s) shall be limited to the greater of the following: on a lot 
that is less than one-quarter (0.25) acre, twenty (20) percent of the floor area (excluding any 
attached garage) of the primary building or four hundred eighty (480) square feet, whichever is 
greater; and on a lot that is one-quarter (0.25) acre in size or larger, forty (40) percent of the floor 
area (excluding any attached garage) of the primary building or nine hundred sixty (960) square 
feet, whichever is greater.  

F. Rear Yard Limitation. In no case shall the accessory structure(s) occupy more than twenty (20) 
percent of the rear yard. The building size limitation shall be considered the maximum allowable 
area permitted for all accessory structures.  

G. Exterior Finish. The accessory structure shall have an exterior finish that is similar in appearance to 
the primary structure.  

17.96.030 AH, MH, R-2, R-3, CB, D, CI, PF and GIG districts. 

A. Location and Number. Except as provided in Section 17.96.040, accessory structures may be 
located anywhere the primary structure may be placed. There is no limit to the number of 
permitted accessory structures.  

B. Height. Accessory structures shall comply with the height provisions in the underlying zone for the 
primary structure.  

C. Setbacks. Accessory structures shall comply with the setback provisions in the underlying zone for 
the primary structure.  

D. Building Size. There is no limitation.  

E. Design Standards. Design standards may apply, subject to Chapter 17.156 Site Design Review and 
provisions of the underlying zone.  

Page 252



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 54 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.96.040 Portable accessory structures. 

A. Portable accessory structures, as defined by this title, shall be structurally sound and shall be 
anchored. Such structures shall be maintained in good condition using only original manufacturer's 
coverings. No plastic sheeting, tarpaulins, or other materials shall be used as a covering. Such 
structures shall meet all applicable Uniform Building Code requirements.  

B. In residential zones, one portable accessory structure, used as a private garage, as defined by this 
title, may be located within the side portion of a front yard, but must maintain the required front 
and side yard setbacks, including clear vision setbacks for corner lots.  

C. If located within a rear yard the following setbacks apply: for structures ten (10) feet or less in 
height there shall be a minimum five-foot setback along the side and rear property lines. For 
structures greater than ten (10) feet in height there shall be a setback of five (5) feet along each 
side property line and ten (10) feet along the rear property line.  

D. In commercial and industrial zones, portable accessory structures may be located on any portion of 
the lot or parcel, subject to applicable setback and Building Code requirements.  

  

Page 253



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 55 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.100 ACCESS CONTROL STANDARDS 

17.100.010 Purpose. 

The purpose is to implement the access management policies of the City of Carlton, Transportation 
System Plan. Access control standards manage access to land development while preserving the flow of 
traffic in terms of safety, capacity, functional classification, and level of service. Major roadways, 
including highways, arterials, and collectors serve as the primary network for moving people and goods. 
These transportation corridors also provide access to businesses and homes and have served as the 
focus for commercial and residential development. If access points are not properly designed, these 
roadways will be unable to accommodate the needs of development and retain their primary 
transportation function. To achieve this purpose, state and local roadways have been categorized in the 
City of Carlton, Transportation System Plan by function and classified for access purposes based upon 
their level of importance and function. Regulations are applied to these roadways for the purpose of 
reducing traffic accidents, personal injury, and property damage attributable to poorly designed access 
systems, and to thereby improve the safety and operation of the roadway network. This protects the 
substantial public investment in the existing transportation system and reduces the need for expensive 
remedial measures.  

17.100.020 Applicability. 

This title shall apply to all public streets within Carlton and to all properties that abut these 
roadways.  

17.100.030 Access spacing standards. 

A hierarchy of spacing standards is established that is dependent on the functional classification of 
the street.  

Function Street 
Classification  

Posted Speed 
Range  

Minimum Spacing 
Between Driveways 
and/or Streets (1) 

Minimum Spacing 
Between Driveways (2) 

Highway 47 (subject to 
ODOT standards) 

   

 Yamhill to Pine Street  
(Main Street STA)  

20 mph  Streets: Existing city block 
spacing  
Driveways: 175 feet or 
mid-block if block is less 
than 350 feet  

175 feet or mid-block if 
block is less than 350 
feet 

North city limits to Main 
Street  

20—30 mph  450—600 feet (new) 
Existing block spacing 

600 feet (new) 
Existing driveways 

South city limits to Main 
Street  

20—mph 
30 mph  

450— feet (new) 
600 feet (new) 
Existing block spacing 

450 feet (new) 
600 feet (new) 
Existing driveways 

Arterial 25 mph 220 feet 110 feet or mid-block if 
the block is less than 220 
feet 

Collector (3) 20—25 mph  200 feet 30 feet for single family 
dwelling  

Page 254



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 56 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

50 feet for single family 
detached units, 25 feet 
for attached units.  

20 feet for townhouse 
dwelling (4) 

Local (3) 20—25 mph  200 feet 
50 feet for single family 
detached units, and 25 
feet for attached units.  

30 feet for single family 
dwelling 
20 feet for townhouse 
dwelling (4) 

(1) Measured between street centerlines.  

(2) Measured between edge of driveways. 

(3) The intersection and driveway spacing standards have been updated from the 2009 TSP. 

(4) Where minimum spacing between driveways on adjacent lots cannot be achieved due to lot 
width, driveways on adjacent lots shall be combined. Combined driveways are encouraged for all 
townhouse dwellings.  

 

17.100.040 General standards. 

A. Lots that front on more than one street shall be required to locate motor vehicle accesses on the 
street with the lower functional classification.  

B. When a residential subdivision is proposed that would abut an arterial, it shall be designed to 
provide through lots along the arterial with access from a marginal access frontage or local street. 
Access rights of these lots, to the arterial shall be dedicated to the City of Carlton and recorded 
with the deed. A berm or buffer yard may be required at the rear of through lots to buffer 
residences from traffic on the arterial.  

C. Subdivisions with frontage on the state highway system shall be designed to share access points to 
and from the highway. If access off of a secondary street is possible, then access should not be 
allowed onto the state highway.  

D. Wherever a proposed development abuts unplatted developable land within the urban growth 
boundary, street stubs shall be provided to provide access to abutting properties or to logically 
extend the street system into the surrounding area.  

E. Local streets shall connect with surrounding streets to permit the convenient movement of traffic 
between residential neighborhoods or facilitate emergency access and evacuation. Connections 
shall be designed to avoid or minimize through traffic on local streets. Appropriate design and 
traffic control such as four-way stops and traffic calming measures are the preferred means of 
discouraging through traffic.  

F. In all cases reasonable access or the minimum number of access connections, direct or indirect, 
necessary to provide safe access to and from a street shall be granted.  

 1.  Single family or townhouse dwelling shall have one driveway. 

 2.  Duplex dwelling may have two driveways if minimum spacing standards in Section 17.100.030 
are met, or a single combined driveway. 

Page 255



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 57 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 3.  A multi-family dwelling site or cottage cluster shall have one driveway unless a second is 
required for circulation on large lots.  Driveways shall meet minimum spacing standards in 
Section 17.100.030. 

 4.  Commercial and industrial facilities shall have one driveway unless a second is required for 
circulation or loading on large lots.  Driveways shall meet minimum spacing standards in section 
17.100.030. 

G. New connections shall not be permitted within the functional area of an intersection as defined by 
the connection spacing standards of this title, unless no other reasonable access to the property is 
available.  

17.100.050 Joint and cross access. 

A. Adjacent commercial properties classified as major traffic generators (i.e. shopping plazas, office 
parks), shall provide a cross access drive and pedestrian access to allow circulation between sites.  

B. Systems of joint use driveways and cross access easements shall be established wherever feasible 
and shall incorporate the following:  

1. A continuous service drive or cross access corridor extending the entire length of each block 
served to provide for driveway separation consistent with the access management 
classification system and standards;  

2. A design speed of ten (10) mph and a maximum width of twenty-four (20 24) feet to 
accommodate two-way travel aisles designated to accommodate automobiles, service 
vehicles, and loading vehicles;  

3. Stub-outs and other design features to make it visually obvious that the abutting properties 
may be tied in to provide cross-access via a service drive;  

4. A unified access and circulation system plan for coordinated or shared parking areas is 
encouraged.  

C. Pursuant to this section, property owners shall:  

1. Record an easement with the deed allowing cross access to and from other properties served 
by the joint use driveways and cross access or service drive;  

2. Record an agreement with the deed that remaining access rights along the roadway will be 
dedicated to the City of Carlton and pre-existing driveways will be closed and eliminated after 
construction of the joint-use driveway;  

3. Record a joint maintenance agreement with the deed defining maintenance responsibilities of 
property owners.  

D. The City of Carlton may reduce required separation distance of access points where they prove 
impractical, provided all of the following requirements are met:  

1. Joint access driveways and cross access easements are provided in accordance with this 
section;  

2. The site plan incorporates a unified access and circulation system in accordance with this 
section;  

Page 256



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 58 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. The property owner enters into a written agreement with the City of Carlton, recorded with 
the deed, that pre-existing connections on the site will be closed and eliminated after 
construction on each side of the joint use driveway.  

17.100.060 Nonconforming access features. 

Legal access connections in place as of the effective date of the ordinance codified in this title that 
do not conform with the standards herein are considered nonconforming features and shall be brought 
into compliance with applicable standards under the following conditions:  

A. When new access connection permits are requested;  

B. Change in use or enlargements or improvements that will increase trip generation.  

17.100.070 Review procedures. 

A. Access Permit Required. Access to a public street (e.g., a new curb cut or driveway approach) 
requires an access permit. An access permit may be in the form of a letter to the applicant, or it 
may be attached to a land use decision notice as a condition of approval. In either case, approval of 
an access permit shall follow the procedures and requirements of the applicable road authority, as 
determined through the Type I review procedures found in Section 17.188.010.  

B. Traffic Study Requirements.  

1. The City shall require a traffic impact analysis (TIA) prepared by a qualified professional to 
determine access, circulation, and other transportation requirements when:  

a. The development generates twenty-five (25) or more peak-hour trips or two hundred 
fifty (250) or more daily trips.  

b. An access spacing exception is required for the site access driveway(s) and the 
development generates ten (10) or more peak-hour trips or one hundred (100) or more 
daily trips.  

c. The development is expected to impact intersections that are currently operating at the 
upper limits of the acceptable range of level of service during the peak operating hour.  

d. The development is expected to significantly impact adjacent roadways and 
intersections that have previously been identified as high crash locations or areas that 
contain a high concentration of pedestrians or bicyclists such as a schools.  

2. The scope of the TIA shall be in accordance with the direction and approval of the City 
Engineer.  If impacted streets includes ODOT or Yamhill County, then the scope must meet 
their requirements as well.  At a minimum the TIA shall include the following items:  project 
description, current conditions (street condition, traffic control) trip generation, traffic 
volumes for the existing conditions and development and build-out, safety analysis 
including geometry, operational analysis current and post development, site specific 
conditions and impacts (schools, parks, other large traffic or pedestrian generators), and 
recommendations. 

3. Transportation Assessment. If a TIA is not required, the applicant's traffic engineer shall 
submit a transportation assessment letter to the City indicating the proposed land use action 
is exempt.  

Page 257



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 59 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

a. This letter shall outline the trip-generating characteristics of the proposed land use and 
verify that the site-access driveways or roadways meet City of Carlton sight-distance 
requirements and roadway design standards.  

b. The Pubic Public Works Director may waive the requirement for a transportation 
assessment letter if a clear finding can be made that the proposed land use action does 
not generate twenty-five (25) or more peak-hour trips or two hundred fifty (250) or 
more daily trips and the existing and or proposed driveway(s) meet the City's sight-
distance requirements and access spacing standards.  

C. Conditions of Approval. The City may require the closing or consolidation of existing curb cuts or 
other vehicle access points, recording of reciprocal access easements (i.e., for shared driveways), 
development of a frontage street, installation of traffic control devices, and/or other mitigation as 
a condition of granting an access permit, to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the street 
and highway system.  

D. Access permit reviews shall address the following criteria:  

1. Access shall be properly placed in relation to sight distance, driveway spacing, and other 
related considerations, including opportunities for joint and cross access;  

2. The road system shall provide adequate access to buildings for residents, visitors, deliveries, 
emergency vehicles, and service vehicles;  

3. The access shall be consistent with the access management standards in the most current 
adopted City of Carlton Transportation System Plan.  

E. Any application that involves access to the State Highway System shall be reviewed by the Oregon 
Department of Transportation for conformance with state access management standards.  

  

Page 258



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 60 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.104 HISTORIC SITES 

17.104.010 Applicability. 

This chapter is applicable to all sites or structures listed in the City of Carlton, Comprehensive Land 
Use Plan as a historic or cultural resource defined as historic sites in Section 17.12.020.   

17.104.020 Review procedures. 

A. Upon receipt of a land use application or demolition permit a determination shall be made if the 
site has historical significance by being listed as a historic or cultural resource. If the site is of 
historical significance the Planning Commission shall conduct a site design review and consider the 
following:  

1. The state of repair of the building and cost of restoration or repair;  

2. The character of the neighborhood;  

3. Other factors the Planning Commission feels appropriate.  

B. Following review and hearing, the Planning Commission shall make a recommendation for 
approval, approval with mitigation, or denial of the land use action.  

17.104.030 Preservation of historical record. 

If a site with historical significance is to be demolished or significantly altered, the Planning 
Commission may direct that an acceptable detailed pictorial and graphic record be prepared prior to 
demolition or alteration.  

  

Page 259



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 61 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.106 RESIDENTIAL DESIGN STANDARDS 

17.106.010 Purpose. 

The following standards are intended to promote human-scale design in new development, while 
ensuring visibility of adjacent public ways to encourage crime prevention, traffic calming, and safe and 
convenient walking in neighborhoods. The standards are intended to provide flexibility in building style 
and detailing.  

17.106.020 Applicability. 

This section chapter applies to the following building types:  

A. Single-family non-attached (non-common wall) dwellings, duplexes and two attached 
townhouse dwellings are not subject to Site development Design Review, but new dwellings 
are required to comply with subSection 17.106.030(A) 17.106.025; no other provisions of 
Chapter 17.106 apply to non-attached single-family dwellings, duplexes or two attached 
townhouse dwellings;  

B. Duplexes, triplexes, and attached single-family dwellings (e.g., townhomes) Three or more 
attached townhouse dwellings are subject to all provisions of Chapter 17.106;  

C. Multi-family housing, including residential care facilities, are subject to all provisions of 
Chapter 17.106;  

D. Mixed-use buildings (residential and other use combined) are subject to all provisions of 
Chapter 17.106. 

E. Cottage clusters are subject to the provisions of Section 17.106.040. 

17.106.025 Single-family dwelling garage standards. 

A. All single-family dwellings shall have a garage or carport containing not less than two hundred 
(200) square feet of covered vehicle/storage space. The garage shall be constructed of materials 
that are similar in color, material, and appearance to the primary structure. The garage or 
carport shall be constructed prior to occupancy.  

17.106.030 Design standards. 

A. Single-Family Dwellings—Not Attached (non-common wall). All single-family dwellings shall have a 
garage or carport containing not less than two hundred (200) square feet of covered 
vehicle/storage space. The garage shall be constructed of materials that are similar in color, 
material, and appearance to the primary structure. The garage or carport shall be constructed prior 
to occupancy. The standards of this section apply to multi-family dwellings, mixed-use buildings 
and three or more attached townhouse dwellings. 

B. Building Orientation Standard. All residential buildings, except single-family non-attached (non-
common wall) dwellings and accessory structures, shall be oriented to a street. This standard is 
met when at least one building on a site is placed within twenty (20) feet of a street right-of-way 
("street"), and such building contains a dwelling entrance facing the street. Multi-family building 
entrances may include entrances to individual units, lobby entrances, or breezeway/courtyard 
entrances (i.e., to a cluster of units). Alternatively, a building may have its entrance oriented to a 
side yard or central courtyard when a direct pedestrian walkway is provided between the building 

Page 260



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 62 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

entrance and the street, and the elevation facing the street contains windows, a porch and/or 
other detailing a balcony to avoid a blank wall appearance and to provide visibility of the street 
from the dwelling or garage, as applicable.  

Figure 17.106.030(B-1) 
Building Orientation 

 
C. Except as allowed for single-family attached dwellings townhouse dwellings under subsection 

17.106.030(E), for the purposes of complying with subsection 17.106.030(B), no off-street parking, 
garage or carport entrance, drive, or other vehicle areas shall be placed between any building and 
the street to which it is oriented.  

D. Building form and detailing. New buildings and building additions subject to site development 
review shall conform to all of the following standards, as applicable. The graphics provided with 
each standard are intended to show examples of how to comply. Other building styles and designs 
can be used to comply, so long as they are consistent with the text of this section. An architectural 
feature (i.e., as shown in the graphics) may be used to comply with more than one standard.  

1. Building Form. The continuous horizontal distance (i.e., as measured from end-wall to end-
wall) of individual buildings shall not exceed one hundred sixty (160) feet. All buildings shall 
incorporate design features, including one or more of the following: such as offsets, 
balconies, covered porches, projections, or window reveals, or similar elements to preclude 
large expanses of uninterrupted building surfaces, as generally shown in Figure 
17.106.030(D). Along the vertical face of a structure, such features shall occur at a minimum 
of once every forty (40) feet, and on each floor shall contain at least two (2) of the following 
features:  

a. Recess (e.g., deck, patio, courtyard, or entrance or similar feature) that has a minimum 
depth of four (4) feet;  

b. Extension (e.g., floor area, deck, patio, or entrance, or similar feature) that projects a 
minimum of two (2) feet and runs horizontally for a minimum length of four (4) feet; 
and/or  

c. Offsets or breaks in roof elevation of two (2) feet or greater in height.  

Figure 17.106.030(D-1) 
Building Form (Multifamily Housing Example) 

Page 261



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 63 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
2. Eyes on the Street. All building elevations visible from a street right-of-way shall provide 

doors, porches, balconies, and/or windows. A minimum of fifty (50) percent of front (i.e., 
street-facing) elevations, and a minimum of twenty-five (25) percent of side and rear building 
elevations, as applicable, shall meet this standard. "Percent of elevation" is measured as the 
horizontal plane (lineal feet) containing doors, porches, balconies, terraces and/or windows. 
The standard applies to each full and partial building story.  

Figure 17.106.030(D-2) 
Examples of Architectural Details 

 

Page 262



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 64 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
Figure 17.106.030(D-3) 

Examples of Architectural Details (Continued) 

 
3. Detailed Design. All buildings shall provide detailed design along all elevations (i.e., front, rear 

and sides). Detailed design shall be provided by using at least two (2) of the following 
architectural features on all elevations, as appropriate for the proposed building type and 
style (may vary features on rear/side/front elevations):  

a. Dormers;  

b. Gables;  

c. Recessed entries;  

d. Covered porch entries;  

e. Cupolas or towers;  

f. Pillars or posts;  

g. Eaves (minimum six-inch projection);  

h. Off-sets in building face or roof (minimum sixteen (16) inches);  

i. Window trim (minimum four inches wide);  

j. Bay windows;  

k. Balconies;  

Page 263



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 65 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

l. Decorative patterns on exterior finish (e.g., scales/shingles, wainscoting, or 
ornamentation, and similar features);  

m. Decorative cornices and roof lines (e.g., for flat roofs);  

n. An alternative feature providing visual relief, similar to options in subsections (3)(a) 
through (m) of this section.  

4. Façade Variety. Duplicative front façades of townhouse dwellings in a development with 
three or more attached dwellings are prohibited. Variety shall be created by incorporating a 
minimum of two of the following design features: 

a. Varied or staggered front setbacks, with variations of at least five feet; 

b.  Different building heights, with the two heights varying by at least five feet; 

c.  Varied rooflines such as hipped or pitched roofs; 

d. Varied architectural features listed in subsections (3)(a) through (m) of this section, 
with each dwelling including at least one architectural feature not repeated more 
frequently than once every four dwellings. 

E. Standard Vehicle Access. Except as provided under subsection 17.106.030(F), dwellings subject to 
the provisions of Section 17.106.030 shall have garages or other covered parking accessed from a 
shared driveway or alley oriented to a side or rear yard, as applicable. Such access shall be created 
at the time of subdivision or site development review approval, as applicable. An exception to this 
standard is permitted when existing development patterns or topography makes compliance 
impracticable. As provided by Chapter 17.100, the city may require the construction of pathways 
between townhome lots (e.g., between building breaks) to implement code standards for access 
and circulation.  

Figure 17.106.030(E-1) 
Attached Single-Family and Multiplex Housing Townhouses With Alley Access 

Page 264



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 66 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

 
Figure 17.106.030(E-2) 

Attached Single-Family and Multiplex Housing Townhouses With Street Access 

 
F. Alternative (Front) Vehicle Access. Where compliance with subsection As an alternative to 

17.106.030(E) is not practical due to topographic or other site constraints, or an applicant requests 
an adjustment to said subsection, the city through site development review may approve a garage 
or other parking area may be located adjacent to a front yard, subject to the following standards, 
which are intended to minimize interruption of adjacent sidewalks by driveway entrances, slow 

Page 265



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 67 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

traffic, improve appearance of the streets, and to minimize paved surfaces and reduce storm water 
runoff.  

1. When a garage opening faces a street, it shall be setback from the street property line by not 
less than twenty (20) feet or recessed behind the front elevation (i.e., living area or covered 
front porch) by a minimum of four (4) feet.  

2. The maximum allowable driveway within a front or street side setback is twenty (20) feet.  

3. The total width of all garage openings on any street-facing building elevation shall not exceed 
fifty (50) percent of the total width of the building elevation on which the opening(s) are 
located, or 22 feet, whichever is less. For example, a twenty-four (24) foot wide unit may 
have one twelve (12) foot wide recessed garage facing the street.  

4. Two adjacent garages shall share one driveway when individual driveways would otherwise 
be separated by less than twenty (20) feet (i.e., the width of one on-street parking space). 
When a driveway serves more than one lot, the developer shall record an access and 
maintenance easement/agreement to benefit each lot, before building permit issuance.  

G. Open Space. New multi-family developments subject to the provisions of this Chapter shall 
provide open space in compliance with all of the following requirements:  

Figure 17.106.030(G) 
Multifamily Housing (Open Space) 

 
1. Common Open Space Standard. Inclusive of required setback yards, a A minimum of fifteen 

(15) percent of the site area shall be designated and permanently reserved as usable common 
open space in developments that are at least three one (1) acres in size with more than ten 
(10) dwelling units. The site area is defined as the lot or parcel on which the development is 
planned, after subtracting any required dedication of street right-of-way and other land for 
public purposes (e.g., public park or school grounds, etc.).  

a. Required setback yards and landscaped area required by Chapter 17.84 may be 
counted toward meeting the common open space requirement if they meet all 
common open space requirements of this subsection. 

b. Sensitive lands and historic buildings or landmarks open to the public and designated by 
the comprehensive plan may be counted toward meeting the common open space 
requirements.   

c. To ensure usable open space, at least one common open space area shall be provided 
within the development that is at least 500 square feet in size and has a minimum 
dimension of 20 feet for all sides.  

Page 266



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 68 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. Private Open Space Standard. Private open space areas shall be required for dwelling units 
based on all of the following standards:  

a. A minimum of fifty (50) percent of all ground-floor housing units shall have front or rear 
patios or decks measuring at least forty-eight (48) square feet. Ground-floor housing 
means the housing unit entrance (front or rear) is within five (5) feet of the finished 
ground elevation (i.e., after grading and landscaping);  

b. A minimum of fifty (50) percent of all upper-floor housing units shall have balconies or 
porches measuring at least twenty-four (24) square feet. Upper-floor housing means 
housing units that are more than five (5) feet above the finished grade; and  

c. Where private Private open space areas face shall be oriented toward common open 
space areas and away from adjacent single-family residences, a combination of 
landscaping and screening shall be provided as a buffer.  This buffer shall include a 
minimum of one tree, not less than 1.5 inches in caliper, for every 30 linear feet of 
abutting property width and a minimum six-foot-tall decorative, sight obscuring fence 
or wall made of wood, stone, brick or vegetation (chain link fencing with or without 
slats is not permitted to meet this standard).  trash receptacles, parking and drives to 
the greatest extent practicable. 

3.  Common Areas. "Common areas" (e.g., landscaping in private tracts, shared driveways, 
private alleys, and similar uses) shall be maintained by a homeowners association or other 
legal entity. A homeowners association may also be responsible for exterior building 
maintenance. A copy of any applicable covenants, restrictions and conditions shall be 
recorded and provided to the city before building permit approval.  

4. Exemptions. Exemptions to the common open space standard may be granted for multi-unit 
developments of up to ten (10) units. Exemptions may be granted for the first twenty (20) 
units of a larger project when the development is located within one-quarter mile (measured 
walking distance) of a public park, and there is a direct, accessible (i.e., Americans With 
Disabilities Act-compliant), lighted, and maintained pedestrian trail or sidewalk between the 
site and the park. An exemption shall be granted only when the nearby park provides active 
recreation areas such as play fields; children's play area, sports courts, walking/fitness course, 
or similar facilities.  

H. Landscaping and Screening. All yards not otherwise improved with buildings, parking, circulation, 
or recreation facilities shall be landscaped pursuant to Section 17.84.050. Additional landscaping, 
fencing or other screening may be required through site development review. All landscaping shall 
be installed in accordance with Chapter 17.84 and approved plans prior to issuance of building 
occupancy permits.  

I. Trash Receptacles. Trash receptacles shall be oriented away from adjacent residences and shall be 
fully screened with an evergreen hedge or solid fence or wall of not less than six (6) feet in height.  

17.106.040 Cottage clusters. 

A.  Cottage clusters shall meet the design standards of this subsection. No other design standards 
shall apply to cottage clusters unless noted in this subsection.  

B. Dimensional Standards. The dimensional standards of the zone where the cottage cluster is 
located shall apply with the following exceptions: 

Page 267



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 69 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1.  The maximum height for a cottage dwelling is twenty-five (25) feet.  

2. The maximum footprint for a cottage dwelling in nine hundred (900) square feet. 

3. The maximum gross floor area for a cottage dwelling is one thousand six hundred (1,600) 
square feet. 

4. Cottages shall be separated by a minimum distance of six (6) feet. The minimum distance 
between all other structures, including accessory structures, shall be in accordance with 
building code requirements.  

5.  [OPTIONAL] Cottages shall meet the minimum setbacks of the underlying zone or a 
minimum perimeter setback of 10 feet, whichever is less. 

6. No maximum net density shall apply to cottage clusters. 

C. Cluster Size.  

1.  Cottage clusters shall have a minimum of four cottage dwellings.   

2.  Cottage clusters in the R-1 and R-2 zones shall have a maximum of 12 cottage dwellings per 
cluster. Cottage clusters in the R-3 and MX zones shall have no maximum number of 
cottage dwellings per cluster. Multiple clusters are permitted on a single development site. 

D.  Cottage Orientation. Cottages must be clustered around a common courtyard, meaning they 
abut the associated common courtyard or are directly connected to it by a pedestrian path, and 
must meet the following standards (see Figure 17.106.040-1):  

1.  Each cottage within a cluster must either abut the common courtyard or must be directly 
connected to it by a pedestrian path.   

2.   A minimum of 50 percent of cottages within a cluster must be oriented to the common 
courtyard and must:   

a.  Have a main entrance facing the common courtyard;  

b.  Be within 10 feet from the common courtyard, measured from the façade of the 
cottage to the nearest edge of the common courtyard; and  

c.  Be connected to the common courtyard by a pedestrian path.  

3.   Cottages within 20 feet of a street property line may have their entrances facing the street.  

4.   Cottages not facing the common courtyard or the street must have their main entrances 
facing a pedestrian path that is directly connected to the common courtyard. 

E.  Common Courtyard Design Standards. Each cottage cluster must share a common courtyard in 
order to provide a sense of openness and community of residents. Common courtyards must 
meet the following standards (see Figure 17.106.040-1):  

1.   The common courtyard must be a single, contiguous piece.   

2.  Cottages must abut the common courtyard on at least two sides of the courtyard.  

3.   The common courtyard must contain a minimum of 150 square feet per cottage within the 
associated cluster.   

4.   The common courtyard must be a minimum of 15 feet wide at its narrowest dimension.  

Page 268



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 70 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

5.   The common courtyard shall be developed with a mix of landscaping, lawn area, pedestrian 
paths, and/or paved courtyard area, and may also include recreational amenities. 
Impervious elements of the common courtyard shall not exceed 75 percent of the total 
common courtyard area.   

6.  Pedestrian paths must be included in a common courtyard. Paths that are contiguous to a 
courtyard shall count toward the courtyard’s minimum dimension and area. Parking areas, 
required setbacks, and driveways do not qualify as part of a common courtyard. 

Figure 17.106.040-1: Cottage Cluster Orientation and Common Courtyard Standards 

F.  Community Buildings. Cottage cluster projects may include community buildings for the shared 
use of residents that provide space for accessory uses such as community meeting rooms, guest 
housing, exercise rooms, day care, or community eating areas. Community buildings must meet 
the following standards:  

1.   Each cottage cluster is permitted one community building, which shall count towards the 
maximum average floor area, pursuant to subsection (D)(5).   

2.  A community building that meets the development code’s definition of a dwelling unit must 
meet the maximum 900 square foot footprint limitation that applies to cottages, unless a 
covenant is recorded against the property stating that the structure is not a legal dwelling 
unit and will not be used as a primary dwelling. 

G.  Pedestrian Access.  

Page 269



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 71 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1.   An accessible pedestrian path must be provided that connects the main entrance of each 
cottage to the following:  

a.   The common courtyard;   

b.  Shared parking areas;   

c.   Community buildings; and  

d.  Sidewalks in public rights-of-way abutting the site or rights-of-way if there are no 
sidewalks.  

2.   The pedestrian path must be hard-surfaced and a minimum of four (4) feet wide. 

H.  Parking Design (see Figure 17.106.040-2).   

1.  Clustered parking. Off-street parking may be arranged in clusters, subject to the following 
standards:   

a.  Cottage cluster projects with fewer than 12 cottages are permitted parking clusters of 
not more than five (5) contiguous spaces.  

b.   Cottage cluster projects with 12 cottages or more are permitted parking clusters of not 
more than eight (8) contiguous spaces.   

c.  Parking clusters must be separated from other spaces by at least four (4) feet of 
landscaping.   

d.   Clustered parking areas may be covered.  

2.   Parking location and access.  

a.  Off-street parking spaces and vehicle maneuvering areas shall not be located: 

i. Within of 20 feet from any street property line, except alley property lines; or 

ii. Between a street property line and the front façade of cottages located closest to 
the street property line. This standard does not apply to alleys.  

b.  Off-street parking spaces shall not be located within 10 feet of any other property line, 
except alley property lines. Driveways and drive aisles are permitted within 10 feet of  

other property lines. 

3.   Screening. Landscaping, fencing, or walls at least three feet tall shall separate clustered 
parking areas and parking structures from common courtyards and public streets. 

4.  Garages and carports.   

a.  Garages and carports (whether shared or individual) must not abut common 
courtyards.   

b.  Individual attached garages up to 200 square feet shall be exempted from the 
calculation of maximum building footprint for cottages.  

c.  Individual detached garages must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area.  

d.  Garage doors for attached and detached individual garages must not exceed 20 feet in 
width. 

I.  Accessory Structures. Accessory structures must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area. 

Page 270



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 72 of 72 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

J.  Existing Structures. On a lot or parcel to be used for a cottage cluster project, an existing single-
family dwelling on the same lot at the time of proposed development of the cottage cluster may 
remain within the cottage cluster project area under the following conditions:  

a.  The existing dwelling may be nonconforming with respect to the requirements of this 
code.   

b.  The existing dwelling may be expanded up to the maximum dimensions in subsection 
(B); however, existing dwellings that exceed the maximum height and/or footprint of 
this code may not be expanded.  

c.  The floor area of the existing dwelling shall not count towards the maximum average 
floor area of a cottage cluster.  

d.  The existing dwelling shall be excluded from the calculation of orientation toward the 
common courtyard, per subsection (1)(a) of this section (E). 

Figure 17.106.040-2: Cottage Cluster Parking Design Standards 

Page 271



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division IV. SUPPLEMENTAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES 

Chapter 17.108 SPECIAL USES—GENERAL PROVISIONS 

17.108.010 Applicability of special use standards. 

Special uses included in this chapter are uses, which, due to their effect on surrounding properties, 
must be developed in accordance with special conditions and standards. These special use standards 
may differ from the development standards established for other uses in the same zoning district. When 
a dimensional standard for a special use differs from that of the underlying district, the standard for the 
special use shall apply.  

17.108.020 Process. 

The status of a special use as a permitted or conditional use is set forth in the underlying zoning 
district. Conditional uses shall be processed in accordance with the criteria and procedures specified in 
Chapter 17.152. Permitted uses shall be reviewed for compliance with the standards of Chapters 17.60 
through 17.104 of this title in the manner specified in the particular special use section. Special uses that 
are conditional uses in the underlying zoning district shall be reviewed for compliance with the 
standards of Chapters 17.60 through 17.104 during the review of the conditional use permit. In addition 
to any specific requirements under the special use, the following information shall be included with the 
application submittal:  

A. A description of the proposed use and specific reason for the request.  

B. A vicinity map indicating the relationship of the proposed use to the surrounding area.  

C. A site plan of the property, including existing and proposed improvements, and other 
information necessary to address the requirements and conditions associated with the use.  

D. A building profile of proposed new or remodeled structures, as applicable.  

E. Information addressing the criteria set forth under Chapter 17.152.  

  

Page 272



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.112 PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 

17.112.010 Purpose. 

A. To produce a development which would provide development opportunities not easily achieved 
from traditional lot-by-lot development while protecting the city's goals of overall density and 
character.  

B. To allow flexibility which will encourage a more creative approach that will result in a more 
efficient, aesthetic, and desirable use of open area, while substantially maintaining the same 
population density and area coverage permitted in the district in which the project is located.  

C. To allow flexibility in design, placement of buildings, use of open spaces, circulation facilities, off-
street parking areas, and to best utilize the site potential characterized by special features of 
geography, topography, size and shape.  

17.112.020 Area of application. 

Planned unit developments may be established on parcels of land that are suitable for and of 
sufficient size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
this chapter.  

17.112.030 Applicant. 

Planned unit development projects may be applied for:  

A. By the owner of all the property involved, if under one ownership; or  

B. Jointly by all owners of the property in the area proposed for the planned unit development 
project, if there is more than one owner.  

17.112.040 Uses permitted. 

In a planned unit development only the following uses are permitted:  

A. Residential uses.  

B. Recreational facilities including, but not limited to, tennis courts, swimming pools, and 
playgrounds.  

C. Open space uses.  

D. Schools, libraries, community halls, and places of worship.  

E. Offices, buildings, and facilities required for the operation, administration, and maintenance 
of any planned unit development and for recreation purposes such as: golf courses, 
recreation rooms, and vehicle storage areas.  

F. Convenience establishments of a commercial and service nature, including delicatessen, 
coffee shops, convenience stores, restaurants, laundry, and dry-cleaning establishments, 
beauty shops and barber shops, (but specifically excluding drive-in services gas stations and a 
repair garage) provided:  

Page 273



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Such convenience establishments are an integral part of the general plan of 
development for the planned unit development and provide facilities related to the 
needs of the prospective residents;  

2. Such convenience establishments and their parking areas will not collectively occupy 
more than one acre per one hundred (100) dwelling units;  

3. Such convenience establishments will be located, designed, and operated to efficiently 
serve frequent trade and to serve the needs of persons residing in the planned unit 
developments;  

4. Such convenience establishments will not, by reason of their location, construction, or 
operation, have adverse effects on residential uses within or adjoining the district, or 
create traffic congestion or hazards to vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  

17.112.050 Development requirements. 

Planned unit developments shall comply with the applicable general development standards of 
Chapters 17.60 through 17.104 of this title. Underlying zoning lot dimensions and areas need not be met 
in a planned unit development.  

A. Site Adaptation. To the maximum extent possible, the plan and design of the development 
shall assure that natural or unique features of the land and environment are preserved.  

B. Lot Arrangement. All lots within the development shall be designed and arranged to have a 
maximum of two hundred (200) feet walking distance, or frontage on, open space or 
recreation areas.  

C. Density of Development. Permitted density of development in all PUD's shall be determined 
in accordance with the following procedures:  PUDs shall meet the minimum and maximum 
net density specified for the subject zoning district. 

1. Determine total gross site area (G.S.A.);  

2. Multiply the G.S.A. by .85 to determine the net site area (NSA);  

3. Deduct from the N.S.A. Any acres of twenty (20) percent or greater slope that will be 
developed, proposed commercial areas, and other nonresidential uses to determine net 
developable site area (NDSA). Open space areas and hillside areas that will be in open 
space areas are not required to be deducted;  

4. Determine maximum density of development in accordance with the appropriate 
method below:  

a. SR district developments: Multiply NDSA by six units per acre.  

b. R-3 district: Multiply NDSA by fourteen (14) units per acre.  

D. Amount of Open Space. The required amount of open space or outdoor recreational area 
shall be at least twenty (20) percent of the gross area.  

E. Structure Setback Provisions. Yard setbacks for lots on the perimeter of the project shall be 
the same as that required for the subject-zoning district. Detached structures shall maintain a 
minimum side yard setback from interior space lines of three (3) feet or meet the Uniform 
Building Code requirement for firewalls. A minimum front yard setback of twenty (20) feet 

Page 274



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

shall be required for any garage opening facing a public street. Otherwise the minimum 
setbacks of the underlying zone do not apply.  

F. Zero Side Yard Setback. Zero side yard dwelling units authorized in a planned unit 
developments shall meet the following use and development standards:  

1. Number of Attached Units. No more than six dwelling units, each on a lot held in 
separate ownership.  

2. Yards Adjacent to a Street. This chapter does not relieve the requirements of this title 
for yards adjacent to a street.  

3. Maintenance Easement. As a condition of issuance of a permit for any building having an 
exterior wall contiguous to a property line, the applicant shall furnish an easement from 
the owner of the property adjacent to said wall providing for ingress, egress, and use of 
such adjacent property for the purpose of maintaining, repairing, and replacing the 
building. Said easement shall be appurtenant to the property on which the building is 
located and shall be approved as to form by the city attorney and shall be recorded with 
Yamhill County prior to issuance of the permit.  

G. Circulation.  

1. Streets within a PUD shall comply with the applicable standards of Chapter 17.64;  

2. Roads and pedestrian and bikeway paths shall be an integrated system designed to 
provide efficient and safe circulation to all users. Developments should be designed to 
minimize the length of roadway;  

3. Pedestrian/bikeways shall be clearly signed and have adequate crossing facilities where 
warranted.  

H. Off-Street Parking. Off-street parking requirements shall be as specified in Chapter 17.68. 
Parking may be provided on each lot or in clustered parking areas. The city if warranted by 
reduced lot sizes, type of street, and/or traffic volumes, may require additional off-street 
parking for guests and recreational vehicles.  

I. Utilities. In addition to other requirements set forth herein, the following shall apply:  

1. All sewer and water provisions shall be approved by the city before construction of such 
improvements;  

2. All utility services shall be placed underground;  

3. Provisions shall be made for fire prevention, including service water lines, non-freeze 
hydrants, and free emergency access for fire fighting equipment around buildings;  

4. Provision shall be made for control of site storm water drainage, as required by Chapter 
17.72.  

J. Homeowners Association. A non-profit incorporated homeowners association, or an 
alternative acceptable to the city attorney, shall be required for improving, operating, and 
maintaining common facilities, including open space, streets, drives, service and parking 
areas, and recreation areas. The following principles shall be observed in the formation of any 
homeowners association and shall be reviewed by the city attorney:  

Page 275



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. A homeowners association shall be set up before approval of the final plat, or any 
portion thereof;  

2. Membership shall be mandatory for each homeowner and any successive buyer;  

3. The open space restrictions shall be in perpetuity;  

4. The homeowners association shall be responsible for liability insurance, local taxes, and 
the maintenance of recreational and other facilities;  

5. Home owners shall pay their pro rated share of the cost or the assessment levied by the 
association shall become a lien on the property;  

6. The association shall be able to adjust the assessment to meet changes needed;  

7. No change in open space use or dissolution of homeowners association shall occur 
without a public hearing before the Planning Commission and approval by the City 
Council.  

17.112.060 Process. 

Planned unit developments shall be processed in accordance with the submittal requirements and 
procedures established in Chapter 17.176. Approval shall only be granted if the requirements of this 
chapter and all other applicable requirements of this title are met.  

17.112.070 Modification of approval. 

A new public hearing shall be required if any one of the following changes is proposed to an 
approved planned unit development site plan:  

A. Increase or decrease of ten (10) percent (or more) in the number of dwelling units.  

B. Increase or decrease of ten (10) percent (or more) in the area devoted to open space or 
recreational space.  

  

Page 276



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.116 MANUFACTURED HOMES  

17.116.010 Purpose. 

The following general standards are applicable to all manufactured homes sited on individual lots 
within the City of Carlton.  

17.116.020 General standards. 

A. The manufactured home shall be multi-sectional and shall enclose a space of no less than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet.  

B. The manufactured home shall be placed on an excavated and back-filled foundation and enclosed 
at the perimeter such that the manufactured home is located not more than eighteen (18) inches 
above grade. The foundation must be constructed of concrete or concrete block.  

C. The manufactured home shall have a roof with a nominal pitch of no less than three (3) feet in 
height for each twelve (12) feet in width.  

D. Roofing material shall be composition asphalt, fiberglass, wood shake, or tile.  

E. The exterior siding must be horizontal lapped wood siding or a siding of equivalent appearance.  

F. The manufactured home shall be certified by the manufacturer to have an exterior thermal 
envelope meeting current performance standards specified by state law for single-family dwellings.  

G. The manufactured home shall have a garage or carport containing not less than two hundred (200) 
square feet of covered vehicle/storage space. The garage shall be constructed of materials that are 
similar in color, material, and appearance to the manufactured home. The garage or carport shall 
be constructed prior to occupancy.  

H. Transportation mechanisms, including wheels, axles, and hitch must be removed prior to 
occupancy.  

I. The manufactured home shall be provided with gutters and downspouts to direct storm water 
away from the placement site.  

J. All utilities shall be connected to the manufactured home in compliance with city and state 
requirements prior to occupancy.  

K. The manufactured home shall be constructed and maintained in conformance with the state and 
federal safety construction standards, applicable at the time of placing the manufactured home. 
The home shall bear the Oregon "Insignia of Compliance".  

L. A manufactured home shall not be placed within an acknowledged historical district or adjacent to 
a historic landmark.  

17.116.030 Process. 

The city shall review compliance with the standards of this chapter administratively during the 
review of applicable building permits and set-up permits.  

  

Page 277



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.120 MANUFACTURED HOME DWELLING PARKS 

17.120.010 Purpose. 

The following standards shall apply to the design and development of all manufactured home 
dwelling parks in the City of Carlton.  

17.120.020 General standards. 

A. Any lot or site used for a manufactured home dwelling park and any modifications to a 
manufactured home dwelling park shall comply with the provisions of ORS 446.002 to ORS 446.210 
and Manufactured Home Dwelling Park Standards, adopted as Oregon Administrative Rule, 
Chapter 814, Subdivision 3, Manufactured Home Dwelling Parks, Sections 28.010 to 28.170, 
inclusive.  

B. All parks shall require a minimum of three one acres.  

C. Density. The maximum net density of a manufactured home dwelling park shall not exceed ten 
(10) twelve (12) units per gross net acre.  

D. Minimum Area. The minimum area to be contained on a manufactured home space by a 
manufactured home and its accessory structures shall be three thousand five hundred (3,500) 
square feet.  

E. Setbacks. The following setback standards shall apply:  

1. General park development: setbacks for structures other than manufactured homes, carports 
and related accessory buildings shall comply with the minimum residential setbacks in the 
underlying zone.  

2. Manufactured homes:  

a. Front: five (5) feet minimum to the sidewalk; eight (8) feet minimum to the curb;  

b. Side and rear: fifteen (15) feet minimum to any adjacent manufactured home; ten (10) 
feet minimum to any adjacent nonresidential structure;  

c. Manufactured homes on the periphery of a manufactured home park shall maintain the 
same setback as required for the front, side and rear yard in the underlying zone.  

3. Accessory structures:  

a. Front: five (5) feet minimum to the sidewalk; eight (8) feet minimum to the curb;  

b. Adjacent side and rear: six (6) feet minimum to any adjacent manufactured home, or, 
nonresidential structure.  

4. Carports:  

a. Front: twenty (20) feet minimum to the sidewalk or curb, if a sidewalk is not provided;  

b. Side and rear: carports attached to, or within three (3) feet of, the manufactured home 
shall comply with the setbacks for the manufactured home. Otherwise, the setback 
provisions for accessory structures shall apply.  

F. Minimum Width. No manufactured home space shall be less than forty (40) feet in width at its 
driveway frontage.  

Page 278



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

G. Boundaries of Space. The boundaries of each manufactured home space shall be clearly marked by 
permanent markers.  

H. Driveways Drive Aisles. All driveways drive aisles shall be paved with an asphaltic material or 
concrete and shall be a minimum of twenty (20) feet in width. In addition, if parking is to be 
permitted along the driveways drive aisles, a minimum width of thirty (30) feet is required. All 
driveways drive aisles shall be adequately designed as to permit safe, easy access by emergency 
vehicles.  

I. Parking. A minimum of two off-driveway parking spaces shall be provided for each manufactured 
home space.  

J. Walks. Provisions shall be made for a walk from each manufactured home to each driveways drive 
aisles. All walks must be hard surfaced, well-drained and not less than thirty-six (36) inches in 
width.  

K. Patio. Each manufactured home space shall have a slab or patio or concrete, asphalt or flagstone or 
similar substance not less than twenty (20) feet in length and ten (10) feet in width adjacent to 
each manufactured home parking site.  

L. Storage Area. A storage space in a building having a gross floor area of at least sixty (60) square 
feet shall be constructed and completed prior to occupancy of the manufactured home for storing 
the outdoor equipment and accessories necessary to residential living.  

M. Accessory Buildings. Accessory buildings that are placed on a manufactured home space shall be 
sited in a manner so as not to hinder or restrict access to the side and rear yard areas adjacent to 
the manufactured home.  

N. Manufactured Home Space Coverage. Not more than forty-five (45) percent of a manufactured 
home space may be occupied by a manufactured home and its accessory structures.  

O. Signs. All signs shall be in accordance with Chapter 17.80 of this title.  

P. Lighting. Common driveways and walkways must be adequately lighted.  

Q. Skirting. All manufactured homes shall have skirting around the exterior of the manufactured 
home or they may be situated upon a continuous foundation meeting the approval of the city 
building code.  

R. Open Space. A minimum of at least five thousand (5,000) square feet per twenty-five (25) 
manufactured home spaces or portion thereof shall be provided for a recreational play area group 
or community activities. No approved open space area shall contain less than five thousand (5,000) 
square feet. The floor area of indoor facilities, such as a community building, may be included in 
calculating the open space requirement.  

S. Utilities. All utility services shall be underground. The applicant shall furnish the city with proper 
easements for reading the meters and for inspecting water and sewer lines. All meters and water 
lines shall be inspected while being installed and the installation shall meet city standards. The park 
owners to city standards shall maintain all meters and water and sewer lines.  

T. Sewer and Surface Drainage. Adequate provisions shall be for sewage disposal and surface 
drainage and plans for such must have prior approval of the health department and the city 
engineer before a manufactured home park is approved. All sewer lines and drainage facilities shall 
be inspected while being installed and the installation shall meet city standards.  

Page 279



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

U. Additions to Manufactured Homes. Carports, cabanas, ramadas, awning and all other structures, 
whether defined herein or not, which are situated upon a manufactured home space and are 
attached to the manufactured home, shall conform to the requirements of the city building code. 
Such additions and structures shall be considered as a portion of the manufactured home for 
determining the extent of lot coverage, setback lines and all other requirements for manufactured 
homes, as if such additions and structures were a part of such manufactured home.  

V. No part of any manufactured home dwelling park shall be used for the parking or storage of any 
heavy equipment, or trucks with a rated capacity exceeding two tons.  

W. A caretaker, owner or manager shall be responsible for keeping the manufactured home dwelling 
park, its facilities and equipment in a clean, orderly and sanitary condition.  

X. Landscaped buffer areas shall be developed around the perimeter of all manufactured home 
dwelling parks. Buffering shall comply with the standards of Chapter 17.84.  

Y. All units placed within a manufactured home dwelling park after the effective date of the 
ordinance codified in this title shall be "manufactured homes dwellings" as defined in Section 
17.12.020.  

17.120.030 Process. 

Manufactured home dwelling parks shall be subject to the Site Design Review procedures of 
Chapter 17.156. Submittal requirements and review procedures shall be as specified in that section. 
Approval shall not be granted unless all provisions of this chapter and other applicable requirements of 
this title are met.  

  

Page 280



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.124 HOME OCCUPATIONS 

17.124.010 Standards. 

Home occupations may be allowed as an accessory use on any property on which there is a 
residence, subject to the following standards and restrictions:  

A. Participation. No more than one person shall be employed whom is not a member of the 
family residing on the premises.  

B. Character. The character and primary use of the residence and premises shall not be changed 
by the use of colors, materials design, construction, lighting, landscaping or lack of 
landscaping.  

C. Traffic. A home occupation located on a local street, or privately maintained road serving 
three or more residences, shall not generate more than twenty (20) vehicle trips in one day. A 
"trip" is a vehicle traveling in one direction to or from a source. Twenty (20) trips are 
equivalent to ten (10) round trips.  

D. Noise. A home occupation shall not create noise of a type, duration or intensity that, 
measured at the property line, exceeds sixty (60) DBA between the hours of seven a.m. and 
six p.m. No noise shall be created by the home occupation between the hours of six p.m. and 
seven a.m. that is detectable to normal sensory perception, off the premises of the home 
occupation.  

E. Equipment and Process Restrictions. No home occupation shall create vibration, glare, fumes, 
odors, or electrical interference detectable to normal sensory perception outside the dwelling 
unit. In the case of electrical interference, nothing shall be used which creates visual or 
auditory interference in any radio or television off the premises.  

F. Hazards. No equipment, process or material shall be used which will change the fire rating or 
structure separation, firewall, or ventilation requirements for the structure in which the home 
occupation is located. No hazardous materials shall be used or stored on the property on 
which a home occupation located in quantities not typical of those customarily used in 
conjunction with activities or primary uses allowed in the zoning district.  

G. Signs. Signing shall be as provided in Chapter 17.80.  

H. On-Premise Client Contact. Customer and client contact shall be primarily by electronic 
media, telephone or mail, and not on the premises of the home occupation, except those 
home occupations, such as tutoring, counseling or personal services, which cannot be 
conducted except by personal contact. Services or sales conducted on the premises shall be 
by appointment only, and shall not be oriented toward, or attract, off-the-street customer or 
client traffic.  

I. Deliveries and Large Vehicle Storage. Delivery of materials to and from the premises shall not 
involve the use of vehicles over two ton capacity, except parcel post or private parcel delivery 
trucks. Vehicles over one ton capacity and used in conjunction with a home occupation shall 
be stored within an enclosed structure on the property. Regardless of capacity, storage of 
vehicles within the public right-of-way shall be prohibited.  

J. Parking. Parking spaces needed for the conduct of a home occupation shall be provided off 
the street, in defined areas which are appropriately designed and surfaced for that purpose, 

Page 281



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

and not located within the side or rear yard setbacks of the district. No more than two home 
occupation-related vehicles shall be located on the property at one time.  

K. Storage and Use of Yard Areas. Storage of tools, equipment and materials, and display of 
merchandise and all other activities associated with a home occupation, except as provided 
above for parking, shall be contained and conducted wholly within covered and enclosed 
structures and shall not be visible from the exterior of the containing structure(s). Home 
occupations that involve the care of children may use rear yard areas for playground 
equipment.  

L. Family day child care facilities homes, as permitted by this Code, shall not be subject to the 
provisions of this section.  

M. As a condition of approval, prior to commencing business, the home occupation proprietor 
shall obtain a business license from the City of Carlton.  

17.124.020 Process. 

A. Home occupations that meet the General Standards of Section 17.124.010 and that are fully 
enclosed within a primary residential use are permitted outright as an accessory use to the 
residential use.  

B. A home occupation that is not fully enclosed within a primary structure (residence) but meets all of 
the General Standards of Section 17.124.010 may be permitted subject to review and approval of a 
minor conditional use permit pursuant to Chapter 17.152.  

C. A home occupation that exceeds one or more of the General Standards of Section 17.124.010 may 
be permitted subject to review and approval of a major conditional use permit pursuant to Chapter 
17.152.  

D. The standards of this chapter shall govern all home occupations.  

E. If the City Manager or city manager's designee finds that the facts of the particular case require 
interpretation of existing standards, then a public hearing before the Planning Commission shall be 
scheduled. The procedures for conducting the public hearing shall comply with the standards in 
Chapter 17.196.  

17.124.030 Noncompliance. 

Any home occupation that does not comply with the requirement of this chapter and the 
provisions of the underlying district shall be a violation of this title and shall be subject to the 
enforcement remedies of Section 17.04.040.  

  

Page 282



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.125 VACATION RENTAL DWELLINGS 

17.125.010 Purpose. 

Vacation rental dwellings are intended to meet the desire of many owners to rent their property on a 
short-term basis and to provide for the orderly use and regulation of such rentals to preserve the 
health, safety and welfare of the community. This use shall not adversely affect the residential 
character of the neighborhood where they are located. These standards and procedures are in 
addition to City ordinances and Federal and State laws and regulations. 

17.125.020 Definitions  
 
The following words and phrases shall have the meaning set forth in this Chapter. 
 

“Incident” means an offensive activity or breach of the standards. 
  

“Local representative” means a person with the authority to take action or make decisions 
concerning the management of a licensed vacation rental property.  

 
“Overnight” means anytime between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on the following 

day.  
 
“Rental occupant” means a person over the age of four (4) years who occupies a rented vacation 

rental. 
  

“Sleeping area” means a bedroom or loft within a dwelling unit which meets the requirements 
of the building code as adopted by the State of Oregon. 

  
“Surfaced” means a gravel, paved, tile, brick or concrete surface suitable for parking a vehicle. 

 
“Vacation rental” means a dwelling unit, or any portion thereof, which is rented, or held out as 

available for rent, for periods of less than thirty (30) days, such as by the day or week. A dwelling 
which is listed with an agent as a vacation rental, advertised, available by referral, word of mouth, 
commendation and reputation are some of, but not limited to, the ways of identifying a vacation 
rental. It shall be a rebuttable presumption that a dwelling unit is a vacation rental if it is visited 
overnight by at least four (4) different vehicles over the course of a month, for three (3) consecutive 
months. The exchange of consideration is not necessary to meet the definition of a vacation rental if 
the dwelling otherwise is held out as available for occupancy for periods of less than thirty (30) days. 

17.125.0130 - Standards. 

A vacation rental dwelling permit license shall be issued as an accessory use provided the following 
standards are met:  

A. A vacation rental shall comply with all applicable laws. There must be no offensive noise, 
smoke, dust, litter or odor noticeable at or beyond the property line resulting from the use of 
the dwelling as a vacation rental dwelling that violates the Carlton Municipal Code.  

Page 283



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. The use shall not adversely affect the residential character of the neighborhood.  

C. There shall not be an excessive generation of traffic created by the vacation rental dwelling.  

D. One (1) off-street parking space will be provided for each bedroom/sleeping area in the 
dwelling vacation rental, but in no event shall less than two (2) spaces be provided for each 
dwelling separate vacation rental. All off-street parking spaces shall be surfaced. 

E. The dwelling vacation rental must maintain the residential nature of the front and side yards. 
The lot must be landscaped and maintained as a permanent residence similar to the 
surrounding area.  

F. The permittee licensee must provide receptacles for the deposit of garbage and subscribe to 
a solid waste collection service for the vacation rental dwelling.  

G. The permittee must obtain a business registration license from the City of Carlton.  

H.G. Signs for vacation rentals dwellings shall comply with requirements in, of Chapter 17.80.  

I.H. The property owner shall designate a local representative who permanently resides within 
the Carlton Urban Growth Boundary, or a licensed property management company with a 
physically staffed office within ten (10) vehicular miles of the Carlton Urban Growth 
Boundary. The property owner may be the designated representative where the owner 
resides in the Carlton Urban Growth Boundary.  

The local representative must be authorized by the owner of the dwelling to respond to 
the tenant and neighborhood questions or concerns. The local representative shall serve as 
the initial contact person if there are questions or complaints regarding the operation of the 
dwelling for vacation rental purposes. The local representative must respond to complaints in 
a timely manner to ensure the dwelling complies with the standards for vacation rental 
dwellings and other city ordinances pertaining to noise, disturbances, nuisances, as well as 
state laws pertaining to the consumption of alcohol, or the use of illegal drugs.  

J.I. The following information shall be posted within the vacation rental dwelling adjacent to the 
front door:  

1. The name of the local representative and a telephone number where the representative 
may be reached;  

2. The telephone number and web site address of the City of Carlton and the Carlton Police 
Department;  

3. The maximum number of occupants permitted to stay in the dwelling;  

4. The maximum number of vehicles allowed to be parked on the property;  

5. The number and location of off-street parking spaces; and  

6. The solid waste collection day.  

J.  All pets must be under control at all times. Methods of control include a leash or 
demonstrated effective voice command. The person having the control, custody or 
possession of a dog shall clean up after the dog by using a dog waste bag or other suitable 
method. 

Page 284



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

K.  The licensee must comply with the requirements of the occupancy tax ordinance as a 
condition for issuance or renewal of a vacation rental license. 

L.  Vacation rentals shall comply with the standards in this section, whether or not the vacation 
rental is occupied by a renter, owner, or other person. 

17.125.0240 - Process. 

A. Step One Process. 

 1.  Notice. Upon receipt of an application for a vacation rental dwelling permit, notice must be 
mailed at the applicant's expense to all owners of property within one hundred (100) feet of 
the exterior boundary of the property for which the application is made, giving the property 
owners notified twenty (20) days in which to respond to the city. 

2. Staff review.  
a. If no objections or complaints are received regarding the proposed use of the property 

as a vacation rental dwelling, staff may issue a vacation rental dwelling permit to the 
applicant. However, if staff finds that the facts of the particular case requires 
interpretation of existing standards, then a public hearing before the Planning 
Commission shall be scheduled. The procedures for conducting the public hearing shall 
comply with the standards found in Chapter 17.196.  

b. If staff receives one (1) or more written objections from individuals affected by the 
proposed use regarding compliance with any of the vacation rental standards listed 
above, after the notice requirements of the Step One process have been met, no permit 
shall be issued at that time and a hearing shall be set before the Planning Commission in 
accordance with the Step Two process specified below.  

B. Step Two Process. If the staff refers the matter to the Planning Commission for hearing, or a 
hearing is required as a result of a Step One mandatory referral, the application will be deemed an 
application for a conditional use and the conditional use requirements of Chapter 17.152 shall 
apply, as well as the standards for issuance of a vacation rental dwelling permit. The Development 
Code public hearing notice provisions and application fee requirements for a conditional use shall 
also apply.  

Applications for vacation rental license are subject to the Type II process as described in 17.188.020 
including notice to property owners as described in 17.192.020, except that notice shall be mailed at 
the applicant's expense to all owners of property within two hundred and fifty (250) feet of the 
exterior boundary of the property to where an application for vacation rental license is sought.  
Appeals of a Type II decision are subject appeal provisions as described in Chapter 17.204.  

17.125.0350 Permit License issuance. 

A vacation rental permit license shall be issued in the name of the property owner and is not 
transferable. A vacation rental license shall be specific to an individual dwelling; separate licenses shall 
be required in the event that an owner seeks to use multiple dwellings at a single address as vacation 
rentals. The permit license shall terminate and be deemed void when the permit license holder sells or 
transfers the property occupied or rented as a vacation rental dwelling. A conditional use permit 

Page 285



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

approved for a two-family duplex vacation rental will automatically terminate if the other half of the 
duplex is rented out for non-vacation use.   

A.  Upon receipt of the completed application, the annual license fee and attestation that the 
licensing standards have been met, the City shall issue a license to the applicant (not the 
dwelling) for a period of one year. The license may be renewed annually if all standards are 
met. A vacation rental licensee shall not be required to pay a business license fee in addition 
to the annual vacation rental license fee. The license application and annual fees established 
under this Chapter shall be set by the City Council, and may be changed by resolution. All 
fees are non-refundable.  

B.  All licenses shall be obtained prior to any rental of the property. The required application 
and license fee are due on January 1 of each year for the fiscal year commencing with that 
date and are delinquent on February 1. The delinquency fee will be set by resolution. 

17.125.0460 Non-compliance and complaints. 

A. Non-Compliance. Any vacation rental dwelling unit that does not comply with the requirements of 
this Section and the provisions of the underlying district shall be a violation of this Ordinance and 
shall be subject to the enforcement remedies of Section 17.04.040.  

B. Complaint Procedures. In addition to penalties specified in Section 17.04.040, the city may 
determine that an appropriate penalty is the revocation of a vacation rental permit in accordance 
with the following complaint procedures:  

1. The Planning Commission shall review the vacation rental dwelling permit upon receipt of one 
(1) written complaint from an individual who is adversely affected by the proposed use. The 
complaint shall clearly state the nature of the objection to the vacation rental dwelling. Staff 
shall investigate all such complaints and the results of the investigation shall be reported to 
the Planning Commission at a regular meeting. The complainant and owner of the vacation 
rental dwelling shall be notified of the meeting. Standards of judging objections shall include, 
but are not limited to, the following:  

i. Generation of excessive traffic;  

ii. Monopoly of on-street parking spaces;  

iii. Other offensive activities not in harmony with the residential neighborhood as may be 
determined by the Planning Commission;  

iv. Compliance with vacation rental dwelling permit standards, including conditions 
required by the Planning Commission as a result of issuance of a vacation rental permit 
through the conditional use process;  

2. The Planning Commission, upon hearing the evidence, may: approve the use as it exists; 
require the use to be terminated; or impose appropriate restrictions on the operation of the 
vacation rental dwelling.  

3. The determination of the Planning Commission shall become final ten (10) days after the date 
of its written decision unless appealed to the City Council.  

  

Page 286



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.126 FOOD CART PERMITS 

17.126.010 Applicability. 

The provisions of this section apply to food carts used in the preparation and/or sales of food and 
beverage items to the general public on private property. A food cart that remains on one lot for more 
than four hours in any one day and for more than ninety (90) days in any 12-month period must be 
approved following the procedures identified in Section 17.126.  

17.126.020 Approval required. 

Food carts are allowed as conditional uses in the DD, CB, CI and GI zoning districts and must be 
reviewed and approved by the planning commission following a major conditional use permit review 
procedure for compliance with the use and dimensional provisions of the underlying zone (not including 
design standards), the criteria for a conditional use permit and the provisions of Section 17.126. Food 
carts must also obtain approval of a city business license and all relevant county and state permits and 
licenses for a mobile food unit.  

17.126.030 Application submission requirements. 

An application for approval for the placement and operation of a food cart in the City of Carlton 
must include the following:  

A. A completed application form for a conditional use permit in addition to any other land use 
applications required by the underlying zoning district and an application fee.  

B. The initial application and each annual renewal requires the signature of the property owner 
authorizing the use on the site.  

C. Site plan drawn to scale including:  

1. Site dimensions.  

2. Relationship of the site to adjoining properties, streets, alleys, structures, public utilities, 
and drainage ways.  

3. Number and location of food carts on the site.  

4. Individual square footage of all food carts.  

5. Accessible pedestrian routes.  

6. Size and location of customer seating areas.  

7. Vehicular circulation and ingress/egress points.  

8. Parking and loading areas.  

9. Location and design elevation of all proposed structures and landscaped areas.  

10. Location and specifications of food cart pads.  

11. Location and design of fences and walls.  

12. Number and location of trash and recycling areas.  

13. Location and type of auxiliary storage.  

Page 287



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

D. Pictures of all sides of proposed food cart(s).  

E. Proximity to bathroom and written permission for use of hand-washing facilities and 
bathroom(s).  

F. Disposal plan for wastewater and gray water.  

G. Exterior lighting plan indicating location, size, height, typical design, material, color, and 
method of illumination.  

H. Written verification that the food cart has been permitted, inspected and meets applicable 
county health regulations.  

I. Any additional information that may be required by the city manager to properly evaluate the 
proposed site plan. The city manager may waive any of the requirements above where 
determined that the information required is unnecessary to properly evaluate the proposal.  

17.126.040 Permit terms and conditions. 

Each food cart permit issued shall terminate December 31 of the year in which it is issued and shall 
be subject to the following minimum conditions:  

A. Food cart permits are valid for the calendar year in which they are issued and will be renewed 
through a minor conditional use permit application procedure, except if the use was the 
subject of a city code enforcement action. If an enforcement action has occurred, the use 
shall be reviewed at the time of renewal following the major conditional use permit review 
procedure.  

B. The initial application and each annual renewal requires the signature of the property owner 
authorizing the use on the site.  

C. The permit issued shall be specific to one property and specific to the permittee only and the 
permit is not transferable to others in any manner. The permittee will be responsible for 
compliance with all conditions of approval.  

D. The permit is specifically limited to the area approved or as modified by the City 
Manager, and will include a site plan indicating the area approved for the operation of 
one or more food carts and the location of common seating areas.  

E. A Class I—IV mobile food unit license issued by the Yamhill County Department of Health 
must be must be displayed on the unit at all times so it can be read from the outside. The 
registration must be current and valid. The vehicle registration of the mobile food unit must 
be displayed on the unit at all times so it can be read from the outside. The registration must 
be current and valid.  

F. Each food cart shall be inspected by the New Carlton Fire District once per calendar 
year, or as warranted by the Carlton Fire District.  

G. All food carts are subject to all applicable city, county, and state codes and regulations.  

H. It is the responsibility of the permittee holder to notify the City Manager if the food cart 
will be closed for more than thirty (30) days.  

Page 288



 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.126.050 Use limitations and development standards. 

The following limitations and standards shall apply to all food carts permitted after the effective 
date of this chapter.  

A. Use Limitations.  

1. Food carts shall not provide drive-through facilities and are not allowed to provide 
internal floor space to customers.  

2. Food carts must be mobile units but are not permitted to operate from a motorized 
vehicle. An example of a mobile unit that meets this standard includes a trailer modified 
for the purpose of selling food but does not include a push-cart.  

B. Size and Placement.  

1. Carts shall not exceed twenty-six (26) feet in length, not including the trailer hitch, or be 
greater than two hundred sixty (260) square feet.  

2. All carts shall be placed on a paved surface such as but not limited to concrete, asphalt 
or pavers, or other approved material excluding gravel. If new paved surface is added to 
a site to accommodate a cart, the parking area shall comply with applicable parking 
design standards contained in Chapter 17.98.  

3. All seating areas shall be located on the subject property at least ten (10) feet from a 
food cart and seating areas shall be separated from parking areas by an approved fence 
or barrier.  

4. Ingress and egress shall be safe and adequate when combined with the other uses of the 
property and will comply with provisions of Section 17.68.  

5. Food carts shall provide adequate vision clearance as required by Section 17.92.070.  

6. Carts shall not occupy parking needed to meet minimum vehicle and bicycle parking 
requirements, and shall not occupy pedestrian walkways or required landscape areas. 
Blocking automobile access to parking spaces shall be considered occupying the spaces.  

7. Carts shall be located at least three feet from the public right-of-way or back of 
sidewalk, whichever provides the greater distance from the public right-of-way.  

8. Carts shall remain at least ten (10) feet away from other food carts, buildings and 
parking stalls.  

9. Carts shall not be located within twenty-five (25) feet of an active driveway entrance as 
measured in all directions from where the driveway enters the site at the edge of the 
street right-of-way. Carts shall not occupy fire lanes or drive aisles necessary for 
vehicular circulation or fire/emergency vehicle access. Customer service windows shall 
be located at least five feet from an active drive aisle used by cars. Each cart shall 
provide an awning for shelter to customers with a minimum clearance of seven feet 
between the ground and the awning.  

10. Only one cart shall be allowed on any legal lot of record.  

C. Operation and Maintenance.  

1. Carts shall limit the visual effect of accessory items not used by customers, including but 
not limited to tanks, barrels, etc. by screening with a site-obscuring fence or 

Page 289



 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

landscaping, or containing them within a storage shed not to exceed one hundred (100) 
square feet.  

2. The exterior surfaces of all carts shall be clean and free from dents, rust, peeling paint, 
and deterioration, and windows shall not be cracked or broken.  

3. The exterior surface of all food carts proposed to be located in the Downtown district 
shall be a color that is consistent with the Carlton Downtown historic color palette.  

4. Carts shall not have missing siding, skirting or roofing.  

5. Structures used to provide shelter to customers shall only be tents, canopies and similar 
membrane structures. Other structures for customer shelter are not allowed. This does 
not preclude the use of awnings attached to and supported by a mobile unit or 
umbrellas designed for café or picnic tables. All canopies, tents and other membrane 
structures erected on food and beverage cart sites shall comply with building code 
anchoring and engineering standards and fire code standards. Tents and canopies shall 
not have not tears, mold, or broken or non-functioning supports and shall be securely 
anchored.  

6. Unenclosed areas intended to be occupied by customers, such as areas near food cart 
service windows and customer seating, shall be illuminated when carts are in operation 
during hours of darkness;  

7. No source of outdoor lighting shall be visible at the property line adjacent to residential 
uses at three feet above ground level.  

8. Outdoor lighting fixtures shall be oriented and/or shielded so as not to create glare on 
abutting properties.  

9. Food carts are exempt from land-use district density, floor-area ratio and Downtown 
district design guidelines and standards. Accessory items to the food cart that are not 
for customer use, such as barrels, tanks or containers shall be screened to substantially 
limit the views of such items from the street.  

10. Signage shall comply with sign code regulations. Each cart is permitted one A-Frame 
sign.  

D. Fire and Safety.  

1. Carts shall not have components or attachments in disrepair in a manner that causes an 
unsafe condition.  

2. Uses shall not create tripping hazards in pedestrian or vehicular areas with items such as 
cords, cables and pipes.  

3. If external electric service is necessary, an underground electric service outlet providing 
electricity to the unit may be used. The outlet must have a ground fault interrupter and 
meet all applicable city, state and federal codes. The extension cord from the outlet to 
the mobile food unit must not be longer than ten (10) feet and must meet all city, state 
and federal codes.  

4. Carts shall meet fire code requirements regarding distances from other structures or 
combustible materials.  

Page 290



 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

5. Any cooking device within a food cart that creates grease-laden vapors shall provide an 
approved hood and extinguishing system, or be the type with a self-closing lid as 
approved by the fire marshal. Appropriate fire extinguishers are required.  

6. Propane tanks shall be stored and handled properly and be located at least ten (10) feet 
from combustible vegetation and trash receptacles and twenty (20) feet from a 
potential ignition source. Propane tanks shall remain outdoors and be secured from 
falling.  

E. Health and Sanitation.  

1. Trash and recycle receptacles shall be provided on site, and must be emptied and 
maintained. Trash and recycle receptacles shall be provided at a rate of one receptacle 
for every food cart. Where the food cart operator proposes to provide an outdoor 
seating area a minimum of one twenty-gallon trash receptacle and one twenty-gallon 
recycle receptacle shall be provided in the common seating area.  

2. Restrooms with hand washing facilities shall be provided for employees and customers. 
The restroom can be on-site or within one-quarter mile or a five-minute walk (such as at 
a neighboring business) and must be available during the cart's hours of operation. If the 
restroom is not on-site, the food cart operator shall submit written permission from an 
adjacent business or property owner where the facility is located.  

3. Sites containing more than one food cart shall provide a restroom facility on the same 
lot as the food cart.  

4. Wastewater and gray water shall be disposed of properly without harm to the 
environment or city infrastructure. An approved disposal plan shall detail storage and 
removal methods.  

5. Food carts that are fully contained; i.e., carts that provide their own water, power, and 
waste disposal, are permitted with no additional utility considerations beyond the 
permitting process and site plan approval described herein. Food carts that require a 
water source, power source, or waste disposal location are permitted only where the 
City Manager has approved site plans that show safe access and location of the 
aforementioned provisions. Such provisions shall be subject to all applicable building 
permits and system development charge requirements.  

17.126.060 Legal non-conforming food carts. 

A. Food cart permits issued prior to September 14, 2015 may be renewed under the code provisions 
that existed at the time they were permitted, except the following new standards apply and 
supersede the standards in effect prior to September 14, 2015 and Section 17.126.020.  

B. Food carts shall not have any internal floor space available to customers.  

C. Food carts mobile units shall not exceed twenty-six (26) feet in length or exceed two hundred sixty 
(260) square feet in area.  

D. Food carts shall comply with the vision clearance requirements of Section 17.92.070.  

E. Awnings attached to a food and/or beverage cart shall have a minimum of seven feet of clearance 
between the ground and the awning to allow access for pedestrians under the awning.  

Page 291



 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. Carts shall be located at least three feet from the right-of-way or back of sidewalk, whichever 
provides the greater distance from the right-of-way.  

G. Carts shall provide at least five feet between service windows or other customer service points and 
an active drive aisle.  

H. Carts shall remain at least ten (10) feet away from other food carts, buildings and parking stalls.  

I. Carts shall not occupy off-street parking spaces, fire lanes or drive aisles necessary for vehicular 
circulation or fire/emergency vehicle access as determined by the manager. Carts may occupy 
other drive aisles. In cases where a portion of a drive aisle is occupied, at least four feet of clear 
maneuvering space shall be provided between the closed portion of the drive aisle and the 
abutting active parking spaces.  

J. Unless otherwise specified in this section, legal non-conforming food carts shall be exempt from a 
finding of adequate public facilities unless it is determined that the proposed use exceeds the 
capacity of existing public facilities or causes unsafe conditions.  

K. Food carts are exempt from land-use district density, floor-area ratio and Downtown district design 
guidelines and standards. Accessory items to the food cart that are not for customer use, such as 
barrels, tanks or containers shall be screened to substantially limit the views of such items from the 
street.  

L. Structures used to provide shelter to customers shall only be tents, canopies and similar 
membrane structures. Other structures for customer shelter are not allowed. This does not 
preclude the use of awnings attached to and supported by a mobile unit or umbrellas designed for 
café or picnic tables. All canopies, tents and other membrane structures erected on food and 
beverage cart sites shall comply with building code anchoring and engineering standards and fire 
code standards. Tents and canopies associated with a food cart shall not have visible tears or mold, 
missing anchoring or broken and/or non-functioning supports.  

M. Unenclosed areas intended to be occupied by customers, such as areas near food cart service 
windows and customer seating, shall be illuminated when carts are in operation during hours of 
darkness.  

N. No source of outdoor lighting shall be visible at the property line adjacent to residential uses at 
three feet above ground level.  

O. Outdoor lighting fixtures shall be oriented and/or shielded so as not to create glare on abutting 
properties.  

P. Carts shall not have missing siding, skirting or roofing.  

Q. Permits are not transferrable to new owners of the food cart. Non-conforming status is non-
transferable to a new owner or operator. Legal non-conforming status of pre-existing food carts 
will expire on December 31, 2020.  

R. Restrooms with hand washing facilities shall be provided for employees and customers. The 
restroom can be on-site or within one-quarter mile or a five-minute walk (such as at a neighboring 
business) and must be available during the cart's hours of operation. If the restroom is not on-site, 
the food cart operator shall submit written permission from an adjacent business or property 
owner where the facility is located.  

Page 292



 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 22 of 22 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.126.070 Revocation or suspension of permit. 

A. A food cart permit shall be subject to revocation by the city if the application is found to include 
false information.  

B. A food cart permit shall be suspended if the food cart is closed for more than ninety (90) days 
without providing advance written notice to the City Manager.  

 

Page 293



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 5 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division V. GENERAL STANDARDS 

Chapter 17.128 GENERAL STANDARDS 

17.128.010 Minimum requirements. 

In interpreting and applying this title, the provisions herein shall be held to be the minimum 
requirements adopted for the promotion of the public health, safety, comfort, convenience, and general 
welfare.  

17.128.020 Completion of a structure. 

A structure not completed within one year of beginning construction shall constitute a violation of 
this title unless a performance guarantee is provided to the city in accordance with Section 17.216.010.  

17.128.030 Lots of record. 

A lot of record is a plot of land that meets one or more of the following criteria, pursuant to ORS 
92.010 to 92.190:  

A. The plot of land was lawfully created through a subdivision or partition plat prior to 
annexation to the city;  

B. The plot of land was created through a deed or land sales contract recorded with Yamhill 
County prior to adoption of the first City of Carlton Zoning Ordinance (Dec. 11, 1969); or  

C. The plot of land was created through a deed or land sales contract recorded with Yamhill 
County prior to January 1, 2007 and the subject plot of land would have complied with the 
applicable planning, zoning, subdivision or partition regulations in effect, if any existed, at the 
time it was created.  

D. Requests to validate a lot of record shall follow the procedures in ORS 92.010 to 92.190. and 
are subject to the Type I ministerial procedure per Section 17.188.010.   

17.128.040 Lots abutting a partial street. 

New structures that are proposed to be constructed on lots abutting an existing public street that 
does not meet the minimum standards of Chapter 17.64 for right-of-way width shall provide setbacks 
sufficient be set back to allow for the future widening of the right-of-way.  For this purpose, the Future 
Street Plan of the Carlton Transportation System Plan shall be used for identifying the appropriate 
street classification, shown as existing or proposed.  In addition to the minimum front and street side 
yard setbacks of the underlying zone, all new structures shall be set back to at least half the minimum 
right-of-way width of the respective street classification. Measurements for this purpose shall be 
taken from existing street centerline at a 90-degree angle toward the subject property.  Building 
permits shall not be issued unless yard setbacks equal to the minimum yard requirements of the zoning 
district plus half the required minimum additional right-of-way width is are provided.  

Page 294



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 5 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.128.050 Boundary street requirements. 

A. The owner(s) of property upon which application for permits for new construction shall be 
responsible, at a minimum, for sidewalk construction and improvement along all property 
frontages of all boundary streets.  

B. Prior to approval of an application for a permit for new construction where all boundary streets do 
not meet or exceed the requirements of Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction in 
the City of Carlton the following action shall be taken:  

1. A partial street improvement, including curbing, sidewalk and piped storm drainage shall be 
installed in conformance with plans reviewed and approved by the city engineer in all 
boundary streets; or an improvement deferral agreement or non-remonstrance agreement, 
see Section 17.128.030, shall be filed.  

2. A partial street improvement, referenced in subsection (B)(1) of this section, shall consist of a 
pavement width equal to three-fourths of the width designated for the boundary street by 
the City of Carlton, Transportation System Plan or twenty-four (24) feet, which ever is the 
greater.  

3. The city may require all or a portion of the improvements be deferred if it is in the interest of 
the city to do so because of programmed future construction or safety considerations.  

17.128.060 Reserved. 

17.128.070 Unsafe building. 

Nothing in this title shall prevent the strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of any part of 
any building or structure declared unsafe.  

17.128.080 Limitations on buildings. 

In an R-1 district there shall be only one main building on a lot.  

  

Page 295



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 5 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.132 GENERAL EXCEPTIONS 

17.132.010 General exception to building height. 

Projections such as chimneys, spires, domes, elevator shaft housing, flagpoles, and other similar 
objects not used for human occupancy are not subject to the building height limitations of the 
underlying zone.  

17.132.020 Height exceptions for public buildings. 

Public or quasi-public buildings, hospitals, places of worship, and educational institutions may be 
constructed to a height not to exceed forty-five (45) feet provided the required yards are increased one 
foot for each foot of additional building height above the height regulation for the zone.  

17.132.030 Public dedications. 

Setback restrictions of this title shall not apply to existing structures whose setback is reduced by a 
public dedication. Where an existing street setback or required landscaping must be reduced by a 
public dedication, the setback or landscaping requirements of this ordinance which are no longer met 
as a result of the dedication shall not apply to the structure or landscaping. Further encroachment 
into the setback or reduction of landscaping beyond the reduction caused by the public dedication is 
not permitted.  

17.132.040 Miscellaneous setback exceptions. 

Setback limitations stipulated elsewhere in this title may be modified as follows:  

A. Bus shelters that are intended for use by the general public and are under public ownership 
and/or control shall be exempt from setback requirements.  

B. Side and rear yards of underground structures may be reduced to three (3) feet except all 
openings into the structure, including doors, windows, skylights, plumbing, intake and 
exhaust vents, shall meet the minimum setbacks of the district.  

  

Page 296



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 5 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.136 TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 

17.136.010 Purpose. 

The transportation improvement projects process is intended to provide for the approval of 
projects identified in the adopted City of Carlton, Transportation System Plan and for the review of 
other transportation improvement projects.  

17.136.020 Permitted uses. 

Except where otherwise specifically regulated by this title, the following improvements are 
permitted outright in all districts and are not subject to land use approval. 

A. Normal operation, maintenance, repair, and preservation activities on existing transportation 
facilities.  

B. Installation of culverts, sidewalks, curbing, median fencing, guardrails, lighting and similar 
types of improvements within existing rights-of-way.  

C. Improvement Pprojects specifically identified in the City of Carlton, Transportation System 
Plan.  

D. Acquisition of right-of-way for public road, highways, and other transportation improvements 
designated in the City of Carlton, Transportation System Plan.  

E. Construction of a street or road as part of an approved subdivision or partitioning.  

17.136.030 Conditional uses Reserved. 

Construction, reconstruction, or widening of highways, road, bridges or other transportation 
projects that are:  

A. Not improvements designated in the City of Carlton, Transportation System Plan.  

B. Not designed and constructed as a part of an approved subdivision, partitioning or planned 
unit development.  

17.136.040 Review standards Reserved. 

Projects requiring a conditional use permit shall be reviewed and findings made to comply with the 
following criteria:  

A. The project is compatible with existing land use and social patterns, including noise 
generation and safety.  

B. The project is designed to minimize avoidable environmental impacts to wetlands, wildlife 
habitat, air and water quality, cultural resources, and scenic qualities.  

C. The project preserves or improves the safety and function of the facility through access 
management and other design features.  

D. The project includes provision for bicycle and pedestrian circulation as consistent with the 
comprehensive plans and other requirements of this title.  

  

Page 297



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 5 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.140 USES PERMITTED IN ALL ZONES 

17.140.010 Permitted uses. 

The following uses and activities are permitted in all zones:  

A. Placement and maintenance of underground or above ground wires, cables, pipes, guys, 
support structures, pump stations, drains, and detention basins within rights-of-ways by 
public agencies and utility companies for telephone, TV cable, or electrical power 
transmission, or transmission of natural gas, petroleum products, geothermal water, water, 
wastewaters, sewage and rainwater.  

B. Railroad tracks and related structures and facilities located within rights-of-ways controlled by 
a railroad operator.  

Page 298



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division VI. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW CRITERIA 

Chapter 17.144 SUMMARY OF APPLICATION TYPES 

17.144.010 Generally. 

All development permits and land use actions are processed under the administrative procedures 
provided for in this chapter. There are four types of actions, each with its own procedures.  

17.144.020 Type I action. 

A Type I action is subject to A ministerial action reviewed by staff the City Manager, where 
development proposals are limited in scope and decisions are based on the ability to meet clear and 
objective standards. No conditions may be placed on the decision and notice of the decision is sent only 
to the applicant. Appeal is to the Planning Commission. Procedures for Type I action are described in 
Chapters 17.188 and 17.192.The following actions are processed under the Type I procedure:  

A. Minor variance;  

B.A Lot line adjustment/Lot consolidation;  

C. Fence permit;  

D.B Sign permit;  

E. Floodplain permit;  

F.C Home occupation;  

G.D Access permit;  

H. Conditional use permit, minor;  

I.E. Site development design review, minor;  

J.F. Nonconforming use, Type I modification - for restoration or repair; 

G. Grading permit; 

H. Subdivision or partition final plat. 

17.144.030 Type II action. 

A Type II action is a quasi-judicial review in which the Planning Commission applies a mix of subject 
to administrative review by the City Manager, where development proposals are limited in scope 
objective and subjective standards that allow considerable and where limited discretion is applied. 
Public notice and a public hearing is provided, see as described in Chapter 17.188 and Chapter 17.192.  
Appeal of a Type II decision is to the City Council. The following actions are processed under a Type II 
procedure:  

A. Major Minor variance;  

B. Conditional use permit, major; minor; 

C. Site design review, major;  

D. Code interpretation;  

Page 299



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

E. Nonconforming uses, Type II modification;  

F.C. Partitions preliminary plat / Replat of 2-3 lots;  

G. Subdivision;  

H. Planned unit development.  

D. Floodplain development permit. 

17.144.040 Type III action. 

A Type III action is a quasi-judicial process in which the City Council Planning Commission 
exercises substantive discretion and may apply subjective standards in land use decision-making and 
evaluates facts and evidence presented in response to applicable standards and criteria. The Planning 
Commission has an advisory role. Public notice is provided and a public hearings are is held at the 
Planning Commission and City Council, per Chapter 17.192 in accordance with procedures for Type III 
action described in Chapters 17.188 and 17.192. For zone change, annexation and street vacation 
applications, the Planning Commission acts in an advisory role to the City Council, which holds an 
additional public hearing per Chapter 17.192 before making a final decision. Appeal of the decision is 
to the land use board of appeals (LUBA). The following actions are processed under a Type III procedure:  

A. Zone change;  

B. Annexation;  

C. Street vacation;  

D. Road dedication.  

D. Major variance; 

E. Conditional use permit, major; 

F. Site design review, major; 

G. Subdivision preliminary plat;  

H. Planned unit development; 

I. Code interpretation / similar use determination; 

J. Nonconforming use – for alteration and expansion; 

K. Sign permit variance. 

17.144.050 Type IV action. 

A Type IV action is a legislative review in which the city considers and enacts or amends laws and 
policies. Type IV actions are initiated by the City of Carlton; other parties may request the City Council 
consider a proposal requiring Type IV review. Public notice and hearings are provided in a Type IV 
process. Procedures for Type IV action are described in Chapters 17.188 and 17.192. Appeal is to the 
land use board of appeals (LUBA).  

A. Comprehensive plan amendment;  

B. Land use district map changes;  

C. Development code amendments.   

Page 300



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.148 VARIANCE 

17.148.010 Purpose. 

The development standards in this title protect the public health, safety and welfare by 
establishing standard setbacks, maximum building heights and other development standards that apply 
to various uses. For lands or uses with unique characteristics the intent and purpose of the development 
standards may be maintained while allowing for a variance to quantifiable requirements.  

17.148.020 Applicability. 

Under the following provisions, a property owner or his or her designate may propose a 
modification or variance from a standard or requirement of this title, except when one or more of the 
following applies:  

A. The proposed variance would allow a use that is not permitted in the district;  

B. Another procedure and/or criteria is specified in this title for modifying or waiving the 
particular requirement or standard; or  

C. Modification of the requirement or standard is prohibited within the district.  

17.148.030 Application and fee. 

An application for a variance shall be filed with the city and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It 
shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application, including findings that address 
relevant review criteria of this chapter.  

17.148.040 Criteria and procedure—Minor variance. 

A. The City Manager may approve a minor variance from a requirement or standard of this title in 
accordance with the Type I review procedures provided that the variance proposal does not 
expand or reduce a quantifiable standard by more than twenty (20) percent, and the applicant 
provides evidence that the following circumstances substantially exist:  

1. The intent and purpose behind the specific provision sought to be varied is either clearly 
inapplicable under the circumstances of the particularly proposed development; or  

2. The particular development as proposed otherwise clearly satisfies the intent and purpose for 
the provision sought to be varied; and  

3. The variance does not result in a development, or any portion of a development, moving 
closer to an existing dwelling (i.e., reduced setback adjacent to a dwelling); and  

4. The minor variance does not expand or reduce a quantifiable standard by more than twenty 
(20) percent  

5.4. The variance is the minimum necessary to achieve the purpose of the minor variance; and  

6.5. There has not been a previous land use action approved on the basis that a minor variance 
would not be allowed.  

B. When the approval criteria in subjection A, above, are not met, or it is unclear to the city manager 
whether the criteria can be met, the city manager shall advise the applicant in a timely manner 
that the request is likely to be denied unless it is modified to be consistent with the approval 

Page 301



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

criteria. The applicant may then modify the application, withdraw it, or ask that it be elevated to a 
Type II review. Where a request is made by the applicant to elevate the application to a Type II III 
review, the City Manager shall do so without unreasonable delay and the previously paid fee for 
the Type I II review shall be credited toward the Type II III review.  

C. When a minor variance application is submitted concurrently with an application requiring a Type II 
III review, such as a partition, subdivision, or planned unit development, the City Manager may 
refer the minor variance application to the Planning Commission for their review.   

17.148.050 Criteria and procedure—Major variance. 

Major variances apply to proposals that expand or reduce the quantifiable standard by more 
than twenty (20) percent. The Planning Commission may allow a major variance (greater than 20 
percent deviation from a numerical standard) from a requirement or standard of this title after a public 
hearing conducted in accordance with the Type II III review procedures provided that the applicant 
provides evidence that the following circumstances substantially exist:  

A. Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances apply to the property that do not apply generally 
to other properties in the same zone or vicinity, and result from lot size or shape, legally 
existing prior to the date of the ordinance codified in this title, topography, or other 
circumstances over which the applicant has no control.  

B. Such variance is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a substantial property right 
of the applicant possessed by the owners of other properties in the same vicinity or district.  

C. The authorization of such variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to property in the vicinity or district in which the property is located, or otherwise 
conflict with the objectives of any city plan or policy.  

D. That the special conditions and circumstances on which the application is based does not 
result from the negligent or knowing violation of this title by the applicant.  

E. The variance requested is the minimum variance that would alleviate the hardship.  

17.148.060 Expiration of approval. 

A. Variance approval shall be effective for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of 
approval. If the variance has not been implemented within the 18-month period, the approval shall 
expire.  

B. Variance approval shall be voided immediately if the use established on site does not substantially 
conform to the approval granted by the Planning Commission.  

C. The City Manager shall upon written request by the applicant and payment of the required fee, 
grant an extension of the approval for a period not to exceed six (6) months provided that:  

1. No changes are made to the approved variance;  

2. The applicant can show intent to implement the variance within the six-month extension 
period; and  

3. There have been no changes in existing conditions, facts, or applicable policies or ordinance 
provisions on which the original approval was based;  

Page 302



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

4. The request for extension shall be submitted, in writing, thirty (30) days prior to the 
expiration of the approval period.  

  

Page 303



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.152 CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS 

17.152.010 Purpose. 

The conditional use permit process is intended to:  

A. Guide future growth and development in accordance with the comprehensive plan and other 
related ordinances;  

B. Provide an efficient process and framework to review development proposals;  

C. Ensure safe, functional, energy-efficient developments which are compatible with the natural 
and man-made environment; and  

D. Resolve potential conflicts that may arise between proposed developments and adjacent 
uses.  

17.152.020 Process. 

This chapter provides for two types conditional use permit reviews: "major conditional use permit" 
applications shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type II III review procedures, and "minor 
conditional use permit" applications are reviewed in accordance with the Type I II review procedures. An 
application for a conditional use permit shall be filed with the city recorder and accompanied by the 
appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses 
the review criteria of this chapter.  

A. Major Conditional Use Permit. Major conditional use permit review shall be applicable to all 
new conditional uses proposed where the subject site does not currently have a conditional 
use on it, and to changes to existing conditional uses that meet the threshold criteria for 
major site design review under Section 17.156.020 040. 

B. Minor Conditional Use Permit. Minor conditional use permit review shall be applicable to all 
new developments, exterior alterations to existing developments, and changes or expansions 
in to existing conditional uses that do not otherwise meet the threshold criteria for major 
conditional use permit review under [Section] 17.152.020 that are less than twenty-five (25) 
percent of the existing floor area, and not exceeding a total floor area of 1,000 square feet.  

C. All of the provisions and regulations of the underlying zone shall apply unless modified by 
other sections of this title.  

D. Where a proposal is subject to both site design review and conditional use permit review, the 
applications may be consolidated and processed by the city concurrently, though the Planning 
Commission shall make findings and reach a decision individually for each application.  

17.152.030 Criteria for approval. 

Conditional use permits shall be approved if the applicant provides evidence substantiating that all 
the requirements of this title relative to the proposed use are satisfied, and demonstrates that the 
proposed use also satisfies the following criteria:  

A. The use is listed as a conditional use in the underlying district or the approval body finds that 
the use is similar to a conditional use listed in the underlying district.  

Page 304



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

B. The site size, dimensions, location, topography and access are adequate for the needs of the 
proposed use, considering the proposed building mass, parking, traffic, noise, vibration, 
exhaust/emissions, light, glare, erosion, odor, dust, visibility, safety, and aesthetic 
considerations.  

C. All required public facilities, including water, sanitary sewer, and streets, have adequate 
capacity or are to be improved to serve the proposal, consistent with City standards.  

D. The proposed use will not alter the character of the surrounding area in a manner that 
substantially limits, impairs, or precludes the use of surrounding properties for the primary 
uses listed in the underlying district.  

E. The negative impacts of the proposed use, if any, on adjacent properties and on the public 
can be mitigated through application of other Code standards, or other reasonable conditions 
of approval.  

17.152.035 Criteria for approval of medical marijuana dispensary or commercial retail 
marijuana facility. 

A. The lot on which the business is proposed shall only be located on property zoned and classified as 
Commercial Business, Commercial Industrial, or General Industrial;  

B. The business shall be located in a permanent building and may not locate in a trailer, cargo 
container or motor vehicle;  

C. The lot is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of any lot upon which there is located an 
educational institution primarily attended by minors, including kindergarten, elementary and 
secondary schools;  

D. If the use is a medical marijuana dispensary the lot is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of any 
lot upon which there is located another marijuana dispensary business;  

E. The lot is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of the exterior boundaries of a city park.  

F. The exterior appearance of the structure shall be consistent with the appearance of existing 
commercial structures on abutting lots or within the immediate neighborhood, so as not to cause 
blight, deterioration, or avoidable depreciation in property values within the general vicinity;  

G. No marijuana dispensary business or commercial retail marijuana facility shall have operating 
hours earlier than 8:00 a.m. or later than 8:00 p.m. of the same day;  

H. Cultivation, retail cultivation or infusion of marijuana at the site of the dispensary or commercial 
retail facility is prohibited;  

I. The business shall provide for secure disposal of marijuana remnants or by-products; such 
remnants or by-products shall not be placed within the facility's exterior refuse containers;  

J. Drive-through services are prohibited.  

17.152.040 Conditions of approval. 

The approval body may impose conditions that it finds necessary to ensure that the use is 
compatible with other uses in the vicinity, and that the negative impact of the proposed use, if any, on 
the surrounding uses and public facilities is minimized. These conditions include, but are not limited to, 
one or more of the following:  

Page 305



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

A. Limiting the hours, days, place and/or manner of operation;  

B. Requiring site or architectural design features which minimize environmental impacts such as 
noise, vibration, exhaust/emissions, light, glare, erosion, odor and/or dust;  

C. Requiring larger setback areas, lot area, and/or lot depth or width;  

D. Limiting the building or structure height, size, lot coverage, and/or location on the site;  

E. Designating the size, number, location and/or design of vehicle access points or parking and 
loading areas;  

F. Requiring street right-of-way to be dedicated and street improvements made, or the 
installation of pathways or sidewalks, as applicable;  

G. Requiring landscaping, screening, drainage, water quality facilities, and/or improvement of 
parking and loading areas;  

H. Limiting the number, size, location, height and/or lighting of signs;  

I. Limiting or setting standards for the location, type, design, and/or intensity of outdoor 
lighting;  

J. Requiring berms, screening or landscaping and the establishment of standards for their 
installation and maintenance;  

K. Requiring and designating the size, height, location and/or materials for fences;  

L. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees, soils, vegetation, watercourses, 
habitat areas, drainage areas, historic resources, cultural resources, and/or sensitive lands;  

M. Requiring improvements to water, sanitary sewer, or storm drainage systems, in conformance 
with City standards; and  

N. Establish a timetable for periodic review and renewal, or expiration, of the conditional use 
permit to ensure compliance with conditions of approval; such periodic review may occur 
through Type I or Type II review process, as specified by the approval.  

17.152.050 Expiration of approval. 

A. Conditional use permit approval shall be effective for a period of eighteen (18) months from the 
date of approval. If the approved use has not been established or substantial construction of 
buildings associated with the approved use has not begun within the 18-month period, the 
approval shall expire.  

B. Conditional use permit approval shall be voided immediately if the use established on site does not 
substantially conform to the approval granted by the Planning Commission.  

C. The City Manager shall upon written request by the applicant and payment of the required fee, 
grant an extension of the approval for a period not to exceed six (6) months provided that:  

1. No changes are made to the approved conditional use;  

2. The applicant can show intent to establish the use within the six-month extension period;  

3. There have been no changes in existing conditions, facts, or applicable policies or ordinance 
provisions on which the original approval was based; and  

Page 306



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

4. The request for extension is submitted, in writing, thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of 
the approval period.  

  

Page 307



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.156 SITE DESIGN REVIEW 

17.156.010 Purpose. 

The site design review process is intended to:  

A. Guide future growth and development in accordance with the comprehensive plan and other 
related ordinances;  

B. Provide an efficient process and framework to review development proposals;  

C. Ensure safe, functional, energy-efficient developments which are compatible with the natural 
and man-made environment; and  

D. Resolve potential conflicts that may arise between proposed developments and adjacent 
uses.  

E. The site design review provisions are not intended to preclude uses that are permitted in the 
underlying zones.  

F. Implement design standards contained in this title, which are intended to allow new 
development that is visually compatible with the historic context of commercial development 
within Carlton.  

17.156.020 Process. 

This chapter provides for two types of site design review. "Major site design review" applications 
shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type III review procedures, and "minor site design review" 
applications are reviewed in accordance with the Type II review procedures.  An application for site 
design review shall be filed with the city recorder and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It shall be 
the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses the review criteria of this 
chapter.  

17.156.030 Application and fee. 

An application for site design review shall be filed with the city recorder and accompanied by the 
appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses 
the review criteria of this chapter.  

17.156.040 Applicability of provisions. 

A. Major Site Design Review. Major site design review shall be applicable to all new non-residential 
developments and major expansion or remodel (twenty-five (25) percent or more increase in total 
square footage) of existing non-residential developments except single-family detached dwellings 
and individual duplex dwellings (not part of a subdivision proposal) do not require site design 
review. For residential development, major site design review shall apply when the development 
plan is shown not to meet one or more applicable residential design standards as contained in 
Chapter 17.106.  Major site design review also applies to a development or change in use that 
requires a new access permit for access onto a state highway, requires the development of 
additional off-street parking, or increases AM or PM peak hour automobile trips to/from the site by 
more than ten (10) percent or ten (10) vehicles, whichever is greater. For purposes of this criterion, 
the current use as of the time of site design review application submittal shall provide the basis for 
calculating vehicle trips. Where the subject development is not currently in use, the most intensive 

Page 308



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

use of the site during the past twelve (12) months shall serve as the basis for calculating proposed 
changes in parking and traffic.  

B. Minor Site Design Review. Minor site design review shall be applicable to all new developments, 
exterior alterations to existing developments, minor expansion or remodel (less than twenty-five 
(25) percent increase in total square footage) of existing non-residential developments, and 
changes in use that do not otherwise meet the threshold criteria for major site design review 
under 17.156.040(A), except for exterior alterations actions listed as exempt under subsection 
17.156.040(C). Minor site design review shall be applicable to all new and expanded residential 
developments, unless exempt, where shown to comply with all applicable design standards in 
Chapter 17.106.  

C. Exemptions.  

1. Changes in use that do not involve development and do not increase AM or PM peak hour 
automobile trips are exempt from site design review.  

2. Routine building maintenance and repair work (e.g., painting, weatherization, window 
replacement, and similar maintenance and repair) that do not expand the building envelope 
and are not otherwise subject to site design review under Chapter 17.30 Downtown (D) 
District, are exempt; provided all building code requirements shall be met. Projects within the 
Downtown (D) District shall additionally conform to the standards for building materials and 
colors contained in Chapter 17.30.  

3. Any new or remodeled single-family detached dwelling, duplex dwelling, or two attached 
townhouse dwellings.  

D. Notwithstanding the exceptions under subsection 17.156.040(C), all of the provisions and 
regulations of the underlying zone and other provisions of this title, as applicable, shall apply.  

17.156.050 Submittal requirements. 

The following information shall be submitted as part of a complete application for site design 
review:  

A. Site Analysis:  

1. Existing site topography;  

2. Identification of areas exceeding ten (10) percent slopes;  

3. Site drainage, areas of potential flooding;  

4. Areas with significant natural vegetation;  

5. Classification of soil types;  

6. Existing structures, roadway access, utilities, and easements on the subject site;  

7. Fire flow information;  

8. Existing and proposed streets, bikeways, and pedestrian facilities within three hundred 
(300) feet.  

B. Site Plan:  

1. Proposed grading and topographical changes;  

Page 309



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. All proposed structures including finished floor elevations, setbacks, exterior elevations, 
and exterior finishing;  

3. Vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns, parking, loading and service areas;  

4. Proposed access to public roads and highways, railroads or transportation systems;  

5. Site drainage plan including methods of storm drainage, sanitary sewer system, water 
supply system and electrical services. Invert elevations may be required for all 
underground transmission lines;  

6. Proposed landscape plan, to include appropriate visual screening and noise buffering, 
where necessary, to ensure compatibility with surrounding properties and uses;  

7. Proposed on-premise signs, fencing or other fabricated barriers, together with their 
heights and setbacks;  

8. Proof of ownership and signed authorization for the proposed development if applicant 
is not the owner of the site; and  

9. A schedule of expected development;  

10. A traffic impact analysis if requested by the City Manager required by subsection 
17.100.070(B);  

11. A grading plan and/or geotechnical engineering report if required by Section 
17.78.070; 

11 12. Other appropriate studies and information that may be required by the City Manager 
to adequately evaluate the project, including Traffic Impact Analyses, as applicable.  

17.156.060 Evaluation of site plan Approval criteria. 

The review of a site plan shall be based upon consideration of the following:  

A. Conformance All applications for site design review shall comply with the standards of this 
chapter, the standards in the base zone, General Development Standards, Division III 
(Chapters 17.60 through 17.106) of this title, and any applicable Special Use Standards in 
Division IV.  

B. Application of the standards of this title relative to the characteristics of adjoining and 
surrounding uses;  

C. Drainage and erosion control requirements relative to applicable city and DEQ standards, and 
engineering best practices;  

D. Public health factors relative to applicable building codes, sanitation requirements, and city 
standards;  

E. Parking, traffic safety, and connectivity of internal circulation to existing and proposed 
streets, bikeways and pedestrian facilities;  

F. Provision for adequate noise and/or visual buffering from non-compatible uses or activities;  

G. Balancing retention of natural features with individual property rights and growth 
management policies; and  

H. Avoidance of natural hazards.  

Page 310



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.156.070 Public improvements Reserved.  

As part of a design review approval, the decision body may impose the following conditions on a 
new or expanding development to ensure compliance with the city's public facility standards:  

A. Limit or prohibit access to streets, including requiring consolidation or reconfiguration of 
existing accesses;  

B. Require transportation improvements, including but not limited to new or widened streets, 
sidewalks, bicycle lanes, on-street parking, roadway markings, traffic controls, bus transit 
waiting areas, or other improvements consistent with the city's transportation system plan or 
as recommended in a traffic impact analysis pursuant to Chapter 17.100;  

C. Require the dedication of additional right-of-way and/or street improvements where 
necessary to meet city street standards.  

D. Require the replacement, extension, and/or upgrade of other essential infrastructure, public 
or private, including but not limited to water, sewer and storm drainage facilities, provided 
the required improvements must be necessary to serve the proposed development in 
conformance with city standards, and the cost borne by the developer/applicant must be 
roughly proportional to the impact the development is expected to have on those facilities.  

17.156.080 Expiration of approval. 

A. Site design review approval shall be effective for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of 
approval. If substantial construction of the approved plan has not begun within the 18-month 
period, the approval shall expire.  

B. Site design review approval shall be voided immediately if construction on the site is a departure 
from the approved plan.  

C. The City Manager shall upon written request by the applicant and payment of the required fee, 
grant an extension of the approval for a period not to exceed six (6) months provided that:  

1. No changes are made to the approved site design plan;  

2. The applicant can show intent to initiate construction on the site within the six-month 
extension period;  

3. There have been no changes in existing conditions, facts, or applicable policies or ordinance 
provisions on which the original approval was based; and  

4. The request for extension is submitted, in writing, thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of 
the approval period.  

17.156.090 Performance guarantees. 

All public improvements required as a condition of approval site design review approval shall be 
completed prior to the issuance of any building permits for any structures within the subject 
development, unless there exists a performance guarantee acceptable to the city attorney, as provided 
for in Chapter 17.216. In addition to requiring a performance guarantee for public improvements, the 
city may require a performance guarantee to ensure completion landscaping, screening, fences, walls, 
and/or other improvements required to ensure compliance with the requirements of this title.  

Page 311



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.156.100 Design standards in the commercial business and commercial industrial zones. 

As part of the site design review process, all developments subject to site design review, pursuant 
to Section 17.156.040, in the commercial business district or commercial industrial district shall be 
subject to compliance with the all of following design standards. (Note: Section 17.156.100 does not 
apply to development in the downtown (D) district. Development in the D district shall conform with the 
design standards of Chapter 17.30).  

A. Building Orientation. The primary entrance to a business shall be oriented toward the major 
street frontage. Businesses on corner lots may be oriented toward the street corner with an 
entry within 10 feet of right-of-way in lieu of orientation towards the major street frontage.  

B. Building Height.  

1. Building heights shall vary from adjacent buildings, using either "stepped" parapets or 
slightly dissimilar overall building height that varies a minimum of two feet to maintain 
the traditional "staggered" streetscape appearance;  

2. Multi-story development is the standard without a variance and shall be required on 
corner lots.  

C. Setbacks. All buildings shall extend to the side lot line, except to accommodate areas 
specifically designed and maintained as plaza spaces, courtyards, or rear access for pedestrian 
walkways.  

D. Building Openings.  

1. The primary ground level street access shall be recessed from the public right-of-way to 
create a sense of entry through design or use of materials;  

2. Ground level entry doors shall be primarily a minimum of 60% transparent;  

3. Ground level elevation shall maintain a consistent proportion of transparency (i.e. 
windows) with the pattern found in the commercial business area a minimum 
requirement of windows for 60 percent of the ground floor façade along public street 
frontages;  

4. Scale, proportion and materials used in alteration or additions to existing structures, 
such as the size and relationship of new windows, doors, entrances and other building 
features shall be visually compatible with the original architecture of the building Each 
building facade adjacent to a street shall be articulated through recessing, projecting, 
banding, articulation of exterior materials, or change of materials, by incorporating 
patterns that are offset by a minimum depth (projecting or recessing) of at least 16 
inches from one exterior wall surface to the other and the offset shall extend the 
length and height of its module. Articulation patterns shall repeat a minimum of every 
20 feet for the entire length of the facade. This standard shall only apply to facades 
that exceed 40 feet in length;  

5. Upper floor windows shall be vertically orientated, their height greater than their width;  

6. Except for transom windows, windows shall not break the front plane of the building;  

7. Blank walls adjacent to a public sidewalk shall be prohibited in new structures.  

E. Rear and Alley Entrances.  

Page 312



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Where applicable, alley Alley entrances shall be designed to encourage pedestrian 
access;  

2. Signs shall be of modest scale to fit the visual characters of an alley or rear entrance;  

23. Security lighting shall be provided and focused on rear entries;  

34. Refuse containers and service facilities shall be screened from view.  

F. Rhythms.  

1. Prominent horizontal lines at similar levels along the street front shall be maintained 
Where a wall of a proposed building is 10 feet or more taller than an adjacent building, 
the taller building must follow the horizontal lines of the shorter building along the 
ground floor. This requirement is met by incorporating cornicing or a similar 
architectural feature that projects a minimum of 2 inches from the façade between 
the full length of all upper story floors;  

2. A clear visual division shall be maintained between the ground level floor and upper 
floors;  Multi-story buildings must have designs that establish prominent horizontal 
lines and avoid blank walls by incorporating one or more of the following:  

(A) A series of storefront windows;  

(B) Awning or canopy along the ground floor; 

(C) Belt course between building stories; and/or 

(D)  Cornice or parapet line.  

3. Buildings shall provide a foundation or base from ground level to the bottom of the 
lower windowsills, with changes in volume or material;  

34. Buildings shall reflect a vertical orientation, through either actual volume or the use of 
surface detail to divide large walls. For buildings three stories or more, elevations must 
incorporate changes in material that define a building’s base, middle, and top and 
create visual interest and relief. 

G. Roof Forms.  

1. Sloped or residential style roof forms are prohibited unless visually screened from the 
right-of-way by either parapet or false fronts incorporating a well-defined cornice line 
made of different material and color than the predominate siding of the building, 
except that brick siding may include matching brick cornices;  

2. Roof mounted equipment shall not be seen from street level and shall not extend above 
the parapet of a building.  

H. Building Materials and Color.  

1. Exterior building materials shall consist of traditional building materials originally found 
on buildings in the commercial business area or new materials that closely approximate 
traditional building materials;  

2. Glass, metal panels, smooth stucco, metal shingles or highly polished surfaces may not 
be used as a majority of the on more than 40 percent of a building's exterior surface is 
prohibited;  

Page 313



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. Traditional materials shall not be used in non-traditional applications;  

34. Masonry facades shall not be painted;  

45. Subdued colors are encouraged and bright "neon" paint colors or intense white shall be 
avoided.  

I. Awnings and Marquees. Awnings, marquees or similar pedestrian shelter over sidewalk areas 
shall be provided and placed giving due consideration to the building architectures such as 
using the prominent horizontal lines of the building. The use of illuminated, barrel shaped or 
plastic awnings shall be prohibited. Pedestrian shelters.  

1. Pedestrian shelters such as a canopy or overhang shall be provided over all adjacent 
public sidewalks so that 50 percent of the length of the building frontage and adjacent 
sidewalk has weather protection.  

2. Pedestrian shelters must be at least the same width of storefronts or window 
openings and meet any and all additional building code requirements. 

3. The minimum horizontal projection (depth) is 3 feet. 

4. All portions of any pedestrian shelter shall be at least 8 but not more than 12 feet 
above any public walkway. 

J. Remodeling, restoration, rehabilitation or remodeling projects shall incorporate, whenever 
possible, original design elements that were previously removed, changed or covered over.  

17.156.110 Exception to design standards in the commercial business and commercial 
industrial zones. 

A.  The applicant may request and the Planning Commission may grant an exception to the 
design standards in the commercial business and commercial industrial zones if all of the 
following circumstances exist:  as part of the site design review for an alternative design 
that accomplishes the purpose of Section 17.156.100 in a manner that is equal or superior 
to a project designed pursuant these standards or historical precedent. 

B. The applicant may apply for a variance for specific relief from the requirements of Section 
17.156.100. 

A. There is demonstrable difficulty in meeting the specific requirements of Section 17.156.100 
due to a unique or unusual aspect of the site, an existing structure or proposed use.  

B. There is demonstrable evidence that an alternative design accomplishes the purpose of 
Section 17.156.100 in a manner that is equal or superior to a project designed pursuant these 
standards or historical precedent.  

C. The exception requested is the minimum necessary to alleviate the difficulty of meeting the 
standards of Section 17.156.100.  

  

Page 314



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.160 CODE INTERPRETATION SIMILAR USE DETERMINATION 

17.160.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to provide for a code interpretation for a process for determining 
those uses not specifically listed in a particular zoning district but which are similar in character, scale 
and performance to the permitted uses specified therein.  

17.160.020 Process. 

Similar use requests shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type II III review procedures.  

17.160.030 Application and fee. 

Any application for a similar use shall be filed with the City Manager and accompanied by the 
appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses 
the review criteria of this chapter.  

17.160.040 Review criteria. 

A similar use may be authorized provided that the applicant demonstrates that the proposed use 
satisfies the following criteria:  

A. The use is consistent with the purpose of the underlying zoning district and is similar in 
character, scale and performance to uses specified in the underlying district.  

B. The use conforms to the applicable standards and limitations of the underlying zoning district.  

17.160.050 Determination. 

A. In approving an application for a similar use, the Planning Commission may:  

1. Determine whether the use is prohibited, permitted or conditionally permitted in the 
specified zone;  

2. Determine whether the use is permitted or conditionally permitted in a different zone;  

3. Consistent with the development requirements of the identified zone, determine whether 
additional land use actions, such as conditional use approval or a site plan review, are 
required. 

B. The determination by the Planning Commission that a proposed similar use cannot be 
accommodated in a given zone does not preclude an application, by the appropriate party, for an 
amendment to the text of the comprehensive plan and/or development code. appeal of the 
determination further to the City Council through the process described in Chapter 17.204. As 
explained in Chapter 17.04.070, the Planning Commission may issue an interpretation of the 
question if they have first determined that such interpretation is within their power and is not a 
legislative act.  

  

Page 315



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.164 NONCONFORMING USES 

17.164.010 Purpose. 

Within the zoning districts established by this title and amendments thereto, uses and structures 
may exist which were lawful before the date of adoption or amendment of this title but which would be 
prohibited or restricted under the terms of this title. The general purpose of this chapter is to encourage 
the conversion of such nonconforming uses to conforming uses. However, this chapter allows 
nonconforming uses and structures to be continued, altered, restored or replaced subject to satisfaction 
of the review criteria specified. This chapter is also intended to facilitate changes over time that would 
bring properties into closer conformity with this title. Nothing contained in this title shall require any 
change in the plans, construction, or designated use of any structure for which a building permit was 
issued and actual construction commenced prior to the date of adoption of this title or any amendment 
thereto. No alteration of a nonconforming use shall be permitted except in compliance with the 
provisions of this chapter.  

17.164.020 Process. 

Proposals to alter a nonconforming situation shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type II III 
review procedures, except that proposals that would bring a property into closer conformity with this 
Title are reviewed in accordance with the Type I review procedures.  

17.164.030 Application and fee. 

An application for an alteration or expansion of a nonconforming use shall be filed with the City 
Manager and accompanied by the appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a 
complete application that addresses the review criteria of this chapter.  

17.164.040 Discontinuation of use. 

If a nonconforming use is discontinued for a period of more than twelve (12) consecutive months, 
the use shall not be resumed unless the new or resumed use conforms to the requirements of this title. 
A nonconforming single-family dwelling may be continued, altered, or restored for residential purposes 
without review. A single-family dwelling does not lose its nonconforming status due to vacancy. For 
purposes of calculating the twelve (12) month period, a use is discontinued or abandoned upon the 
occurrence of the first of any of the following events:  

1. On the date when the use of land is physically vacated;  

2. On the date the use ceases to be actively involved in the sale of merchandise or the provision 
of services;  

3. On the date of termination of any lease or contract under which the nonconforming use has 
occupied the land; or  

4. On the date a request for final reading of water and power meters is made to the applicable 
utility districts.  

Page 316



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.164.050 Alterations required by law. 

The alteration of any nonconforming use when necessary to comply with any lawful requirement 
for alteration of the use or structure, or to bring the use or structure into closer compliance with this 
title shall be permitted, subject to all other laws, ordinance and regulations.  

17.164.060 Maintenance. 

Normal maintenance of a nonconforming use is permitted provided there are not major structural 
alterations as determined by the building official.  

17.164.070 Alteration, restoration, or replacement. 

A. The City Manager shall authorize restoration or replacement of any nonresidential nonconforming 
use when restoration or replacement is made necessary by fire, casualty, or natural disaster and 
does not exceed forty (40) percent of the value of the original structure, provided the physical 
restoration or replacement is lawfully commenced within six months of the damage or destruction.  

B. The City Manager shall authorize restoration or repair of any residential nonconforming use when 
restoration or replacement is made necessary by fire, casualty, or natural disaster provided the 
physical restoration or replacement is lawfully commenced within six months of the damage or 
destruction.  

C. If the use is discontinued or abandoned for any reason for a period of more than 12 months, any 
subsequent use of land shall conform to the applicable standards and criteria specified by this 
Code for the land use district in which such land is located.  

D. The Planning Commission, subject to the Type II III review procedure, may extend the restoration 
or replacement period for an additional six months. In no case shall the total restoration or 
replacement period exceed one year. Requests for extension of restoration or replacement period 
shall be submitted in writing thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of the restoration or 
replacement period.  

E. The alteration of a nonconforming use may be authorized by the Planning Commission, subject to 
the Type II III review procedure, provided that the applicant demonstrates that the proposal 
satisfies the following criteria:  

1. That the alteration of the structure or development would not expand a nonconformity by 
more than twenty (20) percent of floor area or site area, as applicable, and would have no 
greater adverse impact on the neighborhood; an alteration that brings a nonconforming 
situation into closer conformity with this title may be approved through the Type I review 
procedure; or 

 2. That the A change in use to another nonconforming use may be permitted subject to the 
Type II review procedure if it is would be of the same or less intensity of use.  

G.  3. The alteration of a nonconforming single-family residence that does not involve a change in 
use is authorized without Planning Commission approval.  

H. 4. Should a nonconforming structure be moved on- or off-site for any reason, and by any 
distance, it shall thereafter conform to the regulations of this title.  

Page 317



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.164.080 Conditions of approval. 

In approving the alteration, restoration, or replacement of a nonconforming use, the Planning 
Commission may impose such conditions, as it deems appropriate to ensure that the intent of this 
chapter is carried out.  

  

Page 318



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.168 LOT LINE ADJUSTMENTS 

17.168.010 Applicability. 

The procedures and requirements in this chapter apply to the relocation of a common property 
line between two abutting properties.  

17.168.020 Standards. 

A. The number of lots or parcels as large as the minimum lot size in the affected zone is at least the 
same after the adjustment as before the adjustment.  

B. The number of lots or parcels resulting from the adjustment is the same or less than the number of 
lots or parcels existing prior to the adjustment.  

C. Following the lot line adjustment, all lots must comply with lot size and dimensional standards of 
the applicable land use district. For nonconforming lots, the adjustment shall not increase the 
degree of non-conformance of the subject property or surrounding properties.  

D. All lots or parcels having access to a public or private street before the adjustment must retain 
access after the adjustment.  

E. The lot line adjustment shall not reduce any required development feature or standard, such as 
parking, landscaping, or building setbacks, to a size or dimension that does not meet the minimum 
standards of this title.  

17.168.030 Submittal requirements. 

The applicant must submit the following information and materials:  

A. Applications for lot line adjustments shall be submitted on forms provided by the city to the 
city recorder and accompanied by the appropriate fee. A lot line adjustment application shall 
be signed by the property owner, contract purchaser or an authorized agent of the owner or 
contract purchaser of all lots impacted by the lot line adjustment.  

B. Each application shall be accompanied by a preliminary map drawn to scale of not less than 
one inch equals fifty (50) feet, and containing at a minimum, the following:  

1. A written statement that explains the applicants reasons for adjusting the boundaries 
and demonstrating that the adjustment conforms to city land use policies and 
regulations of the applicable zone;  

2. North point, scale and date;  

3. Name and addresses of landowners, applicants, engineer, surveyor, planner, architect or 
other individuals responsible for the plan;  

4. Map number and tax lot or tax account number of subject property;  

5. Dimensions and size in square feet or acres of each parcel before the proposed 
adjustment and of each parcel after the proposed adjustment;  

6. The approximate location and identification of existing streets, easements or rights-of-
way adjacent to, or within, the subject property, and, existing improvements on the 
property.  

Page 319



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 22 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.168.040 Process. 

A. A lot line adjustment is subject to a Type I review. After a lot line adjustment is approved, the new 
boundary becomes effective only if within one year of the written approval the following steps are 
completed:  

1. A metes and bounds legal description of the adjusted lots is recorded with the Yamhill County 
clerk.  

2. If required by ORS Chapter 92, a final plat and boundary survey are prepared and all new 
boundaries are monumented as required by ORS Chapters 92 and 209.  

B. The applicant shall submit a copy of the recorded lot line adjustment survey map to the city prior 
to issuance of any building permits on the re-configured lots.  

  

Page 320



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 23 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.172 PARTITIONS 

17.172.010 Applicability. 

A partition is required for any land division that creates two or three parcels in a calendar year. The 
parcels shall meet the Development Standards for Land Division of Chapter 17.88, other applicable 
development standards and the following additional requirements:  

A. Each parcel shall satisfy the dimensional standards of the applicable zoning district, unless a 
variance from these standards is approved.  

B. Adequate public facilities shall be available to serve the existing and newly created parcels.  

17.172.020 General provisions. 

A. The partition shall meet the Development Standards for Land Division of Chapter 17.88. 

B. Each parcel shall satisfy the dimensional standards of the applicable zoning district, unless a 
variance from these standards is approved. 

A.C. Partition approval is valid in perpetuity, upon recording of the final surveyed plat.  

B.D. No parcel within an approved partition may be redivided within the same calendar year in which it 
was recorded, except through the subdivision process.  

C.E. A master plan for development is required for any application that leaves a portion of the subject 
property capable of replatting creates an oversized lot which is greater than twice the required 
minimum lot size allowed by the subject zone. 

17.172.030 Process. 

Preliminary plats for partitions shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type II review procedures.  

17.172.040 Application and fee. 

A. Applications for partitions shall be submitted on forms provided by the city to the city recorder and 
accompanied by the appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete 
application that addresses the review criteria of this chapter.  

B. The applicant shall submit ten (10) clear and legible copies of the preliminary plan on sheets not 
less than eleven (11) inches by seventeen (17) inches and no more than twenty-four (24) inches by 
thirty-six (36) inches in size. Preliminary plans shall be drawn to a scale of one-inch equals fifty (50) 
feet or larger.  

1. General Information. The following general information shall be shown on the tentative plan:  

a. Vicinity map extending eight hundred (800) feet in each direction showing all streets, 
property lines, streams, and other pertinent data to locate the proposal;  

b. North arrow, scale of drawing and date of preparation;  

c. Tax map and tax lot number or tax account of the subject property;  

d. Dimensions and size in square feet or acres of the subject property;  

Page 321



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 24 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

e. The names and addresses of the property owner, partitioner and engineer, surveyor, or 
other individual responsible for laying out the partition.  

2. Existing Conditions.  

a. Location of all existing easements within the property;  

b. Location of city utilities (water, sanitary sewer, storm drainage) within or adjacent to the 
property proposed for use to serve the development;  

c. The location and direction of watercourses or drainage swales. The location and 
disposition of any wells, wetlands identified on the State Wetland Inventory, septic 
tanks, and drain fields in the partition;  

d. Existing uses of the property, including location of existing structures on the property. It 
should be noted whether the existing structures are to be removed or to remain on the 
property.  

3. Proposed Plan. A detailed plan of the propose partition clearly showing the following:  

a. Locations, approximate dimensions and area in square feet of all proposed parcels. All 
parcels shall be numbered consecutively;  

b. Location, width and purpose of any proposed easements.  

4. Supplemental Information. Proposed deed restrictions, if any, in outline form.  

17.172.050 Final plat approval. 

A. Within eighteen (18) months two (2) years of the final decision approving a preliminary plat, a final 
survey of the approved plat shall be recorded submitted to the city. If the final survey is not 
submitted within eighteen (18) months two (2) years, the preliminary approval shall lapse. Final 
plats requirements for partitions are the same as for subdivisions. Both are reviewed in accordance 
with Section 17.176.050.  

B. The City Manager shall upon written request by the applicant and payment of the required fee, 
grant an extension of the approval for a period not to exceed six (6) months provided that:  

1. No changes are made to the approved preliminary plat; and  

2. There have been no changes in existing conditions, facts, or applicable policies or ordinance 
provisions on which the original approval was based.  

17.172.060 Expedited land division. 

A. Definition. An expedited land division:  

1. Is an action of the city that:  

a. Includes land that is zoned for residential uses and is within an urban growth boundary;  

b. Is solely for the purposes of residential use, including recreational or open space uses 
accessory to residential use;  

c. Does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings to be located on land that is 
specifically mapped and designated in the comprehensive plan and land use regulations 

Page 322



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 25 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

for full or partial protection of natural features under the statewide planning goals that 
protect open spaces, scenic historic areas, natural resources, and estuarine resources;  

d. Satisfies minimum street or other right-of-way connectivity standards established by 
acknowledged land use regulations or, if such standards are not contained in the 
applicable regulations, as required by statewide planning goals or rules;  

e. Creates enough lots or parcels to allow building residential units at eighty (80) percent 
or more of the maximum net density permitted by the zoning designation of the site.  

2. Is a land division that:  

a. Will create three or fewer parcels; and  

b. Meets the criteria set forth for an action under Section 17.172.060(A)(1)(a) through (e).  

B. Exclusion.  

1. Property and process exclusions include properties specifically mapped and designated in the 
comprehensive plan or development ordinance for full or partial protection of natural 
features under the statewide planning goals that protect open space, scenic and historic 
areas and natural features and not eligible for the construction of dwelling units or accessory 
buildings;  

2. The expedited land division process is not a land use or limited land use decision and is not 
subject to the permit requirements of city enabling legislation. Decisions are not subject to 
the comprehensive plan and not eligible for appeal to the land use board of appeals (LUBA).  

C. Complete Application. The city shall review an application and makes a decision on its 
completeness within twenty-one (21) days of submittal. Upon determination of an incomplete 
application, the applicant has one hundred eighty (180) days to submit the missing information.  

D. Public Notice. Upon submittal of a complete application, the city shall send written notice to 
affected governmental agencies and property owners within two hundred (200) feet of the site 
proposed for the land division. The notice shall include the following:  

1. A fourteen (14)-day deadline for submission of written comments;  

2. The time and place where all copies of evidence submitted by the applicant will be available 
for review;  

3. The name, address, and telephone number of the city's staff person available to comment on 
the application;  

4. Summary of the local decision making process for such a decision;  

5. Applicable decision criteria;  

6. Notification that participants must raise all issues during the written comment period.  

E. Initial Decision. The Planning Commission shall allow at least fourteen (14) days for written 
comments and shall render a decision within sixty-three (63) days of a complete application. No 
public hearing may be held during the initial decision making phase.  

F. Notice of Final Decision. A notice of decision must be given to the applicant and other participants 
of the decision. The notice of decision shall state the appeal process.  

G. Time Extension.  

Page 323



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 26 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. Applicant. If a decision is not made within sixty-three (63) days, the applicant may seek 
review by writ of mandamus;  

2. City. The city may extend the sixty-three (63) day period up to one hundred twenty (120) days 
based on the determination that an unexpected or extraordinary increase in applications 
makes the sixty-three (63)-day period impracticable. Following a seven-day notice to the 
applicant, consideration of an extension is considered at a regularly scheduled City Council 
meeting. That determination is specifically declared not to be a land use decision or limited 
land use decision.  

H. Decision Criteria. Criteria for approving the partition shall be as follows:  

1. The criteria established in Section 17.172.010;  

2. Density. The application must be able to establish at least eighty (80) percent of the allowable 
density of the applicable residential zone;  

3. Street Standards. The application must comply with the most recent transportation plan or 
provide evidence of meeting the city's minimum street connectivity standards.  

I. Appeal of Initial Decision. A decision may be appealed to a local hearings officer within fourteen 
(14) days of filing the notice of decision by the applicant or any person or organization that filed 
comments on the initial decision.  

J. Appeal Fee. Filing an appeal requires a deposit of three hundred dollars ($300.00) to cover costs. 
An appellant faces the possibility of an assessment of five hundred dollars ($500.00) for the total 
costs of local proceedings if the appellant does not prevail. If an appellant materially improves its 
position, the deposit and appeal fee shall be refunded.  

K. Basis of an Appeal of the Initial Decision. The local appeal shall be based on the following:  

1. The failure to meet local substantive and procedural requirements;  

2. Unconstitutionality;  

3. The decision was not within the expedited land division category; or  

4. A party's substantive rights have been substantially prejudiced by an error in procedure of the 
local government.  

L. Hearings Officer. A city designated hearings officer shall hear the appeal of the initial expedited 
land use decision. The hearings officer may not be a city officer or city employee.  

M. Hearings Officer Notification. Within seven days of the hearings officer's appointment, the city shall 
notify the appellant, the applicant (if not the appellant), and the persons or organizations entitled 
to notice and which provided written comments, of the hearing date before the hearings officer. If 
a person submitting comments did not appeal, the issues presented by that person are limited to 
those in their submitted comments.  

N. Appeal Hearing. The hearings officer conducts a hearing that:  

1. Follows the commission proceeding requirements;  

2. Allows the local government's explanation of its decision; and  

3. May consider evidence not previously considered.  

Page 324



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 27 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

O. Hearings Officer Decision. In all cases, not involving a procedural issue, the hearings officer shall 
seek to identify means by which the application can satisfy the applicable requirements. The 
hearings officer may not reduce the density of the application or remand the application to the 
city, but shall make a written decision on the appeal within forty-two (42) days of the filing of the 
appeal. Unless the local government determines that exigent circumstances exist, a hearings 
officer who fails to decide a case within the forty-two (42)-day period shall receive no 
compensation for services as the hearings officer. If the decision was not an expedited land 
division, the hearings officer must remand the decision for proper procedural determination.  

P. Appeal of Hearings Officer Decision. Appeals of the hearings officer decision are to the Oregon 
Court of Appeals.  

Q. Basis of an Appeal of the Hearings Officer Decision. The grounds for review of a hearings officer's 
decision are limited to:  

1. Whether the decision followed the process for an expedited land division and appellant 
raised that issue;  

2. Unconstitutionality; and  

3. Certain bias or interest on the part of the hearings officer or local government.  

R. Process for Final Plat Approval. Final plats for expedite land divisions shall be reviewed consistent 
with the requirements in Section 17.172.050.  

  

Page 325



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 28 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.174 EXPEDITED LAND DIVISIONS 

17.174.010 Definition. 

An expedited land division, consistent with ORS 197.360, is division of land into two or more 
parcels that: 

A. Includes land that is zoned for residential uses and is within an urban growth boundary;  

B. Is solely for the purposes of residential use, including recreational or open space uses accessory 
to residential use;  

C. Does not provide for dwellings or accessory buildings to be located on land that is specifically 
mapped and designated in the comprehensive plan and land use regulations for full or partial 
protection of natural features under the statewide planning goals that protect open spaces, 
scenic historic areas, natural resources, and estuarine resources;  

D. Satisfies minimum street or other right-of-way connectivity standards established by 
acknowledged land use regulations or, if such standards are not contained in the applicable 
regulations, as required by statewide planning goals or rules;  

E. Will result in development that either: 

1. Creates enough lots or parcels to allow building residential units at 80 percent or more of 
the maximum net density permitted by the zoning designation of the site; or 

2. All dwellings will be sold or rented to households with incomes below 120 percent of the 
median family income for Yamhill County. A copy of a deed restriction or other legal 
mechanism approved by the City Manager shall be submitted. 

17.174.020 Process. 

A. The expedited land division process is not a land use or limited land use decision and is not 
subject to the permit requirements of city enabling legislation. Decisions are not subject to the 
comprehensive plan and not eligible for appeal to the land use board of appeals (LUBA).  

B. Complete Application. The city shall review an application and makes a decision on its 
completeness within twenty-one (21) days of submittal. Upon determination of an incomplete 
application, the applicant has one hundred eighty (180) days to submit the missing information.  

C. Public Notice. Upon submittal of a complete application, the city shall send written notice to 
affected governmental agencies and property owners within two hundred (200) feet of the site 
proposed for the land division. The notice shall include the following:  

1. A fourteen (14)-day deadline for submission of written comments;  

2. The time and place where all copies of evidence submitted by the applicant will be 
available for review;  

3. The name, address, and telephone number of the city's staff person available to comment 
on the application;  

4. Summary of the local decision making process for such a decision;  

5. Applicable decision criteria;  

Page 326



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 29 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

6. Notification that participants must raise all issues during the written comment period.  

D. Initial Decision. The City Manager shall allow at least fourteen (14) days for written comments 
and shall render a decision within sixty-three (63) days of a complete application. No public 
hearing may be held during the initial decision making phase.  

E. Notice of Final Decision. A notice of decision must be given to the applicant and other 
participants of the decision. The notice of decision shall state the appeal process.  

F. Time Extension.  

1. Applicant. If a decision is not made within sixty-three (63) days, the applicant may seek 
review by writ of mandamus;  

2. City. The city may extend the sixty-three (63) day period up to one hundred twenty (120) 
days based on the determination that an unexpected or extraordinary increase in 
applications makes the sixty-three (63)-day period impracticable. Following a seven-day 
notice to the applicant, consideration of an extension is considered at a regularly scheduled 
City Council meeting. That determination is specifically declared not to be a land use 
decision or limited land use decision.  

17.174.030 Decision criteria. 

The City Manager‘s decision must be based on compliance with the standards of this Chapter and 
the applicable development standards of this code. An approval may include conditions to ensure that 
the application meets applicable land use regulations. 

17.174.040 Appeal. 

A. A decision may be appealed within fourteen (14) days of the mailing of the decision notice by the 
applicant or a person or organization who submitted written comments during the written 
comment period allowed by Section 17.174.020.C. The appeal must include the appeal 
application and a $300.00 deposit for costs. 

B. An appeal must be based solely on one or more of the allegations: 

1. The decision violates the substantive provisions of the applicable land use regulations; 

2. The decision is unconstitutional; 

3. The application was not eligible for review under this Chapter, Expedited Land Divisions, 
and should be reviewed as a land use decision or limited land use decision; 

4. The appellant’s substantive rights were substantially prejudiced by a procedural error. 

C. The City must appoint a Hearings Officer to decide the appeal decision and the appointed 
Hearings Officer must comply with ORS 197.375(3)through (6) when issuing a decision. 

17.174.050 Final plat. 

Final plats for expedited land divisions shall be reviewed consistent with the requirements in 
Section 17.176.050.  

  

Page 327



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 30 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.176 SUBDIVISIONS AND PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 

17.176.010 General provisions. 

A. All subdivisions and planned unit developments (PUDs) shall conform to all applicable zoning 
district Standards, development standards and other provisions of this title.  

B. A master plan for development is required for any application that leaves a portion of the subject 
property capable of redevelopment.  

C. All subdivisions and PUDs shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type III review procedures. 

17.176.020 Application and fee requirements. 

A. The following submittal requirements shall apply to all preliminary plan applications for 
subdivisions and PUDs:  

1. All applications shall be submitted on forms provided by the city to the city recorder along 
with the appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete 
application that addresses the review criteria of this chapter;  

2. The applicant shall submit ten (10) clear and legible copies of the preliminary plan on sheets 
that are twenty-four (24) inches by thirty-six (36) inches in size. Preliminary plans shall be 
drawn to a scale of one-inch equals one hundred (100) feet or larger;  

3. General Information. The following general information shall be shown on the preliminary 
plan:  

a. Vicinity map extending one thousand two hundred (1,200) feet in each direction 
showing all streets, property lines, streams, and other pertinent data to locate the 
proposal;  

b. North arrow, scale of drawing and date of preparation;  

c. Tax map and tax lot number or tax account of the subject property;  

d. Dimensions and size in square feet or acres of the subject property;  

e. The names and addresses of the property owner, partitioner and engineer, surveyor, or 
other individual responsible for laying out the partition.  

4. Existing Conditions. The preliminary plan shall show:  

a. Location of all existing easements within the property;  

b. Location of city utilities (water, sanitary sewer, storm drainage) within or adjacent to the 
property proposed for use to serve the development;  

c. The location and direction of watercourses or drainage swales. The location and 
disposition of any wells, wetlands identified on the State Wetland Inventory, septic 
tanks, and drain fields in the development;  

d. Existing uses of the property, including location of existing structures on the property. It 
should be noted whether the existing structures are to be removed or to remain on the 
property;  

Page 328



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 31 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

e. Contour lines related to an established benchmark, having the following minimum 
intervals:  

i. Areas with less than five percent slope: one-foot contours;  

ii. Areas with slope between five percent and ten (10) percent: two-foot contours;  

iii. Areas with slope greater than ten (10) percent: five-foot contours;  

5. Proposed Plan. The preliminary plan shall clearly show to scale the following:  

a. Proposed name of the PUD or subdivision;  

b. Locations, approximate dimensions and area in square feet of all proposed lots. 
Identification of each lot and block by number;  

c. Proposed streets and their names, approximate grade, radius of curves, and right-of-way 
widths;  

d. Any other legal access to the subdivision or PUD, other than a public street;  

e. Location, width and purpose of any proposed easements;  

f. If the development is to be constructed in phases, indicate the area of each phase.  

6. Supplemental Information. Proposed deed restrictions, if any, in outline form.  

7. A traffic impact analysis if requested by the City Manager required by subsection 
17.100.070(B).  

8. A grading plan and/or geotechnical engineering report if required by Section 17.78.070. 

9. Concept Plan for Building Orientation, Open Space and Vehicle Access. When lots within a 
proposed subdivision are intended for future construction of three or more attached 
townhouse dwellings, multi-family dwellings, cottage clusters or any nonresidential 
development, the plan submittal shall include either: 

a.  Application for Site Design Review in accordance with Chapter 17.156 for concurrent 
review; or 

b.  A concept plan, depicting the general location of buildings, orientation to the street, 
open space and vehicle access points for demonstrating feasibility of meeting applicable 
design standards in Chapter 17.106 and other relevant standards. 

10. Tree Survey and Arborist Report. A survey indicating location of all trees on the property 
having a ten-inch trunk diameter 4.5 feet above grade or greater and their diameter.  The 
plan shall show which trees are proposed for removal and the location of replacement trees 
relative to the proposed lots, streets and other improvements.  The plan shall be 
accompanied by a certified arborist report documenting the health and species of all 
surveyed trees, noting any dead, dying, diseased or hazardous trees. 

B. The following supplemental information shall be required for all PUD preliminary plan applications:  

1. Calculations justifying the proposed density of development as required by Section 
17.112.050(C);  

Page 329



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 32 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

12. Proposed uses of the property, including all proposed residential uses and sites, if any, for 
attached dwelling units, recreational facilities, parks and playgrounds or other public or semi-
public uses, with the purpose, condition and limitations of such reservations clearly indicated;  

23. The approximate location and dimensions of all commercial or multi-family structures 
proposed to be located on the site;  

34. Statement of improvements to be made or installed including streets, sidewalks, bikeways, 
trails, lighting, tree planting, landscaping, and time such improvements are to be made or 
completed;  

45. Written statement-outlining proposals for ownership and maintenance of all open space 
areas, private streets and any commonly owned facilities.  

17.176.030 Process.  Preliminary Plat Approval Criteria.   

A. Preliminary plans for subdivisions and PUDs shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type II 
review procedures.  

B. Approvals of any preliminary plans for a subdivision or PUD shall be valid for eighteen (18) months 
after the date of the written decision. A final plat for a subdivision shall be recorded within this 
time period or the approvals shall lapse. PUDs that do not involve the subdivision of property shall 
show substantial progress toward the construction of the project within the 18-month period or 
the approval shall lapse.  

C. The Planning Commission may extend the approval period for any subdivision or PUD for not more 
than one additional year at a time. Requests for extension of approval time shall be submitted in 
writing thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date of the approval period.  

D. If the approval period is allowed to lapse, the applicant must resubmit the proposal, including all 
applicable fees, for public hearing before the Planning Commission. The applicant will be subject to 
all applicable standards currently in effect.  

A. The Planning Commission may approve, approve with conditions, or deny a preliminary plat. The 
Planning Commission decision shall be based on findings of compliance with all of the following 
approval criteria: 

 
1. The land division application shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 17.176; 
 
2. All proposed lots and land uses shall conform to the applicable provisions of Division II 

(Zoning and Development Provisions); 
 
3. Access to individual lots, block configuration and public improvements necessary to serve 

the development, including but not limited to water, sewer, and streets, shall conform to 
Division III (General Development Standards); 

 
4. The proposed plat name is not already recorded for another subdivision, and satisfies the 

provisions of ORS Chapter 92; 
 
5. The proposed streets, utilities, and surface water drainage facilities conform to City of 

Carlton adopted plans and applicable engineering standards, and allow for transitions to 

Page 330



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 33 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

existing and potential future development on adjacent lands. The preliminary plat shall 
identify all proposed public improvements and dedications; 

 
 
 
7. All proposed private common areas and improvements, if any, are identified on the 

preliminary plat and maintenance of such areas is assured through appropriate legal 
instrument; 

 
8. Evidence that any required state and federal permits, as applicable, have been obtained or 

can reasonably be obtained prior to development;  
 
9. Evidence that improvements or conditions required by the City, road authority, Yamhill 

County, special districts, utilities, and/or other service providers, as applicable to the 
project, have been or can be met. 

 
10. Flag Lots. Flag lots may be created only when a through street cannot be extended to serve 

abutting uses or future development. A flag lot driveway (“flag pole”) shall serve not more 
than four dwelling units, including accessory dwellings and dwellings on individual lots. The 
layout of flag lots, the placement of buildings on such lots, and the alignment of shared 
drives shall be designed so that future street connections can be made as adjacent 
properties develop, to the extent practicable, and in accordance with the transportation 
connectivity and block length standards of Section 17.88.040. 

 
11. Emergency Vehicle Access. A drive serving more than one lot shall have a reciprocal access 

and maintenance easement recorded for all lots it serves. No fence, structure, or other 
obstacle shall be placed within the drive area. Where required, emergency vehicle 
apparatus lanes, including any required turn-around, shall conform to applicable building 
and fire code requirements. Fire sprinklers may also be required for buildings that cannot 
be fully served by fire hydrants (i.e., due to distance from hydrant or insufficient fire flow). 

 
12. Lot Size Averaging. To allow flexibility in subdivision design and to address physical 

constraints, such as topography, existing development, significant trees, and other natural 
and built features, the approval body may grant without a variance a 10 percent 
modification to the lot area and/or lot dimension (width/depth) standards in Division II, 
provided that the overall density of the subdivision does not exceed the allowable density 
of the district and the approval body finds that all of the following are met: 

 
a. Where a proposed subdivision would abut an existing subdivision with standard-, or 

larger-, sized lots, the perimeter of the proposed subdivision shall contain standard-, or 
larger-, sized lots; except that this provision does not apply where the existing lots are 
larger than 20,000 square feet; and 

 
b. The Planning Commission may require screening, buffering, or other transitions in site 

design where lots are proposed to abut standard-, or larger-, sized lots. 
 

Page 331



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 34 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

13. Housing Variety. To promote a variety of housing options, no single residential dwelling 
type may account for more than seventy five (75) percent of the dwelling units in any 
proposed subdivision with 28 or more dwelling units. 

 
14. Preservation and Replacement of Trees. All existing trees having a ten-inch trunk diameter 

4.5 feet above grade or greater, as documented in the tree survey per subsection 
17.156.020(A)(10), are considered significant and shall be preserved or replaced at a ‘one-
to-one’ ratio.  
a. Replacement trees shall meet the size specifications of subsections 17.84.080(H) or (I).  

b. Any trees planted to meet the requirements of Chapter 17.84 including street trees 
shall be counted as replacement trees.   

c. Trees removed for installation of public infrastructure shall not required to be 
replaced, however they should be preserved where possible.   

d. Dead, dying, diseased or hazardous trees, as documented in the arborists report per 
subsection 17.156.020(A)(10), shall not be required to be replaced. 

17.176.035 Open space requirements. 

A. A minimum of five percent (5%) of the total lot area (after exclusion of non-buildable land, such 
as streets, streams, slopes, open space, easements, and other rights-of-way) shall be maintained 
as open space. Cottage cluster development is subject to the open space requirements of Section 
17.106.040 and not to the requirements of this section. The following may not be counted as 
open space: 

1. Required yards or setbacks. 

2. Submerged lands, including storm drainage facilities. 

3. Areas of special flood hazard. 

4. Any area required to meet a standard found elsewhere in this code. 

B. Open space must be developed as either ‘active-style,’ ‘passive-style,’ ‘boulevard style,’ or any 
combination thereof.  

1. Active-style open spaces shall be a minimum of ten thousand (10,000) square feet in size, 
have a minimum average width and depth no less than fifty (50) feet, and be developed 
with grass areas for picnics and recreational play, sports courts, walking paths, seating 
areas, pet areas, and other similar features. Open space must have a minimum of ten (10) 
feet of street frontage to ensure access, or other similar means of access. 

2. Passive-style open spaces may be any configuration or shape, and shall be landscaped for 
aesthetic value and to encourage passive enjoyment (i.e. walking, sitting, trails) without the 
use of any irrigated turf. Open space must have a minimum of ten (10) feet of street 
frontage to ensure access, or other similar means of access such as a trail easement. 

3. ‘Boulevard style’ open spaces may be created as enhanced streetscapes in excess of the 
minimum public street requirements and may count toward a maximum of ten thousand 
(10,000) square feet of the open space requirement.  

Page 332



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 35 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Example: if a 50-foot-wide right-of-way is required for a 1,000 foot-long street and a 60-
foot wide ROW with 5-foot additional plantings/meandering pathway is provided on each 
side of the street, the additional 10-foot-wide area x 1,000 linear feet, or 10,000 square 
feet, counts toward the open space requirement. 

C. The open space shall be conveyed in accordance with one of the following methods: 

1. By dedication to the City as public open space (if acceptable to the City). Open space 
proposed for dedication to the City must be acceptable to the City Manager with regard to 
the size, shape, location, improvement, environmental condition, and budgetary and 
maintenance abilities; 

2. By leasing or conveying title (including beneficial ownership) to a corporation, 
homeowners' association or other legal entity, with the City retaining the development 
rights to the open space. The terms of such lease or other instrument of conveyance must 
include provisions (e.g., maintenance, property tax payment, etc.) suitable to the City. 

D. The density of the site area created as open space may be transferred to other lots within the 
subdivision, including reducing minimum lot sizes by up to twenty (20) percent to accommodate 
the transferred density. 

E. The required open space is intended to serve the immediate needs of the subdivision residents 
and is in addition to parks and recreation facilities planned in the adopted Parks Development 
Plan. Therefore, open spaces are not eligible for Parks System Development Charges (SDCs) 
credits. Any parkland in excess of the open space required by this section dedicated to the City 
may be eligible for Parks System Development Charges (SDCs) credits based on the methodology 
identified in the most current Parks Development Plan. 

17.176.040 Final plat requirements. 

A. Preparation. The final plat shall be submitted to the city in a form and with information consistent 
with this title, county survey and map standards and state laws including ORS 92.010-160 for plats 
of record and ORS 209.250 for surveys.  

B. Number of Copies. The applicant shall submit three identical reproducible copies of the final plat 
for signature. The plats shall be Mylar, meeting the requirements of the county recorder and the 
county surveyor.  

C. Information Required. In addition to any information specified by current state law or county 
regulations, the following information shall be shown on the final plat:  

1. The area of each lot shall be shown in square feet. For parcels larger than one acre, the area 
shall be shown to the nearest hundredth of an acre. When front lot lines are on a curve or 
arc, the front lot line distance shall be indicated by bearing and chord distance;  

2. Identification of land to be dedicated for any purpose, public or private, to distinguish it from 
lots or parcels intended for sale. The following phrases shall be used when identifying open 
space dedications:  

a. Common open space: used to identify those parcels of land created for the purpose of 
common ownership, enjoyment and maintenance by an approved homeowner's 
association or is listed as being held in common ownership, with appropriate deed 
restrictions and responsibilities, by owner's of property within the development;  

Page 333



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 36 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

b. Public open space: used when identifying those parcels of land dedicated to the city for 
open space purposes.  

17.176.050 Final plat approval. 

A. Within eighteen (18) months two (2) years of the final decision approving a preliminary plat, a final 
plat shall be recorded submitted to the city. If the final plat is not recorded submitted within 
eighteen (18) months two (2) years, the preliminary approval shall lapse.  

B. The City Manager shall upon written request by the applicant and payment of the required fee, 
grant an extension of the approval for a period not to exceed six (6) months provided that:  

1. No changes are made to the approved preliminary plat; and  

2. There have been no changes in existing conditions, facts, or applicable policies or ordinance 
provisions on which the original approval was based.  

C. After the final plat has been submitted, the city staff shall review and compare it with the 
approved preliminary plan to ascertain whether the final plat conforms substantially to preliminary 
plan and to the the final plat by means of a Type I review to determine compliance or 
noncompliance with the preliminary plat and any conditions of approval as were imposed. The 
chairperson shall signify Planning Commission approval of the final plat by signing all three 
reproducible copies of the plat.  

D. No final plat shall be approved unless:  

1. The plat is in substantial conformance with this title and the provisions of the preliminary 
plan as approved, including any conditions imposed in connection therewith;  

2. The plat contains free and clear of all liens and encumbrances a donation to the public of all 
common improvements, including but not limited to streets, roads, sewage disposal and 
water supply systems, the donation of which is required by this title or was made a condition 
of the approval of the preliminary plat;  

3. Explanations of all common improvements required as conditions of approval of the 
preliminary plan have been recorded and referenced on the plat;  

4. All reserve blocks shown on the preliminary plan or required as conditions of approval have 
been deeded in fee simple to the city;  

5. The City Engineer certifies as follows:  

a. All required public improvements are completed and approved by the city; or  

b. All required public improvements are substantially at least ninety (90) percent complete 
and a performance guarantee is provided for incomplete work pursuant to Section 
17.216.010.  

E. If the city recorder finds that conditions specified in subsection D of this section have not been 
met, the applicant shall be advised of the changes that must be made and afforded the 
opportunity to comply. Rejection of a final plat shall not affect the preliminary plan approval.  

F. When the city recorder finds that the final plat is in substantial conformity to the approved 
preliminary plan and is otherwise in lawful form, the city recorder shall sign and date all three 
reproducible copies of the plat.  

Page 334



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 37 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

G. Following endorsement of the plat by the city recorder, the mayor and the city engineer, the 
applicant shall:  

1. Pay all required review fees;  

2. Complete all action required by ORS 92.100;  

3. Obtain any other approval signature required by state or county laws, ordinances or 
regulations;  

4. Deliver the approved subdivision plat and accompanying documents to the county clerk for 
recording;  

5. Deliver a signed Mylar copy and three (3) copies of the recorded subdivision plat to the city 
recorder's office.  

H. Effective Date for Final Plat Approval. The approval process for a development shall become final 
upon the recording of the approved final plat together with any required documents with the 
county clerk. Approved final plats shall become void eighteen (18) months after final city approval 
if they are not recorded.  

17.176.060 Subdivision of a mobile home park. 

The proposed subdivision of manufactured or mobile home parks under the requirements of ORS 
92.830 to 92.845 shall be processed as follows.  

A. The subdivision of an existing mobile home park shall be approved provided:  

1. The park is in compliance with all standards for a mobile dwelling park or is an approved 
nonconforming use. A park is in compliance if the city has not issued a written notice of 
noncompliance on or before July 2, 2001;  

2. The tentative subdivision plan does not increase the number of lots approved for the 
park, change the boundary lines, or setback requirements, or make other development 
changes; and  

3. A plat is prepared and recorded in compliance with all regulations of this title and 
Oregon Revised Statutes.  

B. A subdivision of an existing mobile home park is not required to meet the minimum lot size, 
frontage, setback requirements, or street standards of this title, with the following exception 
that new structures located within yards abutting properties outside of the subdivision must 
meet all setback requirements or be approved for a variance.  

C. A subdivision of an existing mobile home park shall be subject to formation of a homeowners 
association for continued maintenance of streets and open space areas within the 
subdivision.  

  

Page 335



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 38 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.180 ZONE CHANGE 

17.180.010 Process. 

Rezoning or zone changes shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type III review procedures.  

17.180.020 Zone change defined. 

A "zone change" is a reclassification of any area from one zone or district to another, after the 
proposed change has been reviewed and a recommendation made by the Planning Commission. Such 
change shall be passed in ordinance form by the City Council after proceedings have been accomplished 
in accordance with the following provisions.  

17.180.030 Zone change procedure. 

A. That there is a lack of other comparatively zoned property to satisfy the proposed use;  

B. That the change of zone is in conformance with comprehensive plan, the Carlton development 
code, and any applicable street and highway plans;  

C. That the proposed property is adequate in size and shape to facilitate those uses allowed in the 
proposed zone;  

D. That the proposed property related to streets and highways is adequate to serve the type of traffic 
that will be generated by uses in proposed zone; and  

E. That the proposed change of zone will have no substantial impact on the abutting property or the 
uses thereof.  

17.180.040 Application and fee. 

An application for a zone change shall be filed with the city recorder and accompanied by the 
appropriate fee. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to submit a complete application that addresses 
the review criteria of this chapter.  

17.180.050 Criteria for approval. 

Zone change proposals shall be approved if the applicant provides evidence substantiating the 
following:  

A. The proposed zone is appropriate for the comprehensive plan land use designation on the 
property and is consistent with the description and policies for the applicable comprehensive 
plan land use classification.  

B. The uses permitted in the proposed zone can be accommodated on the proposed site without 
exceeding its physical capacity.  

C. Allowed uses in the proposed zone can be established in compliance with the development 
requirements in this title.  

D. Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are planned 
to be provided concurrently with the development of the property.  

E. There is a lack of other comparatively zoned property to satisfy the purpose of the 
proposed zone;  

Page 336



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 39 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

F. The change of zone is in conformance with the Carlton development code, and any 
applicable street and highway plans;  

G. The proposed property related to streets and highways is adequate to serve the type of 
traffic that will be generated by uses in proposed zone; and  

H. The proposed change of zone will have no substantial impact on the abutting property or 
the uses thereof.  

I. For residential zone changes, the criteria listed in the purpose statement for the proposed 
zone shall be met.  

J. The following additional criteria shall be used to review all nonresidential changes:  

1. The supply of vacant land in the proposed zone is inadequate to accommodate the 
projected rate of development of uses allowed in the zone during the next five years, or 
the location of the appropriately zoned land is not physically suited to the particular 
uses proposed for the subject property, or lack site specific amenities required by the 
proposed use;  

2. The proposed zone, if it allows uses more intensive than other zones appropriate for the 
land use designation, will not allow uses that would destabilize the land use pattern of 
the area or significantly adversely affect adjacent properties.  

  

Page 337



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 40 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.184 ANNEXATION 

17.184.010 Authority of city to annex. 

The boundary of the city may be extended by the annexation of territory not then within the city 
and which territory is within the city's urban growth boundary and contiguous to the city or separated 
from it by a stream or right-of-way only.  

17.184.020 Process. 

Annexations shall be reviewed in accordance with the Type III review procedures.  

A. Following submission of annexation proposal or initiation, the city recorder shall set a date for 
hearing. Notice shall be pursuant to the proposed method of annexation.  

B. The Planning Commission shall hear testimony and shall recommend approval or denial of the 
proposed annexation and submit such recommendation to the council within ten (10) days 
for the hearing. The Planning Commission's decision shall, in a written form, state the 
rationale used in justifying the decision, and that the decision is in conformance with the 
city's comprehensive plan. For all annexations the decision shall state how the proposal will:  

1. Promote an orderly, timely and economical transition of rural and agricultural lands into 
urbanized lands;  

2. Relate to areas with natural hazards;  

3. Protect open spaces and scenic views and areas;  

4. Provide for transportation needs in a safe, orderly and economic manner;  

5. Provide for an orderly and efficient arrangement of public services;  

6. Affect identified historical sites and structures and provide for the preservation of such 
sites and structures;  

7. Improve and enhance the economy of the city; and  

8. Provide quality, safe housing through a variety of housing types and price ranges.  

C. The city recorder shall set a date for a public hearing with the council upon receipt of the 
Planning Commission's recommendation. Notice shall be pursuant to the proposed method of 
annexation. After considering all testimony the council shall sustain or reverse the Planning 
Commission's recommendation. The council shall, in a written form, state the rationale used 
in justifying the decision, and that the decision is in conformance with the city's 
comprehensive plan. The decision shall state how the proposed annexation will address the 
criteria stated in Section 17.184.020(B).  

17.184.030 Annexation by election Reserved. 

A. The council, upon approval of the annexation proposal, has the authority to submit the proposal 
for annexation to the registered voters of the city.  

B. The proposal for annexation may be voted upon at a general election or at a special election to be 
held for that purpose. The voters of the city and of the territory may vote upon the proposal for 
annexation simultaneously or at different times not more than twelve (12) months apart.  

Page 338



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 41 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C. Two or more proposals for annexation may be voted upon simultaneously; however in the city 
each proposal shall be stated separately on the ballot and voted on separately, and in the territory 
proposed for annexation no proposal for annexing other territory shall appear on the ballot.  

D. The council shall give notice of each annexation election by publication prior to such election one 
each week for four successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the city. Whenever 
simultaneous elections are held, the same notice and publication shall fulfill the requirements of 
publication for the city election and the election held in the territory. Notice shall also be given by 
posting notices of the election in four public places within the city if votes are to be cast therein 
and four public places in each territory proposed to be annexed for a like period as provided in this 
chapter for publication of notice. The notice shall distinctly state the proposition to be submitted, 
shall contain a legal description of, and a map indicating the boundaries of each territory proposed 
to be annexed, and the registered voters shall be invited thereby to vote upon such annexation. 
The council shall also designate and the notice shall state the hours during which the polls will be 
open within the city and each territory proposed to be annexed. If the election is to be held at the 
usual precinct polling places designated for a general election held at that time, or if the election is 
not held at the same time as a general election, but is held at the same polling places used for the 
last preceding general election, the notice shall so state; if any polling place is to be different than 
the regular polling places, the notice shall describe the location of the polling places to be used in 
the area or precincts in which the polling places are different.  

17.184.040 Annexation without city election. 

A. By ordinance, the council may elect to dispense with submitting the annexation proposal to the 
registered voters of the city, set a date for public hearing, at which time the registered voters of 
the city can be heard on the annexation proposal. An annexation shall be subject to the review 
procedures for Type III actions in Chapter 17.188. 

B. In addition to the public notice requirements for Type III actions in Chapter 17.192: 

1. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once a week for two successive weeks prior to 
the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, and posted in four 
public places in the city for a like period.  

A 2. Written notice shall be given to all property owners within the boundaries of the proposed 
annexation and within two hundred (200) feet of the external boundaries of the proposed 
annexation.  

D. After the public hearing the council, by ordinance subject to referendum, and containing a legal 
description of the proposed annexation:  

1. Declare that the territory is annexed to the city upon the condition that the majority of the 
votes cast in the territory is in favor of annexation;  

2. Declare that the territory is annexed to the city where persons with land ownership in the 
proposed territory consent in writing to such annexation.  

17.184.050 Annexation with election in proposed territory Reserved. 

A. The council need not call or hold an election in any contiguous territory proposed to be annexed, 
or post notice in the contiguous territory, if more than half the owners of land in the territory, who 
also own more than half of the land in the contiguous territory and of real property therein 

Page 339



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 42 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

representing more than half of the assessed value of all real property in the contiguous territory 
consent in writing to the annexation of their land in the territory and file the annexation proposal 
on or before the day:  

1. The public hearing procedure shall be pursuant to Sections 17.184.020(A) and (B); and 
Sections 17.184.040(B) and (C). If the council dispenses with submitting the question to the 
registered voters of the city; or  

2. The council takes action to call an annexation election in the city under Section 
17.184.030(D), if the council submits the question to the registered voters of the city.  

17.184.060 Island annexation. 

A. It is within the power and authority of the city by ordinance subject to referendum, to annex land 
that is surrounded by the corporate limits or boundaries of the city, with or without consent of any 
property owner or resident in the territory.  

B. Notice and procedure for public hearing shall be provided pursuant to the provisions of Section 
17.184.040.  

C. If the council elects to submit the questions to the registered voters of the city, procedure shall be 
pursuant to Section 17.184.030.  

17.184.070 Submission of annexation reports. 

A. The city shall report all changes in the boundaries or limits of the city to the county clerk, county 
assessor and Oregon Department of Revenue. The report shall contain a legal description of the 
new boundaries and shall be filed within ten (10) days from the effective date of the change of any 
boundary lines.  

B. With the exception of "island annexation" the city recorder shall submit to the Secretary of State:  

1. A copy of the annexation ordinance;  

2. An abstract of the vote within the city if votes were cast therein, which shall show the whole 
number of registered voters voting therein on the annexation, the number of votes cast in 
favor of, and against the annexation;  

3. A copy of the statement of consent of landowners in the territory annexed;  

4. A copy of the ordinance of the city declaring that no election is required in the city; and  

5. An abstract of the vote upon the referendum if a referendum petition was filed with respect 
to the deferred ordinance.  

17.184.080 Effective date of annexation. 

The annexation shall be complete from the date of filing with the Secretary of State as provided in 
ORS 222.150, 222.160, 222.170, and 111.900. Thereafter, the annexed territory shall be and remain part 
of the city. The date of such filing shall be the effective date of annexation, provided such filing is not 
made later than ninety (90) days prior to any general or primary election; otherwise, the effective date 
of such annexation shall be the day after the primary or general election next following the date of filing.  

Page 340



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 43 of 43 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.184.090 Zone designation of annexed property. 

The City Council shall establish the appropriate zoning, in conformance to the comprehensive plan, 
effective upon the effective date of the annexation of property to the city.  

 

Page 341



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 1 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Division VII. ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES 

Chapter 17.188 APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

17.188.005 Pre-application conference. 

A. A pre-application conference is recommended for Type II administrative applications and is 
required for Type III permits. The City Manager may waive this requirement in writing. 

B. The applicant shall file the appropriate application, pay the review fee and meet with the 
City Planner, other city staff and affected agencies. At the conference, the City Planner shall 
identify the relevant Comprehensive Plan policies, map designations, zone and 
development standards and procedural requirements that apply to the application. The 
Planner, staff and affected agencies shall provide technical direction and identify 
opportunities or constraints concerning the application. 

C. Failure of the city to provide any information required by this section does not constitute a 
waiver of any of the standards, criteria or requirements for the application. Due to possible 
changes in federal, state, regional and local law, the applicant is responsible for assuring 
the application complies with all applicable laws on the day the application is deemed 
complete. 

17.188.010 Procedures for Type I action. 

Applications subject to administrative review shall be reviewed and decided by the City Manager.  

A. Upon receipt of an application for a Type I ministerial land use action; the city staff shall 
review the application for completeness. the City Manager shall notify the applicant in 
writing of exactly what information is missing within thirty (30) days of receipt of the 
application. 

1. Incomplete applications shall not be reviewed until all required information has been 
submitted by the applicant;  

2. If incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided additional time of up to thirty 
(30) days to submit supplemental information as necessary.  

On the one-hundred-eighty-first (181st) day after first being submitted, the application is 
void if the applicant has been notified of missing information within the thirty (30)-day 
period and has not submitted: 

1.  All of the missing information; or 

2.  Some of the missing information and written notice that no other information will be 
provided; or 

3.  Written notice that none of the missing information will be provided.  

B. The application shall be deemed complete either:  

1. Upon receipt of the all additional information; or, if the applicant refuses to submits 
written notice indicating no other the information will be provided; or  

Page 342



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 2 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. On the thirty-first (31st) day after the original submittal the application shall be deemed 
complete for review purposes. date if the city has not informed the applicant of 
missing information.   

C. Referrals may be sent to interested agencies such as city departments, the school district, 
utility companies, and applicable state agencies. If a county road or state highway might be 
impacted, referrals should be sent to Yamhill County public works and/or ODOT.  

D. All subdivisions, permits for new structures, conditional use permits and planned unit 
developments on any land illustrated on the NWI/LWI Maps shall be referred within five days 
of receipt, to  If applications for Type I ministerial review include the scope of work 
described under ORS 227.350, the Oregon Division Department of State Lands shall be 
notified, and T the applicant shall be notified of the referral.  

E. If the City Manager finds that the facts of the particular case require interpretation of city 
policy or application of discretionary standards, then the City Manager shall inform the 
applicant in a timely manner that the application, as submitted, may be processed only 
through a Type III quasi-judicial review. The applicant shall then have the option of modifying 
the application to conform to the requirements for a Type I ministerial review, withdrawing 
the application, or proceeding with a Type III quasi-judicial review, including a public hearing 
before the Planning Commission. Where the applicant consents to elevating the application 
to a Type III quasi-judicial review, the applicant shall pay a fee to the city for the Type II 
applicable review but shall be credited in an amount equal to the Type I review fee previously 
paid. Finally, the procedures for conducting a public hearing shall comply with the standards 
in Chapter 17.196.  

F. Within thirty (30) days of Following receipt of a complete application or such longer period 
mutually agreed to by both staff and the applicant, staff the City Manager shall review the 
application and shall make a decision based on an evaluation of the proposal and on 
applicable criteria. The city shall take final action on an application for Type I ministerial 
permit, including resolution of all appeals in accordance with ORS 227.180, within one 
hundred twenty (120) days after the application is deemed complete, unless the applicant 
voluntarily extends the time period. 

G. Written notice of a Type I ministerial decision shall be mailed to the applicant.  

H. The applicant for a Type I ministerial review may appeal city staff's decision on the 
application to the Planning Commission. The appeal shall be filed, pursuant to the provisions 
of Chapter 17.204, within ten (10) days from the date of the decision.  

I. The timing requirements established in this section are intended to allow a final action, 
including resolution of any appeals, within one hundred twenty (120) days of receipt of a 
complete application. If for any reason it appears that such final action may not be completed 
within the one hundred twenty (120) day period, unless the applicant voluntarily extends the 
time period, the following procedures shall be followed regardless of other processes set 
forth elsewhere in this title.  

1. The city staff shall notify the City Council of the timing conflict by the ninety-fifth (95th) 
day. The City Council shall, in accordance with its own procedures, set a time for an 
emergency meeting within the one hundred twenty (120) day period;  

2. Public notice shall be mailed to affected parties as specified in Chapter 17.192;  

Page 343



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 3 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

3. The City Council shall hold a public hearing on the specified date, in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapter 17.200 and render a decision approving or denying the request 
within the one hundred twenty (120) day period.   

17.188.020 Procedures for Type II and Type III actions. 

A. Upon receipt of an application for Type II administrative or Type III quasi-judicial land use action, 
the city staff shall review the application for completeness.  

1. Incomplete applications shall not be scheduled for Type II administrative or Type III quasi-
judicial review until all required information has been submitted by the applicant;  

2. If incomplete, the applicant shall be notified and provided additional time of up to thirty (30) 
days to submit supplemental information as necessary. City Manager shall notify the 
applicant in writing of exactly what information is missing within 30 days of receipt of the 
application to submit the missing information. 

On the 181st day after first being submitted, the application is void if the applicant has been 
notified of missing information within the 30-day period and has not submitted: 

a.  All of the missing information; or 

b.  Some of the missing information and written notice that no other information will be 
provided; or 

c. Written notice that none of the missing information will be provided. 

B. The application shall be deemed complete for the purposes of scheduling the hearing and all 
related timing provisions either:  

1. Upon receipt of the additional information; or, if the applicant refuses to submits written 
notice indicating no other the information will be provided; or  

2. On the thirty-first (31st) day after the original submittal the application shall be deemed 
complete for scheduling purposes only. date if the city has not informed the applicant of 
missing information. 

C. Applications for more than one Type II administrative or Type III quasi-judicial land use action for 
the same property may, at the applicant's discretion, be combined and heard or reviewed 
concurrently.  

D. Referrals may be sent to interested agencies such as city departments, the school district, utility 
companies, and applicable state agencies. If a county road or state highway might be impacted, 
referrals should be sent to Yamhill County public works and/or ODOT.  

E. All work described in ORS 227.350, including but not limited the applications for subdivisions, 
permits for new structures, conditional use permits and planned unit developments on any land 
illustrated on the NWI/LWI Maps shall be referred within five days of receipt to the Oregon 
Division Department of State Lands. The applicant shall be notified of the referral.  

F. The public hearing shall be scheduled and notice shall be mailed to the applicant and adjacent 
property owners. Notice requirements shall comply with Section 17.192.020.  

G. For applications subject to the Type III quasi-judicial procedure, Sstaff shall prepare and have 
available within seven days of the scheduled hearing a written recommendation concerning the 

Page 344



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 4 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

proposed action. This report shall be mailed to the applicant and be available at City Hall for all 
interested parties.  

H. For applications subject to the Type III quasi-judicial procedure, T the public hearing before the 
Planning Commission shall comply with the provisions in Chapter 17.196.  

I. Approvals of any Type II administrative or Type III quasi-judicial action may be granted subject to 
conditions. The following limitations shall be applicable to conditional approvals:  

1. Conditions shall be designed to protect public health, safety and general welfare from 
potential adverse impacts caused by a proposed land use described in an application. 
Conditions shall be related to the following:  

a. Protection of the public from the potentially deleterious effects of the proposed use; or  

b. Fulfillment of the need for public service demands created by the proposed use;  

2. Changes or alterations of conditions shall be processed as a new administrative action;  

3. All conditions of approval required by the city for a Type II administrative or Type III quasi-
judicial approval shall be completed prior to the issuance of building permits, except that the 
Planning Commission may stipulate that some conditions be completed prior to issuance of 
building occupancy permits when the former is impractical. When an applicant provides 
information demonstrating to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission that it is not 
practical to fulfill all conditions prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must 
complete a performance guarantee for required improvements pursuant to Chapter 17.216.  

J. For applications subject to the Type II administrative procedure, T the applicant shall be notified 
in writing of the Planning Commission City Manager's decision or recommendation. In addition, 
notice of the commission City Manager's decision shall be mailed to individuals, who request such 
notice at the public hearing, or, by those individuals who submitted a written request for notice 
prior to the public hearing comments during the 20-day comment period as described in Chapter 
17.192.020. For applications subject to the Type III quasi-judicial procedure, the Planning 
Commission’s or City Council’s decision shall be mailed to the applicant and all individuals having 
submitted written comments during the 20-day notice period as described in Chapter 
17.192.030, and to individuals having submitted written or oral comments during the public 
hearing(s).  

K. Either the applicant or persons receiving notice of the decision may appeal a Type II land use 
decision to the City Council. The appeal shall be filed within days from the date of the decision, 
pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 17.204. Type III land use applications are automatically 
reviewed by the City Council. Standing to appeal a Type II or Type III decision and requisite timing 
to submit an appeal is governed by procedures identified in Chapter 17.204.  

L. The timing requirements established by this section are intended to allow a final action, including 
resolution of appeals for all land use actions within one hundred twenty (120) days of receipt of a 
complete application, except for Type III quasi-judicial actions. If for any reason it appears that 
such final action may not be completed within the one hundred twenty (120) day period, unless 
the applicant voluntarily extends the time period, the following procedures shall be followed 
regardless of other processes set forth elsewhere in this title.  

Page 345



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 5 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

1. The city staff shall notify the City Council of the timing conflict by the ninety-fifth (95th) day. 
The City Council shall, in accordance with its own procedures, set a time for an emergency 
meeting within the one hundred twenty (120) day period;  

2. Public notice shall be mailed to affected parties as specified in Chapter 17.192;  

3. The City Council shall hold a public hearing on the specified date, in accordance with the 
provisions of Chapter 17.200 and render a decision approving or denying the request within 
the one hundred twenty (120) day period.  

17.188.030 Consolidated review. 

When an applicant applies for more than one type of land use or development permit for the 
same one or more contiguous parcels of land, the proceedings may be consolidated for review and 
decision at the applicant’s request. When proceedings are consolidated, the highest level of review 
shall be applied to the consolidated application. Required notices may be consolidated, provided the 
notice shall identify each application to be decided. When more than one application is reviewed in a 
hearing, separate findings and decisions shall be made on each application. 

 

  

Page 346



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 6 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.192 PUBLIC NOTICE REQUIREMENTS 

17.192.010 Type I actions public notice requirements. 

Not all Type I ministerial actions require are not subject to public notice; only those that involve 
the exercise of discretion require notice. Where written notice of a Type I ministerial decision is 
required or otherwise provided it and shall be mailed to the applicant.  

17.192.020 Type II actions public notice requirements. 

A. Written public notice of the initial public hearing on a pending Type II administrative action shall 
be mailed at least twenty (20) days prior to the hearing date to the owners of property within one 
hundred (100) feet of the boundaries of the subject property at least twenty (20) days before the 
City Manager issues a written decision; the City Manager at his or her discretion may mail notices 
to owners of property within a larger radius, where the project is likely to a wider impact (e.g., 
traffic, noise, parking, etc.). Applicants shall be responsible for providing a certified list of property 
owners within the notice area prepared by Yamhill County or a title company. The list must be 
current within the last thirty (30) days.  

B. Type II administrative actions do not require notice in a newspaper, but the city may publish such 
notice at the City Manager's discretion. Notice for annexations shall be as set forth in Chapter 
17.184.  

C. Written notice of a pending Type II administrative action shall include the following: 

1. The city case file number of the application(s), the nature of application(s) and proposed use 
or uses which could be authorized.  

2. A list of applicable standards and criteria from the Development Code and Comprehensive 
Plan that apply to the application(s) at issue.  

3. Street address or other easily understood geographical reference to the subject property.  

4. A statement that advises submitting written comments for consideration no later than the 
end of the comment period for standing to appeal the decision. The comment deadline date 
and time shall also be shown.     

5. State that failure of an issue to be raised, in person or by letter, or failure to provide 
statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker an opportunity to respond to 
the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals, based on that issue. 

6. Name of the city representative to contact and the telephone number where additional 
information may be obtained.  

7. State that a copy of the application, all documents and evidence relied upon by the 
applicant and application criteria are available for inspection at no cost and a copy will be 
available at reasonable cost.  

8. State that a decision by the City Manager shall be made after the comment closing date and 
will be mailed to the applicant and those individuals having provided written comments 
during the comment period. 

 

Page 347



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 7 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.192.030 Type III and Type IV actions public notice requirements. 

A. Written notice of the initial public hearing on a Type III quasi-judicial or Type IV legislative action 
shall be mailed at least twenty (20) days prior to the hearing date to the owners of property within 
one hundred (100) feet of the boundaries of the subject property, as applicable; the City Manager 
at his or her discretion may mail notices to owners of property within a larger radius, where the 
project is likely to a wider impact (e.g., traffic, noise, parking, etc.). Applicants for Type III quasi-
judicial reviews shall be responsible for providing a certified list of property owners within the 
notice area prepared by Yamhill County or a title company. The list must be current within the last 
thirty (30) days.  

B. At least thirty-five (35) days before the date of the first hearing on an ordinance application that 
proposes to amend the comprehensive plan, development code, or any element thereof, or to 
adopt an ordinance application for any zone change, the city shall notify the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development (DLCD) of the proposed action.  

C. At least twenty (20) days, but not more than forty (40) days, before the date of the first hearing on 
an ordinance application that proposes to amend the comprehensive plan, development code, or 
any element thereof, or to adopt an ordinance application for any zone change, a notice shall be 
prepared in conformance with ORS 227.175 and mailed to:  

1. Each owner whose property would be directly affected by a rezoning or a change from one 
comprehensive plan land use category to another, as applicable;  

2. Each property owner whose property value may be diminished if the proposed amendment is 
adopted because the amendment limits or prohibits a previously allowed use;  

2. Any affected governmental agency;  

3. Any person who requests notice in writing; and  

4. For a zone change affecting a manufactured home or mobile home park, all mailing addresses 
within the park, in accordance with ORS 227.175;  

C.D. At least ten (10) days before the scheduled public hearing date for a Type III quasi-judicial or Type 
IV legislative action, public notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
City.  

D.E. For each mailing and publication of notice, the city shall keep an affidavit of mailing/publication in 
the record.  

17.192.040 Notice for appeals. 

Notice of hearings on appeal to the City Council shall be pursuant to Section 17.192.020, and shall 
include written notice at least ten (10) days prior to hearing to the appellant, the applicant and any 
other individuals who received notice of the original decision.  

17.192.050 Notice requirements. 

A F. Public notices for Type II and III quasi-judicial and Type IV legislative actions shall include the 
following:  

1. Case file number of the application(s), explain the nature of the applications, and the 
proposed use or uses that could be authorized;  

Page 348



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 8 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

2. Cite the applicable criteria from this title and the plan that apply to the application at issue;  

3. Set forth the A street address or other easily understood geographical reference to the 
subject property;  

4. State the date, time and location of the hearing;  

5. A Sstatement that failure of an issue to be raised in a hearing, in person or by letter, or failure 
to provide statements or evidence sufficient specificity to afford the decision maker an 
opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the land use board of appeals based 
on that issue;  

6. Include the name of the city representative to contact and the telephone number where 
additional information may be obtained;  

7. State that a copy of the application, all documents and evidence relied upon by the applicant 
and application criteria are available for inspection at no cost and a copy will be available at 
reasonable cost;  

8. State that a copy of the staff report will be available for inspection at no cost at least seven 
days prior to the hearing and a copy will be provided at reasonable cost;  

9. Include a general explanation of the requirements for submission of testimony and the 
procedure for conduct of hearing.  

B.G. Public notices for Type IV legislative actions that potentially limit or prohibit land uses previously 
allowed in the affected zone or "rezone property" as defined in a manner as described by ORS 
227.186(9), shall be approved in advance by the City Council and shall contain additional 
information as described by ORS 227.186 and shall be mailed to the owner of each lot or parcel of 
property that the ordinance proposes to rezone, at least twenty (20) days, but not more than forty 
(40) days, before the date of the first public hearing. The notice shall:  

1. Include the following language in boldfaced type extending from the left-hand margin to the 
right-hand margin across the top of the face page of the notice:  

This is to notify you that the City of Carlton has proposed a land use regulation that will affect the 
permissible uses of your land.  

2. Include in the body of the notice:  

On (date of public hearing), the City of Carlton will hold a public hearing regarding the adoption of 
Ordinance Number _______. The City of Carlton has determined that adoption of this title will 
affect the permissible uses of your property and may reduce the value of your property.  

Ordinance Number _______ is available for inspection at the Carlton City Hall located at 191 E. 
Main Street. A copy of Ordinance Number _______ also is available for purchase at a cost of 
_______.  

For additional information concerning Ordinance Number _______, you may call the Carlton City 
Recorder 503-852-_______.  

3. If notice is pursuant to a requirement of periodic review, the body of the notice shall include 
in lieu of subsection (B)(2) of this section:  

Page 349



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 9 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

As a result of an order of the Land Conservation and Development Commission, has proposed 
Ordinance Number _______. The City of Carlton has determined that adoption of this title will 
affect the permissible uses of your property and may reduce the value of your property.  

Ordinance Number _______ will become effective on ___________.  

Ordinance Number _______ is available for inspection at the Carlton City Hall located at 191E. 
Main Street. A copy of Ordinance Number _______ also is available for purchase at a cost of 
_______.  

For additional information concerning Ordinance Number _______, you may call the Carlton City 
Recorder 503-852-_______.  

C. Notice of public hearing by the Planning Commission or City Council on any Type IV action shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation a minimum of ten (10) days prior to the date of the 
hearing.  

D. Notice of a Type IV hearing shall be provided to the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and 
Development at least thirty-five (35) days prior to the first evidentiary hearing by the city on any 
Type IV action.  

  

Page 350



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 10 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.196 PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

17.196.010 General provisions. 

A. Land use actions that require a public hearing by the Planning Commission shall be initially heard 
by the Planning Commission within sixty (60) days of the receipt of a complete application or 
appeal.  

B. The Planning Commission may continue a public hearing for additional, information, testimony or 
for decision, to its next regular meeting or to a special meeting. In no instance, however, shall the 
decision be continued more than sixty (60) days beyond the initial hearing date.  

C. Unless there is a continuance, if a participant so requests before the conclusion of the initial 
evidentiary hearing, the record shall remain open for at least seven days after the hearing.  

D. The decisions of the Planning Commission on applications for Type III quasi-judicial actions shall be 
final unless appealed to the City Council pursuant to Chapter 17.204.  

E. The recommendations of the Planning Commission on applications for Type III quasi-judicial 
actions that pertain to Zone Change, Annexation or Street Vacation shall be referred to the City 
Council for final determination, pursuant to Chapter 17.200.  

F. An issue that may be the basis for an appeal to the land use board of appeals (LUBA) may be raised 
not later than the close of the record at or following the final evidentiary hearing on the proposal 
before the city. Such issues shall be raised with sufficient specificity so as to afford the City Council 
or Planning Commission, and the parties, an adequate opportunity to respond to each issue.  

G. Appeal of a Type I ministerial action shall be heard by the Planning Commission in accordance with 
provisions of Chapter 17.204. Findings of the Planning Commission on such appeal shall be final 
unless further appealed to the City Council.  

17.196.020 Public hearing procedures. 

A. The public hearing shall be conducted under the following procedures:  

1. Open the public hearing, announce the purpose, and explain the process.  

2. A prepared statement shall be made to all in attendance that conforms to ORS 197.763 
797(5).  

3. Ask for objections to jurisdiction.  

4. Call for abstentions. Call for decision makers to declare any bias, conflicts of interests or 
exparte contacts. 

5. Staff report with initial recommendation.  

6. Letters.  

7. Public agencies.  

8. Proponents' testimony.  

a. Principal;  

b. Others.  

Page 351



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 11 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

9. Opponents' testimony.  

10. Questions of proponents and opponents from the floor and commission/council directed 
through chair/mayor.  

11. Proponent rebuttal.  

12. Staff final recommendation.  

13. Close of hearing.  

14. Deliberation of commission/council of findings of fact.  

15. Decision.  

17.196.030 Evidence. 

A. All evidence offered and not objected to may be received unless excluded by the Planning 
Commission on its own motion. Evidence may be received subject to a later ruling as to its 
admissibility.  

B. The Planning Commission may exclude irrelevant, unduly repetitious, immaterial or cumulative 
evidence; but erroneous admission of evidence by the commission shall not preclude action or 
cause reversal on appeal unless shown to have substantially prejudiced the rights of a party. When 
a hearing will be expedited, any part of the evidence may be received in written form.  

C. All evidence shall be offered and made a part of the public record in the case.  

D. The Planning Commission may take notice of judicially recognizable facts, and members may take 
notice of general, technical or scientific facts within their specialized knowledge. Parties shall be 
notified at any time during the proceeding, but in any event prior to the final decision, of the 
material so noticed. Parties shall be afforded an opportunity to contest the facts so noticed. For 
quasi-judicial hearings, The Planning Commission members shall not introduce evidence but may 
utilize their experience, technical competence and specialized knowledge in evaluation of the 
evidence presented.  

E. Every party is entitled to an opportunity to be heard and to present and rebut evidence.  

F. All interested persons shall be allowed to testify.  

17.196.040 Record of hearing. 

A verbatim record of the proceeding shall be made by written, mechanical or electronic means, 
which record need not be transcribed except upon review of the record.  

17.196.050 Limits on oral testimony. 

The Planning Commission chair may set consistent, reasonable time limits for oral presentations to 
the end that parties are encouraged to submit as much evidence as possible in writing prior to the 
hearing.  

17.196.060 Exhibits. 

All exhibits received shall be marked so as to provide identification upon review. The city shall 
retain such exhibits.  

Page 352



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 12 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

17.196.070 Continued hearing. 

The Planning Commission may during the course of the hearing, continue a hearing to a date, time 
and place announced at the hearing without additional notification.  

  

Page 353



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 13 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.200 REVIEWS AND PUBLIC HEARING BY CITY COUNCIL 

17.200.010 General provisions. 

A. Type III quasi-judicial Reviews. The City Council shall hear all Type III quasi-judicial actions that 
pertain to Zone Change, Annexation or Street Vacation. The City Council action on such requests 
shall be the final action of the city on the request.  

B. Appeals. The City Council shall hear appeals of all Planning Commission actions conducted 
pursuant to Chapter 17.204. The appeal hearing shall be conducted in a manner consistent with 
Chapter 17.196. The action of the Planning Commission shall be final and the council shall not hear 
the appeal if the appeal period has lapsed.  

C. All hearings or reviews required by the City Council shall be heard within thirty (30) days of the 
Planning Commission's written decision or appeal request. In no instance, however, shall this 
period extend the date of the hearing and final action beyond one hundred twenty (120) days from 
the date of the initial submission of a complete application, unless voluntarily agreed to by the 
applicant.  

D. The decision shall be made by the City Council and written findings prepared listing findings for 
approval or denial, and any conditions of approval, within two weeks of the hearing by the City 
Council. In no case, however, shall this decision and the preparation of written findings extend 
beyond one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of initial submittal of a complete application, 
unless voluntarily agreed to by the applicant.  

17.200.020 Hearing by City Council. 

Actions on quasi-judicial requests shall be conducted at public hearing pursuant to the City 
Council's adopted rules of procedure. The City Council shall allow opportunity for all parties to be heard 
and may accept new evidence.  

17.200.030 Review of the record and action by City Council for appeals. 

A. Review on Record. Except as set forth in Section 17.200.030(B), the City Council review of an 
appeal on an action by the Planning Commission shall be confined to the record of the initial 
proceeding. Parties may offer testimony regarding alleged errors in the Planning Commission 
action. The meeting shall be conducted as set forth in the City Council's adopted rules of 
procedures. The record of the initial proceeding shall include:  

1. All materials, pleadings, memoranda, stipulations and motions submitted by any party to the 
proceeding and received or considered by the Planning Commission as evidence;  

2. All exhibits submitted by the city staff with respect to the application;  

3. The transcript of the hearing; and  

4. The findings and action of the Planning Commission and the notice of decision.  

B. Submission of New Testimony and De Novo Hearings. The City Council may admit additional 
testimony and other evidence by holding a de novo hearing. Upon the decision to admit additional 
testimony or other evidence and to hear the entire matter de novo, the presentation of such 
testimony and evidence shall be governed by the procedures applicable to the presentation of such 
matters at the initial hearing.  

Page 354



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 14 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

C. City Council Action. The City Council may affirm, rescind or amend the action of the Planning 
Commission and may grant approval subject to conditions necessary to carry out the 
comprehensive plan. The City Council may also remand the matter back to the Planning 
Commission for additional information, subject to the agreement of the applicant to extend the 
120-day review period.  

  

Page 355



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 15 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.204 APPEAL PROVISIONS 

17.204.010 Standing to Appeal and time period. 

A. Appeal of a Type I Ministerial Decision. The decision of the City Manager shall be final for a Type I 
ministerial land use decision unless a notice of appeal from an appropriate aggrieved party the 
applicant is received by the city within ten (10) days of the date of the final written notice, or 
unless the City Council, on its own motion, orders review within ten (10) days of initial action. An 
appeal stays the proceedings in the matter appealed until the determination of the appeal.  The 
final appellate decision-making authority on appeal of a Type I decision shall be the Planning 
Commission.  

B. Appeal of a Type II Administrative Decision. The decision of the Planning Commission City 
Manager for a Type II administrative land use decision, or the appeal of a Type I administrative 
decision, shall be final unless a notice of appeal from an aggrieved party is received by the city the 
decision is appealed by the applicant or by any person who submitted written testimony prior to 
mailing the notice of decision.  Appeal of a Type II administrative decision must be received by 
the city within ten (10) days of the date of the final written notice, or unless the City Council, on its 
own motion, orders review within ten (10) days of initial action. An appeal stays the proceedings in 
the matter appealed until the determination of the appeal. The final appellate decision-making 
authority on appeal of a Type II decision shall be the Planning Commission.  

C. Appeal of a Type III Quasi-Judicial Decision.  The decision of the Planning Commission for a Type 
II quasi-Judicial decision shall be final unless the decision is appealed by the applicant or by any 
person who provided either oral or written testimony to the record leading to the decision.  
Appeal of a Type III quasi-judicial decision must be received by the city within ten (10) days of 
the date of the final written notice, or unless the City Council, on its own motion, orders review 
within ten (10) days of initial action. An appeal stays the proceedings in the matter appealed 
until the determination of the appeal.  The appellate decision-making authority on appeal of a 
Type III decision shall be the City Council. 

D  Type IV legislative land use decisions can be appealed to LUBA within twenty-one (21) days after 
the land use decision becomes final as described by OAR 661-010-0010(3). 

17.204.020 Form of appeal. 

Appeal requests shall be made on forms provided by the city and shall state the alleged errors in 
the Planning Commission action.  

17.204.030 Notice requirements. 

A. Notice of hearings by the Planning Commission on appeal requests shall be as specified in Chapter 
17.192.  

B. Notice of hearings by the City Council on appeal requests shall be as specified in Chapter 17.192.  

17.204.040 Supplemental application for remaining permitted uses following denial of initial 
application 

As described in ORS 227.184, Ffollowing denial of an initial application an applicant may submit a 
supplemental application for remaining permitted uses.  

Page 356



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 16 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

A. A person whose application for a permit is denied by the city may submit to the city a 
supplemental application for any or all other uses allowed under the city's comprehensive 
plan and land use regulations in the zone that was the subject of the denied application.  

B. The city or its designee shall take final action on a supplemental application submitted under 
this section, including resolution of all appeals, within two hundred forty (240) days after the 
application is deemed complete. Except that two hundred forty (240) days shall substitute for 
one hundred twenty (120) days, all other applicable provisions of ORS 227.178 ("The 120-Day 
Rule") shall apply to a supplemental application submitted under this section. See Section 
17.188.010.  

C. A supplemental application submitted under this section shall include a request for any 
rezoning or variance that may be required to issue a permit under the city's comprehensive 
plan and land use regulations.  

D. The city shall adopt specific findings describing the reasons for approving or denying:  

1. A use for which approval is sought under this section; and  

2. A rezoning or variance requested in the application.  

17.204.050 Review of the record and action by the Planning Commission for appeals. 

A. Review on Record. Planning Commission review of an appeal on an action by the City Manager 
shall be confined to the record of the initial proceeding. Parties may offer testimony regarding 
alleged errors in the City Manager decision. The record shall include:  

1. All materials, pleadings, memoranda, stipulations and motions submitted by any party to 
the proceeding and received or considered by the City Manager as evidence;  

2. All exhibits submitted by the city staff with respect to the application;   

3. Notice of decision issued by the City Manager.  

B.     Planning Commission Action on Appeal. The Planning Commission may affirm, rescind or amend 
the decision of the City Manager, in addition to amending conditions of approval.  

 

  

Page 357



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 17 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.208 FEES 

17.208.010 Purpose. 

Fees are for the purpose of defraying administrative costs.  

17.208.020 General provisions. 

A. Fees shall be payable at the time of application and shall be set forth by resolution of the City 
Council. There shall be no fee required for an application initiated by the Planning Commission or 
the City Council.  

B. The failure to submit the required fee with an application or notice of appeal, including return of 
checks unpaid or other failure of consideration, shall be a jurisdictional defect.  

C. Fees are not refundable unless the application is withdrawn prior to the notification of the hearing.  

D. The City Council may reduce or waive the fees upon showing of just cause to do so.  

17.208.030 Transcript fees. 

In addition to other fees for appeal requests, any person requesting a verbatim transcript shall pay 
a fee equal to the actual cost of the preparation of the transcript. The cost of the transcript fee shall be 
determined by the cost per page for the preparation of such transcripts, at an appropriate rate. The city 
shall estimate the cost of the transcript at the time of the filing of the appeal request and shall receive a 
deposit in that amount. Any person requesting a verbatim transcript shall be billed for actual costs in 
excess of the deposit or receive a refund for surplus deposit funds in excess of transcript fees authorized 
by this section.  

  

Page 358



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 18 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.212 TYPE IV ACTIONS 

17.212.010 Initiation. 

Type IV legislative proceedings may be initiated by:  

A. Majority vote of the City Council.  

B. Majority vote of the Planning Commission.  

17.212.020 Procedure for Type IV actions. 

A. Public Hearings by Planning Commission.  

1. A public hearing shall be held by the Planning Commission on all proposed amendments to 
this title and on all legislative amendments and revisions of the comprehensive plan.  

2. The Planning Commission may continue any hearing in order to make a reasonable decision.  

B. Public Hearing by City Council. Following Planning Commission action, the City Council shall hold a 
public hearing to consider the Planning Commission's recommendation on proposed amendments. 
Notice shall be as specified in Chapter 17.192.  

A. All Type IV legislative actions require two hearings, one before the Planning Commission and one 
before the City Council. The public hearings shall be scheduled and notice shall be mailed to the 
affected property owners. Notice requirements shall comply with Section 17.192.030. 

B. Staff shall prepare and have available within seven days of the scheduled hearing a written 
recommendation concerning the proposed action. This report shall be available at City Hall for all 
interested parties.  

C. The public hearing before the Planning Commission shall comply with the provisions in Chapter 
17.196. The Planning Commission shall make a recommendation to the City Council to adopt, 
adopt with modifications, adopt an alternative, or deny the Type IV action. 

D. The City Council shall hold a public hearing and comply with the provisions in Chapter 17.200. 
The City Council shall vote to adopt, adopt with modifications, adopt an alternative, deny, or 
remand to the Planning Commission for rehearing and reconsideration on all or part of the Type 
IV action. The City Council may consider the recommendation of the Planning Commission, 
however, it is not bound by the Planning Commission’s recommendation. 

E. The City Council’s decision shall be mailed to all individuals having submitted written or oral 
comments during the public hearing(s). 

F. The decision on a Type IV action is final and effective on the date specified in the enacting 
ordinance. 

 

  

Page 359



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 19 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.216 PERFORMANCE GUARANTEES 

17.216.010 Performance guarantee. 

When required, the applicant shall file a performance guarantee to insure the full and faithful 
performance of all terms of an improvement agreement, if any, or to ensure completion of all work for 
which permits are required. The guarantee shall contain an agreement between the developer and city 
that no building permit for any structure within the development will be issued until the city finds that 
all required improvements are complete, except where the Planning Commission has stipulated 
differently in a final land use decision., per Section 17.188.120 The agreement shall provide one of the 
following:  

A. A surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact business in the State of 
Oregon, in a form approved by the city attorney in an amount equal to one hundred twenty 
(120) percent of the construction cost of required improvements, as verified by the city.  

B. A deposit with the city, or at the option of the city, a verified deposit with a responsible 
escrow agent or trust company, of cash or negotiable bonds in an amount equal to one 
hundred twenty (120) percent of the construction costs of the required improvements, 
together with an agreement that the deposit may be disbursed only upon city approval of 
disbursement. The agreement shall include a provision that the city shall allow release of the 
deposit in such amounts and at such times as a corresponding proportion of the required 
improvements are completed to the satisfaction of the city engineer following an inspection 
by the city engineer or the engineer's authorized representative.  

C. An irrevocable letter of credit pledging that funds equal to one hundred twenty (120) percent 
of the construction cost of all required improvements are available to the applicant and are 
guaranteed for payment for the improvements. An irrevocable letter of credit is acceptable.  

17.216.020 Failure to complete improvements. 

If the applicant fails to complete all improvements required by the city, the city shall estimate the 
cost of completing any required improvement(s). The city shall than call on the bond or deposit for the 
funds necessary to complete the improvement. If the amount obtained from the bond or deposit is 
insufficient to complete the improvement, or no bond or deposit was obtained, the city may either hold 
the collected funds until additional funds are available from the applicant or, the city may perform 
improvement on a portion of the improvement as determined reasonable. Following final inspection of 
the improvement, and if the bond or deposit exceeds the actual cost to the city of completing the 
improvement, the remainder shall be released. If collected funds were inadequate to compensate the 
city for all reasonable costs, then the city may pursue all legal and appropriate remedies to collect any 
funds due to the city. These remedies shall include placing a lien on the real property where the city paid 
improvement was performed. Funds payable to the city shall also be a personal debt and obligation of 
the owner.  

17.216.030 Improvement deferral. 

A. If public improvements are required as a condition of approval of a land division action under this 
title, such improvements shall be the obligation of the applicant, and but may not be deferred 
except by specific approval by the city council or planning commission. Such approval shall not be 
granted where the required improvements are necessary to provide adequate access or utility 

Page 360



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 20 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

service to the proposed development, or where it will compromise the health or safety of the 
public, or result in violations of City or state codes.  

B. Upon approval of a variance to allow a construction deferral agreement, the improvements may be 
deferred on all or a portion of the public improvements specifically approved by the city council or 
planning commission required as a part of the condition of approval under this title, until the a 
stated time such as the owner applies for a building permit or certificate of occupancy, or until 
required by council, whichever is earlier indicated in the notice of decision. A property owner 
seeking deferral under this title shall sign an improvement construction deferral agreement that 
runs with the property, until the owner installs the required improvements or until such 
improvements are required to be completed by the city council or planning commission. Said 
construction deferral agreement shall be in a form approved by the city attorney, shall be recorded 
with Yamhill County, and shall be filed in the office of the city recorder. The deferral agreement 
shall be subject to requirements of Section 17.88.050 relating to prohibition against issuance of 
building permits prior to completion of said improvements.  

C. Where allowed under Section 17.88.050, In lieu of an improvement deferral agreement, the 
council or planning commission may approve require a non-remonstrance agreement in lieu of an 
improvement deferral agreement. Such a non-remonstrance agreement shall be in for approved by 
the city attorney, and shall be recorded with Yamhill County and would run with the property until 
the city installs the improvements and assesses the property owner the owner's proportionate cost 
of the improvements.  

  

Page 361



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Carlton Development Code Page 21 of 21 
February 26, 2024 Final Draft 

Chapter 17.220 REVOCATION OF DECISION 

17.220.010 Compliance with conditions. 

Compliance with conditions imposed by the City Manager, Planning Commission or City Council in 
granting a permit for any land use action shall be required. Any departure from these conditions of 
approval and approved plans constitutes a violation of this title.  

17.220.020 General provisions. 

A. The City recorder Manager may initiate a proceedings for revocation of any land use permit or 
approval issued for failure to comply with any prescribed condition of approval. The hearing shall 
be conducted as a Type III quasi-judicial hearing and in accordance with the procedures for a Type 
III quasi-judicial hearing.  

B. Final decisions regarding comprehensive plan text or map amendments, development code text 
amendments or zone changes shall not be subject to revocation.  

 

Page 362



 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 1 
 

EXHIBIT 2: ADDITIONAL CODE CHANGES 

The following changes in green highlighting identify additional proposed changes to the Final 
Draft of the Carlton Development Code, dated February 26, 2024, identified as Exhibit 1.   

___________________________________________________________________________ 

PART A - Feedback from Council / PAC 

The following are proposed to supersede and replace the relevant sections in Exhibit 1 based 
on additional feedback from City Council at their March 5, 2024, work session. 

Division III. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

Chapter 17.84 SITE AND LANDSCAPING DESIGN 

17.84.060 General provisions. 

A. For purposes of satisfying the minimum requirements of this title, a "landscaped area" must […] 

3. For all landscaped areas, a minimum of fifty (50) percent of plant materials shall be native 
species selected from the Oregon Flora Native Plant List 
(https://oregonflora.org/garden/index.php). 

***** 

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

A. All new residential developments shall install a minimum of one street tree per forty (40) 
feet of street frontage, or fraction thereof. 

 

PART B - Additional Staff-Proposed Changes  

The following are proposed to supersede, replace or add to the relevant sections in Exhibit 1. “Notes 
by Planning Staff” follow to explain the proposed change.   

Division I. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

***** 

17.04.020 Purpose. 

The ordinance codified in this title is enacted to:  

A. Implement the goals and policies of the City of Carlton, Comprehensive Plan 2023400; June 
2001 (Reprint), as amended;  

 Notes by Planning Staff: Change 2023 to 2024.  Pending Comprehensive Plan amendment (LA 2024-
01) subject to Council hearing consideration shows 2024. 

 

 

Page 363



 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 2 
 

Chapter 17.12 DEFINITIONS 

17.12.020 Definitions. 

***** 

“Dwelling, Single Room Occupancy” means a residential development with no fewer than four attached 
units that are independently rented and lockable and provide living and sleeping space for the exclusive 
use of an occupant, but require that the occupant share sanitary or food preparation facilities with other 
units in the occupancy. 

***** 

 

Division II. ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT PROVISIONS 

***** 

Chapter 17.20 RESIDENTIAL-LOW DENSITY (R-1) DISTRICT 

17.20.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Residential-Low Density District:  

***** 

K.  Single Room Occupancy – one per lot size of at least 7,500 sq. ft. 

 

 

Chapter 17.22 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM DENSITY (R-2) DISTRICT 

17.22.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Residential-Medium Density District:  

***** 

L.  Single Room Occupancy – one per lot size of at least 6,000 sq. ft. 

 

Chapter 17.24 MANUFACTURED HOME (MH) DISTRICT 

17.24.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the Manufactured Home District: 

*************  

K.  Single Room Occupancy – one per lot size of at least 7,500 sq. ft. 

********** 

Notes by Planning Staff: The above proposed def. is verbatim of HB 3395 passed by the Legislature.  
See Staff Report dated April 1, 2024.   Grant agreement with DLCD identifies SROs to be added. 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: 7,500 sq. ft. is consistent with min. lot size identified in R-1 for s-f dwelling.  

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: 6,000 sq. ft. is consistent with min. lot size identified in R-2 for s-f dwelling.  

 

 

Page 364

https://ecode360.com/42590107#42590107


 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 3 
 

Chapter 17.28 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM HIGH DENSITY (R-3) DISTRICT 

17.28.020 Permitted uses. 

***** 

O.  Single Room Occupancy – one per lot size of at least 3,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

***** 

Chapter 17.52 MIXED DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (MX) DISTRICT 

17.52.030 Permitted uses. 

********** 

L. Single Room Occupancy – one per lot size of at least 4,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

Division VI. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW CRITERIA 

********** 

Chapter 17.176 SUBDIVISIONS AND PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 

********** 

17.176.030 Process.  Preliminary Plat Approval Criteria.   

********** 

17.176.035 Open space requirements. 

A. A minimum of five percent (5%) of the total lot area (after exclusion of non-buildable land, such 
as streets, streams, slopes, open space, easements, and other rights-of-way) based on net 
density as defined, shall be maintained as open space. Cottage cluster development is subject to 
the open space requirements of Section 17.106.040 and not to the requirements of this section. 
The following may not be counted as open space: 

1. Required yards or setbacks. of private lots.  However, trees and natural areas intended for 
preservation in private lots may count as open space if located within conservation 
easement(s) shown to the final plat, along with recorded documents declaring a 
homeowner association or the City of Carlton as beneficiary of the easement and 
maintenance provider.  

2. Submerged lands, including storm drainage facilities. However, vegetated storm drainage 
treatment facilities and special flood hazard areas may count as open space if located 
within a tract(s) of land or easement(s) shown to the final plat, along with recorded 

Notes by Planning Staff: 3,000 sq. ft. is consistent with min. lot size identified in R-3 for s-f dwelling.  

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: 4,000 sq. ft. is consistent with min. lot size identified in MX for s-f dwelling.  

 

 

Page 365



 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 4 
 

documents declaring a homeowner association or the City of Carlton as beneficiary of the 
easement and maintenance provider. 

3. Areas of special flood hazard. 

4. Any area required to meet a standard found elsewhere in this code. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B. Open space must be developed as either ‘active-style,’ ‘passive-style,’ ‘boulevard style,’ or any 
combination thereof.  

1. Active-style open spaces shall be a minimum of ten five thousand (10,000) (5,000) square 
feet in size, have a minimum average width and depth no less than fifty (50) feet, and be 
developed with grass areas for picnics and recreational play, sports courts, walking paths, 
seating areas, pet areas, and other similar features. Open space must have a means of 
access. 

 

 

 

 

2. Passive-style open spaces may be any configuration or shape, and shall be intended to 
retain trees identified by an arborist report or retain natural areas or shall be landscaped 
for aesthetic value and to encourage passive enjoyment (i.e. walking, sitting, trails) without 
the use of any irrigated turf. Open space must have a minimum of ten (10) feet of street 
frontage to ensure access, or other similar means of access such as a trail easement. 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  Words “…for aesthetic value and to encourage…” not clear and objective.  
Words “walking” and “trails” implies active. 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  Observation – minimum above (10,000 sq. ft.) is greater than the minimum 
open space requirement (of 5%) if the property subject to subdivision consideration is less than 
200,000 sq. ft. (net) or approximately 4.59 acres size.   Recommend lowering to 5,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  Recommend reference to “net density” for consistency with proposed 
definition (Division I).  Provision in A (above) is generally consistent with “net density” def. that 
reads: 

“Density, net” means density calculated excluding non-buildable land, such as streets, 
streams, slopes, open space, easements, and other rights-of-way. Generally expressed in units per 
net acre. 

On the second item (No. 1, setbacks) staff observe how lot size averaging (introduced in 17.176.030) 
can be utilized to preserve natural features and how conservation easements could be recorded to a 
portion of private lot area.  On No. 2, if drainage facilities are inclusive of vegetated swales (Low 
Impact Design, etc.) should also count as passive open space.  On No. 3, again, conservation 
easement or tract could be recorded to a portion of lot area shown to contain floodway or 
floodplain portion of the site, likely natural.  No. 4. “Any area required to meet a standard… 
elsewhere in this code.” is unclear. 

 

Page 366



 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 5 
 

3. ‘Boulevard style’ open spaces may be created as enhanced streetscapes in excess of the 
minimum public street requirements and may count toward a maximum of ten thousand 
(10,000) square feet of the open space requirement.  

Example: if a 50-foot-wide right-of-way is required for a 1,000 foot-long street and a 60-
foot wide ROW with 5-foot additional plantings/meandering pathway is provided on each 
side of the street, the additional 10-foot-wide area x 1,000 linear feet, or 10,000 square 
feet, counts toward the open space requirement. 

C. The open space shall be conveyed in accordance with one of the following methods: 

1. By dedication to the City as public open space (if acceptable to the City). Open space 
proposed for dedication to the City must be acceptable to the City Manager with regard to 
the size, shape, location, improvement, environmental condition, and budgetary and 
maintenance abilities; 

2. By leasing or conveying title (including easement beneficialary ownership) to a corporation, 
the City, homeowners' association or other legal entity, with the City retaining given the 
development rights ability to access and maintain the open space. The terms of such lease 
or other instrument of conveyance must include provisions (e.g., maintenance, property tax 
payment, etc.) suitable to the City. 

D. The density of the site area created as open space may be transferred to other lots within the 
subdivision, including reducing minimum lot sizes by up to twenty (20) percent to accommodate 
the transferred density.  If the subdivision is to be constructed in phases, the area of open space 
and purpose is to be shown to each phase.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

E. The required open space is intended to serve the immediate needs of the subdivision residents 
and is in addition to parks and recreation facilities planned in the adopted Parks Development 
Plan. Therefore, open spaces are not eligible for Parks System Development Charges (SDCs) 
credits. Any parkland in excess of the open space required by this section dedicated to the City 
may be ineligible for Parks System Development Charges (SDCs) credits unless abutting a city 
designated park or trail system and associated with a project funded by park SCDs. Credits would 
be based on the methodology identified in the most current Parks Development Plan. 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Notes by Planning Staff:  On the first item under C, word “corporation” is too general and does not 
necessarily mean or imply a nature conservatory corporation.  On second item in D, staff observe 
potential conflict with Lot Size Averaging standards in 17.176.030.  Provision in D allows a 20% 
reduction to minimum lot size while Lot Size Averaging limits to 10% and explains further how the 
average lot size (of all lots) is the meet the minimum lot size of the zone.  Provision in D is unclear.  
Recommend striking and replacing with provision that requires showing all open space areas if 
subdivision is phased. 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  Recommend striking “intended to serve the immediate needs…”  Some 
future subdivision sites could abut land that is a city park or is planned to be park (or planned to be 
part of trail system recognized by the Park Development Plan and funded by SDCs).  Above provision 
only provides credit for parkland “in excess” of open space required…  Recommend change. 

 

 

Page 367



 Exhibit 2 

Exhibit 2 – Additional Code Changes                                                                                                    Page 6 
 

A limited text amendment specific to the definition of Short-Term Rental in CMC Title 3, Revenue and 
Finance (identified to public notice but not to posted Divisions of Title 17) is shown below. 

 

Title 3  
REVENUE AND FINANCE 

 
********************************* 
 
Chapter 3.16 – TRANSIENT LODGING TAX 
 
******************************** 
 

3.16.010 – Definitions. 

******************************** 

"Short-term rental" means a house, duplex, multi-plex, apartment, condominium, houseboat, trailer 
or other residential dwelling unit where a person rents a guest bedroom or the entire residential 
dwelling unit for transient lodging occupancy. Generally, a short-term rental is zoned residential or 
has a building occupancy that only allows for residential use. Vacation Rental as defined in Title 17. 

********************************* 
 
Note: The remainder of Title 3, is not proposed for change (Sections 3.16.020 through 3.16.170). 
 
******************************** 
 

PART C – Additional staff-proposed changes in reply to DLCD feedback (Exhibit 7).  

The following are proposed to supersede, replace or add to the relevant sections in Exhibit 1.  “Notes 
by Planning Staff” follow to explain the proposed change.  These changes respond to comments from 
DLCD Mid-Willamette Valley Rep Melissa Ahrens (emails of 4-5-24 & 4-24-24).    

DLCD Item 1 – Recommend exempting duplex from MX density for OAR 660-046 consistency 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  This pertains to the MX zone.  DLCD email of 4-5-24 refers to OAR 660-046-
0120 (rules that implement middle housing).  As Carlton is currently below the population threshold 
of 2,500, these rule provisions do not apply (now).  However, Carlton population is expected to 
grow.  Accordingly, staff recommends the following change.  [text for addition highlighted in green] 

17.52.020 Residential density and variety. 

******* 

B. Except for duplex, The maximum net density shall be 20 dwelling units per net acre. 

 

 

Page 368



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 7 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

 

DLCD Item 2 – Observation - amendments do not incorporate middle housing land divisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 3 – Recommend that subdivision be processed as Type II (without public hearing) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 4 – Observation – Required 5% open space could have dimensional implications.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  As part of the email, DLCD acknowledges how this is not included as part of 
the scope of work.  Staff observe no conflict to the contractual agreement with DLCD (grant).  As 
explained in the staff report, proposed changes are mostly intended to satisfying compliance with 
changes introduced by HB 3395.  It is not an easy code fix to introduce land division standards for 
duplex and unnecessary now.  Staff understands the comment and can explain to Council on 
request.   

No change is recommended now. 

Notes by Planning Staff:  See staff notes related to the DLCD recommendation under Part C hereto.  

This item was considered by the Planning Commission (see item 2 in Part D).  In summary, DLCD 
feedback recommends subdivisions to be processed without a public hearing (i.e., notice mailed to 
abutting property owners yes, but hearing no).   

In part, DLCD acknowledges a new statutory change (via bill SB 1537 from recent 2024 legislative 
session, a.k.a. the Housing Omnibus Bill) that could change how subdivisions (4 or more lots) are 
processed state-wide.  Staff has requested clarifications of DLCD on this topic.  The city DLCD grant 
agreement predates SB 1537 – so no conflict there.  Staff acknowledge how a future code 
amendment is likely in review of SB 1537.   

No change is recommended now.   

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  See notes under Commission recommendation, Part D hereto.  

This item was also considered by the Planning Commission (item 3 of Part D).  Staff agree with 
DLCD comments, and the implication example they provide for a small subdivision (e.g., four lots).    
It should be noted that DLCD comments are not in review of additional staff-proposed changes 
shown (above) in Part B of Exhibit 2.  In-lieu of a tract of land set-aside for open space, an applicant 
for subdivision could create “conservation easements” that would not reduce lot area.  However, 
staff generally agree with DLCD comments about small-scale subdivisions and how a homeowner’s 
association may need to be formed to maintain the open space.  Even with the conservation 
easement option, easement descriptions would need to name a beneficiary (Q: city, HOA?).  See 
staff recommended change to Section 17.176.035 in Part D hereto.  

Page 369



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 8 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

 

DLCD Item 5 – All out prohibited activity in floodway could have unintended consequences. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 6 – Geotechnical clarifications to code are recommended. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  In part, DLCD email of 4-24-24, observes how draft code provisions appear 
to prohibit all types of development in the floodway (even pathway and infrastructure projects).  

City Engineer Gordon Monroe has reviewed DLCD comments and recommends the following added 
text. 

[for addition highlighted in green] 

17.56.060 Specific standards 

******* 

E. Floodways. Located within areas of special flood hazard are areas designated as 
floodways. Since the floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the velocity of 
floodwaters that carry debris, potential projectiles and erosion potential, the following 
provisions apply:  

******* 

4. Encroachments may be permitted if certified by a registered professional engineer 
provides documents demonstrating that the encroachments shall not result in any 
increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood for the following: 

a)   The construction, maintenance, preservation, repair or replacement of public 
facilities including roads, bridges, paths and trails, drainage improvements, 
public water system, public sanitary sewer system, slope stabilization or other 
such improvements. 

 b)  Habitat enhancement or restoration projects. 

    c)  Repair, restoration or modification to an existing structure that does not expand 
the footprint, is pre-FIRM or was approved through the floodway development 
permit. 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  In part, DLCD email of 4-24-24, indicates that they generally support what is 
shown proposed in CDC 17.78.030.  DLCD suggests certain clarifications.   

City Engineer Gordon Monroe has reviewed these comments and recommends the following added 
text.  [See next page for additions highlighted in green] 

 

 

     

Page 370



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 9 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

 

DLCD Item 6 – Geotechnical clarifications to code are recommended (continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 5 – Geotechnical clarifications to code are recommende 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:   City Engineer’s recommended change is shown below. 

[Recommended for addition - show highlighted in green] 

******* 

17.78.030 Excavations 

A. Maximum Slope. The slope of cut surfaces shall not be steeper than is safe for the intended 
use, and shall not be more than one unit vertical in two units horizontal unless the owner or 
owner’s authorized agent furnishes a geotechnical report (developed by a certified 
engineering geologist, or a professional engineer who is also a geotechnical engineer),  
justifying a steeper slope, with the following exceptions: 

****** 

17.78.040 Fills 

A. Maximum Slope. The slope of fill surfaces shall not be steeper than the natural repose of 
the material and it shall be safe for the intended use.  The slope shall not be more than one 
unit vertical in two units horizontal unless the owner or owner’s authorized agent furnishes 
a geotechnical report justifying a steeper slope, with the following exceptions: 

1. A fill surface shall be permitted to be at a slope of 1.5 units horizontal to one unit 
vertical provided that the geotechnical report (developed by a certified 
engineering geologist, or a professional engineer who is also a geotechnical 
enginee)  supports this slope and all of following are met:  

******* 

17.78.070 Submittal Requirements 

******* 

D. Geotechnical Engineering Report. The city shall require a geotechnical engineering report in 
compliance with the minimum report requirements of the Public Works Design Standards to 
be prepared by a professional engineer who specializes in geotechnical work (certified 
engineering geologist, or a professional engineer who is also a geotechnical engineer) when 
any of the following site conditions may exist in the development area:  

1. When any publicly maintained facility (structure, street, pond, utility, park, etc.) 
will be supported by any engineered fill;  

2. When an embankment for a stormwater pond is created by the placement of fill;  

3. When, by excavation or fill, the soils remaining in place are greater than three (3) 
feet high.  

******* 

 

  

Page 371



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 10 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

 

DLCD Item 7 – Goal 5 – Chap 17.104 – Historic Sites – Recommend contacting SHPO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 8 – Goal 5 – Chap 17.104 – Recommending adding note that DSL notice required … 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DLCD Item 9 – Goal 5 – Recommend receiving DEQ feedback on proposed code amendments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  In part, DLCD email of 4-24-24, recommends contacting the State Historic 
Preservation Office (SHPO) for guidance regarding Chapter 17.104.  Notes from DLCD also call 
attention to rules in OAR 660-023-0200 (pertaining to historic preservation).   

Staff observe Chapter 17.104 (Historic Sites) to be very short (half a page) and proposed changes 
shown to this chapter are intended for clarification purposes (i.e., to direct attention to where the 
existing definition of “Historic sites” is found in code).   

Staff recommends no change for now.  However, staff concur with DLCD’s observations on this topic.  
Staff is aware of SHPO’s model code provisions.  These provisions are best addressed via future work 
sessions and subsequent / separate code amendment specific to this topic.  Also, scope of work 
identified in DLCD grant agreement does not identify this topic. 

Notes by Planning Staff:  In part, DLCD email of 4-24-24, recommends adding a note that Dept. of 
State Lands (DSL) notice is required for all development and land divisions in proximity to wetlands. 

Staff observe this to be done on a regular basis by city staff as a matter of practice (e.g., when a 
development application is complete, DSL is sent Request for Comments via the city if subject site is 
in proximity to wetland identified on Statewide Wetland Inventory Map - area of Carlton).  DSL 
utilizes a specific form for this purpose.  Staff also observe this item to be binding on the local 
jurisdiction and not those who propose development applications.  If necessary, staff can add for 
inclusion to the Development Code.  Again, scope of work in DLCD grant agreement does not 
address this topic.  Also, scope of work under contract with 3J Consulting does not describe. 

 

Notes by Planning Staff:  In part, DLCD email of 4-24-24, recommends having the Oregon Dept. of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) review the proposed Development Code update.   

As explained above, state agencies are sent Request for Comments via the city.  Depending on the 
circumstance, DEQ receives notice of proposed development (e.g., if subject property is shown to 
DEQ’s Underground Storage Tank Facility list).  In part, DLCD refers to implementation of an 
objective identified in the draft Comprehensive Plan (Objective 1e - respond to directives issued for 
TMDL Implementation Plan).  This DLCD comment is does not explain how the Development Code 
update is part of this directive and is also unclear to what feedback from DEQ is desired. 

Again, scope of work identified in DLCD grant agreement does not address this topic.  Also, scope of 
work under contract with 3J Consulting does not describe.   

Page 372



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 11 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

 

PART D - Additional changes recommend by the Planning Commission via action  

The following are proposed to supersede, replace or add to the relevant sections in Exhibit 1. “Notes 
by Planning Staff” follow to explain a proposed change.   

In a vote of 3-1, the Commission recommends Council support of Exhibit 1 with additional changes as 
shown above in Exhibit 2 (in Parts A, B) and as amended (via items 1 through 6) described below.  

PC Item 1 - Setbacks for Cottage Clusters – cap building setbacks at 10-feet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PC Item 2 – Keep process for Subdivisions as-is (i.e., subject to notice then public hearing)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PC Item 3 – Keep proposed 5% open space standard for subdivisions as-is (no minimum lot #) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: Feedback received from DLDC (email of 4-5-24) recommends subdivisions 
to be processed without a public hearing (i.e., notice mailed to owners yes, but hearing no).  Staff 
notes that process for “Partitions” (3 or fewer new lots) is proposed for change via this 
amendment and would be subject to notice but no hearing unless the decision is appealed.  DLCD 
also acknowledges a new statutory change (via bill SB 1537 from recent 2024 legislative session) 
that could change how subdivisions (4 or more lots) are processed state-wide.  Staff has requested 
clarifications of DLCD on this topic.  Response is not expected prior to Council hearing date.  Until 
more is known, staff agree with the Commission recommendation.   

If the Council concurs with the Planning Commission recommendation, no change to Exhibit 1 is 
necessary.   

 

 

 
Notes by Planning Staff: See DLCD Item No. 4 (Part C above) on how proposed 5% open space 
requirement could have lot dimensional implications.  At the hearing of 4-8, staff identified a 
possible alternative where the 5% open space requirement applies only to subdivisions of 28 lots 
or more, although noting there could be a potential loophole to this idea.  After discussion, the 
Commission decided to keep the proposed open space addition % as-is (at 5% regardless of the 
number of lots).  If Council supports the Commission recommendation, 5% open space becomes a 
requirement of all subdivisions, large and small.    

Staff recommends establishing a threshold of 28 or more lots.  If Council supports the staff 
recommendation, subsection A of 17.176.035 could be further amended to read: 

 17.176.035 Open space requirements. 

A. For subdivisions that create 28 or more lots, Aa minimum of five percent (5%) of the total lot 
area 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: At the hearing of 4-8-24, project consultant Elizabeth Decker identified an 
item that did not receive sufficient feedback at past work sessions.  She asked the Commission if 
setbacks for Cottage Clusters should be the same as single-family residential, or if a cap of 10 feet 
should apply.  Commission indicated a preference for the 10-foot cap.  This item applies to CDC 
17.106.040.B and is shown as “Optional” on Exhibit 1.  If the Council concurs with the Planning 
Commission recommendation, #5 of CDC 17.106.040.B would read: 

5.  Cottages shall meet the minimum setbacks of the underlying zone or a minimum perimeter 
setback of 10 feet, whichever is less.  

 

 

Page 373



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 12 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

PC Item 4 – AH Zone – keep minimum lot size standards as-is / and keep ability to divide. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PC Item 5 – Require Bicycle Parking Spaces in Multi-family Residential to be covered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PC Item 6 –Tree Spacing – 25-ft. everywhere. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: The Council / PAC recommendation is 40-feet (shown to Part A of Exhibit 2 
above).  The Commission recommends a different minimum spacing of 25-feet.  If the Council 
accepts the PC recommendation, Section 17.84.090 (below) would need to change accordingly.  

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

A. All new residential developments shall install a minimum of one street tree per thirty-
five (35)forty (40) feet of street frontage, or fraction thereof. 

Also, the Commission supported a spacing standard of street trees (25-ft.) everywhere in code with 
a similar spacing standard.  Staff observe no current standard to private street (17.64.060) but the 
code also discourages the creation of private streets.  Staff also observe certain tree spacing 
standards proposed in 17.84.060 (inside private property & not specific to a street frontage).  See 
next page for changes in review of 17.84.060. 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: Commission action does not support a proposed change in Exhibit 1 that 
would increase the minimum lot size standard for new lots of AH zoned property and prohibit 
division.  During the hearing, some discussion ensued about a possible compromise (e.g., one-acre 
minimum lot size for AH zone instead of proposed 3-acre min.).  The Commission recommendation to 
Council is to keep the existing AH lot size as currently shown in code and to allow for land divisions.  
Below is the proposed change to the AH zone lot size standard (CDC 17.132). 

 Minimum Lot Area  7,500 square feet 3 acres 
If City Council supports the Commission recommended change of removing all proposed text changes 
shown in Section 17.48.050 and Section 17.48.060 A-E of Exhibit 1, all existing AH zone provisions 
would remain as-is. Staff will address this item further at the hearing. 

Notes by Planning Staff: This item pertains to code in CDC Section 17.68.110 (Bicycle parking). 

If the Council concurs with the Planning Commission recommendation, the following addition is 
necessary.   

17.68.110 Bicycle parking. 

********** 

B. At a minimum bicycle parking facilities shall be consistent with the following design guidelines:  

********** 

6.  For multi-family residential development, all bicycle parking shall be covered by a roof 
structure. 

 

 

Page 374



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 13 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

PC Item 6 –Tree Spacing – 25-ft. everywhere (continued…) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: As stated above, the Commission supported a spacing standard for trees 
(25 ft.) everywhere in code where tree spacing is specified. If the Council accepts the PC 
recommendation, the following additional sections would need to change accordingly: 

17.84.060 General provisions. 

1. For all new residential development, and for every 50 twenty-five (25) feet of linear 
street frontage: 

a. One tree.  

b. Four one-gallon shrubs or accent plants.  

c. The remaining area shall consist of grasses, ground cover plants, shrubs, bark, rock, 
annuals or perennials. 

2. For all new non-residential development, and for every 30 twenty-five (25) feet of 
linear street frontage: 

a. One tree.  

b. Five five-gallon or eight one-gallon shrubs or accent plants.  

c. The remaining area shall consist of grasses, ground cover plants, shrubs, bark, rock, 
annuals or perennials. 

***** 

Notes by Planning Staff: Another tree-spacing standard is shown below.  This provision is only 
applicable if / when multi-family developments abut single-family residential (a visual buffer 
standard and not tree standard applicable to a street). If the Council accepts the PC 
recommendation, the following section would need to change accordingly: 

17.106.030 Design standards. 

G. Open Space. New multi-family developments subject to the provisions of this Chapter shall 
provide open space in compliance with all of the following requirements:  

2. Private Open Space Standard. Private open space areas shall be required for dwelling 
units based on all of the following standards:  

c. Where private Private open space areas face shall be oriented toward common 
open space areas and away from adjacent single-family residences, a combination 
of landscaping and screening shall be provided as a buffer.  This buffer shall 
include a minimum of one tree, not less than 1.5 inches in caliper, for every 30 
twenty-five (25) linear feet of abutting property width and a minimum six-foot-
tall decorative, sight obscuring fence or wall made of wood, stone, brick or 
vegetation (chain link fencing with or without slats is not permitted to meet this 
standard).  trash receptacles, parking and drives to the greatest extent practicable. 

 

Page 375



yellow highlighted (proposed new) and blue strike-through (proposed for delete) 
 

 
Exhibit 2 - Additional Code Changes – Draft Carlton Development Code Update Page 14 of 14 
April 30, 2024 

PC Item 7 –Street Tree diversity of species 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes by Planning Staff: Notes by Planning Staff: The Council / PAC recommendation is to require 
no more than 40% of new street trees to be the same species in order to create species variety.  
The Commission recommends a different tiered set of variety requirements, with greater variety 
required where a larger number of trees are planted.  Staff notes that the additional standard for 
blocks with 24 or more street trees would only apply to blocks longer than 480 ft (with a 40-ft 
street spacing) or longer than 300 ft (with the PC-recommended 25-ft spacing), and thus may not 
be triggered very often.  If the Council accepts the PC recommendation, Section 17.84.090(D) would 
need to change accordingly.  

17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees. 

D. To create a variety of street trees: 

1. If there are fewer than eight (8) or fewer required trees, they may all be the same 
species. 

2. If there are between eight (8) and twenty-four (24) required trees, no more than 
forty (40) percent of new street trees on a single block can be of one species; or 

2. If there are more than twenty-four (24) required trees, no more than twenty-four 
(24) percent of them can be of one species. 

 

 

Page 376



City of Carlton Page 1 of 2 
Ordinance 2024-751 

ORDINANCE 2024-751 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CARLTON DEVELOPMENT CODE, 
TITLE 17 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE, ITS ENTIRETY AND ADOPTING 
THE AMENDED DEVELOPMENT CODE LANGUAGE 

WHEREAS, the City of Carlton deemed it necessary and prudent to update the Carlton 
Development Code; and 

WHEREAS, beginning in November of 2021, the City began the necessary work to update the 
Carlton Development Code, which included robust community engagement and the support of 
consultants to propose updates to the Carlton Development Code and to solicit input from the City 
Council to ensure policy goals were addressed in the amended code language; and 

WHEREAS, the City has prepared a proposed major text amendment to the Carlton Development 
Code, replacing the current Title 17 of the Carlton Municipal Code in its entirety, which 
implements the City’s land use goals and policies by laying out development and procedural 
standards for land use development within the City; and 

WHEREAS, as required by statute, notice of a public hearing on the adoption of the updated 
Carlton Development Code was published in the News Register and was otherwise provided to the 
public as is required; and 

WHEREAS, the Carlton Planning Commission held a public hearing on the updated 
Development Code on April 8, 2024, at which time the public was given full opportunity to 
be present and heard on the matter; and 

WHEREAS, the Carlton Planning Commission passed a motion recommending that the Carlton 
City Council adopt the updated Development Code with certain changes to the proposed language; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Carlton City Council held a public hearing on the adoption of the updated 
Development Code on May 7, 2024 and June 4, 2024, at which time the public was given full 
opportunity to be present and heard on the matter; and 

WHEREAS, following the public hearing and further Council deliberation, including the 
opportunity to ask questions of City staff, the Council desires to adopt the updated Development 
Code.  

Exhibit 8 Page 377



City of Carlton Page 2 of 2 
Ordinance 2024-751 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED AND ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF CARLTON, OREGON, as follows: 

Section 1. The updated Carlton Development Code, Title 17 of the Carlton Municipal Code, 
is hereby amended in its entirety, as outlined in Exhibits 1 and 2 of the City Planner’s Staff 
Report dated April 30, 2024, and incorporated by reference herein.  

Section 2. This Ordinance shall go into effect on the thirtieth day following its adoption by 
the Carlton City Council.  

ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Carlton, Oregon, on June ___, 2024, by the 
following votes: 

AYES:___________________________________________________________ 
NAYS:_________________________________________________________ _ 
ABSENT:________________________________________________________ 
ABSTAIN:________________________________________________________ 

Linda Watkins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Aimee Amerson, City Recorder 

Page 378



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 379



 
 

This facility is ADA accessible. 
If you need special accommodation, please contact the City Recorder at least 24 hours prior to this meeting. 

Memorandum 

To:  The Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:  Aimee Amerson, City Recorder 
Subject:  Resolution No. 2024-357 – Updating the Master Fee Schedule and Charges 
Goal:  Goal 5: Financial Sustainability 
Date:   June 4, 2024  

Recommendation 

It is MOVED that the Council approve and authorize the Mayor to sign Resolution No. 2024-357 
Updating the Master Fee Schedule revising fees, charges and classification footnotes for the City 
of Carlton with the rates included in the adoption of the FY25 Budget. 

Background 

At the May 7, 2024, City Council meeting, the Council approved the FY25 Master Fee Schedule. 
Staff have not made any adjustments to these previously approved fees, we have added a 
clarifying footnote.  

With the upcoming Development code update, Accessory Dwelling Units or ADU’s will be 
permitted. With this new addition, staff recognized that our water and sewer billing structure did 
not account for these additional dwelling units. To include these dwelling units and account for 
their water and sewer use and billing, staff have added the following clarifying footnote, “each 
water & sewer account will be charged one additional base rate per EDU/ADU on the subject 
property.”  This means that for each living unit on a property, the account owner will be charged 
one base rate for water and sewer for each living unit on their utility bill. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution No. 2024-357 – Updating the Master Fee Schedule-Charges and Fees by 

the City of Carlton 
2. Master Fee Schedule 2024 

Page 380



City of Carlton – Resolution No. 2024-357 Page 1 of 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-357 
 

A RESOLUTION UPDATING THE MASTER FEE SCHEDULE AND CHARGES AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A FOR 
THE CITY OF CARLTON 
   

RECITALS: 
 

WHEREAS,  the City Council has the authority to set fees for materials and services provided by the 
City of Carlton; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff has identified the need to update the City of Carlton’s fee schedule; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary to review fees and charges imposed by the City of Carlton to ensure 
revenues are comparable with costs of services provided; and 
 
WHEREAS, it should be understood that these fees are an essential part of the resources for the 
operation of the City of Carlton 
 

THE CITY OF CARLTON RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The fees on the attached Exhibit A are hereby established effective July 1, 2024.  All 

other fees contained within the City’s Fee Schedule, which have not been modified as 
part of this resolution, will remain in effect. 

Section 2. The fees are adopted until the next review is presented to the Council. 

Section 3.  The resolution supersedes previously adopted fee resolutions, clerical errors, and 
omissions excepted. 

 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Carlton, Oregon, on June 4, 2024, by the following votes: 
  
 AYES:  NAYES: ABSENT: ABSTAIN:   
 

APPROVED and signed by the Mayor on June 4, 2024. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Linda Watkins, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: ____________________________________ 
    Aimee Amerson, City Recorder 

Page 381



1 

  
  

Page 382



2 

Fee Schedule 
Description Fee
Administration-General
Bound Documents Actual Cost
Business License - Annual Renewal $50.00 
Business License - Initial Application $100.00
Business License – Non-Profit $50.00 (Includes use of Civic Center Community Room)

Business License Past Due $10.00 per day up to $300.00 
Business License Temporary $25.00
Business License Transfer or Assign $50.00
Color Copy of Zone Map $6.00 per map 
Copies-Black/White 11 by 17 $1.00 per page
Copies-Black/White 8 ½ by 14 $0.75 per page
Copies-Black/White 8 ½ by 11 $0.50 per page 
Copies-Color 11 by 17 $1.50 per page
Copies-Color 8 ½ by 14 $1.15 per page
Copies-Color  8 ½ by 11 $0.75 per page 
Electronic Documents Sent by 
Email/FTP 

UP to 10 MB and 10 files no charges 
over 10 MB and 10 files $15.00 

Faxes 
$1.00 per page (Any documents faxed become
part of public record and must be retained according 
to Oregon State regulations)

Liquor License Application - New $100.00 
Liquor License - Change of 
Ownership $75.00 

Liquor License - Renewal $35.00
Liquor License - Special Event $35.00
Maps and Other Nonstandard Sized 
Docs Actual Cost 

Printed copy of any City Code $20.00 
Scanned Copies to PDF to 11x17 $1.50 per page
Scanned Large Copies to PDF Actual Cost
Civic Center
Rental Fees All rentals are a 3 hour minimum 

Community Room Entry/Hall Group 1 $60.00 per hour *minimum of $180.00

Community Room Entry/Hall Group 2 $120.00 per hour *minimum 
of $360.00 

Page 383



3 

Kitchen Use Fee $25.00 per hour *minimum of $75.00  

Deposits and Fees
Key Deposit $20.00
Kitchen Deposit $75.00
Security Deposit $250.00
Alcohol Use Fee $125.00/3-hour minimum
Police Fee $60.00 per hour
Staff Fee $60.00 per hour
Equipment Fees In addition to deposit and room use fees 

AV Equipment $50.00
Chairs $25.00
Tables $25.00
Cancellation Service Charge $120.00 
Municipal Court
DMV Suspension $15.00
Fail to Appear for Trial Fee $35.00
Fail to Appear for Arraignment Fee $10.00
Returned Check Fee $25.00
State Presumptive Class A $440.00
State Presumptive Class B $265.00
State Presumptive Class C $165.00
State Presumptive Class D $115.00
Traffic School Class A NA
Traffic School Class B $150.00
Traffic School Class C $100.00
Traffic School Class D $75.00
Trial Fee $35.00
Parks
Whole park rentals require submission of Special Event Handbook 

Hawn Creek Park
Shelter $50.00
Ladd Park
Whole Park – Non-resident $360.00
Whole Park – Resident and Non-
Profit $180.00 

Wennerberg Park
Shelter 1 and 2 $50.00

Page 384



4 

Shelter 3 $75.00
Whole Park – Non-resident $360.00 
Whole Park – Resident and Non-
Profit $180.00 

Permits
Mail Box Permit $25.00
Right of Way Permit $250.00
Truck Parking Permit $12.50 /6 month or $25.00 per year
Planning
Note: Planning fees are an estimate of the costs necessary to process land use applications. Applicants pay 
the actual costs of staff time necessary to process respective applications. Staff time includes but is not 
limited to, preparation of required public notices, staff reports and decisions, and is inclusive of the time 
allocated by the City Planner, City Engineer, and City Attorney. A Land Use Fee Acknowledgment form, and 
payment of Land Use Planning fees, are required at the time of application(s) submittal. 
Annexations $1,500.00 
Appeals $250.00 (state law applies)
Building / Zoning Confirmation 
Request $100.00 

Code Interpretation $500.00 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment / 
Zone Change $1,500.00 

Conditions of Approval Modification $500.00 

Contracted Service Provider Fees Assessed at provider’s contracted 
hourly rate. 

Determination of Legal Lot Fee $250.00
Flood Plain Permit $500.00
Home Occupations-Planning 
Commission Review $400.00 

Home Occupations-Staff Review $200.00 
Land Use Determination $500.00
Lot Line Adjustment / Consolidation $500.00
Major Conditional Use Permit – All 
Zones $1,000.00 

Minor Conditional Use Permit – All 
Zones or amendments to conditional 
use 

$1,000.00 

Major Site Development Review $1,000.00
Minor Site Development Review $500.00
Major Variance (Includes Sign Variances) $1,000.00 

Page 385



5 

Minor Variance $500.00 
Non-Conforming Use Determination-
Planning Commission Review $1,000.00 

Non-Conforming Use Determination-
Staff Review $200.00 

Partition / Replat $1,000.00 
Plan Review Fee (pre-platted 
subdivision and infill lots) $400.00    

Planned Unit Development (PUD) and 
amendments $2,000.00 + $20.00 per lot    

Pre-Application Conference $500.00 
Request for Land Use Approval 
Extension $100.00    

Sign Permit-Commercial/Industrial 
Zones-Planning Commission Review $250.00 

Sign Permit-Non 
Commercial/Industrial Zones-Staff 
Review 

$250.00 

Similar Use Determination $400.00 
Street Vacations $1,325.00 
Subdivision $2,000.00 + $20.00 per lot    
Vacation Rental Dwelling-Staff 
Review $500.00 

Police  

Police Report $15.00 (Non-refundable even if no record exists. 
Additional research fees may apply) 

Towed Vehicle Administrative Fee $100.00 
Pool  
Daily Fee Adult 18 and older $5.00 
Daily Fee Children  $3.00 
Daily Fee Seniors 65 and older  $3.00 
Child Pass In-District (Carlton 
Address) $70.00  

Child Pass Out-of-District (Non-
Carlton Address) $85.00  

Seniors 65 and older Pass In-District 
(Carlton Address) $60.00 

Page 386



6 

Seniors 65 and older Pass Out-of- 
District (Non-Carlton Address) $80.00 

Family Pass In-District (Carlton 
Address) 

$120.00 4 people included   
$10 for each additional member 

Family Pass Out-of-District                      
(Non-Carlton Address) 

$145.00 4 people included   
$15 for each additional member 

Pool Reservations $175.00 per 1.25 hours - max 75 
guests 

Pool Reservations Out-of-District Fee $200.00 per 1.25 hours - max 75 
guests 

Swim Lessons In-District (Carlton 
Address) $83.00 

Swim Lessons Out-of-District (Non-
Carlton Address) $100.00  

Additional Activities and Programs Prices assessed as staffing and 
scheduling allows 

Public Record Request  

Initial Police Records Request $15.00 (Non-refundable even if no record exists. 
Additional research fee may apply) 

Public Records Request Digital File $15.00 per CD/DVD or Flash Drive 

Research Fee - City Staff $40.00 per hour (First 30 minutes is free. 
Charged in 30-minute increments thereafter.) 

Research Fee - Contracted Service 
Provider 

Assessed at provider’s contracted 
hourly rate. 

Document fees per-page fee may apply (See 
Administration-General for paper copy fees.) 

Postage Actual Cost 
SDC System Development Charges  
Park System Development Charge $2,341.00 per service 
Sewer System Development Charge $9,652.00 per service 
Sewer Utility Connection Fee $200.00 per service 
Stormwater System Development $2,508.00 per service 
Transportation System Development $4,601.00 per service 
Water System Development Charge $9,552.00 per service 
Water Utility Connection Fee $650.00 per service 

Total SDCs 
$29,504.00 w/connection fees Based 
on the installation of a 5/8-1” meter. Charges vary 
depending on meter size and property use. Please 
contact City Hall for details on fees. 

Page 387



7 

Utility Billing

Hydrant Hook Up 
$340.00 deposit ($90.00 non-refundable)
Monthly usage charge of $68.46 
Consumption charge of $6.22 per 100cf

Late Fee $5.00
Meter Lock-
Disconnection/Reconnection $45.00 

Meter Tampering Fee $300.00 *Additional fees may apply

Returned Check Fee $25.00 

Sewer Utility 
$68.63 base rate** plus cubic feet (cf) 
usage 
Usage $7.91 per 100cf, based on 3-month winter 
averaging

Shut Off Notice Fee $10.00
Unauthorized Connection Fee $300.00 *Additional fees may apply 
Water Deposit $200.00

Water Utility (Inside City Limits) 
$62.81 base rate** plus cubic feet (cf) 
usage*** 
*** $4.04 per 100cf 0-500, $5.85 per 100cf over 500cf

Water Utility (Outside City Limits) 
$94.22 base rate** plus cubic feet (cf) 
usage*** 
*** $6.08 per 100cf 0-500, $8.77 per 100cf over 500cf 

*Per Resolution #81 - The City departments are authorized to charge the responsible party for personnel, 
equipment, vehicles, materials, supplies and overhead for services provided by the City of Carlton to repair or 
maintain city utility lines, mains, service lines, water meters, water meter boxes or other utility property that 
has been destroyed or damaged.

** Base rate is based on the installation of a 5/8-1” Meter. Base rate charges increase with meter size. Also, 
each water & sewer account will be charged one additional base rate per EDU/ADU on the subject property.  
Please contact City Hall for more information. 

Page 388



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 389



 

The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential 
services with professionalism and integrity. 

 

Memorandum 

To:   The Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:   Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager  
Subject:  Identification Badge Policy 
Council Goal:  Goal 4: Good Governance   
Date:   June 4, 2024 
 
Recommendation 
 
After review and discussion, it is recommended that the Council consider the following 
motion: 

It is moved that the City Council approve and authorize the Mayor to sign 
Resolution No. 2024‐359 adopting the Identification Badge Policy. 

 
Background 
The use of identification badges significantly enhances building security by controlling 
access, identifying individuals, facilitating emergency response, deterring unauthorized 
entry, and maintaining records of building occupants. 
 
The proposed policy outlines the purpose and importance of identification badges and 
sets out guidelines for issuing identification badges in the City of Carlton. 
 

Alternatives 
1. Do not approve 
2. Amend 

Exhibits  
1. Resolution 2024‐359 
2. Carlton Identification Badge Policy 

Page 390



City of Carlton – Resolution No. 2024-359 Page 1 of 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-359 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN IDENTIFICATION BADGE POLICY AS SHOWN IN EXHIBIT A FOR THE CITY 
OF CARLTON 
   

RECITALS: 
 

WHEREAS,  Identification badges contribute significantly to building security by helping to control 
access, identify individuals, facilitate emergency response, deter unauthorized entry, and maintain 
records of building occupants; and 
 
WHEREAS, The proposed policy outlines the purpose and importance of identification badges and 
sets out guidelines for issuing identification badges in the City of Carlton.  

 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Carlton City Council does hereby adopt the Identification Badge 
Policy, attached as Exhibit A. 
 
 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Carlton, Oregon, on June 4, 2024, by the following votes: 
  
  
 AYES:  NAYES: ABSENT: ABSTAIN:   
 

 
APPROVED and signed by the Mayor on June 4, 2024. 

 
 
____________________________________ 
Linda Watkins, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: ____________________________________ 
    Aimee Amerson, City Recorder 

Page 391



 
              

The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential 
services with professionalism and integrity. 

191 E. Main Street 
Carlton, OR 97111 
Phone: (503) 852-7575 
www.ci.carlton.or.us 
 

City Manager Identification 
Badge Policy 

 
Purpose: While on City of Carlton property identification badges will be displayed unless the 
individual is in an approved City of Carlton uniform. Identification badges play a crucial role in 
building security for several reasons: 
 

1. Identification of Individuals: Badges allow building officials and other occupants of 
the building to easily identify who belongs in the premises and who does not. Visible 
identification badges can act as a deterrent to unauthorized individuals who may be 
considering gaining access to the building for malicious purposes. Knowing that they 
will be easily identified can discourage such activities.  

2. Access Control: Badges help regulate who can enter certain areas of a building. By 
providing identification, building officials can quickly determine whether someone has 
permission to be in a particular location. 

3. Record Keeping: Identification badges contain information to identify the individual 
and their department or role within the organization. This information is essential for 
record-keeping purposes and is critical in investigations if any incidents occur within the 
building. 

4. Emergency Response: In the event of an emergency, such as a fire or evacuation, 
identification badges can help account for all individuals within the building. This 
ensures that everyone is safely evacuated and accounted for. 

 
Identification badges contribute significantly to building security by helping to control access, 
identify individuals, facilitate emergency response, deter unauthorized entry, and maintain 
records of building occupants. 
 
The following guidelines are established concerning the issuance of identification badges. 
 

a. Elected Officials and Employees, not in an approved City of Carlton uniform, will wear ID 
badges at their work site or in any City of Carlton-owned or operated facility or 
property. 
 

b. The City of Carlton will issue a badge clip and lanyards appropriate for use and work 
environment such as safety or break-away lanyards. 
 

c. The City Manager, or their designee, will be responsible for the issuance of 
the identification cards, and each ID card holder will sign for receipt of the ID card. 
 
 
 

Page 392

http://www.ci.carlton.or.us/


 
              

The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential 
services with professionalism and integrity. 

191 E. Main Street 
Carlton, OR 97111 
Phone: (503) 852-7575 
www.ci.carlton.or.us 
 

City Manager Identification 
Badge Policy 

 
d. Loss of the identification badge must be immediately reported to the employee’s 

supervisor. Elected officials will notify the City Manager of loss of an identification 
badge. The loss of second and subsequent badges will result in a replacement fee of 
$20.00 paid to the City. This fee will be the responsibility of the badge holder. Loss or 
misuse of the card could lead to disciplinary measures being taken. 
 

e. Identification cards must be returned to the City Manager, or their designee, in the 
event of the following: 
 

a. Suspension 
b. Termination/Retirement 
c. Elected term of office has concluded or the individual is no longer serving in an 

elected capacity. 
 

f. Visitor badges will be numbered for accountability. Visitors will be issued temporary 
badges when visiting an employee at a City owned facility. Visitor badges should be 
returned to reception upon leaving the City owned facility. It will be up to the issuing 
Department to implement procedures to secure the return of the issued Visitor badge. 

 
Temporary, contractor and/or seasonal employees will be issued an ID card if their 
employment is anticipated to extend beyond 30 days. 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 393

http://www.ci.carlton.or.us/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 394



The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential 
services with professionalism and integrity. 

Memorandum 

To:  The Mayor and Members of the City Council 
From:  Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager  
Subject:  Tourism Social Media RFP Award 
Council Goal: Goal 4: Good Governance   
Date:  June 4, 2024 

Recommendation 
After review and discussion, it is recommended that the Council consider the following motion: 

It is moved that the City Council accept Colvita as the contractor to provide City tourism 
promotion services and authorize the Mayor to execute all necessary documents, including 
a contract not to exceed $25,000 for FY25. 

Background 
In order to enhance the City's tourism promotion efforts and reach a wider audience, the 
advisory Tourism Committee to the City Manager initiated a Request for Proposals (RFP) for 
social media services. The last RFP the City initiated for social media and tourism website was 
in June 2019. The decision to do a current RFP stems from the recognition of the growing impact 
of social media on tourism and the need to adapt to the changing landscape of communication 
and marketing, as well as, the loss of the City’s current provider. The RFP process aims to 
identify a qualified contractor who can effectively manage and execute the City's social media 
strategy and tourism promotion services, ultimately contributing to the fulfillment of the city's 
tourism goals. 

The committee evaluated 5 proposals on May 14, 2024 and conducted follow-up interviews with 
the top 2 candidates on May 21, 2024. Through the interview process, it was determined that 
the top candidate can bring several tourism line items under one cohesive strategy including: 

• Content creation - through a strategy of videos, photos, and a social media influencer. 
Social Media Influencers can help tourism grow because they are experts at creating 
visually appealing content and have a loyal audience.

• Website management – including creating a Landing Page, hosting, editing current pages 
for optimization and to make all social media efforts more effective, and monthly tracking 
of analytics and reporting.

• Social Media – creating a social media strategy in collaboration with the City and Tourism 
Committee to be more robust during months businesses have provided feedback that

Page 395



City of Carlton, 191 E. Main Street, Carlton, Oregon  97111 
Phone: 503.852.7575     Fax: 503.852.7761 

more tourism is desired. 

• Account Management – Collaboration meetings with the City and tourism committee to
ensure strategy adjustments are done as needed throughout the year.  Updates to City
Council on progress.

Colvita has significant experience in providing tourism-specific support, is willing to adjust to the 
City’s budgetary needs and revenue, and is willing to partner with the City in developing a strategy 
while bringing the depth of their experience.  Colvita worked with the City Manager to adjust their 
sample budget to meet the current approved FY25 budget and acknowledges that it is an example 
of their flexibility and they can work with a maximum not to exceed $25,000 that can be adjusted 
as needs are discussed throughout the year.  Colvita also understood the need to demonstrate 
metrics throughout the year to show progress on the City’s goals. The staff and Tourism 
Committee recommend engaging Colvita for the FY25 budget year for all tourism promotion 
efforts noted in the bullets above. 

Alternatives 
Do not approve and re-advertise 

Exhibits 
1. RFP for Social Media
2. Colvita RFP Response
3. Sample budget forecast
4. Draft Tourism Committee Communications Plan

Requirement Max Points

Strategies 
360 
Oregon

Soapbox 
Studio

Broadview 
Technical 
Solutions

Colvita 
Creative Servtec

Provide a detailed description of  social media 
marketing support approach and work product 
delivered on similar engagements. 10 2 7 2 8 3
Describe familiarity with social media systems. 10 3 6 2 8 3
Describe  experience regarding advice and 
recommendations of social media marketing to your 
clients. Describe your experience with municipal or 
governmental agencies 10 3 6 2 8 3
Describe  firm’s training and development to stay 
current with social media programs and systems. 10 2 7 2 8 3
Describe procedures, reports and/or metrics utilized 
to monitor the work you do for periodic evaluation 
and communication to the City. 10 2 7 2 8 3
Identify the key staff members who will be assigned 
to the City for this contract. Describe their roles and 
provide a brief description of their professional 
experience. 10 4 7 2 8 3
Provide any other information that supports the 
scope of services to be provided in this RFP. 10 2 6 2 8 3

70 18 47 13 57 18

Page 396



 
 
 
 
 

City of Carlton 
 

Tourism Committee 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Request for Proposals 
 

Social Media Support Services 
 

April 1, 2024

Page 397



2 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

The City of Carlton seeks Proposals for contracted social media support services from qualified individuals 
and/or firms to assist the City’s Tourism Committee manage its Tourism social media program. 
 
PROJECT SCOPE 

The City of Carlton, Oregon invites proposals from qualified individuals or firms to provide marketing support 
services to manage the City’s Tourism social media program. Appointment of the individual or firm will be 
determined by the respondent’s experience, services provided and the cost for such services. The City’s 
objective is to select the individual or firm best qualified to: 

1. Assist the City to maintain a social media presence to promote tourism (including Facebook and Instagram) 
through timely, engaging and relevant posts, management of header material, keeping up with changes 
within both platforms and eliciting information from the community and target brand recognition for the 
City. 

2. Consistently stream daily, weekly and monthly content to bring awareness about Carlton to promote 
visitors to our community. 

3. Use Facebook, Instagram and possibly other social sites to create new relationships and target new and 
existing audiences to encourage Carlton tourism. 

4. Assist the City in building brand awareness and drive traffic to its website and events. 

5. Assist the City in maintaining a tourism social media program strategy. 
 
JOB REQUIREMENTS 

Facebook 

1. At least 2 posts per week, with no more than 50% being reposts of material that is given to contractor by 
individual parties. 

2. To post on optimal days, and optimal times of day, to reach the highest number of viewers. 

3. Reach out regularly to community and businesses for their events and points of interest - email twice per 
month to stay top of mind. 

4. Check in monthly to the City for details on local events.  

5. Conduct frequent monitoring of all platforms to seek out engagement opportunities.  

6. Spend funds allocated by the City to boost posts. 

7. Every post must have a photo or logo (preferably a photo) and/or link to specific business (event page) or 
visitcarlton.com 

8. Do not use copyright photos. 

9. Must check all facts and spelling before posting. 

10. Contractor must be available to meet quarterly in Carlton with the Carlton Tourism committee to provide 
city staff with a monthly statistical report of that month’s social media activities. Frequency of meetings 
may be subject to change in the future. 

  

Page 398

http://visitcarlton.com/


3 
 

Instagram Requirements 

1. At least 1 post and 1 story per week - can be linked to FB page and share the same post. 

2. All posts should have visitcarlton.com 

3. To post on optimal days, and optimal times of day, to reach the highest number of fans. 

4. Reach out regularly to community and businesses for their events and points of interest - email twice per 
month to stay top of mind. 

5. Respond to post inquiries and comments. 

6. Do not use copyright photos. 

7. Must check all facts and spelling before posting. 

Bidding Additional Service Options 

Any bidding firm with additional services to offer or include above and beyond the base bid requirement is 
encouraged to do so.  Please break-out such services as “Alternative 1,” “Alternative 2,” and so on with separate 
additional pricing (if required). 

A.   SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND FORMAT 
 

Proposals are due by 2:00 p.m. on Wednesday, May 1, 2024, and returned to Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager 
(sbeaucaire@ci.carlton.or.us) or at the Temporary City Hall, 945 West Grant Street, Carlton 97111. Questions 
may be directed to the City Manager at 503.852.7575. One signed submittal may be made via email, mail or 
hand delivered but must be received by the date and time specified above. The City prefers the format be a pdf 
copy of the proposal. Submittals post marked after May 1, 2024, will not be accepted. Consultants mailing 
proposals should allow for normal delivery time to ensure timely receipt. 
 

Proposal Format 
 

Proposals must include the items listed below. 

1. Identify office location, availability to perform the work, size of the organization, year the firm began doing 
business and the availability of personnel to work with the City’s account. 

2. A list of clients your firm has worked with during the past five years. 

3. Address each of the evaluation criteria set forth in Section E. 

4.    Any other information considered relevant by your firm. 

5.    Proposals must be signed by a principal member of the company capable of binding the company. 

The proposal must be clearly marked “Request for Proposal Response – Carlton Social Media Support Services” 
and either emailed, hand delivered or mailed in a sealed envelope, addressed to Shannon Beaucaire, City 
Manager, and must be received by 2:00 p.m. May 1, 2024. 

 
Proposal Information 
 

Please respond to the items listed below: 

1. Provide a detailed description of your social media marketing support approach and work product delivered 
on similar engagements. 

2. Describe your familiarity with social media systems. 

3. Describe your experience regarding advice and recommendations of social media marketing to your clients. 
Describe your experience with municipal or governmental agencies? 

Page 399

http://visitcarlton.com/


4 
 

4. Describe your firm’s training and development to stay current with social media programs and systems. 

5. Describe procedures, reports and/or metrics utilized to monitor the work you do for periodic evaluation 
and communication to the City. 

6. Identify the key staff members who will be assigned to the City for this contract. Describe their roles and 
provide a brief description of their professional experience. 

 

Provide any other information that supports the scope of services to be provided in this RFP. 

B.   QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE 
 

Information on the member(s) proposed for the Carlton account should be described in terms of (1) position 
within the firm, (2) role with the similar accounts, and (3) extent of responsibilities. Respondents must provide 
information on the qualifications of team member(s) as well as recent related experiences. Of particular 
interest is experience with municipal accounts, public agencies and public projects. 
 

Summaries of related experience should be brief, emphasizing relevance to the Carlton account and should 
identify references with a contact person, giving name, phone number and address, as well as describing the 
involvement in the project. 

C.   PRICE 
 

Include your proposed fee schedule including: 1) managed services rates, and 2) hourly rates. 

 
D.   SELECTION PROCESS 
 

The Carlton Tourism Committee, with guidance from the City Manager, will serve as the Selection Committee 
considering a combination of bidder qualifications and cost proposals with the task of selecting the best bid 
proposal. The Committee will use a three-step process: 
 

Step 1: The proposals will be reviewed by the Committee. The Committee may outright select a candidate 
based on their proposal or may select finalists to interview for selection. 
 
Step 2:  The Committee will make a recommendation to the Carlton City Council for approval. 
 

Step 3: Upon Council approval, the City will enter into a Personal Services Agreement (PSA) with the selected 
bidder. 

E.   EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

Proposals will be evaluated based on the submission requirements listed above to determine which proposal 
best meets the needs of the City. After meeting the requirements listed above, proposals will be evaluated on 
the following factors: 

1.   Specialized experience in the type of work to be performed. 

2.   Capacity and capability to perform the work, including any specialized services within the limitations for the 
work. 

3.  Educational and professional record, including past record of performance with governmental agencies and 
private parties with respect to quality of work and ability to meet schedules including quality of consulting 
approach. 

  

Page 400



5 
 

4.   Availability to perform the assignment. 

5.   Qualifications and experience of the assigned to perform the work. 

6.   Any other factors relevant to this contract. 
 

At the discretion of the Selection Committee, finalists may be invited to an oral interview. 

F.   CONTACT PERSON 
 

Respondents can contact Shannon Beaucaire for further information regarding this process. She can be reached 
by email at sbeaucaire@ci.carlton.or.us or by phone at (503) 852-7575. If proposers have any questions 
regarding this RFP or the selection process, the questions shall be submitted in writing to the City Manager.  All 
responses will be issued by email. 

G.   QUESTIONS 
 

Questions may be sent via email to all known proposers. The firm posing the question will not be identified in 
the notification/response. 

H. LATE PROPOSALS NOT CONSIDERED 
 

Proposals must be received by the time specified at the address listed above.  Any proposals received after the 
deadline will not be considered. Please note: the physical address of city hall differs from the mailing address. 

Physical address for hand deliveries: 945 West Grant Street, Carlton, OR 97111 
Mailing address: 191 East Main Street, Carlton, OR 97111 
 

I.   ADDENDA 
 

In the event that it is necessary to amend, revise, or supplement any part of the RFP, addenda will be provided 
to all proposers. Any addenda issued are to be considered part of the specifications of the RFP. The City is not 
responsible for any explanation, clarification, interpretation or approval made or given in any manner except 
by written addenda issued by City. 

J.   PROPOSAL OWNERSHIP 
 

All material submitted by the proposers shall be considered property of City, and the City shall not be required 
to return same to any proposer.  The material submitted by proposers will be treated in the same manner as 
City’s own records. After proposal opening, all proposals become part of the public record unless exempt under 
Oregon Public Records Law. 
 

K. EXCEPTIONS TO RFP 
 

If, for any reason, a proposer should find fault with the structure of this RFP or with the evaluation process, 
concerns may be submitted in writing and mailed to: Shannon Beaucaire, City Manager, 191 E. Main Street, 
Carlton, OR  97111. The City will make every effort to answer questions and, if warranted, to amend the RFP.  
Proposers who are unable or unwilling to meet any of the requirements of this RFP should include, as part of 
their response, written exceptions to those requirements. 
  

Page 401

mailto:sbeaucaire@ci.carlton.or.us


6 
 

L.  INCURRING COSTS 
 

The City of Carlton is not liable for any cost incurred by respondents prior to issuance of a contract. 

M.   RIGHT TO REJECT ALL PROPOSALS 
 

The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, to waive any irregularities, and to accept the proposal 
deemed in the best interests of City. The City may reject any proposal not in compliance with all prescribed 
public proposal procedures and requirements and may reject for good cause any or all proposals upon a finding 
of the City it is in the public interest to do so. 

N.  PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (PSA) 
 

The selected consultant will be required to sign a personal services agreement acceptable to the City including 
all applicable required clauses for public contracts relating to consulting services. 

Page 402



1

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

REQUEST FOR 
PROPOSAL 
SOCIAL MEDIA 
SUPPORT SERVICES

Carlton, Oregon
Tourism Committee
RFP Social Media Support Services

 

Boise, ID | Denver, CO

www. ColvitaCreative.com

hello@colvitacreative.com

Page 403

mailto:hello@colvitacreative.com


TABLE 
OF 
CONTENTS2

3

6

10

15

26

29

Background

Profile of the Firm

Proposed Approach

Portfolio

References 

Fee Schedule

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 404



3

BACKGROUND

Page 405



City of Carlton 
Temporary City Hall 
945 West Grant Street
Carlton, OR 97111

Dear Shannon Beaucaire & Members of the Carlton Tourism Selection Committee,

We appreciate the opportunity to present our proposal in response to RFP for Social 
Media Support Services aimed at enhancing Carlton's tourism initiatives. At Colvita 
Creative, we specialize in crafting engaging, timely, and relevant social media content 
to promote tourism, boost brand recognition, and drive traffic.

Drawing upon our extensive experience in tourism, destination marketing 
organizations, and hospitality sectors across Colorado, Oregon, Wyoming, California, 
and Utah, we are confident in our ability to elevate Carlton's tourism efforts to new 
heights. Our team is committed to staying ahead of industry trends, understanding 
what works, and effectively engaging with target audiences to maximize impact. We 
are not local, but we have worked all over Oregon and our love for Carlton will ring true 
in the passion of the work we deliver. We are very used to representing our clients from 
afar, where they do not feel that we miss a beat not being in town, but have a finger on 
the pulse of all happenings and connections to stay ahead on social media. We are 
one state over and we are known tourist ourselves to the wineries, your shops and 
restaurants. We have a soft spot for your area, and we were so excited to see this 
opportunity. We can’t wait to influence the tourist perspective and passion into your 
social accounts to hit and exceed your goals.  

Our proposal includes:

● Strategic Social Media Management: We will curate compelling content, 
engage with the community, and foster brand recognition for Carlton through 
strategic social media management.

● Audience Expansion: By leveraging our expertise in targeting new audiences 
and creating meaningful relationships, we will work to expand Carlton's reach 
and attract visitors to the city.

● Trend Awareness: Our team will stay abreast of emerging trends and best 
practices in social media marketing to ensure Carlton remains at the forefront 
of digital engagement.

● Proven Track Record: We have achieved notable success in similar 
campaigns, as evidenced by case studies showcasing our past 
achievements and results.

We aren’t just aware of our capabilities; we wholeheartedly believe in the impact of our 
work. With a passion for building strong brands and relationships through strategy and 
data, we empower our clients to forge meaningful community connections and 
activate their key audiences in remarkable ways. Our mission is simple: “Elevate ideas 
and implement solutions to drive growth, cultivate connections, and strengthen 
organizations”.

We like to think of ourselves as an extension of your team, providing you access to an 
entire group of specialists operating in multiple departments with a range of creative, 
technical, and strategic experience. We excel at building powerful, forward-thinking 
campaigns, nurturing digital communities, educating audiences, and strengthening 
overall market share/value.

On behalf of Colvita Creative, thank you for your time in reviewing our proposal. We 
are excited about the opportunity to serve as your marketing partners and contribute 
to the City of Carlton’s future growth and success. 

Thank you, 

Jill Coyle, Owner 
1519 W Main Street 
Boise ID, 83702 | Denver CO
jill@colvitacreative.com 
916-396-5966

COVER 
LETTER

4

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 406



Why us? 
We have the experience you’re looking for. 

We have over 20 years of combined experience with tourism 
focused marketing and social campaigns. With us, you will 
have at your disposal a team with an ideal combination of 
diverse experience, qualifications and motivation, making 
our agency most highly qualified to master the work solicited 
in this RFP.

We have led campaigns at the state and county level, in 
multiple industries related to destinations and public sectors, 
and are well-versed in the importance of messaging 
stemming from data-driven decisions. Our mission is to 
understand your target audience, the attractions you offer, 
and the resources that make the City of Carlton an ideal 
place to visit.  

Our client social media experience and portfolio includes 
work for Gunnison-Crested Butte Tourism & Prosperity 
Partnership, CO, Sierra Blue Hotel & Swim Club, CA, Riviera 
Motor Lodge, WY, The Inn at Riverwalk, Carbon County, UT, 
and the City of Fruita, CO. 

The team members that will be assigned to your account will 
be CEO Jill Coyle, to oversee brand/DMO strategy, Brand 
Manager to lead strategy, Leah True, Content and Social 
Specialist Madison Mary for content creation and 
management, Account Coordinator Olivia Campbell for 
client communication, and Digital Media Coordinator, Jose 
Lugo for tracking and reporting. This team has worked 
together on the accounts listed above and are versed in 
managing municipality social accounts, DMO accounts, 
worked with government agencies, all of which were 
completed from our remote offices. 

Between our team, we are certified in: Google, Meta 
Hubspot, SEO, SEM, Agorapulse (Social media 
management software), LinkedIn, Hootsuite, and more.  

We are excited to showcase elements of these noted 
projects throughout the following proposal. 

5

BACKGROUND

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 407



6

PROFILE 
OF THE FIRM

Page 408



Colvita Creative

Colvita Creative is an S. Corp., woman-owned and led 
agency with offices in Boise, ID and Denver, CO. We were 
founded in Eagle, CO in 2017. Our dynamic team of 9 
talented individuals is a force in strategic marketing, driven by 
an unwavering passion. We are proud to have a proven track 
record of delighted clients and sustained success. We 
specialize in expanding messaging and media opportunities 
to achieve goals like increased bookings, brand awareness, 
and travel  & tourism momentum (just to name a few, 
depending on the nature of a client’s business). Our 
comprehensive in-house capabilities cover everything 
outlined in the RFP. Our team expertise includes in-house 
social media management for timely content development, 
trend watching, social listening, graphic design, video editing, 
brand copy execution, marketing and creative strategy, and 
reporting. 

Our Mission
Elevate ideas and implement solutions to drive growth, 
cultivate connections, and strengthen organizations.

Our Values 
Innovation, strategy, transparency, tenacity, accessibility, and 
fearlessness.

We create possibilities, turn ideas into opportunities, and go 
where other agencies simply cannot. We are an agency made 
up of a network of awesome humans, connected by a shared 
vision: bringing growth to businesses through powerful, 
personalized solutions.  

We pride ourselves on crafting compelling brand narratives, 
executing effective marketing strategies, and establishing 
robust company identities. Unlike traditional marketing 
vendors, we view ourselves as committed partners, actively 
participating in the success of the brands we serve. By 
forging meaningful connections and aligning with our clients' 
values, we transform audiences into devoted advocates, 
driving long-term engagement and loyalty.7

PROFILE OF 
THE FIRM

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

    

“My organization had 
never paid for 
advertising before, so 
I needed this to be a 
success. After the 
first meeting, I knew 
we'd be a great 
match and that she 
was dedicated to the 
success of my 
organization's needs. 
They came prepared 
with market research 
and ideas that 
impressed me, even 
though it was only 
our first meeting!”

-Andrea Lopez
External Affairs 
Manager;  Ute 
Water, Conservancy 
District

Page 409



About Colvita Creative

Our agency prides itself on prompt turnaround times to offer 
City of Carlton flexibility and agility. Our in-house team is 
well-versed in the technical and creative/strategic  areas of 
expertise and resources needed to activate and deliver 
without delay. 

Research
Leveraging modern 
research 
technologies.

Strategy
Aligning business 
goals to marketing 
strategy.

Branding
Brand strategy and 
direction.

Creative
Ideation and design 
services across all 
channels and platforms.

Media Planning 
& Buying
Media strategy, 
negotiation, and 
execution.

Social Media
Owned, earned, 
and paid 
campaigns.

Content & 
Storytelling
Content strategy, 
creation, and 
distribution.

Public Relations
Integrated PR for 
influencer marketing, 
thought leadership, 
and media coverage.

8

List of clients during past 5 years: 

OUR CLIENT NETWORK

OUR SERVICES

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

- City of Fruita, Colorado 
- Gunnison Crested Butte Tourism and Prosperity Partnership , 

Colorado 
- Payette Brewing Company 
- Bert’s Brewing Company 
- Cnoc Outdoors 
- Sync Ski Performance 
- Carbon County, Utah 
- Nine dot Arts 
- Center for Children 
- Soul Ease 
- Eagle Climbing + Fitness 
- Ojo Caliente, NM

- Riviera Motor Lodge 
- The Inn at Riverwalk 
- Sierra Blue Hotel & Swim Club 
- Piza Kama 
- Kuna Food Bank 
- Crested Butte Land Trust 
- Devine Intermodal 
- Cool Mountain Transportation 
- Ute Water Conservancy District
- Commercial Northwest Property Management
- Montgomery County, PA  
- Sunrise E-Bikes 
- Town of Eagle, CO

Page 410



9

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

FIRM STRUCTURE & QUALIFICATIONS
Meet the core team behind Colvita Creative, with years 
of experience and areas of expertise included.
(Full resumes can be found on LinkedIn)

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Deshka Neill
COO, 13 years 
Area: Business Admin

Jill Coyle
CEO, 16  years 
Area: Advertising, PR

Leah True
Brand Manager, 5 years 
Area: Brand Development, 
Social Strategy/Management

Sophia Elek
Media  Manager, 6 years 
Area: Paid & Digital

Madison Mary
Social Media Coordinator, 2  years 
Area: Creative Strategy, Social 
Strategy

Olivia Campbell
Account Coordinator, 4  years 
Area: PR & Advertising, Social 
Media 

Jose Lugo
Media Coordinator, 3  years 
Area: Digital Media & SEO, 
Tracking

Jason Shiskowsky
Graphic Designer, 20 years 
Area: Graphic Design

Gordy Hirsch 
Creative Director 20  years 
Area: Graphic Design

Page 411



10

PROPOSED
APPROACH

Page 412



11

1 2
PHASE

PHASE
PHASE

3 4 5
Introduction
Timeline
Project Plan
Budget
Brand Envisioning
Immersion

Research
4-Cs Analysis
Stakeholder Analysis
Territory Development
Target Audience
Market Landscape

Strategy
Creative Brief
Creative Concepting
Campaign 
Development
Social Strategy
Pillar Identification

Create
Creative Execution
Asset Creation
Creative Strategy
Implementation

Measure
Program Management
Reporting
Assets Delivered
Production 
Management 

Our Process
We create groundbreaking ideas based on the contexts and the culture at 
large, combining the forces of research and insights with the power of strategy 
and creative thinking to help your organization build trust with your audience 
and community.  

Our process is designed to prioritize insights gained from reliable data and 
market research, focusing on amplifying how your story connects. We listen, 
ask questions, and implement. 

Onboarding
Whenever we begin working with a new client, we conduct an onboarding session to align on roles and 
responsibilities with our internal team members and set expectations around preferred communication. 
This ensures all projects are completed on-time and on-budget. Communication of this internal process 
to our clients is key to keeping everyone aligned and on task.

Communication
Communication is the key to any successful relationship, and we reinforce this through a variety of 
different tools. Status meetings are conducted internally at Colvita with all team members to set 
expectations on deliverables, checking progress on each client we work with. Bi-weekly status meetings 
are regularly held with the client and any necessary stakeholders as well throughout the project, to keep 
our inter-department communication channels open. Team members from City of Carlton will be included 
at the appropriate milestones. In each client status meeting, we’ll walk through a shared status document 
outlining upcoming deadlines, deliverables, strategies, and action items. 

PHASE
PHASE

PROPOSED
APPROACH

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 413



12

BRAND ENVISIONING SESSION
Who are we, who are we not? Uncovering truths, tensions, purpose, and 

positioning as it stands today, plus creative direction

RESEARCH & CREATIVE DEVELOPMENT
Integrate target audience with creative strategy, competitive 

analysis, social listening tools, and initial social media 
strategy.Content ideation

SOCIAL PRODUCTION 
Creation of the social creative guide, content 

creation, video editing, copywriting, influencer 
engagement, partnerships, events, schedule 

SOCIAL 
MANAGEMENT

Day-to-day platform

ENGAGEMENT/
LOYALTY/

ADVOCACY

Social Media Support Approach
Our firm has worked with several organizations, spanning multiple industries 
including DMO and state/county entities, to both redefine their social 
identities and even develop them from scratch.

Our success in this area comes from our team expertise, as well as our 
established creative process that proves to be fulfilling for both agency and 
client along the way. At the core of this entire process is helping your 
organization get to the core of your “why” - your reason for existing.

City of Carlton’s social media services will focus heavily on its visitor, and the reasons to come. 

PROPOSED
APPROACH

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

REPORTING/
Monitoring
Engaging

Adjust

Page 414



Social Media Support Approach
We will work collaboratively with the City of Carlton to create a clear and 
concise Social Media Creative Brief. The campaign goal (example: 
increase reach of City of Carlton to new audience groups) should be 
measurable, time-bound, and attainable, and ultimately contribute towards 
the Tourism Committee ’ overarching business goals (example: increasing 
education of area to niche activity social groups). 

Social Media Systems
It is part of our agency’s commitment across every service to staying at the 
forefront of trends, technologies, and changes. Specifically across social 
media platforms, we ensure that the accounts we manage not only perform 
exceptionally but also lead the way in innovation. We are versed working 
direct in each platform. However we also arm ourselves with external social 
media management tool, Agorapulse, to assist in streamlining processes, 
and client approvals. Harness the power of social listening, enabling us to 
monitor conversations about your brand and competitors across various 
channels, from social networks to news websites and blogs. Gives us 
real-time actionable insights, we measure the metrics that truly matter, 
guiding our content strategy. Additionally, the centralized inbox facilitates 
seamless management of interactions, ensuring timely responses and 
effective community management. Our approach is not just about 
managing accounts; it's about cultivating relationships, understanding 
sentiments, and leveraging data to propel the brands we work with forward 
in the dynamic landscape of social media.

Social Media Consulting 
With a specialization in working with destination marketing organizations 
and government agencies, we bring a wealth of expertise in managing 
organic social media presence for a diverse range of clients. From the 
quirky City of Fruita in Colorado to the scenic Carbon County in Utah, and 
from the historic Riviera Motor Lodge in Saratoga, Wyoming, to the 
adventure Inn at Riverwalk in Vail, Colorado, and the serene Sierra Blue 
Hotel & Swim Club in Big Bear, California, our portfolio showcases our 
breadth of consultation work with unique destinations and hospitality 
offerings. Additionally, to organic our proficiency extends to managing paid 
social media campaigns for municipal and government agencies such as 
Gunnison Crested Butte Tourism & Prosperity Partnership and Ute Water 
Conservancy District, amplifying their reach and impact. 

Creative Production, Copywriting, Editing,  & Design
Following the social strategy, a creative production plan will be created to 
identify which creative assets will need to be produced by Colvita to 
support the plan. Our copywriters and content coordinators will begin 
execution to develop. 13

PROPOSED
APPROACH

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

    

“They never settle for 
the status quo, finding 
creative new ways 
to improve our 
campaigns so that we 
not only keep up with 
the competition, but 
surpass it. Everyone on 
the Colvita team is 
experienced and 
efficient.”

 -Katy Mooney
Marketing Director,
Gunnison Crested 
Butte Tourism and 
Prosperity Partnership

Page 415



14

PROPOSED
APPROACH

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Staying On Top of Current Social Trends
At Colvita, staying current with social media programs and systems is 
ingrained in our culture. We prioritize ongoing training to ensure our 
team remains at the forefront of industry trends and platform updates. 
Our training initiatives encompass a variety of methods, including 
workshops, seminars, online courses, and industry conferences. 
Additionally, we invest in certifications specific to social media 
platforms, which include Facebook Blueprint, Twitter Flight School, 
LinkedIn Marketing Labs, and Google Ads Certification. These 
certifications validate our expertise in leveraging these platforms' 
advanced features and tools to drive results for our clients. 

As active participant ourselves we also pay close attention to trends, 
act quickly and proactively and respond to the data. We also apply 
what we learn from the other accounts we manage and implement 
what makes sense from our learnings from others. 

Tracking & Reporting
With any social campaign we manage, we first establish clear goals 
and objectives for the platforms based on the overarching marketing 
objectives and strategy. We do this by setting SMART goals (specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant, time-bound). 

We closely monitor performance metrics throughout the cycle, 
leveraging various analytics tools like Google Analytics, our social 
media posting platform, and other proprietary tracking systems 
across channels. Our team continuously analyzes key performance 
indicators (KPIs) to gauge the effectiveness of the strategy and 
content. If we identify areas for improvement or opportunities to 
optimize performance, we proactively make modifications to the 
strategy. 

Sample Client Tracking Reports:

.

Page 416



15

PORTFOLIO

Page 417



16

Visit Fruita
Enhance City of Fruita’s social presence to  
update the identity, share campaign, spread 
awareness.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

A high-desert town with a rich western heritage and an iconic scenic setting in the Grand
Valley, Fruita has established itself as a landing place for those looking to adventure off the
beaten path. Just 10 miles northwest of Grand Junction, Fruita offers quick access to some of
the Grand Valley’s most sought after destinations and sights, creating year-round intrigue for
locals and visitors alike.

Known as a mountain biker’s haven, Fruita has no problem drawing in visitors from across the
country to experience their world class trails. However, there is so much more to Fruita.
Fruita is “a community of choice”, where residents build community intentionally and there’s
a palpable sense of familiarity and local pride. There’s a quality of life in Fruita that you simply
won’t find anywhere else, and the people of Fruita have been very intentional about fostering it.

Colvita took on the creative strategy to ensure that the social identity paid tribute to the area’s roots - This 
quality of life for locals translates directly to the quality of experience for visitors. In Fruita, guests are 
treated like locals, and they’re encouraged to immerse themselves in public lands and given warm 
welcomes. We wanted their social to feel as the same experience as if they were entering the town. 

Play Like a Local Video Series

Play Like a Local Video SeriesEvent SeriesInfluencer Campaign

Page Revamp

Page 418



17

Visit Fruita
Enhance City of Fruita’s social presence to  
update the identity, share campaign, spread 
awareness.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Increase in 
growth by 
303% 
since 
Colvita 
took over.

Page 419



18

Carbon County, Utah
Social Campaign Development, driven by a 
refocus on tourism becoming a county 
economic driver. 

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Carbon County, located midway between Salt Lake City and Moab, forms the picturesque Carbon 
Corridor, offering easy access to the renowned San Rafael Swell in Emery County. This diverse region 
serves as an ideal home base or a convenient stop, appealing to a broad range of interests. Carbon 
County envisions a transformed landscape, with tourism emerging as a key industry that capitalizes on its 
rich history. The focus is on offering attractive downtown experiences, access to outdoor wonders, 
prehistoric adventures, and updated camping and lodging options. This strategic development aims to 
shift Carbon County from a mere pass-through to a vibrant basecamp destination.

COLVITA BELIEVES: 
The category is overfocused on what we do and what we offer. Carbon County can differentiate by 
speaking to the root of why you travel. 

There’s an opportunity for Carbon County to speak to what the visitor feels when they come, not as a 
replacement to presenting and providing the assets, but alongside it. 

THE PROBLEM
The Carbon Corridor is a stopping place on the way to another destination to fuel up for gas and let the dog 
out. This is causing short stops, and if they do stop overnight they do not explore beyond their hotel room 
or maybe to go out to dinner. 

THE ASK
Position the Carbon Corridor as The Destination for overnight visitors for a multi-night trip throughout the 
year. A destination that is easy to get to and easy to walk in and enjoy.

THE POSITIONING: 
Carbon County is the home base for an adventure-packed trip, being so close to many historical points, 
National/State Parks, and the unique offerings of our rural towns. To ignite a passion for cultural 
exploration/curiosity in the American Southwest.

Page 420



19

Carbon County, Utah
Social Campaign Development, driven by a 
refocus on tourism becoming a county 
economic driver. 

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

We just began work on this social 
account in March of 2024, although 
we have seen an increase in 
engagement, followers and website 
traffic, it is still being monitored for 
true community impact. 

Page 421



20

The Inn at Riverwalk
Social Campaign Development
motivated by business rebrand.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

The Inn at Riverwalk is a family-owned, independent hotel located in the coveted Vail Valley of Colorado. It 
has been operating for more than 25 years, and is the only hotel in the city of Edwards. It was remodeled in 
2017, and the establishment was in need of a branding refresh to match its updated look and 
accommodations. Our firm’s involvement with this client has spanned everything from PR campaigns, 
ideation on additional hotel offerings and implementation, all the way to daily management of its marketing 
organic social media channels. All of these platforms and marketing areas operate off of the brand identity 
we established for them, following our creative process. 

Below we highlighted our success on their organic channels which includes influencer management, video 
creation, community partnerships, an ambassador partnership with a U.S. Ski Team athlete, event 
coordination both on-premise and off premise, PR, community outreach, and more. 

Page 422



21

The Inn at Riverwalk
Social Media Campaign Development
motivated by business rebrand.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 423



22

Sierra Blue Hotel & Swim Club
Social Media Campaign Development
motivated by the need for digital exposure.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Nestled in the heart of Big Bear Lake, California - a place known for its abundant nature and outdoors, the 
historic Pacific Crest Trail, and a place for those residing in busy LA to escape to for fresh mountain air - is 
Sierra Blue Hotel & Swim Club. Once an outdated space with a questionable reputation, it’s not under new 
ownership and has had new life breathed into the space while still paying homage to its vintage roots. 

Last year, the hotel turned to Colvita  to help them with their organic social media campaign creation from 
scratch, as they had only the start of an account and barley any only presence We worked with 
management to complete a brand envisioning and research identity phase, resulting in a full branding suite 
and campaign that now plays out across all paid and organic media channels that we facilitate. Their 
organic social media has been their highest success rate with website traffic and conversions to the hotel 
property. It has received the attention of influencers, photographers, media and community partners. We 
just began efforts, and are looking forward to continued success. 

We are proud to note that Organic Social is their #1 Website Traffic Driver in 2024

Page 424



23

Sierra Blue Hotel & Swim Club
Social Media Campaign Development
motivated by the need for digital exposure.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 425



24

Riviera Motor Lodge
Rebrand and Campaign Development,
motivated by business remodel.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Saratoga, Wyoming is an undiscovered outdoor haven that attracts hikers, fisherman, snowmobilers, and 
scenic seekers, and Riviera Motor Lodge is the perfect place for travelers and outdoor adventurists to rest 
their heads after a day of exploring the wild wilderness of this area. Riviera recently underwent a remodel 
that called for a brand new identity and marketing plan to represent its riverfront location, close proximity to 
hot springs and local shops/restaurants, comfortable rooms and fully stocked Gear Garage in the best way 
possible. 

Colvita took on the creative strategy and much of the creative direction during the remodel, concepting it 
from the ground up and researching the history to ensure that the new brand identity paid tribute to the 
area’s roots - known by many locals as “the place where the fish jump on Main Street.” Our aim was to 
position the lodge as not only a hotel, but a valuable resource and thought leader on tourism in the area.

Page 426



25

Riviera Motor Lodge
Rebrand and Campaign Development,
motivated by business remodel.

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 427



26

REFERENCES

Page 428



    

Andrew Sandstrom 
Gunnison Crested Butte Tourism & Prosperity Partnership: 
Marketing Director
Phone: (720) 220-5700 
Email: sandstrom.andrew@gmail.com

Current client for close to 10 year. Scope of work has included 
a complete brand ecosystem build upon beginning of 
partnership, brand research and development, integrated 
media strategy and digital media management, SEO, brand 
partnership strategy and facilitation, and multiple creative ad 
campaigns. NOTE: We do not run Organic Day-to-Day 
Social, we help facilitate their organic boosted campaigns, 
organic social media influencer campaigns and support 
organic efforts. We listed them because they are a true 
representative of how we work, and been a long time partner.

Matt Tabor
The Inn at Riverwalk, General Manager
Phone: (941)730-8945
Email: mtabor@innatriverwalk.com

Current client, full in-house marketing scope including 
rebrand and campaign development  since 2017. Other 
services include social media management, digital media 
strategy and management, email marketing, SEO, blogs, 
website development and management, and full creative 
development.

John Evans
Riviera Motor Lodge, Owner
Phone: (970)331-6201
Email: jvevans.co@gmail.com

Current client, full in-house marketing scope including a 
rebrand and brand identity campaign in 2022 to align with 
business remodel. Other services include social media 
management, digital media strategy and management, email 
marketing, website management, and full creative 
development.

27

“Colvita Creative has 
helped to bring the 
Gunnison Crested 
Butte brand to life 
across the paid media 
landscape. They have 
developed plans to 
reach our desired 
customers through a 
targeted approach 
saving impressions and 
money for the most 
qualified leads. They 
help us to analyze, 
present and act on data 
throughout our 
campaigns. They 
continue to exhibit a 
collaborative approach 
in our decision 
making.”

 -Andrew Sandstrom

REFERENCES

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Page 429

mailto:sandstrom.andrew@gmail.com
mailto:mtabor@innatriverwalk.com
mailto:jvevans.co@gmail.com


28

Additional Social Media Work
Other client social media work over the years 
that we are proud of! 

City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Influencer Campaign: Payette Brewing Company

Organic Social Media Product Launch Video Series: Payette Brewing 
Company

Influencer Campaign: Payette Brewing Company

Social Carousel Frames: Gunnison 
Crested Butte Tourism

Recruitment Boosted Social Ad: 
Ute Water

YouTube Video Series: Gunnison Crested 
Butte Tourism

Influencer Campaign: Gunnison 
Crested Butte Tourism

Merch Boosted Social Ad: Runaway Beer Company

Boosted Ads: Glenwood 
Hot Springs Resorts, CO

Natural Selection Event with Red Bull Media: 
Gunnison Crested Butte Tourism 

Pinterest: Inn at Riverwalk

Organic Social Management: 
CNOC Outdoors, OR 

Page 430



29

FEE SCHEDULE

Page 431



30

Proposed Fee Schedule City of Carlton
Tourism Committee 

RFP Social Media 
Support Services

Platform/Task Monthly Cadence Hourly Monthly

Instagram 6 $100 $400

Facebook 8 $100 $400

Reels 1/Week $120 $550

Stories Up to 3/Day $65 $225

Paid Media 
Management 
(Boosted Posts)

$100 Suggested 
Monthly Spend

20% of 
Spend

$120

Tracking & Pixel 
Placement 
+Reporting

$100/Hour $100

Account 
Strategy/Consultatio
n/Account 
Administrations

3 Hours/Month: 
B-Weekly 

Status/Quarterly 
Tourism Meetings

$120 $360

MONTHLY 
SUGGESTED
TOTAL: 

$2,155

Page 432



31

THANK YOU!

Contact Info:

Jill Coyle
President

jill@colvitacreative.com
(916) 396-5966  cell

1519 W Main Street
Boise, ID 83703

Page 433



Here is the breakdown of services of scope based on the attached.  
 
SOCIAL  
$1,100/Months 
-  5/Instagram/FB Posts/Month 
- Up to 3 Stories a Day on FB/Instagram 
- 1 Reel/Month 
- Engagement on all comments/messages/platforms 
$500/Months 
- 2 Posts  
- Up to 1 Story a Day on FB/Instagram  
- No Reels  
- Engagement on all comments/messages/platforms 
 
Owned Photo/Videoshoot (Based on Selected vendor): $5,000 
~ 1.5 Day 
Models/Props 
Shot list/Storyboard/Coordination/Creative Direction 
 
One Influencers: $3,000 (if we have extra $$ we can move to media)  
 
Boosted Posts: $350  
Added engagement to extended organic reach  
 
Lowered Website Management  
Landing Page Creation: $800 
One Custom Landing Pages, Writing and Conversion Tracking. Expand when Winter Event 
comes up. Plus Audit on rest of the pages, and minor edits made for optimization and to 
make all our social efforts better.   
 
Tracking: $1,200 
Monthly Tracking, Google Analytics COnnections, Social Reports, Social Connections, 
Client Reporting  
 
Account Management: $3,600 (Lowered, want to note time reduction to make work) 
2 - 2.5 Hours/Month 
 

Page 434



January February March April May June July August September October November December BUDGET NOTES
SOCIAL 

Instagram/Facebook $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 $1,100.00 10,200.00$  
Boosted $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 350.00$       
WEB
Tracking Set Up & 
Reporting $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 1,200.00$    
Landing Page 
Creation $500.00 $300.00 800.00$       
Web Estimated 
Monthly 
Maintenance  $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 $50.00 350.00$       
CONTENT
Photo/Videoshoot $5,000.00 5,000.00$    
Influencer $3,500.00 3,500.00$    
ACCOUNT 

Media Management $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 $10.00 70.00$          
Account Services $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 $300.00 3,600.00$    

TOTAL 25,070.00$   

SAMPLE BUDGET FORECAST ONLY       ESTIMATE: JULY START DATE

Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439


	01 2024-0604 Council Agenda
	CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION AGENDA
	VIA ZOOM & 945 West Grant Street, Carlton OR
	The Mission of the City of Carlton is to safeguard and enhance the vitality and livability of the community by providing essential services with professionalism and integrity.

	02 2024-0507  City Council - Regular Session Revised Minutes
	03 2024-0507 City Council Executive session revised minutes
	04 Checks by Date
	05 FD_TrialBalanceByAcctType
	5A Pool placeholder
	06 City Council Cover Memo -  Recology Memo
	07 Carlton Rate Review Cover Letter 4302024
	08 Rate Review Report CAR - 5-1-2024
	09 CAR Proposed Rates July24
	10A 2024-0604 Water Management and Conservation Plan
	2024-0604 WMCP
	WMCP LETTER TO CITY
	Water Management and Conservation Plan_2024-05-06
	1.0 Introduction and Water Management and Conservation Plan Elements
	1.1 Introduction
	1.2 Plan Requirement
	1.3 Plan Organization
	1.4 Affected Local Governments
	1.5 Update Schedule
	1.6 Time Extension

	2.0 Water Supplier Description
	2.1 Water Sources
	2.2 Interconnections with Other Systems
	2.3 Intergovernmental Agreements
	2.4 Current Service Area and Population Served
	2.5 Record of Water Use
	2.5.1 Methodology

	2.6 Historical Water Demands
	2.6.1 Annual Demands
	2.6.2 Peaking Factors
	2.6.3 Monthly Demand
	2.6.4 Seasonal Demands
	2.6.5 Authorized Consumption

	2.7 Customer Characteristics and Use Patterns
	2.7.1 Largest Water Users

	2.8 Water Losses and Non-Revenue Water
	2.9 Water Rights
	2.9.1 Aquatic Resource Concerns

	2.10 Evaluation of Water Rights/Supply
	2.11 System Description

	3.0 Water Conservation Element
	3.1 Current Conservation Measures
	3.1.1 Progress Report
	3.1.2 Background

	3.2 Use and Reporting Program
	3.3 Required Conservation Programs
	3.3.1 Five-Year Benchmarks for Required Conservation Measures
	3.3.1.1 Annual Water Audit
	3.3.1.2 System-wide Metering
	3.3.1.3 Meter Testing and Maintenance
	3.3.1.4 Water Rate Structure
	3.3.1.5 Leak Detection and Repair
	3.3.1.6 Public Education


	3.4 Expanded Use under Extended Permits
	3.5 Additional Conservation Measures
	3.5.1 Leak Repair or Line Replacement Program
	3.5.2 Technical and Financial Assistance Programs
	3.5.3 Supplier Financed Retrofit or Replacement of Inefficient Fixtures
	3.5.4 Rate Structure and Billing Practices that Encourage Conservation
	3.5.5 Water Reuse, Recycling, and Non-potable Opportunities
	3.5.6 Landscape Irrigation Measures
	3.5.7 Other Conservation Measures


	4.0 Water Curtailment Element
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 History of System Curtailment Episodes
	4.3 Curtailment Event Triggers and Stages
	4.4 Authority & Enforcement
	4.5 Curtailment Plan Implementation
	4.5.1 Stage 1: Limited Water Shortage Alert
	4.5.2 Stage 2: Moderate Water Shortage Alert
	4.5.3 Stage 3: Serious Water Shortage Alert
	4.5.4 Stage 4: Severe Water Shortage Alert
	4.5.5 Stage 5: Emergency Water Shortage Alert


	5.0 Water Supply
	5.1 Delineation of Service Areas
	5.2 Population Projections
	5.3 Demand Forecast
	5.4 Schedule to Exercise Permits and Comparison of Projected Need to Available Sources
	5.5 Alternative Sources
	5.5.1 Conservation Measures
	5.5.2 Interconnections
	5.5.3 Cost effectiveness

	5.6 Quantification of Projected Maximum Rate and Monthly Volume
	5.7 Mitigation Actions under State and Federal Law
	5.8 New Water Rights
	Appendix A: Letters to Local Governments and Responses
	Appendix B: Population Forecasts for Yamhill county, its Cities and Unincorporated Area


	CARLTON PSU POP.pdf
	Current_Forecasts


	Draft Resolution 2024-358 Adopting the Water Management and Conservation Plan

	11 Staff Report to Mayor and Council for 6-4-24 - Continued PH hearing - Carlton Dev Code update
	17.48.040 Limitations on use.
	17.48.050 Dimensional standards.
	17.48.060 Development standards.

	12 Division_I.___GENERAL_PROVISIONS_240226
	13 Division_II.___ZONING_AND_DEVELOPMENT_PROVISIONS_240226
	14 Division_III.___GENERAL_DEVELOPMENT_STANDARDS_240226
	15 Division_IV.___SUPPLEMENTAL_STANDARDS_FOR_SPECIAL_USES_240226
	16 Division_V.___GENERAL_STANDARDS_240226
	17 Division_VI.___APPLICATION_REQUIREMENTS_AND_REVIEW_CRITERIA_240226
	18 Division VII
	19 Exhibit 2
	EXHIBIT 2: ADDITIONAL CODE CHANGES
	The following changes in green highlighting identify additional proposed changes to the Final Draft of the Carlton Development Code, dated February 26, 2024, identified as Exhibit 1.
	___________________________________________________________________________
	PART A - Feedback from Council / PAC
	The following are proposed to supersede and replace the relevant sections in Exhibit 1 based on additional feedback from City Council at their March 5, 2024, work session.

	Division III. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS
	Chapter 17.84 SITE AND LANDSCAPING DESIGN
	17.84.060 General provisions.
	17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees.


	Division I. GENERAL PROVISIONS
	17.04.020 Purpose.
	Chapter 17.12 DEFINITIONS
	17.12.020 Definitions.


	Division II. ZONING AND DEVELOPMENT PROVISIONS
	Chapter 17.20 RESIDENTIAL-LOW DENSITY (R-1) DISTRICT
	17.20.020 Permitted uses.

	Chapter 17.22 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM DENSITY (R-2) DISTRICT
	17.22.020 Permitted uses.

	Chapter 17.24 MANUFACTURED HOME (MH) DISTRICT
	17.24.020 Permitted uses.

	Chapter 17.28 RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM HIGH DENSITY (R-3) DISTRICT
	17.28.020 Permitted uses.

	Chapter 17.52 MIXED DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (MX) DISTRICT
	17.52.030 Permitted uses.


	Division VI. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW CRITERIA
	Chapter 17.176 SUBDIVISIONS AND PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS
	17.176.030 Process.  Preliminary Plat Approval Criteria.
	17.176.035 Open space requirements.


	Title 3  REVENUE AND FINANCE
	17.52.020 Residential density and variety.
	17.56.060 Specific standards
	17.78.030 Excavations
	17.78.040 Fills
	17.176.035 Open space requirements.
	17.68.110 Bicycle parking.
	17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees.
	17.84.060 General provisions.
	*****
	Notes by Planning Staff: Another tree-spacing standard is shown below.  This provision is only applicable if / when multi-family developments abut single-family residential (a visual buffer standard and not tree standard applicable to a street). If th...
	17.106.030 Design standards.
	17.84.090 Recommended and prohibited s Street trees.

	20 Carlton Ordinance 2024-751 Dev Code Update
	21 2024-0429 Master Fee Schedule update July 1 2024 (TYM Edit)
	Fee Schedule

	22 2024-0604 Identification Badge Policy
	2024-0604 Memo Indentification Badge Policy
	Draft Resolution 2024-359 Adopting the Identification Badge Policy
	2024-0520 Identification Badge Policy

	23 2024-0604 Tourism Promotion RFP
	2024-0604 Social Media Recommendation
	2024-0319 Request for Proposals - Tourism Social Media Support Services - FY25
	Request for Proposal Response - Carlton Social Media Support ServiceColvita
	Here is the breakdown of services
	052424_Carlton_BUDGET
	HIGH

	Draft Tourism Communications Policy




